DEVELOPMENT OF NON-TARGETED STRATEGIES FOR THE ANALYSIS OF TRACE ORGANIC CONTAMINANTS IN HONEY

ANNIE VON EYKEN BONAFONTE

Department of Food Science and Agricultural Chemistry

McGill University, Montreal

January 2019

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor in Philosophy

© Annie von Eyken Bonafonte, 2019

SUGGESTED SHORT TITLE

Non-targeted analysis of contaminants in honey

ABSTRACT

Due to the constant increase of contaminants and toxins reported in food, the world of food analysis is shifting towards the detection and identification of currently unknown or unexpected contaminants using non-targeted analysis. As it does not rely on the initial use of analytical standards, the non-targeted approach opens the door for new applications in the field of food authentication and food safety. Although the number of non-targeted studies being used and reported has increased in recent years, the chemical risk assessment community has highlighted the need to further develop non-targeted methods to better characterize human exposure to chemicals, and to identify potential risk compounds in food matrices. The overall objective of this work was the development of a non-targeted method for the analysis of trace organic contaminants in honey. Each step of the non-targeted workflow was studied and optimized to allow for the screening of a variety of contaminant families in this complex matrix. First, a fast screening and quantification method was successfully developed and validated for the targeted analysis of 7 veterinary drug residues in honey, using direct injection high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry (HPLC-QTOF-MS). The selected veterinary drug residues were detected at levels approximately 20 to 100 times lower than the actual regulatory limits, with acceptable recoveries, linearity and repeatability, for a total analysis time of 45 min per sample. A data-independent All-Ions MS/MS mode was used to continuously record MS and MS/MS data at four different collision energies, and allowed for the confirmation of the identity of the target analytes, showing the non-targeted potential of the method. Next, the data pre-treatment steps for the non-targeted identification of trace organic contaminants in honey were studied using the same 7 veterinary drugs as case study. The impact of 7 parameters on the correct identification of the target compounds was assessed, and only the expansion window for chromatogram extraction and the average scans included in the spectra influenced the identification results significantly. These findings confirmed that data pretreatment parameters can affect the identification of trace contaminants in food. The optimized identification workflow was used to screen 55 honey samples from the Canadian market using a

library of 43 honey-related compounds, including veterinary drugs, pesticides and other contaminants, which led to the detection of tylosin A and 5-hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) among these samples. Then, the optimized non-targeted workflow was applied to the screening of plastic-related compounds in 104 honey samples from the Canadian market, and a total of 662 compounds were tentatively detected using a library of leachable and extractable compounds. The identity of two of these compounds, namely bis(ethylhexyl) adipate (DEHA) and tris (2butoxyethyl) phosphate (TBOEP), was further confirmed with pure analytical standards, and their estimated daily intake was found to be far below the current tolerable daily intake. The chemical burden in honey samples sold in either glass or plastic jars was compared using 3 data treatment approaches, each of which resulted in a different list of relevant contaminants. These findings showed that some of the most commonly used data treatments in metabolomics need to be carefully selected when it comes to identifying trace contaminants in food. Among the compounds discovered based on the differential frequency of detection, 6 were unique to honey samples sold in plastic jars and 3 were unique to honey samples sold in glass jars. Finally, the degradation of the veterinary drug tylosin A in water, spiked honey and incurred honey after different thermal treatments was studied using the optimized non-targeted method. The results, in terms of rates of degradation of tylosin A and increase of tylosin B (the only degradation product reported so far) were in agreement with the literature. However, the non-targeted approach used for this study led to the tentative identification of two new degradation products, namely 5-O-mycaminosyltylonolide (OMT) and lactenocin. Although the thermal treatment applied was the same, the degradation products identified in water, spiked honey and incurred honey appeared to be different, reinforcing the conclusion that relying only on the water model or spiked food matrix is not sufficient to understand the thermal degradation of antibiotics in food matrices. The possibility of a semi-quantification of tylosin B in honey using tylosin A, its parent compound, was also assessed. The present results proved that a semi-quantification using the parent compound to quantify its degradation compounds can be a suitable strategy when using non-targeted analysis. Overall, this research demonstrated that non-targeted analysis can

improve the characterization of contaminant occurrence and fate in food, using honey as a key example.

Résumé

Des nouveaux contaminants et toxines sont découverts en permanence dans les aliments. Aussi, le monde de l'analyse des aliments s'intéresse de plus en plus aux outils permettant la détection et l'identification des contaminants inconnus ou inattendus. Ce type d'analyse, que l'on appelle non-ciblée, ne s'appuie pas sur un étalonnage à partir du composé chimique pur, ce qui ouvre la porte à des nouvelles applications en termes d'authentification et de sécurité alimentaire. Bien que le nombre d'études utilisant l'analyse non-ciblée ait augmenté dans la littérature scientifique ces dernières années, les experts en évaluation des risques chimiques ont souligné le besoin urgent de développer davantage ces méthodes pour (i) mieux caractériser l'exposition humaine aux produits chimiques, et (ii) identifier les composés qui peuvent poser un risque dans les aliments. L'objectif de cette thèse était le développement d'une méthode d'analyse non-ciblée pour l'analyse des contaminants organiques traces dans le miel. Toutes les étapes du workflow non-ciblé ont été étudiées et optimisées pour permettre le criblage de différentes familles de contaminants dans cette matrice complexe. Tout d'abord, une méthode rapide, basée sur l'injection directe en HPLC-QTOF-MS a été développée et validée pour l'analyse ciblée de 7 médicaments vétérinaires dans le miel. Les médicaments vétérinaires sélectionnés ont été détectés à des niveaux 20-100 fois plus bas que les limites légales actuelles, avec des résultats excellents en termes de recouvrement, linéarité et répétabilité, et ceci pour un temps total d'analyse de 45 min par échantillon. Le mode d'acquisition indépendante des données All-Ions MS/MS a été utilisé pour enregistrer en continu des données MS et MS/MS pour quatre énergies de collision différentes. Ces données ont permis la confirmation de l'identité des analytes ciblés et ont démontré le potentiel non-ciblée de l'approche. Dans une seconde étude, l'impact du prétraitement des données sur l'identification non-ciblée des traces de contaminants organiques dans le miel a été étudié, ceci en utilisant les même 7 résidus vétérinaires comme composés modèles. L'impact de 7 paramètres a été évalué, et seule la fenêtre d'expansion pour l'extraction des chromatogrammes et la moyenne des scans inclus dans les spectres ont influencé de façon significative les résultats. Ces résultats montrent que les paramètres de prétraitement des données peuvent affecter l'identification des contaminants traces dans les aliments. Le workflow d'identification optimisé fut ensuite appliqué pour cribler 55 échantillons de miel du marché canadien à l'aide d'une bibliothèque de 43 composés en lien avec le miel (incluant des médicaments vétérinaires, des pesticides et d'autres contaminants). La tylosine A et l'hydroxyméthylfurfural furent positivement détectés dans ces échantillons de miel. Par la suite, le workflow non-ciblé développé a été appliqué au criblage de composés associés aux plastiques dans 104 échantillons de miel du marché canadien. Au total, 662 composés possibles, issus d'une bibliothèque de composés associés aux plastiques, ont été détectés dans le miel. L'identité de deux de ces substances, à savoir l'adipate de bis(2-éthylhexyle) et le phosphate de tris(2butoxyéthyl), a été confirmée avec étalons des composés purs. La consommation quotidienne estimée de ces substances à travers le miel fut calculée comme nettement en dessous des doses journalières tolérables. Les compositions chimiques des échantillons de miel vendus dans des pots en verre ou en plastique furent comparées à travers 3 approches de traitement de données différentes. Ces approches menèrent à différentes listes des composés pertinents. Ce résultat montre que les méthodes de traitements des données couramment utilisées en métabolomique par exemple doivent être sélectionnées prudemment quand elles sont appliquées à l'identification de contaminants traces dans les aliments. Parmi les composés isolés par fréquence de détection différentielle, six étaient uniques aux échantillons vendus dans des pots en plastique et trois étaient uniques aux échantillons vendus dans des pots en verre. Enfin, la dégradation thermale du médicament vétérinaire tylosine A a été étudiée avec la méthode nonciblée optimisée, pour des solutions aqueuses, du miel dopé et du miel naturellement contaminé. Les résultats, en termes de taux de dégradation de la tylosine A et de production de tylosin B (le seul produit de dégradation identifié préalablement) correspondirent à ceux décrits dans la littérature. Pourtant, grâce à l'approche non-ciblée de cette étude, deux nouveaux produits de dégradation potentiels, à savoir OMT et lactenocine, ont été identifiés. Bien que le traitement thermal ait été le même dans toutes les expériences, les produits de dégradation dans les solutions aqueuses, le miel dopé et le miel naturellement contaminé étaient différents. Ceci confirme que les études des modèles aqueux ou les matrices alimentaires dopées ne sont pas suffisantes pour comprendre la dégradation thermale des antibiotiques dans des matrices alimentaires. La possibilité de semi-quantification de la tylosine B dans le miel en utilisant la tylosine A, sa substance mère, comme référence a été aussi évaluée. Les résultats ont montré que la semi-quantification des produits de dégradation à partir de la substance mère est une stratégie raisonnable dans le cadre de l'analyse non-ciblée. En conclusion, cette recherche a montré, à travers le miel comme matrice d'étude, que l'approche non-ciblée améliore la caractérisation des contaminants chimiques et de leur devenir dans les aliments.

STATEMENT FROM THE THESIS OFFICE

In accordance with the regulations of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies of McGill University, the following statement from the Guidelines for Thesis Preparation is included:

Candidates have the option of including, as part of the thesis, the text of one or more papers submitted, or to be submitted, for publication, or the clearly-duplicated text of one or more published papers. These texts must conform to the "Guidelines for Thesis Preparation" and must be bound together as an integral part of the thesis.

The thesis must be more than a collection of manuscripts. All components must be integrated into a cohesive unit with a logical progression from one chapter to the next. In order to ensure that the thesis has continuity, connecting texts that provide logical bridges between the different papers are mandatory.

The thesis must conform to all other requirements of the "Guidelines for Thesis Preparation" in addition to the manuscripts.

As manuscripts for publication are frequently very concise documents, where appropriate, additional material must be provided in sufficient detail to allow a clear and precise judgement to be made of the importance and originality of the research reported in the thesis.

In general, when co-authored papers are included in a thesis, the candidate must have made a substantial contribution to all papers included in the thesis. In addition, the candidate is required to make an explicit statement in the thesis as to who contributed to such work and to what extent. This statement should appear in a single section entitled "Contribution of Authors" as a preface of the thesis.

When previously published copyright material is presented in a thesis, the candidate must obtain, if necessary, signed waivers from the co-authors and publishers and submit these to the Thesis Office with the final deposition.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to start by expressing my gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Stéphane Bayen, for having guided me through this journey. Thank you very much for giving me the opportunity to do a PhD and grow professionally and personally.

To my supervisory committee members, Dr. Stan Kubow and Dr. Varoujan Yaylayan, thank you for your time and advice. Thanks also Dr. Yaylayan for offering your help and expertise with the glucose-sulfonamide conjugates.

A big thank you to the undergrads and master non-thesis students who through their projects helped my thesis: Samareh, Nancy, Daniel, Jin, Kaitlyn, Ricardo, Reem, Swaroopini, Yizhen and Laura. Thanks also to my lab mates for all the fun times, support and advice throughout these three years.

Special thanks to my dearest friend Pol Fité for helping me create the honey production diagram, and for all the support and graphic design advice.

To Ona and all the wonderful people I have had the luck to meet here in Montreal, thank you for feeding me and keeping me sane during the tough last months of thesis, for not taking personally my thesis-induced bad mood, for understanding every time I said "I can't, I have to write my thesis", and for being my home away from home.

Finally, to my family, especially my mum, siblings, and grandparents, and to my friends back at home, thank you so much for your unconditional support, for pushing me to be the best I could, for being proud of me no matter what, and for making me feel like I never left Barcelona. None of these pages would have been written without you. *Gràcies*.

CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS

This thesis is presented in a manuscript form and consists of seven chapters. Chapter 1 presents a general introduction to the field of non-targeted analysis applied to food and the research objectives of the thesis. In Chapter 2 a current and in-depth literature review is presented, which covers the various aspects of non-targeted analysis as well as the world of honey and its contaminants. Then, Chapters 3 through 6 are based on manuscripts and are bridged logically and sequentially through connecting paragraphs. Out of these four manuscripts, Chapter 3 has been accepted for publication in the Journal of Food and Drug Analysis, and Chapter 4 has been accepted for publication in the Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, and Chapter 5 will be submitted for publication in Food Research International. Finally, Chapter 7 presents an overall conclusion of the thesis, along with contributions of this investigation to knowledge and recommendations for future research. This dissertation is in accordance with guidelines for thesis preparation as published by the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research of McGill University.

The present author was responsible for the concepts, design of experiments, experimental work, data acquisition, data treatment and manuscript preparation in all the manuscripts. Dr Stéphane Bayen, the thesis supervisor, had direct advisory input into the work as it progressed and as manuscript co-author critically edited the dissertation prior to its submission. In Chapter 3 "Direct injection high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to data independent acquisition mass spectrometry for the screening of antibiotics in honey", Daniel Furlong and Samareh Arooni collaborated with the sampling and sample preparation, and Fred Butterworth provided the honey samples from CFIA. Jean-François Roy and Dr. Jerry Zweigenbaum helped with the interpretation of data. All of them co-authored Chapter 3. Swaroopini Ramachandran co-authored Chapter 5 "Suspected-target screening for the assessment of plastic-related chemicals in honey" and helped with the sampling and sample extraction.

PUBLICATIONS

- A. von Eyken, S. Bayen; Optimization of the data treatment steps of a non-targeted LC-MS based workflow for the identification of trace chemical residues in honey. Accepted for publication in the Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry (2019).
- A. von Eyken, D. Furlong, S. Arooni, F. Butterworth, J. F. Roy, J. Zweigenbaum, S. Bayen; Direct injection high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to data independent acquisition mass spectrometry for the screening of antibiotics in honey. Accepted for publication in the Journal of Food and Drug Analysis (2019).

CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS

- A. von Eyken, S. Ramachandran, S. Bayen; Can good things come in small (plastic) packages? – Non-targeted multivariate comparison of honey in glass and plastic jars using direct injection-HPLC-QTOF-MS. 13th Montreal Post-ASMS Mass Spec Symposium. Pointe Claire, Canada, 16th October 2018. (Poster presentation)
- A. von Eyken, S. Bayen; Can good things come in small (plastic) packages? Non-targeted multivariate comparison of honey in glass and plastic jars using HPLC-QTOF-MS/MS. 62nd International Conference on Analytical Sciences and Spectroscopy. Toronto, Canada, 11th 14th June 2018. (Oral communication)
- A. von Eyken, S. Bayen; Non-targeted screening and identification of organic contaminants in honey using HPLC-QTOF-MS/MS. 62nd International Conference on Analytical Sciences and Spectroscopy. Toronto, Canada, 11th 14th June 2018. (Poster)
- A. von Eyken, A. Baesu, S. Bayen; Analyse non ciblée de contaminants chimiques: comment caractériser l'inconnu? Colloque TOXEN. Montreal, Canada, 16th May 2018. (Oral communication)
- A. von Eyken, S. Bayen; Determination of the thermal degradation products of tylosin A in honey using an MS based foodomics approach. 8th International Symposium on Recent Advances in Food Analysis. Prague, Czech Republic, 7th 10th November 2017. (Oral communication)
- A. von Eyken, R. Claudio, J. Li, S. Bayen; Comparison of extraction procedures to explore the fate of nicarbazin residues in eggs after cooking by using a non-targeted analysis workflow. 8th International Symposium on Recent Advances in Food Analysis. Prague, Czech Republic, 7th – 10th November 2017. (Poster)
- A. von Eyken, S. Bayen; Semi-quantification of tylosin residues in honey in a non-targeted workflow: using the known to quantify the unknown. 15th Instrumental Analysis Conference. Barcelona, Spain, 3rd – 5th October 2017. (Oral communication)

- A. von Eyken, J. F. Roy, J. Zweigenbaum, S. Bayen; Optimization of the data treatment steps of a non-targeted LC-MS based workflow for the identification of veterinary drugs in honey. 15th Instrumental Analysis Conference. Barcelona, Spain, 3rd – 5th October 2017. (Poster)
- A. von Eyken, S. Arooni, D. Furlong, J. F. Roy, J. Zweigenbaum, S. Bayen; Development of a fast screening and quantification method of seven antimicrobials in honey using direct injection in HPLC-QTOF-MS/MS. 29th Annual Tandem Mass Spectrometry Workshop. Lake Louise, Canada, 30th Nov – 3rd Dec 2016. (Poster)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Ав	STR	ACT .	1
Ré	SUM	IÉ	iv
ST.	ATEN	VEN.	T FROM THE THESIS OFFICEvii
Ac	KNO	WLE	DGEMENTSviii
Co	NTR	IBUT	rion of Authorsix
Pu	BLIC	ΑΤΙΟ	DNSx
Co	NFE	REN	CE PRESENTATIONS
ΤΑ	BLE	OF C	ONTENTSxiii
Lis	T OF	TAB	SLES
Lis	T OF	FIG	URES xxiv
Ав	BRE	VIAT	TONS
Сн	APT	ER 1	INTRODUCTION
1	L.1	Gen	IERAL INTRODUCTION
1	L.2	Res	EARCH OBJECTIVES
Сн	APT	er 2	: LITERATURE REVIEW
2	2.1	Nor	N-TARGETED ANALYSIS OF FOOD CONTAMINANTS
	2.1.	1	Foodomics
	2.1.	2	Non-targeted analysis7
	2.1.	3	Non-targeted analysis workflow9
	2.1.	3.1	Sample preparation 10
			xiii

2.1.3.2	Instrumental analysis 12
2.1.3.2.1	Q-TOF in food analysis18
2.1.3.2.2	Orbitrap in food analysis19
2.1.3.3	Data pre-treatment
2.1.3.3.1	Feature extraction and data filtering 20
2.1.3.3.2	Compound identification22
2.1.3.4	Data treatment
2.1.3.4.1	Statistical analysis
2.1.3.4.2	Quantification in non-targeted analysis26
2.2 Hor	IEY
2.2.1	Honey then and now
2.2.2	The process of honey production
2.2.3	Composition of honey
2.2.4	Physicochemical properties of honey
2.2.5	Honey and human health
2.2.6	Organic contaminants in honey and their analysis 42
2.2.6.1	Veterinary drugs
2.2.6.2	Environmental contaminants51
2.2.6.2.1	Pesticides
2.2.6.2.2	Air pollutants
2.2.6.3	Processing contaminants54
2.2.6.3.1	Plastic-related compounds54
2.2.6.3.2	HMF
2.3 CON	ICLUSIONS
CONNECTIN	IG PARAGRAPH

Снарте	R 3: DIRECT INJECTION HIGH-PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY
COUPLE	D TO DATA INDEPENDENT ACQUISITION MASS SPECTROMETRY FOR THE
SCREEN	NG OF ANTIBIOTICS IN HONEY
3.1	Abstract
3.2	INTRODUCTION
3.3	Materials and methods
3.3.1	Chemicals and reagents
3.3.2	Honey Samples 66
3.3.3	Sample Preparation
3.3.4	Method validation
3.3.5	5 Instrument analysis
3.3.6	5 Data treatment
3.4	Results and discussion
3.4.1	Diversion of elution to waste
3.4.2	Method performance (Method A – sample preparation without acid hydrolysis) and
m/z	extraction window selection71
3.4.3	Application to honey samples77
3.4.4	Comparison with a standard method79
3.4.5	Performances of the method including an acid hydrolysis step (Method B)
3.4.6	Application of the method for the non-targeted identification of contaminants in
hone	ey83
3.5	CONCLUSIONS
3.6	Acknowledgments
3.7	References
3.8	SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Con	NE	СТІМ	NG PARAGRAPH	
Сна	PTE	ER 4	: OPTIMIZATION OF THE DATA TREATMENT STEPS OF A NON	I-TARGETED
LC-N	ИS	BA	SED WORKFLOW FOR THE IDENTIFICATION OF TRACE CHEMICA	L RESIDUES
IN HO	ONI	EY		
4.1	L	Abs	STRACT	100
4.2	2	Inte	RODUCTION	100
4.3	3	Ехр	ERIMENTAL	
Z	1.3.1	1	Chemicals and reagents	
Z	1.3.2	2	Honey Samples	
Z	1.3.3	3	Sample Preparation	
Z	4.3.4	4	Instrument analysis	105
Z	1.3.5	5	Data treatment	106
Z	4.3.6	5	Experimental design	
Z	1.3.7	7	Application of the optimized data pre-treatment to the non-targeted and	alysis of actual
ł	none	ey sa	amples	
Z	1.3.8	8	Confirmation of the non-targeted identification of compounds in he	oney samples
4.4	1	Res	ULTS AND DISCUSSION	110
Z	1.4.:	1	Optimization of the identification workflow	110
Z	1.4.2	2	Screening of veterinary drugs and other contaminants in actual honey s	amples 123
4.5	5	Cor	NCLUSIONS	128
4.6	5	Аск	NOWLEDGMENTS	
4.7	7	Ref	ERENCES	
4.8	3	Sup	PPLEMENTARY INFORMATION	
4.9)	Sup	PPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REFERENCES	

CONNE	CTIN	IG PARAGRAPH	5
Снарті	ER 5	5: SUSPECTED-TARGET SCREENING FOR THE ASSESSMENT OF PLASTIC	;-
RELATE	D CH	IEMICALS IN HONEY	6
5.1	Abs	TRACT	7
5.2	Inte	RODUCTION14	8
5.3	MA	TERIALS AND METHODS	3
5.3.	1	Chemicals and reagents 15	3
5.3.	2	Honey Samples	3
5.3.	3	Sample Preparation	3
5.3.	4	Instrument analysis15	4
5.3.	5	Data treatment	5
5.3.	5.1	Feature extraction15	5
5.3.	5.2	Suspect screening15	5
5.3.	5.3	Verification of the putative identities with standards15	6
5.3.	5.4	Estimation of the dietary exposure to the identified compounds from honey15	7
5.3.	5.5	Discrimination of honey samples through PCA15	8
5.3.	5.6	Comparison of the PRC profiles among the honey samples commercially sold i	n
plas	tic o	r glass jars15	8
5.3.	5.7	Structure elucidation of selected compounds15	9
5.4	Res	ULTS AND DISCUSSION	9
5.4.	1	QA/QC15	9
5.4.	2	Data reduction and screening of plastic-related compounds 16	1
5.4.	3	Implications for food safety	6
5.4.	4	Discrimination of honey samples through PCA based on the distribution of PRCs . 16	7
5.4.	5	Comparison of the PRC profiles among the honey samples commercially sold in plast	С
or g	jlass j	ars16	8

	5.4.5	5.1	Unique Entity Analysis	172
	5.4.5	5.2	Volcano plot of statistical significance versus fold change	172
	5.4.5	5.3	Frequency of detection in each group	174
	5.4.5	5.4	Discussion on suspect screening of contaminants in food samples	175
5	.5	Con	ICLUSIONS	176
5	.6	Аск	NOWLEDGMENTS	177
5	.7	Refi	ERENCES	177
5	.8	SUP	PLEMENTARY INFORMATION	184
5	.9	Sup	PLEMENTARY INFORMATION REFERENCES	200
Co	NNE	CTIN	IG PARAGRAPH	201
Сн	АРТЕ	er 6	: NON-TARGETED STUDY OF THE THERMAL DEGRADATION OF TYLO)SIN IN
но	NEY		WATER	202
6	.1	Abs.	TRACT	203
6	.2	INTR	RODUCTION	204
6	.3	Ma	TERIALS AND METHODS	207
	6.3.2	1	Chemicals and reagents	207
	6.3.2	2	Honey Samples	207
	6.3.3	3	Sample Preparation	208
	6.3.3	3.1	Thermal degradation in water (70 and 100°C)	208
	6.3.3	3.2	Thermal degradation in honey (70 and 100°C)	209
	6.3.3	3.3	Degradation in honey during storage	210
	6.3.3	3.4	Semi-quantification of tylosin B	211
	6.3.4	4	Instrument analysis	211
	6.3.5	5	Data treatment	212
	6.3.5	5.1	Targeted quantification of tylosin A and B	212
	6.3.5	5.2	Non-targeted identification of degradation products of tylosin A	212
				xviii

6.3	.5.3	Semi-quantification of tylosin B	214
6.4	Res	SULTS AND DISCUSSION	215
6.4	.1	QA/QC	215
6.4	.2	Thermal degradation of tylosin A in water	215
6.4	.3	Thermal degradation of tylosin B in water	224
6.4	.4	Degradation of tylosin A in honey at high temperatures	224
6.4	.5	Degradation of tylosin A in honey during storage	226
6.4	.6	Semi-quantification of tylosin B and other degradation products	227
6.5	Co	NCLUSIONS	232
6.6	Act	KNOWLEDGMENTS	233
6.7	Ref	ERENCES	233
6.8	Suf	PPLEMENTARY INFORMATION	237
6.9	Suf	PPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REFERENCES	250
Снарт	'ER 7	Conclusions	251
7.1	Co	NCLUSIONS	252
7.2	Co	NTRIBUTION TO KNOWLEDGE	254
7.3	Fut	TURE RESEARCH RECOMMENDATIONS	255
GENER	RAL R	REFERENCE LIST	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1.	Examples of applications of non-targeted approaches to food analysis	9
Table 2.2.	Comparison of mass analyzers used to determine metabolites and	
	degradation products of food contaminants	15
Table 2.3.	Summary of organic contaminants in honey reported by the NCRMP of the	
	CFIA in their latest three reports (2012-2015)	47
Table 3.1.	MRLs and recommended WRLs for veterinary drug residues in honey in	
	Canada	62
Table 3.2.	Method performance for the seven targeted veterinary drug residues for	
	m/z extraction windows of ± 5, ± 10 and ± 20 ppm	73
Table 3.3.	Concentration (μ g.g ⁻¹) of tylosin A, tylosin B, sulfamethazine and	
	sulfadimethoxine in the honey samples they were detected, at a m/z	
	extraction window of ± 10 ppm	78
Table 3.4.	Concentration of tylosin A in the CFIA honey samples according to the	
	reference method and in the present method, expressed as $\mu g.g^{\text{-}}$	
	1	80
Table S3.1.	List of 26 commercial honey samples and detailed information as obtained	
	from their labels	94
Table S3.2.	Comparison of the method performances for the seven targeted veterinary	
	drug residues with and without an acid hydrolysis step (m/z extraction	
	window of ± 10 ppm)	96
Table 4.1.	Composition of the groups of samples used to optimize the data pre-	
	treatment parameters	108
Table 4.2.	Number of false positives (+) and false negatives (-) for each compound in	
	samples from group A	117
Table 4.3.	Number of false positives (+) and false negatives (-) with scores above 70%	
	for each compound in samples from group B	119

Table 4.4.	Number of false positives (+) and false negatives (-) with scores above 70%	
	for each compound in samples from group C	121
Table 4.5.	Summary of the rate (%) of false positives and false negatives compared to	
	the total number of identifications for all the compounds and all the	
	samples for each test group	123
Table 4.6.	List of compounds from the library of honey-related products identified by	
	the non-targeted workflow in at least one honey sample collected in	
	Canada. Information is provided for each compound on the number of	
	samples in which the compound was detected, the average score for each	
	compound and whether the compounds had similar MS/MS to those	
	reported in the literature or in the database	124
Table 4.7.	Identification of tylosin A and HMF following the IPs system established by	
	the 2002/657/EC European Commission Decision. N = number of samples	
	in which each compound was detected	125
Table S4.1.	List of compounds included in the library along with their description and	
	relation with honey	136
Table 5.1.	Summary of studies reporting the presence of PRCs in commercial honey	
	samples	150
Table 5.2.	Maximum permitted tolerances for relative ion intensities according to	
	2002/657/EC European Commission Decision	157
Table 5.3.	Calculation of IPs and parent/fragment ion ratio for the confirmation of	
	DEHA and TBOEP based on the All Ions MS/MS data acquired for the	
	standards and the honey samples in which these compounds were	
	detected	165
Table 5.4.	Highest concentration (μ g.kg ⁻¹) and associated daily intake (μ g.kg ⁻¹ bw.day	
	⁻¹) of DEHA and TBOEP from honey compared their respective TDI or RfD	
	values. A body weight of 70 kg was used for the calculation of the daily	
	intake	167

xxi

Table 5.5.	Comparison of different data treatment approaches for the comparison of	
	PRC profiles among the honey samples commercially sold in plastic or glass	
	jars	171

- **Table 6.3.**Neutral mass, RT and suggested formula for tylosin A and its potential
degradation products observed in the four degradation experiments.
(Legend for the symbols: *: not detected, \uparrow : increasing significantly (p <
0.05) after treatment, =: detected but not changing significantly (p < 0.05)
after treatment, \downarrow : decreased significantly (p < 0.05) in treated samples).....</th>220

Table S6.1.	Name, molecular formula, exact mass and structure of tylosin A and all its	
	related products (degradation products and/or biosynthesis precursors)	
	described to-date	237

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1.	Non-targeted analysis workflow	10
Figure 2.2.	Diagram of the honey production steps along with different sources of	
	organic contaminants that play a role in each steps. (A: nectar collection by	
	the foraging bees, B: transfer of the nectar from the foraging bee to the	
	home bee, C: storage of unripened honey inside the comb cells, D:	
	uncapping of honey, E: centrifugation, F: heating, G: filtration, H: bottling of	
	the final honey product)	33
Figure 3.1.	Overlapped extracted ion chromatograms for the 7 antibiotics in sample H7	
	spiked at a concentration corresponding to 0.2 $\mu\text{g.g}^{\text{-1}}$ in honey (Sample	
	preparation Method A). Order of elution: lincomycin, sulfamethazine,	
	sulfamethoxazole, furazolidone, sulfadimethoxine, tylosin B and tylosin A	77
Figure 3.2.	Extracted ion chromatograms of sulfamethazine (A), sulfamethoxazole (B),	
	sulfadimethoxine (C), glucose-sulfamethazine conjugate (D), glucose-	
	sulfamethoxazole conjugate (E) and glucose-sulfadimethoxine conjugate (F)	
	in sample H18 spiked with all 7 target veterinary drugs at a level	
	corresponding to 0.2 μ g.g ⁻¹ in honey, which was extracted with hydrolysis	
	(blue dotted line) and without hydrolysis (green line). The extracted ions in	
	A-C and D-F were [M+H] ⁺ and [M+Na] ⁺ , respectively	82
Figure 3.3.	All Ions MS/MS spectra of tylosin B for different collision energies (CE). A:	
	in honey sample H35. B: in an analytical standard (20 ng.mL $^{-1}$ in	
	methanol/water)	85
Figure S3.1.	Total wavelength chromatogram of a honey sample spiked with the seven	
	veterinary drug residues using HPLC-DAD (scan range: 190 to 640 nm). The	
	first large peak (RT~2.5 min.) corresponds to a potential interference which	
	was diverted to waste	92

- Figure S3.2.Extracted ion chromatograms, corresponding to the [M+Na]⁺ of the three
glucose-sulfonamide conjugates in water/methanol (95:5)......93
- Figure 4.1.Comparison of the mean S/N obtained from chromatograms extracted with
a mass extraction window of \pm 10 and \pm 500 ppm (m/z for each compound
are described in Table 4.2). * Indicates significant difference between S/N
at \pm 10 and \pm 500 ppm.113

Figure 5.4.	Volcano plot of the comparison between honey sold in glass and plastic jars.	
	Compounds with a positive value in the X-axis (blue) have an average	
	concentration across all glass samples which is higher than that of the	
	plastic samples, and compounds with a negative value in the X-axis (green)	
	have an average concentration across all plastic samples which is higher	
	than that of the glass samples. Selected compounds (red) were those whose	
	identity was further studied	173
Figure S5.1.	Chromatographic peak and MS/MS spectra of DEHA in standard solution (A)	
	and in one of the honey samples in which it was detected (B)	187
Figure S5.2.	Chromatographic peak and MS/MS spectra of TBOEP in standard solution	
	(A) and in one of the honey samples in which it was detected (B)	188
Figure S5.3.	Loading plot of PC1 and PC3 of the PCA presented in Figure 5.3	189
Figure 6.1.	Chemical structures of tylosin components	205
Figure 6.2.	Summary of the degradation experiments conducted in water and in	
	honey	210
Figure 6.3.	A: Concentration of tylosin A in aqueous solutions (pH 3.60, heating time of	
	90 min). B: Concentration of tylosin B in aqueous solutions spiked with	
	tylosin A. Significant (p< 0.05) changes are indicated with *	216
Figure 6.4.	Structures of the two tentatively identified compounds related to tylosin A	219
Figure 6.5.	A: Concentrations of tylosin A in H4 and spiked H1 after heating (90 min)	
	and storage (1 year). B: Concentrations of tylosin B in H4 and spiked H1 after	
	heating and storage. Statistical significance (p< 0.05) is indicated with *	227
Figure 6.6	Peaks of OMT and lactenocin in each degradation experiment. Legend:	
	green = spiked/incurred treated sample, blue = spiked/incurred non-	
	treated sample, red = treated blank	231

- Figure S6.1. PCA plots of all samples in each experiment, including the water or honey samples containing tylosin, the procedural or matrix blanks and the QC samples. A: Degradation of tylosin A in water (legend: green = procedural blanks, blue = spiked water, red = QCs). B: Degradation of tylosin A in honey during storage (legend: green = sample H1, blue = sample H4, red = QCs). C: Degradation of tylosin A in honey after heating (legend: green = sample H1, blue = sample H4 and H1 spiked, red = QCs).
- Figure S6.3. Volcano plot of the comparison between spiked H1 unheated and heated at 100°C. Legend: red = compounds significantly decreasing after heating (p<0.005), blue = compounds significantly increasing after heating (p<0.05), grey = compounds without a significant change after heating (p>0.05), green = compounds changing significantly (p<0.05) and identified in Table 6.3.</p>

ABBREVIATIONS

AFB	American foulbrood
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
Aw	Water activity
BBzP	N-butyl benzyl phthalate
BPA	Bisphenol A
BPAF	Bisphenol AF
BPE	Bisphenol E
BPF	Bisphenol F
BPS	Bisphenol S
BPZ	Bisphenol Z
C _{AQ}	Concentration obtained through absolute quantification
CCD	Colony collapse disorder
CFIA	Canadian Food Inspection Agency
C _{SQ}	Concentration obtained through semi-quantification
DBP	Di-n-butyl phthalate
DCHP	Dicyclohexyl phthalate
DEET	Diethyltoluamide
DEHA	Bis(ethylhexyl) adipate
DEHP	Di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate
DEP	Diethyl phthalate
DIBP	Diisobutyl phthalate
DIBP	Diisobutyl phthalate
DIPP	Diisopropyl phthalate
DMP	Dimethyl phthalate
EFB	European foulbrood

ESI	Electrospray ionization
FHWM	Full width at half maximum
GCxGC-EI-TOF-MS	Bi-dimensional gas chromatography coupled to electron
	ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry
НМОВ	Human metabolome database
HMF	5-hydroxymethylfurfural
HPLC	High-performance liquid chromatography
HPLC-DAD	High-performance liquid chromatography coupled to diode
	array detector
HRMS	High resolution mass spectrometry
IDL	Instrument detection limit
IPs	Identification points
ІТ	lon trap
LC-ESI-MS	Liquid chromatography coupled to electrospray ionization
	mass spectrometry
LC-ESI-MS/MS	Liquid chromatography coupled to electrospray ionization
	tandem mass spectrometry
LC-ESI-QTOF-MS	Liquid chromatography coupled to electrospray ionization
	quadrupole-time-of-flight mass spectrometry
LC-MS	Liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry
LC-MS/MS	Liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass
	spectrometry
LC-QTOF-MS	Liquid chromatography coupled to quadrupole time-of-
	flight mass spectrometry
LC-TOF-MS	Liquid chromatography coupled to time-of-flight mass
	spectrometry
LLE	Liquid-liquid extraction

LOD	Limit of detection
Log D or Log K_{OW}	Octanol-water partition coefficient
LOQ	Limit of quantification
MDL	Method detection limit
ME	Matrix effect
MRL	Maximum residue limit
MS	Mass spectrometry
MS/MS	Tandem mass spectrometry
MS ⁿ	Multiple-mass fragmentations/Multiple mass spectrometry
NCRMP	National Chemical Residue Monitoring Program
ND	Non-detected
NIAS	Non-intentionally added substances
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
PAHs	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
РСА	Principal component analysis
PCBs	Polychlorinated biphenyls
PCDL	Personal compound database and library
PET	Polyethylene terephthalate
PPCPs	Pharmaceutical and personal care products
PRCs	Plastic-related compounds
PSA	Secondary amine exchange material
PVC	Polyvinyl chloride
QA	Quality assurance
QC	Quality control
QqLIT	Quadrupole linear ion trap
QqQ	Triple quadrupole
Q-TOF	Quadrupole time-of-flight

QuEChERS	"Quick, easy, cheap, effective, rugged and safe"
RE	Recovery
RF	Response factor
RfD	Reference dose
RSD	Relative standard deviation
RT	Retention time
S/N	Signal-to-noise ratio
SPE	Solid-phase extraction
SPME	Solid-phase microextraction
SRM	Selected reaction monitoring
TBOEP	Tris(2-butoxyethyl) phosphate
TDI	Tolerable daily intake
TOF	Time-of-flight
ТР	Transformation product
UHPLC	Ultrahigh-performance liquid chromatography
WRL	Working residue limit

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION

The list of contaminants and toxins reported in food is continuously increasing, including new agrochemicals, emerging environmental pollutants and new food-contact material residues [1-3]. In this context, the single-analyte method approach relying on the use of pure analytical standards for each analyte has become obsolete for the broad surveillance of chemical contaminants in the food supply chain. To address this issue, a novel approach, called non-targeted analysis, has emerged with the objective to detect and identify multiple unknown or unexpected contaminants in food [4].

As it does not rely on the initial use of analytical standards, the non-targeted approach opens the door for new applications in the field of food authentication, such as the determination of botanical origin of samples [5], the verification of the production process (e.g. organic vs. conventional farming) [6], or the detection of food adulteration and chemical identity of food [7]. It also brings new perspectives in the field of food safety, such as the screening of new contaminants [8], the retrospective examination of data to detect additional compounds [9], or the determination of the degradation compounds of known contaminants [10], among others.

In view of the potential of the non-targeted approach, the chemical risk assessment community has highlighted the specific need to further develop non-targeted methods to better characterize human exposure to chemicals [11] and to identify potential risk compounds in food matrices [4]. In the field of food contaminants, we have identified that further knowledge is required to better optimize the steps of the non-targeted workflow, especially in terms of data pre-treatment, and to explore the wide range of data treatment available and their applicability to food contaminants.

The non-targeted approach can be virtually applied to any type of food matrix. Honey has been shown to contain a wide range of agricultural residues and environmental

2
contaminants at trace levels (in the order of µg.g⁻¹ to ng.g⁻¹) [12-14]. Since honey is produced and consumed worldwide, the monitoring of organic contaminants in honey can provide results relevant to both food safety and environmental pollution [15]. Recently, a few authors have reported the use of non-targeted approaches for honey analysis in applications such as the determination of botanical origin or the detection of contaminants [5, 16]. However, there are still several aspects of the non-targeted workflow that need to be further developed and optimized in order to overcome the challenges that working with trace organic contaminants in a complex food matrix represent. For example, we identified that the application of direct injection to liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry (LC-MS) using a data-independent MS/MS acquisition for the non-targeted analysis of trace organic contaminants in honey has not been evaluated. Additionally, the application of non-targeted approaches for the study of the degradation of known honey contaminants during food processing has not been investigated. A semi-quantification approach to obtain quantitative information of such degradation products using their parent compounds as a reference has been suggested in other matrices [17], but not validated so far.

1.2 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

The objective of this research was to develop non-targeted methods for the analysis of trace organic contaminants in honey and explore various applications of this approach for the surveillance of chemical residues in honey. Honey was used as a case study to improve our knowledge of the non-targeted analysis approach in food science. The specific objectives of this study were:

 To develop and validate a method based on direct injection high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to data independent acquisition mass spectrometry for the targeted and non-targeted screening of veterinary drugs in honey.

- To optimize the data pre-treatment steps for the non-targeted identification of veterinary drugs in honey, and to apply the optimized workflow to the screening of veterinary drugs, pesticides and other contaminants in honey.
- 3. To apply the previously developed non-targeted method to screen plastic-related compounds in honey and investigate the differences among honey products sold in glass and plastic jars, while providing recommendation on the application of a non-targeted data treatment to the study of trace chemicals in food matrices.
- 4. To characterize the behaviour of tylosin A in honey during heating and storage, to identify its degradation products using a non-targeted approach, and to assess the potential of non-targeted MS data for the semi-quantification of its degradation products.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 NON-TARGETED ANALYSIS OF FOOD CONTAMINANTS

New contaminants and toxins are constantly being reported in food, including new agrochemicals, emerging environmental pollutants and food-contact material residues [1-3]. In this context, the classical analytical design of one method and one standard for each analyte has become obsolete, the new trends being the detection and identification of currently unknown or unexpected contaminants through the use of non-targeted analysis. The chemical risk assessment community has highlighted the need to further develop non-targeted methods to better characterize human exposure to chemicals [11], and to identify potential risk compounds in food matrices [4]. In this section, the non-targeted analysis will be introduced and its application to the detection and the identification of organic contaminants in food, including their metabolites and transformation products, will be discussed.

2.1.1 Foodomics

Cifuentes *et al.* defined foodomics as "a discipline that studies the food and nutrition domains through the application of advanced omics technologies to improve consumer's well-being, health and knowledge" [18]. Cifuentes *et al.* introduced this new approach as the application of postgenomic tools, such as epigenomics, genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics and metabolomics, to solve the old and new problems of food analysis [18]. Although foodomics has many advantages and opens an infinity of new possibilities to study, it still needs to overcome some limitations. The analytical techniques used in foodomics have to face important difficulties, mainly derived from the high complexity of food matrices, the large number of bioactive food compounds, their wide range of concentrations, and the physico-chemical behavior of the various target analytes. The two main techniques currently used in foodomics are mass spectrometry (MS) and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) [19].

NMR is a non-destructive analysis method that provides fast, highly reproducible and quantitative detection of a broad range of products with ¹H atoms or any other atom with NMR active nuclei, such as ³¹P, ¹⁵N and ¹³C. NMR can provide both qualitative and quantitative information which can be converted into biological information using multivariate data analysis [20]. For example, NMR can be used for the analysis of food toxicants, such as organophosphorus pesticides, and it has promising foodomics applications, e.g. in the field of phospholipidomics, a fast-growing area of research [21]. However, NMR has lower sensitivity compared to MS-based techniques, and it allows for the detection of only the most abundant compounds, while trace substances can remain undetected [22]. For this reason, MS provides several key advantages and is currently the leading technique for the analysis of organic contaminants in food matrices. The following sections will focus on the application of MS-based non-targeted methods.

2.1.2 Non-targeted analysis

Depending on the use of standards and the information known about the analytes, two types of analysis can be differentiated: targeted analysis and non-targeted analysis. The conventional targeted analysis approach relies on the development of a method based on analytical standards prior to the analysis of real samples [23]. This approach requires the definition of a list of selected compounds and is strongly dependent on the availability of pure standards of the targets. On the other hand, non-targeted analysis does not rely on standards. This approach, however, has to make use of advanced analytical techniques (e.g. MS) for the detection and the identification of the compounds [24]. Non-targeted analysis can be divided into suspect analysis and analysis of unknowns [25]. Both types of analysis are performed in the same way, the only difference between them being the fact that in suspect analysis the identity of the analyte is known, and so in many cases standards can be used for confirmatory purposes, while in unknown analysis the structures of the analytes are not defined. Non-targeted approaches in food analysis are used in two main fields: food authentication and food safety. As the food supply chain becomes increasingly complex and global, food authentication is becoming one of the most growing fields in food science [26]. In this field, foodomics can be used in several applications such as the determination of geographical origin of samples, verification of the production process (e.g. organic vs. conventional farming), or the detection of food adulteration and overall chemical identity of food [5-7, 27]. In food safety, non-targeted analysis is used for the screening of contaminants, retrospective examination of data to detect additional compounds and determination of degradation compounds of known contaminants, among others [9, 10]. **Table 2.1.** summarizes some examples of applications of non-targeted approaches to food analysis in different matrices.

Field of application	Food matrix	Description	Reference
Food authentication	Olive oil	Metabolic profiling to determine	[27]
		phenolic compounds of virgin olive oil	
	Human milk	Detection of human milk adulterants	[7]
	Honey	Botanical discrimination of unifloral	[5]
		honeys	
	Olive oil	Discrimination between olive oils from	[6]
		organic and conventional production	
Food safety	Mussels	Determination of thermal degradation	[10]
		products of a veterinary drug	
	Fruits and	Retrospective screening of pesticide	[9]
	vegetables	metabolites	
	Milk and fish	Screening of 143 veterinary drugs and	[8]
		pharmaceuticals	

Table 2.1. Examples of applications of non-targeted approaches to food analysis.

2.1.3 Non-targeted analysis workflow

Non-targeted analysis workflow can be divided into four main steps: sample preparation, instrumental analysis, data pre-treatment and data treatment (**Figure 2.1**). The following sections focus on the characteristics and challenges of each of these four steps.



Figure 2.1. Non-targeted analysis workflow

2.1.3.1 Sample preparation

Traditionally, sample preparation in targeted analysis involves a series of extraction and clean-up steps designed to separate the target analytes from interferences [28]. These steps are generally time-consuming and resource intensive. Besides, these steps are likely to eliminate other compounds whose analysis could prove decisive in current or future assessment of the food sample (e.g. presence of other contaminants, chemical tracers, metabolites, etc.). For this reason, non-targeted analysis tends to eliminate or minimize the sample preparation in order to increase the number of potential analytes.

Since no standards are used, and in many cases the analytes are unknown, the goal of sample extraction optimization in non-targeted analysis is to be able to extract the maximum number of analytes possible. For example, Theodoridis *et al.* developed a non-targeted LC-MS based method for global metabolite profiling of grapes, using a combination of liquid-liquid extraction (LLE) and solid-phase extraction (SPE) with highly cross-linked

hydroxylated polystyrene-divinylbenzene copolymer cartridges [29]. For the determination of the optimal solvent mixture for the LLE, an experimental design consisting of 22 points with different composition of water, methanol and chloroform was built, with the goal of determining the optimal solvent mixture in terms of the number of features extracted after data processing, robustness and extraction efficiency [29]. Although this example was done in the field of food metabolomics, the same approach to extraction optimization would be applied in non-targeted analysis of food contaminants.

A type of sample preparation that has gained popularity in food analysis in recent years is the QuEChERS (Quick, Easy, Cheap, Effective, Rugged and Safe) approach. These procedures usually include single-phase extraction of sample with a suitable solvent, followed by the removal of water and further clean up and purification [4]. QuEChERS methods have the combined advantage of having the ability to recover a broad range of chemicals while being simple and cost effective [30]. Because they can extract analytes with very different physico-chemical properties, these approaches have become a common sample treatment method in non-targeted analysis. An example of the application of QuEChERS methods for the non-targeted analysis of food is presented in the screening of pesticides in fruits and vegetables by Mezcua *et al.* [31].

Another sample preparation approach introduced for the fast analysis of trace compounds in environmental and food matrices, which solves the problem of analyte removal during the clean-up, is direct injection. This sample preparation strategy, also known as "dilute and shoot", is based on the direct introduction of the sample into the instrument, with only a previous dilution in solvent depending on the nature of the sample. For example, Bayen *et al.* applied direct injection to liquid-chromatography coupled to electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry (LC-ESI-MS/MS) for the analysis of pharmaceuticals and endocrine-disrupting chemicals in mussels and clams [32]. This "cleanup-free" approach, which relied on a simple solvent extraction with acetonitrile/methanol (50:50), was made possible using isotopically labeled surrogates to correct for matrix effects. A post-column switch on the liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) system that diverted the first minutes of elute to the waste was used to remove potential interferences [32]. Olmo-García *et al.* developed a method for metabolic profiling of phenolic compounds in olive oil using direct injection LC-ESI-MS [27]. In this case, the sample preparation was reduced to the dilution of olive oil in acetone, and the method was successfully validated and applied to the quantification of 21 phenolic compounds without any other extraction step. "Dilute and shoot" approaches have also been used in honey for the targeted determination of pesticides, veterinary drugs and other trace contaminants in honey prior to liquid chromatography coupled with time-of-flight MS (LC-TOF-MS), Orbitrap MS, and triple quadrupole MS [33-38]. This approach has the advantage of being much faster and less resource intensive than other extraction methods, while avoiding the removal of any potential analytes.

2.1.3.2 Instrumental analysis

In the last decades LC-MS/MS has become one of the fundamental techniques for the analysis of food toxicants. As described below, various mass analyzers can be used to determine organic contaminants in food matrices. For this type of application, full-scan high sensitivity, high resolution, accurate-mass measurements and multiple-mass fragmentations (MSⁿ) are needed [36].

Low resolution mass analysers have been defined as those with a resolving power below 10,000 with a mass accuracy above 5 ppm, while high resolution MS have resolving power above 10,000 with a mass accuracy below 5 ppm [37]. Kellmann *et al.* studied the effect of using different resolving power settings on the analysis of several contaminants in honey and animal feed [38]. The authors spiked their samples with 151 pesticides, veterinary drugs, mycotoxins and plant toxins at levels ranging from 10 to 250 ng.g⁻¹, and the analyses were performed using a single-stage Orbitrap with resolving power from 10,000 to 100,000.

According to their results, in the case of honey a resolving power of 25,000 was sufficient to obtain a mass assignment error close to the typical instrument mass accuracy (< 2ppm) even at the lowest levels of concentration. However, during the analysis of animal feed, which are more complex matrices, a higher resolving power (> 50,000) was required. In this case, it was found that at lower resolving power the error in the assignment of mass increased due to the co-elution of analytes with interferences at the same nominal mass. In the same line, Nielen *et al.* proposed that, during the analysis of veterinary drugs, for the confirmation of postulated structures of unknown hormones and β -agonists a resolution of at least 70,000 was required [39]. According to the authors, this resolution provides reliable elemental compositions of product ions differing in one CO, C₂H₄ or N₂ substructure up to *m/z* 400. Both studies demonstrate that, for this type of analysis, high resolution techniques are needed.

A summary and comparison of mass analyzers used to determine food contaminants and their metabolites and degradation products, including their pros and cons as well as applications as reported by Picó *et al.*, is presented in **Table 2.2**. The conclusion of this comparison is that the only MS techniques suitable for the non-targeted analysis of known and unknown food contaminants, that is, with enough mass accuracy, mass resolution, full-scan sensitivity and compatible with multiple MSⁿ, are quadrupole-time-of-flight (Q-TOF) and Orbitrap [36].

Among the ionization sources available for MS, electrospray ionization (ESI) is the method of choice for interfacing LC to the mass spectrometer [40]. Its popularity is due to its high sensitivity and ability to analyze large, non-volatile, chargeable molecules such as proteins and nucleic acids. However, it is also widely used for the analysis of small molecules such as drugs, natural products, pesticides and carbohydrates [40]. Ions are generated in ESI by application of a potential to an ESI emitter through which a solution containing the analytes is infused [41]. The solution emerges from the capillary as a fine spray with excess charge

13

evenly distributed on the surface of the droplets and, as the droplets travel towards the entrance of the mass spectrometer, the solvent evaporates causing an increase in the surface charge density on the droplet. Then, as evaporation occurs, the surface charge density increases to the point at which Coulombic fission occurs and charged offspring droplets are generated [41]. Finally, according to the desorption model proposed by Iribarne *et al.*, the electric field at the droplet surface provides the work required to lift the analyte ion from the droplet surface to form a gas-phase ion that will enter the mass spectrometer [42]. When ESI is used, the ions most commonly detected are the pseudomolecular ions [M+H]⁺ and [M-H]⁻ in positive mode and negative mode, respectively [43]. However, the formation of other adducts such as [M+Na]⁺, [M+K]⁺ or [M+NH4]⁺ is possible depending on the analyte and the solvent in which it is dissolved [33, 44].

System	Pros	Cons	Applications
QqQ	• High sensitivity in single reaction	Incompatible with high-speed	Unambiguous identification and
	monitoring (SRM)	separation	quantification of target metabolites and
	Wide linear dynamic range	• Difficult to determine a large number	degradation products of food contaminants
		of compounds simultaneously (over	in complex matrix samples
		100)	
		• Low sensitivity when using full-scan	
		modes	
ІТ	• MS ⁿ capabilities	Low accurate nominal mass	• Screening of a large number of targets
	• Full-scan high sensitivity	Low mass resolution	without loss of sensitivity
		Medium sensitivity in SRM	Identification of unknown peaks based on
		Narrow linear dynamic range	structural information obtained from the
			fragmentation patterns
			Data can be reprocessed a posteriori

 Table 2.2.
 Comparison of mass analyzers used to determine metabolites and degradation products of food contaminants [36].
 Comparison of mass analyzers used to determine metabolites and degradation products of food contaminants [36].
 Comparison of mass analyzers used to determine metabolites and degradation products of food contaminants [36].
 Comparison of mass analyzers used to determine metabolites and degradation products of food contaminants [36].
 Comparison of mass analyzers used to determine metabolites and degradation products of food contaminants [36].
 Comparison of mass analyzers used to determine metabolites and degradation products of food contaminants [36].
 Comparison of mass analyzers used to determine metabolites and degradation products of food contaminants [36].
 Comparison of mass analyzers used to determine metabolites and degradation products of food contaminants [36].
 Comparison of mass analyzers used to determine metabolites and degradation products of food contaminants [36].
 Comparison of mass analyzers used to determine metabolites and degradation products of food contaminants [36].
 Comparison of mass analyzers used to determine metabolites and degradation products of food contaminants [36].
 Comparison of mass analyzers used to determine metabolites and degradation products of food contaminants [36].
 Comparison of mass analyzers used to determine metabolites and degradation products of food contaminants [36].
 Comparison of mass analyzers used to determine metabolites and degradation products of food contaminants [36].
 Comparison of mass analyzers used to determine metabolites and degradation products of food contaminants [36].
 Comparison products [36].
 Comparison products [36].

- QqLIT MSⁿ capabilities with high sensitivity in SRM
 - Full-scan high sensitivity
 - Wide linear dynamic range

• Low accurate nominal mass

Small linear dynamic range

٠

• Low mass resolution

- Unambiguous identification and quantification of target metabolites of food contaminants in complex matrix samples
- Screening of large number of targets without loss of sensitivity
- Identification of unknown peaks based on structural information obtained from the fragmentation patterns
- Data can be processed a posteriori, if acquired in full scan
- Screening of a large number of targets without loss of sensitivity
- Identification of unknown peaks based on accurate mass and isotopic profile evaluation
- Data can be reprocessed a posteriori

- TOF
- High mass accuracy (1-3 ppm)
- High mass resolution (10,000 at full width at half maximum (FHWM))

- **QTOF** High mass accuracy (5 ppm)
 - High mass resolution (45,000 FHWM) [45]
 - Full-scan high sensitivity
 - Compatible with high speed separations
 - MS² capabilities
- Orbitrap Superior mass accuracy (1-2 ppm)
 - Outstanding mass resolution (200,000 FHWM)
 - Wide linear dynamic range
 - Compatible with high-speed separations
 - MSⁿ capabilities

• Relatively small linear dynamic range

Very expensive

- Screening of a large number of targets without loss of sensitivity
- Identification of unknown peaks base on accurate-mass and isotopic profile evaluation
- Data can be reprocessed a posteriori
- Elimination of structural ambiguities of the compounds
- Screening of a large number of targets without loss of sensitivity
- Identification of unknown peaks based on accurate-mass and isotopic profile evaluation
- Data can be reprocessed a posteriori
- Definitive structural characterization
- Reliable elemental compositions of product ions differing in one CO, C₂H₄ or N₂

2.1.3.2.1 Q-TOF in food analysis

Due to its high mass accuracy and mass resolution, as well as full-scan high sensitivity and MS² capabilities, liquid chromatography coupled to quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry (LC-QTOF-MS) is one of the major LC-MS platforms for non-targeted analysis and characterization of unknowns, including parent contaminants or their transformation products in food [46]. An example of the application of this technique was reported in 2012 by Díaz *et al.* in the study of organic contaminants, residues and illicit substances in waste water, human urine and food samples [47]. In order to increase the identification capabilities of this technique, an MS^E mode consisting in two acquisitions functions (a low energy function at 4 V and a high energy function with a collision energy ramp ranging from 15 to 40 V) was used. By using this configuration, the protonated (or deprotonated) molecules can be obtained with the low energy function, while the high energy function promotes fragmentation, improving the identification of the compound. As a result of this non-targeted screening, two fungicides were identified in orange samples, one fungicide and one insecticide were identified in banana peel samples, and two mycotoxins were identified in corn samples [47].

More recently, Dasenaki *et al.* reported another example of the application of LC-QTOF-MS, in this case in a screening method for 143 veterinary drugs and pharmaceuticals in milk and fish tissue [8]. This method also worked with two different collision energies but, in this case, the high collision energy was 25 V. According to the authors, at low collision energy all the ions from the preselected mass range, which in this case was m/z 40-1000, are heading toward the flight tube without isolation at the quadrupole, and thus there is no collision-induced dissociation at the collision cell. At high collision energy, no isolation is taking place at the quadrupole, and the ions from the preselected mass range the ions from the preselected mass range are fragmented in the collision cell, creating the MS/MS spectrum [8]. When identifying the non-targeted compounds, the low collision energy experiment provided the authors with

the MS spectra and chromatograms, and thus it was used for the retention time and the molecular formula and mass accuracy of the precursor ions and adducts. Then, the high collision energy experiment provided the MS/MS spectra and chromatograms were obtained, therefore information on the molecular formula and mass accuracy of the fragment ions were obtained and used for the final identification of the analytes [8].

In addition, this technique allows for the retrospective analysis of contaminants using already acquired data without the need for additional sample injection. Herrera-López *et al.* monitored the transformation products (TPs) of several organic contaminants in waste water using liquid chromatography coupled to electrospray ionization quadrupole-time-of-flight mass spectrometry (LC-ESI-QTOF-MS) as well as bi-dimensional gas chromatography coupled with electron ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (GCxGC-EI-TOF-MS) [48]. Four omeprazole metabolites were successfully identified, proving that QTOF, together with an adequate data treatment, is an effective tool for the determination of TPs of organic compounds [48].

2.1.3.2.2 Orbitrap in food analysis

Despite being such an expensive technique, Orbital trap mass detectors, also known as Orbitrap, have been used in a wide range of food analysis applications. It has been reported in monitoring of pesticide residues, veterinary drug residues, natural toxins (including mycotoxins), process contaminants, environmental contaminants, food allergens and also in the identification of adulteration in food and beverages [49].

Several examples of the application of this technique in the field of food contaminants can be found. Jia *et al.* developed an analytical method for simultaneous analysis of 333 pesticide and veterinary drug residues in baby food using Ultrahigh-performance liquid chromatography and electrospray ionization quadrupole Orbitrap high-resolution mass spectrometry (UHPLC-ESI-Q-Orbitrap) [50]. In this study, 258 pesticides and 75 veterinary drugs were selected, including gestagens, macrolides, androgens, quinolones, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, tetracyclines, ionophores, sulphonamides, corticoids, avermectines, tranquilisers, nitroimidazoles, amphenicols, coccidiostats, β -agonists and penicillins. For the quantitative part of the study, data were acquired using full MS scan mode. For confirmatory purposes data-dependent MS/MS scans were performed. In this mode, precursor ions for the target compounds were sent to the collision cell of the Q-Orbitrap, where mass resolution was set at 17,500 FWHM (*m*/z 200), and they were fragmented with a normalized collision energy of 35% to obtain MS/MS spectra [50]. According to Jia *et al.*, using this configuration coeluting compounds from the matrix and noisy peaks can be easily excluded, thus facilitating the identification and quantification of both known and new analytes in a single run analysis.

2.1.3.3 Data pre-treatment

Non-targeted analysis of food matrices usually results in relatively large datasets which require a data pre-treatment step in order to reduce the list of peaks and be able to identify the generally small signals of the compounds of interest [51]. This is a critical step of the non-targeted workflow, because any errors at this stage would change the list of features detected and available for data treatment, which could potentially have a great impact in the final results of the non-targeted analysis. The data pre-treatment consists mainly in a feature extraction and data filtering step which can be followed by an identification of compounds depending on the nature of the study and availability of spectral libraries.

2.1.3.3.1 Feature extraction and data filtering

The feature extraction LC- or GC-MS non-targeted analysis data, performed previous to data treatment, is a multistep process. First, the whole chromatogram needs to be examined in order to create a compound list of all peaks that represent real molecules [52]. During this process, detected ions are assigned a monoisotopic peak with a corresponding m/z value,

and an isotopic distribution analysis is performed to identify isotopic clusters that might be characteristic of certain elemental compositions. Next, the presence of adducts that may be associated with the eluting compounds is assessed based on a list of potential adducts specified beforehand [53]. Finally, if the mass accuracy is sufficient and there is a minimal isotopic distribution error, the correct molecular formula can be generated for the compounds of interest [54, 55].

An example of data filtering in non-targeted analysis of food contaminants is the work of Herrera-López *et al.*, which studied the TPs of six structurally different compounds selected from a list of 122 chemicals, including PPCPs, pesticides and PAHs [49]. In the case of omeprazole, for example, a wastewater sample contained originally 7,643 features that, thanks to the application of a mass filter around the mass of the parent compound of 5 and 10 ppm for MS and MS/MS data, respectively, were reduced to 567. Further data treatment led to only 43 compounds considered for further identification based on elemental composition simulation and interpretation of the MS/MS spectra. At the end, four omeprazole metabolites were successfully identified [49]. Thus, this paper illustrates the need for a data-filtration step in non-targeted analysis in order to reduce the large list of signals obtained initially to a more manageable number of features.

Data filtering includes a succession of steps with several parameters affecting the results of each step. Examples of these parameters are exact mass tolerance, *m/z* extraction window, retention time tolerance and peak height filter [56]. In metabolomics, the need for identifying the parameters that have the main impact on number and quality of reported metabolites has been already recognized [57]. However, to-date there has been no systematic assessment of the influence of any other parameters of data filtering processes other than the exact mass tolerance on the identification of trace contaminants in food.

2.1.3.3.2 Compound identification

The data filtering steps take the large list of signals recorded for all the samples and reduce it to a list of the molecular formulas of the compounds of interest. Then, if a compound database is available, further identification of these compounds can be carried out. To do so, mass spectral similarity between an experimental mass spectrum and each mass spectrum in a reference library is calculated based on various parameters [58]. However, even in a specific database, several compounds can be associated with a single molecular formula. To overcome this issue, acquisition methods using data-dependent or dataindependent MS/MS can provide some information (exact mass, isotopic patterns) for both the parent ions and their fragments that can be used to further confirm the correct identification of the target compounds [59]. The use of MS/MS spectra for identification of compounds has, however, some limitations. Generally speaking, fragments present lower intensity and accurate mass than the protonated molecule (parent compound). In the field of trace contaminant analysis, where the intensity of the signal of the parent compound is already very low, the fragments obtained can end up being too small to provide reliable information for identification [52]. In addition, different types of HRMS instruments (i.e. QTOF vs. Orbitrap) can present differences in performance that affect several of the parameters used for identification, such as the accuracy of the relative isotopic distribution at a given monoisotopic peak intensity [54]. Ultimately, this could affect the non-targeted identification of compounds if the instrument used to build the database is different from the instrument used during the analysis.

Another parameter that can be used when screening against a compound database, besides the MS or MS/MS spectra information, is retention time. Several examples of the use of retention time in database screening exist in the literature [8, 31, 44]. Retention time, however, depends strongly on the specific chromatography conditions of the experiment, so small differences between the chromatographic method used to build the database and

22

the one used during the non-targeted analysis can have a great impact in the correct identification of compounds. For this reason, although it can be a very useful parameter when using an in-house built library, it is not recommended to rely on retention time when using a commercial library.

Although in many cases in-house or commercial databases are used, online mass spectral libraries are also useful tool for small molecule identification in environmental monitoring, forensic science, food analysis and metabolomics, among others [49]. These repositories allow investigators to compare their MS/MS data to those recorded using pure standards and catalogued in the database. The use of these libraries improves the speed, efficiency and cost effectiveness of non-targeted analysis [49]. The online free MS databases being currently most used are MassBank, Human Metabolome Database (HMDB) and METLIN [60-62]. MassBank is the public repository of mass spectra of chemical compounds smaller than 3000 Da analyzed using optimized up-to-date chemical methods. Each spectrum is complemented by a description of the instrument used as well as its analytical parameters, such as the method of ionization, the type of ion analyzer, the ionization voltage, the matrix in which each compound is analyzed and the collision energy conditions for the MSⁿ measurement. The information presented for each compound includes a peak list *m/z* data in high and/or low resolution and its relative or real intensities [60].

HMDB is a database that contains information about small molecule metabolites found in the human body, as well as drugs and drug metabolites, toxins and environmental pollutants, food components and food additives [61]. This library presents quantitative chemical, physical, clinical and biological data about more than 40,000 compounds, which are either *detected* metabolites (those with measured concentrations or experimental confirmation of their existence) or *expected* metabolites (those for which biochemical pathways are known or human intake/exposure is frequent, but the compound has yet to be detected in the human body) [61].

23

METLIN is also a metabolite database [62]. It is principally intended to be used in metabolomics approaches, although it is not limited to this field. METLIN contains over 64,000 structures of pharmaceuticals and their metabolites, pesticides, human and animal endogenous compounds, polyphenols and plant metabolites, among others, and it incorporates more than 59,000 high-resolution MS/MS spectra [63].

Depending on the nature of the study, compound identification can be performed as part of the data pre-treatment in order to reduce the list of compounds to consider for the data treatment to a specific family of contaminants. However, compound identification is not exclusive to pre-treatment steps. It can also be done later in the data treatment to identify a compound that has been found to be relevant for the study. In that case, pre-treatment generally consists only in data filtering to obtain molecular formulas, and the identification workflow is applied once the compound of interest has been found. The general description of the identification process presented in this section is therefore also applicable for the identification of compounds during the data treatment.

2.1.3.4 Data treatment

As seen in **Table 2.1.**, non-targeted analysis has a wide range of applications in food analysis, and each of them will require a different data treatment approach depending on the objectives of the study. In most cases, data treatment will include some type of statistical analysis in order to determine the compounds relevant to the study. Then, these compounds will be identified, if this was not previously done during the data pre-treatment, and in some cases a semi-quantification approach will be applied in order to obtain some quantitative information.

2.1.3.4.1 Statistical analysis

The great amount of data generated in foodomics often becomes too big to be effectively evaluated by conventional univariate approaches and requires multivariate analysis, which are pattern recognition methods that use all measured variables simultaneously and are able to identify underlying latent factors that might carry important information [22]. These methods are very sensitive to the noise and non-sample related variations that could lead to misinterpretations of the results, reason why a previous data filtering step is needed.

Once the data has been filtered, the chemometric analysis begins. There are several multivariate analysis methods that can be applied to data sets, and in all of them the main objective is to make use of all the variables present in the samples simultaneously and establish the relationship amongst them. Some of the multivariate data analysis used in foodomics include unsupervised data analysis, such as Principal Component Analysis (PCA) and Hierarchical Cluster Analysis, and supervised methods such as Partial Least Squares Regression, Partial Least Squares Discrimination Analysis, Soft Independent Modelling of Class Analogies and Extended Canonical Variables Analysis. Additionally, other more advanced data analysis methods can be used, such as ANOVA Simultaneous Component Analysis (ASCA), Multi-block Analysis, Sparse PCA and Parallel Factor Analysis [22].

Some other examples of widely used data treatment strategies in non-targeted analysis of food, besides multivariate analysis, include unique entity analysis and volcano plot. Unique entity analysis usually searches for compounds that are present in 100% of the samples of one group and absent in 100% of the samples of the other group [64]. The volcano plot is a widely used statistical tool in metabolomics to detect compounds whose intensities are significantly different among two groups of samples by combining a Student t-test and a fold change calculation [7, 65].

2.1.3.4.2 Quantification in non-targeted analysis

Although great advances have been done in the identification of non-targeted substances in food matrices, to date providing quantitative information in a non-targeted workflow in the absence of a standard remains a challenge because of the lack of a known response factor of the analyte [66, 67]. In this context, the concept of semi-quantification is introduced as a way of obtaining some approximate quantitative values in the absence of the standards needed for a true quantification. The three main approaches adopted by different authors are semi-quantification based on *in silico* ionization prediction [68, 69], semi-quantification based on chemical similarity [6, 70, 71] and semi-quantification based on similar chromatographic behaviour [72].

The ionization process in ESI-MS is dependent on many physicochemical and thermodynamic properties of the analytes, such as their nonpolar surface area, free energy of solvation, octanol-water partition coefficient (log D), LC retention time and gas-phase proton affinities [40, 41, 73-75]. For this reason, some authors made the hypothesis that the response factor of the analytes could be predicted by these properties, which could then be used to *semi-quantify* analytes in non-targeted studies. Chalcraft *et al.* built a model to predict the relative response factor of low-abundance metabolites based on their molecular volume, log D and absolute mobility [68]. Later, Wu et al. developed a quantitative structure-ion intensity relationship in LC-MS for the semi-quantification of 25 organic acids by incorporating both the intrinsic structural properties and solvent factors as parameters in the model [69]. Regarding the semi-quantification approach using chemical similarity, Wang et al. developed a semi-quantification method for alkaloids in plant extracts based on the idea that molecules with common chemical moieties would produce common fragment ions in MS/MS [70]. Alkaloids were classified into two groups based on their structure and then they were quantified using a reference standard corresponding to each group, achieving a semi-quantification accuracy ranging 103.36 to 105.01%. Along the

same lines, Bu *et al.* semi-quantified organic contaminants in river sediments using a representative standard for each group of compounds, and calculated concentrations differed from the actual measurements by a maximum factor of 4 for most of the analytes [71]. Kalogiouri *et al.* successfully developed a model for the semi-quantification of phenolic compounds in olive oil identifying the most appropriate standard using chemical similarity analysis [6]. Following a semi-quantitative approach using similarity of chromatographic behaviour, Pieke *et al.* compared two strategies to select internal standards for the non-targeted analysis of a wide range of contaminants leaching from food contact material, based on either similar retention time or similar exact mass, and found that the quantification error was minimized when using retention time to choose the standard for quantification [72].

In the case of degradation products of known contaminants, some authors support the idea of a semi-quantification using the parent compound as the internal standard in the quantification of its degradation products. This method has been applied for the quantification of the degradation products of chlortetracycline and demeclocycline in agricultural soils and drainage waters [17]. Although this approach seems to give satisfactory results, to date no validation of this semi-quantification approach for degradation products of organic contaminants has been reported.

2.2 HONEY

According to the Codex Alimentarius Commission, honey is "the natural sweet substance produced by honey bees from the nectar of plants or from secretions of living parts of plants or excretions of plant sucking insects on the living parts of plants, which the bees collect, transformed by combination of specific substances of their own, deposited, dehydrated, stored and left in the honey comb to ripen and mature" [76]. It is a natural sweetener produced and consumed worldwide, used as a food and medical product since the earliest times [77]. The following sections present an overview of the history, manufacturing process, chemical composition, physicochemical and medical properties of honey, before focusing on the main families of organic contaminants that are found in this food matrix and their analysis.

2.2.1 Honey then and now

As the only available natural sweetener, honey was an important food for *Homo sapiens* from his very beginnings [77]. The oldest record interpreting a man harvesting honey was found in Bicorp (Spain), dating back to 7000 BC, and it depicts a man using a ladder to reach a hive, carrying a container to hold combs, and workers buzzing around his head [78]. Those primitive honey hunters would eat the comb as it was broken off from the nest, containing wax, honey, pollen and bee brood, which would provide them with a sweet and nutritious mixture of carbohydrates and proteins [79]. Thousands of years later began the development of beekeeping and controlled honey production. The earliest known record of keeping bees in hives and harvesting honey from them dates from 2400 BC, in Egypt. These early beekeepers would use techniques similar to honey hunting, with the exception that the bees were in mobile hives that the beekeeper could move and place wherever it was more suitable [79]. Honey played an important role in Ancient Egypt, as part of their spiritual, social and economic life. Carvings found in temples and sarcophagi, and papyri

show that most medicines from that era contained honey, and that Ancient Egyptians commonly drank beer made of wheat, barley and honey [78]. The first written reference to honey, recorded on a Sumerian tablet dating back to 2100-2000 BC, mentions the use of honey as a drug and an ointment [80]. Honey appears also in Hebrew literature, which describes the promised land as a place flowing with milk and honey [78]. Indeed, there are several mentions of honey in the Old and New Testaments, such as the quote from King Solomon "Eat honey my son, because it is good" (Old Testament, proverb 24:13). Honey was also highly valued by the Ancient Greeks, who believed that it abolished fatigue and used to give it to athletes before major events [78]. During the Middle Ages, in Central and Northern Europe honey was recognized as the "elixir of life", it was attributed miraculous properties and was used in surgery and burn therapy because of its healing powers [78]. Until the general spreading of sugar production and consumption in Europe in the 18th century, honey remained the main sweetener and therefore it was widely harvested and commercialized both as a food and for its medicinal properties [79].

Despite the worldwide decline in bee colonies observed in the recent years, the beekeeping sector in Canada has increased over the past decade, reaching the record of 789,598 bee colonies and 10,544 beekeepers in 2017 [81]. Most of Canadian honey is produced in the Prairies, Alberta being the most important honey producer with 43% of the total Canadian production, followed by Saskatchewan (24%) and Manitoba (19%). In terms of beekeepers, however, Ontario leads the ranking with 32% of Canadian beekeepers, followed by British Columbia (25%) and Alberta (13%) [81]. The estimated yearly average consumption of honey per person in Canada was 0.85 kg in 2017 [81].

In terms of trade, around 40% of Canada's honey production is exported. The major Canadian honey importer is the United States, which represents 79% of the Canadian honey exports, followed by Japan (16%) and China (3%) [81]. Canada also imports honey from other countries for a total value of 41 million Canadian dollars in 2017, Brazil (18%), Spain

(11%) and Mexico (10%) being the main sources of honey imports in terms of quantity of honey [81].

Regarding the honey sector worldwide, China, New Zealand and Argentina are the top 3 exporters of honey, while the United States, Germany and Japan are the top 3 importers of honey [81].

2.2.2 The process of honey production

The production of honey starts with the foraging honey bee flying out of the colony to collect nectar, which is the source of carbohydrates for the bees and basic ingredient of honey [82]. Nectar is a sweet material produced by flowering plants which is mainly composed of sugars. When the forager finds the nectar of the flower, she takes it and stores it in her honey sac, a widened part of her alimentary canal which contains a valve to prevent the nectar passing through the digestive system [79]. The foraging bee will then visit other flowers to keep collecting nectar until she fills her honey sac, which can contain a load of nectar of 25 to 70 mg, in a foraging trip that can last from 25 min to 2.5 h and that usually covers a distance of 1 to 3 km from the hive [78]. In one day, the forager will generally do between 3 and 24 trips depending on the weather and the nectar flow and can fly a distance of up to 12 km from the hive if necessary. As a general rule, bees forage on specific plant species and less than 3% of bees carry mixed pollen or nectar back to the hive, although the foraging range widens as pollen and nectar become scarce [82]. Weather conditions have a direct impact on the foraging activities. Bees will generally not forage for nectar at temperatures below 13°C or above 43°C, although at higher temperatures they will still go out for water. Regarding wind, the foraging bees will stop gathering nectar at winds of about 24 km/h, the speed at which they normally fly [82].

Inside the honey sac, the nectar is diluted with saliva containing secretions from several glands, especially the hypopharyngeal glands, which contribute the enzymes used later

30

during the elaboration of honey: invertase, diastase and glucose oxidase [79]. Once the foraging bee arrives at the hive, she will retain her nectar load until she encounters one or more house bees willing to take the food from her. She then regurgitates the nectar load and passes it to the home bees that will ingest it, cleans her proboscis from any nectar residues and stays inside the hive for some minutes to eat and rest before flying out to collect more nectar [78]. The home bee now moves to a less crowded area of the hive and begins a series of manipulations with her mandibles and proboscis to actively evaporate moisture and blend the nectar with the enzyme invertase in a process that can last up to 20 min. After that, she deposits the unripened honey into a cell by crawling in, regurgitating the contents of her honey sac and painting this processed nectar on the upper side of the cell by using her proboscis as a brush [78]. This honey, which can initially have a moisture content of up to 95%, rests inside the open cell until the moisture drops to 20%, when worker bees will seal the cell with a thin layer of wax, providing it with an air-tight cover. The speed of the process, which generally takes from 2 to 5 days but can be delayed to more than 21 days in some cases, depends on the degree to which the honey-containing cells are filled, the initial moisture of the nectar and the ventilation of the hive [79].

The process of honey manufacture, from the hive to the final product, depends largely on the scale of the operations (i.e. small quantities of honey for personal consumption of the beekeeper vs. large scale bottling in industries). There are however a number of basic steps that are common to all scenarios. First, the honeycombs are extracted trying to minimize the impact on the hive [78]. In some cases of honey with a particularly high moisture content (e.g. rape or chestnut honey), a dehumidification step is needed to lower the humidity to 18.5-18.0%. In this case, honeycombs are placed in a very dry and warm room in order to lower the moisture content of honey before extraction [83]. Then, the layer of wax that seals every cell in the honeycomb is removed by a process called uncapping, which can be done either manually with a heated knife in small-scale operations or with partially automated uncapping machines in larger-scale facilities [78]. Uncapped combs are then placed in the honey extractor, where honey is removed by centrifugation and collected at the bottom of the extractor. This raw honey is then transferred to a heated tank, usually at a temperature between 37 and 49°C, where wax residues and other extraneous matter will float to the surface and will be easily removed [78]. At this point, honey can be directly filtered and bottled or, alternatively, an additional heating process can be applied before filtration. If no heating step is used and honey is directly filtered and bottled, the final product is raw or unheated honey [83]. Otherwise, there are several options for this afterextraction heating process that will depend on the scale of production and the type of final product aimed to obtain [78]. One of the most common heating processes is honey pasteurization, which takes place when temperature is raised up to 72°C, maintained for about 120 s, and then rapidly cooled [84]. The goal of honey pasteurization, contrary to the majority of food products, is not for food safety purposes but to avoid crystallization and prolong the liquid state of honey [83]. The full process of honey production, from the nectar to the bottles, is summarized in Figure 2.2. Additionally, it should be noted that, in Canada, the production of organic honey differs from that of regular honey in that no synthetic veterinary drugs can be used on the bees, the crops honey bees feed from need to be free of synthetic pesticides and genetically modified organisms, and the environment in which the honey bees live and feed should be as free from environmental pollution as possible [85].



Figure 2.2. Diagram of the honey production steps along with different sources of organic contaminants that play a role in each steps. (A: nectar collection by the foraging bees, B: transfer of the nectar from the foraging bee to the home bee, C: storage of unripened honey inside the comb cells, D: uncapping of honey, E: centrifugation, F: heating, G: filtration, H: bottling of the final honey product).

The amount of nectar needed to produce 1 kg of honey depends on the type of flower and its moisture content. In the case of plants containing concentrated nectars, such as acacia, the initial nectar collected by the foraging bees can contain over 60% sugar so little water needs to be evaporated to produce the honey [79]. Clover nectar, on the other hand, is generally more diluted and more than 4 kg of nectar can be needed to produce only 1 kg of honey. Nectars with high water content (i.e. above 87%) are hardly worth harvesting because of the amount of work that producing the honey will involve, so they are usually

not collected by the bees except in early spring, when they need water to dilute stored honey [79].

Honey bees also forage for pollen, water and propolis. Pollen is collected generally by younger bees and is used as a source of proteins, fats, vitamins and minerals. Once inside the hive, pollen pellets are packed into cells, where pollen undergoes a type of fermentation and keeps without spoiling [82]. Water is collected by foraging bees when nectar is not available or during hot weather, when it is necessary to cool the interior of the hive. Contrary to nectar and pollen, water is not stored inside the hive but some home bees will keep it in their honey sac and thus serve as a water reservoir, distributing it to others when needed [78]. Finally, propolis is produced by a few foraging bees in each colony, especially during hot weather, and is used to repair the hive, smooth out the internal walls and as a protective barrier against external invaders and weathering threats [86].

Honey is not the only bee product being commonly commercialized. Bee pollen, collected by the foraging bees and stored in the hive cells, is also commercialized because of its high protein and vitamin contents [79]. Propolis has been reported to have many beneficial properties such as antibacterial, antiviral, anti-inflammatory, analgesic, tissue regenerative, antioxidant, cytostatic and hepatoprotective properties, reason why it is sold for human consumption [87-90]. Another bee product commercialized worldwide is beeswax, which is used in beekeeping but also in a variety of purposes such as candle making, lipsticks, pill coatings, crayons, chewing gums and inks [78]. Inside the hive, beeswax is secreted by the honey bees through their wax glands and it is used for comb building and repairing [79]. Royal jelly, also called bee's milk, is secreted by young bee workers through their hypopharyngeal glands and used to feed larval workers and the queen. It is also harvested and sold as a dietary supplement for its high content in vitamins B, C and D, and because it contains 10-hydroxydecanoic acid, a substance with antibiotic properties [82]. Finally, bee venom is harvested because of its pharmacological properties [79]. Two types of honey can be differentiated based on the source of nectar that the honey bees use: blossom honey and honeydew honey. Blossom or floral honey is produced by bees from nectar contained in flowers or blossoming plants, while honeydew honey is obtained from secretions produced by plants such as those in genera *Pinus, Abies, Castanea* and *Quercus*, or from excretions from plant-sucking insects, mainly from the family *Aphididae*, on the living part of plants [91]. Most of the physicochemical and bioactive properties of honey, such as aroma, taste, electric conductivity, specific rotation, pH, and antioxidant and antibacterial properties will differ in blossom and honeydew honeys [91].

2.2.3 Composition of honey

As most food matrices, honey is a complex mixture of components from multiple origins. It is estimated that honey contains about 200 substances including sugars, water and other components such as proteins, organic acids, vitamins, minerals, pigments, phenolic compounds, volatile compounds and solid particles derived from honey harvesting [92-95]. Sugar is the main component of honey and, although its composition depends on the honey's botanical and geographical origin as well as climate, processing and storage, the average concentration of sugars in honey is around 80% [78, 96, 97]. Monosaccharides represent 75% of the sugars found in honey, fructose and glucose being the two major components. In most types of honey, the content of fructose is higher than that of glucose, with some exceptions such as rape and dandelion honey, in which the fraction of glucose may be higher than the fraction of fructose [97]. One of the main responsible agents for the high content in fructose and glucose is the enzyme invertase, segregated by the bees and mixed with the nectar inside their honey sacs. Invertase converts the sucrose present in the nectar into glucose and fructose, thus allowing the production of a highly concentrated solution of sugars that would not be possible with only sucrose [79]. Other sugars found in honey, apart from fructose, glucose and sucrose, include rhamnose, trehalose, nigerobiose, isomaltose, maltose, maltotetraose, maltotriose, maltulose, melezitose, melibiose, nigerose, palatinose, raffinose and erlose, among others [98]. A consequence of the presence of sugars in honey is the formation of undesirable compounds such as furfural and 5-hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) through non-enzymatic reactions (i.e. Maillard reaction) after heating or storing the honey for a long time [96].

The protein content of honey varies depending on the species of the honey bees; while *Apis cerana* honey contains between 0.1 and 3.3% protein, its content in *Apis mellifera* honey is in the range of 0.2-1.6% [99]. The sources of proteins and amino acids in honey can be both from animal and vegetal origin, pollen being the main source [100].

Organic acids account for approximately 0.57% of the composition of honey, acetic, butyric, citric, formic, gluconic, lactic, malic, pyroglutamic and succinic being the main acids found [79]. These acids, which are also used to discriminate the honeys according to their botanical and/or geographical origin, are related to the color and flavor of honey as well as some of its chemical properties such as acidity, pH and electrical conductivity [101].

Honey also contains small amounts of vitamins, mainly the vitamin B complex (i.e. vitamins B1, B2, B3, B5, B6, B8 and B9) as well as vitamin C. These vitamins are well preserved in honey because of its generally low pH [102]. However, the commercial filtration of honey can cause a reduction in its vitamin content because of the almost complete removal of pollen, and vitamins can also be oxidized by the hydrogen peroxide produced by the glucose oxidase present in honey [94].

The mineral content depends strongly on the botanical and geographical origin of honey, and ranges from 0.04% in light honeys to 0.2% in dark honeys [93]. The most abundant element found in honey is potassium, which generally corresponds to one third of the total mineral content, and smaller quantities of sodium, iron, copper, silicon, manganese, calcium and magnesium are also commonly found [93]. Regarding the presence of heavy metals, such as arsenic, lead, mercury and cadmium, an increased concentration has been observed in honey samples near industrial areas. However, to date no maximum residue limits (MRL) have been established in honey [103].

Polyphenols are another important group of compounds regarding the appearance and functional properties of honey. The phenolic profile of honey comprises compounds such as vanillinic acid, caffeic acid, syringic acid, coumaric acid, ferulic acid, quercetin, kaempferol, myricetin, pinobanksin or luteolin [77]. They are often used as an indicator of floral origin, since the distribution of the three main phenolic families (benzoic acids, cinnamic acids and flavonoids) shows different profiles in honeys from different floral origins [77]. Flavonoids are the most common polyphenols in honey, with an average concentration of approximately 20 mg.kg⁻¹ [104]. These compounds can significantly contribute to the total antioxidant activity of honey, thus bringing beneficial effects for human health [77].

Finally, the aroma profile of honey strongly depends on its botanical origin. Indeed, more than 500 volatile compounds have been identified in different types of honey [105]. In addition, volatile compounds in honey can have their origin on the processing conditions and storage of the honey, and they can also be produced by the honey bees from plant constituents [100]. Some aroma compounds of different types of honey include 3,9-epoxy-1-p-mentadiene, t-8-p-menthan-oxide-1,2-diol and cis-rose in lemon honey, diketones, sulfur compounds and alkanes in eucalyptus honey, and hexanal and heptanal in lavender honeys [106, 107].

2.2.4 Physicochemical properties of honey

The physicochemical parameters most commonly measured in honey, which are related to its identity and quality, include moisture, water activity (A_w), pH, free acidity, electrical conductivity, colour and diastase activity [100]. Water is the second largest constituent of honey, and the moisture content of honey is one of its most important characteristics, influencing other properties such as viscosity, crystallization, color, flavour, taste, specific gravity, solubility and conservation [92]. The moisture content of honey is usually between 15 to 21%, and the Codex Alimentarius stipulates that the maximum allowed moisture content of honey is 20% [76]. The percentage of moisture in honey depends on its botanical origin, climate, level of maturity achieved in the hive, processing techniques and storage conditions [5, 108]. A_w of honey is usually between 0.50 and 0.65, 0.60 being the threshold above which microbial stability can be compromised. Contrary to moisture content, there are no legal limits for the value of A_w. However, controlling the A_w is of great importance because honey contains osmophilic yeasts that can cause fermentation, forming ethyl alcohol and carbon dioxide, that can change the quality of the honey [92, 96, 108].

Honey is a relatively acidic food, with a pH generally between 3.2 and 4.5 [5]. Although there is no pH limit described by the Regulatory Committees, the optimum pH for most organisms is between 7.2 and 7.4, so the acidity of honey naturally inhibits the growth of microorganisms [109]. pH can be used as a marker of honey adulteration with high fructose corn syrup, which leads to a significant increase in pH compared to pure honey [110]. Free acidity, characterized by the presence of organic acids in equilibrium with lactone, internal esters and some inorganic ions such as phosphates, sulfates and chlorides, is another important parameter to measure in honey, as it is related to its deterioration [100, 111]. For this reason, the Codex Alimentarius allows a maximum value of 50 meq.kg⁻¹ for free acidity in honey [76]. Values higher than this may be indicative of fermentation of sugars into organic acids, which is not desirable in honey [96].

The electrical conductivity of honey is related to its mineral content and acidity; the higher the honey content in ions, organic acids and proteins, the higher the resulting conductivity [108]. This parameter can be used to distinguish blossom honeys from honeydew honeys, since the latter are usually characterized by higher values of electrical conductivity [91]. In addition, there is usually a positive correlation between the electrical conductivity and the

38
strength of the colour and flavour of the honey [5, 92]. The Codex Alimentarius recommends a maximum value of 800.00 mS.cm⁻¹ for honey [76].

Colour, which is a very important parameter for honey commercialization, is one of the properties that varies the most and it is strongly influenced by the botanical origin of the honey [100]. Other factors that can influence the colour of honey are the mineral content, the temperature at which the honey remains in the hive and storage time [112]. The Codex Alimentarius stipulates that the colour of honey should be from nearly colourless to dark brown [76].

Finally, diastase activity, similar to HMF, can be used as an indicator of the aging of honey. Diastases (α - and β -amylases) are enzymes naturally present in honey whose function is to digest the starch molecule into a mixture of maltose and maltotriose. Because they are thermolabile, their content can act as an indicator of possible overheating of the honey [108]. The diastatic activity in honey corresponds to the activity of the enzyme present in 1 g of honey which can hydrolyze 0.01 g of starch in 1 h at 40°C, expressed as the diastase number in Göthe units [113]. The Codex Alimentarius stipulates a minimum value of 8.00 Göthe units for honey, with the exception of honeys with a naturally lower diastase activity, in which case the minimum tolerable is 3 Göthe units if the HMF content is up to 15 mg.kg⁻¹ [76]. The natural diastase content of honey can vary depending on the age of the bees, the nectar collection period, the physiological period of the colony, the quantity of nectar flow and its sugar content, because a high flow of concentrated nectar leads to a lower enzyme content [114].

2.2.5 Honey and human health

Honey has been used as a medical product since the earliest times. As seen before, throughout history honey has been associated with health benefits and it has been used for a wide variety of medicinal applications [78]. Nowadays, the known medicinal properties of

39

honey include antibacterial, antioxidant, antimutagenic, antitumor and anti-inflammatory activity, and cardiovascular effects, among others [77].

The antimicrobial activity of honey is mainly due to its high osmolarity, acidity and particularly its hydrogen peroxide content [115]. Other factors such as lysozyme, phenolic acids and flavonoids also contribute to the antimicrobial activity of honey, which is commonly known as non-peroxide antibacterial activity [116]. Although it has been suggested that the main part of the non-peroxide antibacterial activity might be of honey bee origin, part of it may be of plant origin, which would explain the differences in antibacterial activity of different unifloral honeys [115]. Because of being more resistant to heat and light, non-peroxide antibacterial activity has been found by some authors to be more important than hydrogen peroxide in terms of antibacterial effects of honey, as it remains intact after long periods of storage [116]. However, other authors suggest that the contribution to antibacterial properties of non-peroxide antibacterial activity may be smaller than that of hydrogen peroxide [117]. Therefore, to optimize its overall antibacterial activity, honey should be stored in a cool, dark place and storage time should be minimized [77]. To-date, the unifloral honey with the greatest known antimicrobial activity is manuka honey, originating from the East Cape region of the North Island of New Zealand [117].

The antioxidant activity of honey can be defined as the ability and potential to reduce oxidative reactions within the food systems and human health [77]. Several components in honey are responsible for its antioxidant activity, such as flavonoids, phenolic compounds, some enzymes (e.g. glucose oxidase, catalase), ascorbic acid, amino acids and proteins, among others [77]. In addition, the antioxidant activity of honey varies greatly depending on its floral origin, possibly due to differences in plant secondary metabolites and enzyme activity [118]. The influence of honey ingestion on the antioxidant capacity of plasma was studied by Al-Waili *et al.*, and it was found that phenolic antioxidants from honey are bioavailable and that they increase the antioxidant activity of plasma [119]. In addition,

Beretta *et al.* reported several positive effects of honey, such as significant suppression and prevention of cell damage and complete inhibition of cell membrane oxidation, when used on a cultured endothelial cell line subjected to oxidative stress [120]. Indeed, it is estimated that the substitution of traditional sweeteners by honey in some foods could result in an enhanced antioxidant defense system in healthy adults [119].

Honey also contains a range of compounds with antiradical and anti-inflammatory properties, such as phenolic derivates, which can play an important role, alone or in combination, in its antitumor and anti-inflammatory effects. The antitumoral activity of honey has been reported in various studies, showing its ability to prevent the spread of metastatic cells in rat models and to inhibit the growth of different bladder cancer cell lines *in vitro* and in mice models [121, 122]. Regarding the anti-inflammatory effects of honey, Al-Waili *et al.* reported that the ingestion of honey decreased several inflammation markers in human plasma, and Bilsel *et al.* reported that the ingestion of honey based in rats [123, 124].

Ingestion of honey can also help treat and recover from several infections of the intestinal tract. It has been found that pure honey has bactericidal activity against many enteropathogenic organisms, including *Salmonella* and *Shigella* species, and *E. coli* [125]. In a clinical study of honey treatment in infantile gastroenteritis, honey was found to shorten the duration of diarrhoea in patients with bacterial gastroenteritis caused by these organisms [126]. Honey is also an inhibitor of *Helicobacter pylori*, the agent that causes peptic ulcers and gastritis [127], and it has been found to have prebiotics effects similar to those of fructo-oligosaccharides [128]. Consumption of honey has also been found to lower cardiovascular risk factors in healthy individuals and in patients with elevated risk factors when compared to the consumption of equal amounts of sugar [129, 130].

Finally, the benefits of honey applied topically have also been studied. It has been reported that honey reduces skin inflammation, edema and exudation, promotes wound healing, diminishes scar size and stimulates tissue regeneration [131].

2.2.6 Organic contaminants in honey and their analysis

Honey is a food of animal origin that has the particularity of being able to contain a wide range of contaminants. Because honey bees forage at distances of up to 3 km from the hive, they are not only exposed to the beekeeping-related chemicals but also to a large variety of agrochemicals and environmental pollutants, making honey a food product with the potential to contain an extensive list of contaminants. This section reviews the main organic contaminants found in honey divided into 3 families: veterinary drugs, environmental contaminants and processing contaminants. For each family, an overview of their source, incidence in honey and traditional methods of analysis are presented.

2.2.6.1 Veterinary drugs

With 35% of the global food production depending on pollinators, 90% of this pollination being managed by honey bees, the health and well-being of these insects have become a matter of importance from both a food production and environmental point of view [132, 133]. Honey bees face several threats during their lifetime, including pathogens such as bacteria, fungi and viruses, as well as parasites, so beekeepers use a wide range of products to protect their hives. In some cases, residues of these chemicals can contaminate the honey, therefore the management of the health of honey bees can have a direct impact on food safety.

The two main bacterial diseases of honey bees are American foulbrood (AFB) and European foulbrood (EFB). AFB is the most virulent brood disease known in honey bees, caused by the sporeforming bacterium *Paenibacillus larvae* [134]. Although the endospores, the infectious

form of this organism, can remain viable for more than 35 years and withstand severe weather conditions, they are infectious only to larvae; adult bees do not become infected upon ingestion of *P. larvae* spores [135, 136]. AFB results in the death of older larvae and young pupae, which are digested by enzymes secreted by the bacterium [134]. Antibiotics can only mitigate but will not eliminate the disease and therefore infected hives must be treated constantly to prevent a foulbrood outbreak. Left untreated, foulbrood destroys the hive's bee population and can annihilate an apiary. Thus, AFB is a severe problem in apiculture and causes considerable economic loss to beekeepers all over the world [137].

EFB is closely related to AFB but its causative organism, *Melissococcus plutonius*, does not form spores, and therefore the disease is considered less problematic than AFB [134]. Such as with AFB, the infection of larvae occurs when larvae ingest food contaminated with *M*. *plutonius*, and infected larvae die from starvation when the bacteria proliferating in their gut assimilate most of their food [138]. While AFB has been widely described, many aspects of the pathogenesis, transmission and control of EFB remain unclear.

Another critical disease for the beekeeping industry, in this case with a fungal origin, is nosemosis. This disease is the clinical outbreak of the Nosema infection caused by *Nosema apis*, which is characterized mainly by dysentery, or by *Nosema ceranae*, which is described to cause death of individuals and colonies without any previous visible symptoms [139, 140]. Unlike AFB and EFB, nosemosis affects adult bees, which become infected by ingesting Nosema spores present in faeces and in pollen, and this results in depopulation and bee colony losses [141, 142]. Indeed, this disease is suspected to be one of the agents causing Colony Collapse Disorder (CCD), a syndrome of unknown etiology that has caused massive colony losses worldwide [139, 141]. High incidences of Nosema have been directly related to stress, such as periods of long confinement or nutritional imbalance of the honey bees [144].

Among the pests that can affect honey bees, the most important ones are the mites Varroa destructor and Acarapis woodi. According to Rosenkranz et al, V. destructor, commonly referred to as Varroa, is still the greatest threat for apiculture as no other pathogen has had a comparable impact on both beekeeping and honey bee research in the history of apiculture [143]. This mite, which feeds on developing pupae, is responsible for the clinical symptoms of Varroosis in A. mellifera, including weight loss, a decreased ability to navigate and a reduced life span, among others [146, 147]. Varroa has been associated with CCD because of the damage it causes to the colonies and also because of being the vector of several pathogenic bee viruses [143]. The second and less problematic type of bee mite is A. Woodi, commonly known as tracheal mite. This parasite was first identified in 1921 in the breathing tubes of bees, where it feeds and reproduces [148]. Tracheal mites affect the overwintering capability of the colony, making bees unable to form and maintain temperatures in the winter cluster, and they are also associated with paralyzed bees displaying disjointed wings and crawling on the ground near hives [143]. Initially, tracheal mites caused devastating losses for the North American beekeepers. Nowadays, tracheal mites are still found but in far lesser amounts, because the multiple treatments used by beekeepers to try to control Varroa are also effective for tracheal mites [143].

The biggest problem with bee mites is that they not only damage the bee but also carry pathogenic viruses. To date, 18 different viruses have been identified from bees and many of them are vectored by mites, especially *Varroa* [149]. The three most common pathogenic viruses affecting honey bees are the acute bee paralysis virus, the deformed wing virus, and the Israeli acute paralysis virus, which has been found to be strongly correlated with CCD [138, 150]. Unfortunately, there is no treatment for bee viruses, so the only solution beekeepers have is to prevent viral vectors by maintaining the general health of the colony, with a special focus on mites [151].

There are several antibiotic classes that can be used for the treatment of AFB, EFB and nosemosis in honey bees, although many of them are only allowed in some countries and for emergency situations. Examples of these antibiotics include tetracyclines, streptomycin, erythromycin, lincomycin, sulfonamides, tylosin, chloramphenicol, nitrofurans, nitroimidazoles, fluoroquinolones and fumagillin [134]. Bee mites are generally treated with acaricides, the pyrethroids fluvalinate and flumethrin being, along with other compounds such as amitraz or coumaphos, the most commonly used ones [143]. Many of these acaricides are also used as pesticides in applications other than beekeeping. This is the reason why they are sometimes listed as pesticides in food safety reports. Alternatively, some essential oils containing thymol, eucalyptol, menthol and camphor, as well as organic acids such as formic acid, oxalic acid and lactic acid, can be used for an organic farming approach based on natural compounds [145].

In Canada, the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) is the governmental organism in charge of the surveillance of food contaminants through the National Chemical Residue Monitoring Program (NCRMP). This screening includes several types of food from both vegetable and animal sources, domestic and imported, and comprises the analysis of a wide range of contaminants both organic and inorganic. A summary of the results of the latest three NCRMP reports for organic contaminants in honey is presented in **Table 2.3**, which contains an overview of all the veterinary drugs surveyed in honey in Canada. The veterinary drugs with high frequency of detection in both domestic and imported honey over the 3 NCRMP reports include amitraz, fumagillin, tetracyclines and macrolides. Despite the high number of positive samples detected in some cases, most of the results are below the regulatory limits, as the low number of violations shows. The range of concentrations at which the reported veterinary drugs were found was between 0.1 ng.g⁻¹ and 0.1 µg.g⁻¹, approximately. Among the compounds with a more notable amount of non-compliant results there is fumagillin, some sulfonamides and the macrolide tylosin. In the case of

nitrofurans, the number of positive results always corresponds to the number of violations, since these are banned compounds in Canada [152].

Traditionally, veterinary drug residues in honey have been analyzed with targeted approaches. This type of analysis usually involves an extraction step prior to quantification with LC-MS or LC-MS/MS. For example, Thompson *et al.* used SPE and liquid chromatography-atmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometry for the determination of lincomycin and tylosin in honey [155]. In their work, honey samples were liquefied in a water bath at 60°C to remove wax and bulk debris, and then they were dissolved with a Na₂CO₃/NaHCO₃ buffer. The resulting solutions were loaded onto a C18 SPE cartridge. Antibiotic residues were separated from the bulk of the sample matrix, composed mainly of sugars, by using a sequence of washing steps (methanol/water 5:95 and then 30:70 (v/v) respectively). Lopez *et al.* adopted a similar approach for the multiclass determination of antibiotic residues in honey, using SPE and LC-MS/MS [156]. In another example of multiclass residue analysis, Orso *et al.* studied different extraction and cleanup methods, the optimal conditions being homogenization with McIlvaine buffer followed by extraction, prior to LC-MS/MS analysis [12].

Regarding non-targeted strategies, only a few authors studied the application of such approach for the analysis of veterinary drugs in honey. For example, Gómez-Pérez *et al.* investigated the non-targeted analysis of veterinary drugs in honey using direct injection to liquid chromatography coupled with TOF-MS, Orbitrap MS, and QqQ-MS [34].

	Num						
Compound	2012-2013 [153]		2013-2014 [154]		2014-2015 [158]		Reported levels ^a
	Domestic	Imported	Domestic	Imported	Domestic	Imported	-
VETERINARY DRUGS							
Amitraz	5/213 (0) ^b	11/69 (0)	29/136 (0)	32/74 (0)	20/176 (0)	22/85 (1)	0.00100-0.10100
Fluoroquinolones	0/258 (0) ^c	0/99 (0)	0/167 (0)	0/62 (0)	0/190	1/84 (0)	
Ofloxacin						1/84 (0)	0.00575
Fumagillin	26/209 (8)	1/77 (0)	48/208 (4)	1/82 (0)	26/181 (2)	1/78 (0)	0.00140-0.11360
Glycosides	0/218 (0)	0/86 (0)	0/178 (0)	0/66 (0)	0/189	0/82	
Ionophores	0/223 (0)	0/81 (0)	0/163 (0)	0/64 (0)	0/164	0/71	
Macrolides	13/251 (0)	3/85 (0)	21/209 (0)	7/82 (2)	17/190 (0)	2/74 (0)	
Desmycosin	4/251 (0)	0/85 (0)	15/209 (0)	5/82 (0)	11/190 (0)	0/74	0.00120-0.10400
Tylosin	13/251(0)	3/85 (0)	21/209 (0)	5/82 (2)	17/190 (0)	2/74 (0)	0.00038-0.18000
Nitrofurans	0/198 (0)	3/70 (1)	2/196 (2)	3/84 (3)	0/195	0/85	
Nitrofurazone		3/70 (1)	2/196 (2)	3/84 (3)			0.00020-0.01900
Nitroimidazoles	0/207 (0)	0/63 (0)	0/149 (0)	0/74 (0)	0/185	0/79	
Penicillins	0/250 (0)	3/86 (0)	0/171 (0)	0/65 (0)	0/189	0/80	
Amoxicillin		1/86 (0)					0.00013

Table 2.3. Summary of organic contaminants in honey reported by the NCRMP of the CFIA in their latest three reports (2012-2015).

Ampicillin		1/86 (0)					0.00010
Penicillin G		1/86 (0)					0.00012
Phenicols	0/251 (0)	0/91 (0)	0/212 (0)	0/86 (0)	0/193	0/80	
Sulfonamides	0/276 (0)	7/92 (5)	0/163 (0)	0/62 (0)	1/191 (0)	0/76	
Sulfadimethoxine		4/92 (2)			0/191		0.01280-0.19200
Sulfamethazine					1/191 (0)		0.01460
Sulfamethoxazole		3/92 (1)			0/191		0.01300-0.03500
Sulfathiazole					1/191 (0)		0.00690
Trimethoprim		2/92 (1)			0/191		0.00200-0.01200
Tetracyclines	24/231 (0)	3/66 (0)	31/214 (0)	3/108 (0)	19/184 (0)	4/72 (0)	
Epi-Oxytetracycline	1/231 (0)	0/66 (0)	1/214 (0)	0/108 (0)	3/184 (0)	0/72	0.00130-0.01200
Epi-Tetracycline	0/231 (0)	2/66 (0)	2/214 (0)	1/108 (0)	1/184 (0)	4/72 (0)	0.00160-0.01530
Oxytetracycline	23/231 (0)	1/66 (0)	29/214 (0)	1/108 (0)	17/184 (0)	1/72 (0)	0.00050-0.06400
Tetracycline	4/231 (0)	2/66 (0)	6/214 (0)	3/108 (0)	5/184 (0)	4/72 (0)	0.00050-0.01647
PESTICIDES							
Daminozide	0/281 (0)	0/94 (0)	0/105 (0)	0/52 (0)	0/84	0/26	
Carbendazim	0/221 (0)	2/79 (0)	2/156 (0)	0/72 (0)	0/174	0/80	0.01120-0.01290
Dithiocarbamate	1/209 (1)	1/88 (0)	0/209 (0)	0/82(0)	0/194	0/85	0.07800-0.22300
Ethylene diamine	3/199 (0)	5/70 (0)	0/209 (0)	6/82 (0)	16/183 (0)	2/82 (0)	0.02200-1.13000

Ethylene thiourea	0/221 (0)	0/74 (0)	0/147 (0)	0/64 (0)	0/182	0/71	
Formetanate	0/219 (0)	0/79 (0)	0/126 (0)	0/61 (0)	0/173	0/44	
Pesticides	15/274 (0)	0/114 (0)	20/158 (0)	2/64 (0)	9/151 (0)	2/72 (0)	
Bifenthrin	1/274 (0)		0/158 (0)	0/64 (0)	0/151	0/72	0.00200
Captan	2/274 (0)		1/158 (0)	0/64 (0)	0/151	0/72	0.01120-0.02820
Carbofenthion	1/274 (0)		0/158 (0)	0/64 (0)	0/151	0/72	
Coumaphos	0/274 (0)		1/158 (0)	1/64 (0)	1/151 (0)	2/72 (0)	0.00430-0.01500
Cyprodinil	3/274 (0)		0/158 (0)	0/64 (0)	0/151	0/72	0.00230-0.00920
Fludioxonil	3/274 (0)		0/158 (0)	0/64 (0)	0/151	0/72	0.00280-0.01480
Iprodione	6/274 (0)		11/158 (0)	0/64 (0)	7/151 (0)	0/72	0.00300-0.05500
p,p'-DDE	2/274 (0)		0/158 (0)	0/64 (0)	0/151	0/72	0.00130
Permethrin (total)	1/274 (0)		0/158 (0)	1/64 (0)	0/151	0/72	0.00630-0.00960
Piperonyl butoxide	0/274 (0)		7/158 (0)	0/64 (0)	1/151 (0)	0/72	0.00330-0.02900
Propoxur	1/274 (0)		0/158 (0)	0/64 (0)	0/151	0/72	0.00900
Phenol	0/137 (0)	2/47 (0)	0/11 (0)	0/7 (0)	-	-	0.01700-0.03200
Thiabendazole	0/257 (0)	0/110 (0)	0/90 (0)	0/52 (0)	0/168	0/65	
PAHs							
Acenapththene	4/18	2/12	16/17	11/17	5/20	7/13	0.0506-13.5000
Acenapththylene	5/18	3/12	17/17	12/17	5/20	7/13	0.0313-0.3710

Anthracene	8/18	2/12	17/17	11/17	16/20	12/13	0.0300-1.2900
Benzo(a)anthracene	7/8	4/12	17/17	13/17	12/20	9/13	0.0145-0.5320
Benzo(a)pyrene	1/18	0/12	4/17	7/17	4/20	8/13	0.0216-0.1900
Benzo(b)fluoroanthene	5/18	1/12	16/17	11/17	14/20	8/13	0.0580-0.8100
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	5/18	2/12	14/17	11/17	3/20	4/13	0.0212-4.1800
Benzo(g,h,i)fluoranthene	2/18	0/12	12/17	10/17	11/20	8/13	0.0141-0.4840
Chrysene	14/18	5/12	17/17	15/17	12/20	12/13	0.0212-0.8100
Dibenzo(a,h,)anthracene	1/18	1/12	3/17	1/17	5/20	1/13	0.0130-4.3300
Fluoranthene	18/18	12/12	17/17	17/17	18/20	13/13	0.0463-2.0000
Fluorene	14/18	10/12	17/17	17/17	18/20	13/13	0.0456-5.1400
Ideno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene	3/18	1/12	12/17	10/17	2/20	1/13	0.0268-3.5000
Naphthalene	18/18	12/12	17/17	17/17	16/20	13/13	0.6010-5.3500
Phenanthrene	18/18	12/12	17/17	17/17	20/20	13/13	0.0172-6.4000
Pyrene	18/18	12/12	17/17	17/17	17/20	13/13	0.0143-1.8600

^a Levels are expressed in µg.g⁻¹ for veterinary drugs and pesticides, and in ng.g⁻¹ for PAHs. ^b In the cases where at least one sample was found positive, the number of violations (i.e. samples above the regulatory limit) is presented between parenthesis. ^c In the case of multi-residue methods for groups of compounds (i.e. fluoroquinolones, glycosides, ionophores, macrolides, nitrofurans, nitroimidazoles, penicillins, phenicols, sulfonamides, tetracyclines and pesticides), the number of positives represents the number of samples with at least one positive result for one of the compounds of the group. Details of the specific compounds that were found are presented below the multi-residue summary.

2.2.6.2 Environmental contaminants

Among the food-producing animals, honey bees have the characteristic of being excellent samplers of environmental pollution. During their foraging trips, honey bees are exposed to pesticides used in the fields they feed from, and they also accumulate environmental pollution and airborne particles on their body hair [175]. When the forager returns to the hive, she can transfer these chemicals to the home bee and they can end up contaminating the honey. For this reason, honey bees and some of their products (i.e. nectar, pollen and honey) are used as biomonitors of environmental contamination [15]. The wide range of environmental contaminants that are found in honey can be divided into two main groups: pesticides and air pollutants.

2.2.6.2.1 Pesticides

Because honey bees are great pollinators, it is very common to place bee hives strategically close to crops to benefit from both a good pollination of the crops and an extended source of nectar for the bees in one place. In many cases, bee hives can be rented by farmers who want to pollinize their crops, resulting in a win-win situation for both the beekeeper and the farmer [82]. Honey bees will be exposed during their foraging trips to all the chemicals used in the fields, reason why pesticides are included in the surveillance programs for organic contaminants in honey. The list of pesticides tested in honey by the CFIA included more than 300 compounds in the latest NCRMP report (2014-2015) between fungicides, insecticides and herbicides [158].

Among the pesticides found in honey, in recent years a particular group of compounds has been of special relevance: neonicotinoid pesticides. These compounds have been associated to CCD, so the study of their presence in honey is not only being used for food safety purposes but also to investigate their potential relationship with the massive honey bee decline worldwide [159]. Neonicotinoid pesticides include imidacloprid, thiamethoxam, thiacloprid, acetamiprid, nitenpyram, clothianidin and dinotefuran [160]. **Table 2.3** contains a summary of the pesticides found in honey by the CFIA, including their frequency of detection, number of violations and range of concentrations reported. The compounds being detected more frequently in honey include cyprodinil, fludioxonil, iprodione and piperonyl butoxide. Contrary to the case of veterinary drugs, almost all pesticides surveyed in honey by the CFIA were found below the regulatory limits, with the only exception of a single violation of dithiocarbamate. The levels at which these contaminants are found in honey are between 1 ng.g⁻¹ and 1 μ g.g⁻¹, approximately. Regarding neonicotinoid pesticides, although they are not commonly found by the CFIA screenings [153, 154, 158], the levels at which they are being reported in other parts of the world are in the order of 1-10 ng.g⁻¹ [161].

The analysis of pesticides in honey has many similarities with the analysis of veterinary drugs, reason why many authors develop targeted multi-residue methods for both families of compounds. Examples of methods of analysis for pesticides and veterinary drugs are presented in section 2.2.6.1.

2.2.6.2.2 Air pollutants

In addition to pesticides, during their foraging trips honey bees are also exposed to a range of air pollutants. The two families of air pollutants that are most commonly reported in honey are polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and PAHs.

PCBs are a group of organic chemicals used as coolants and lubricants in transformers, capacitors and other electrical equipment [162]. Due to their persistence and adverse effects, consisting mainly of endocrine disruption and carcinogenicity, they were banned by the Stockholm convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants in 2001 [163]. However, because of uncontrolled spillage and atmosphere deposition linked to excessive use in the past, they are a ubiquitous contaminant and are found in a wide variety of food matrices [164]. PAHs are another category of hazardous organic pollutants of concern due to their environmental persistence, bioaccumulation and toxicity [165, 166]. They are emitted into the atmosphere through combustion processes and are produced as by-products of an incomplete combustion of organic matter, volcanic eruption, forest fires and vehicle emissions [167, 168]. They are also considered ubiquitous environmental pollutants, frequently observed in food [169].

Among the air pollutants that can be found in honey, the CFIA only monitors PAHs. A summary of the results of the three latest NCRMP reports regarding these contaminants in honey in Canada is presented in **Table 2.3**. All reported PAHs are found in at least one honey sample in each report, fluoranthene, fluorene, naphthalene, phenanthrene and pyrene being detected in almost all domestic and imported honey samples across all 3 reports. The levels of PAHs reported were between 0.01 and 10 ng.g⁻¹, approximately. Regarding PCBs, the levels found in honey by different authors were generally below the limits of detection of each study, which were in the range of 0.09 to 16.76 ng.g⁻¹ [14, 170].

The analysis of PCBs and PAHs in honey is usually done with GC-MS or GC-MS/MS because of the volatility of these contaminants. Saitta *et al.* developed a targeted method for the analysis of PCBs and PAHs, along with different families of pesticides, in honey samples from Italy [170]. The extraction consisted in a QuEChERS method using hexane/ethyl acetate 9:1, magnesium sulphate and sodium chloride, and samples were analyzed in a GC-MS/MS using a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer. Similarly, Al-Alam *et al.* developed a targeted method for the analysis of 90 pesticides, 16 PAHs and 22 PCBs in honey using QuEChERS multiresidue extraction followed by a preconcentration step by solid-phase microextraction (SPME) [14]. In this case, the QuEChERS method involved acetonitrile, citrate-buffered extraction salts and primary and secondary amine exchange material (PSA). The SPME fiber used for the extraction of PCBs and PAHs was coated with polydimethylsiloxane, and desorption was done directly inside the GC-MS/MS [14]. To date, no non-targeted method for the analysis of PAHs or PCBs in honey has been reported.

2.2.6.3 Processing contaminants

Once the honeycombs are collected by the beekeepers, a new group of contaminants can appear in honey as a result of its manufacture process and bottling. The two main groups of processing contaminants that can be found in honey are those which come from food-contact materials and those originating through the different heating processes.

2.2.6.3.1 Plastic-related compounds

Plastic-related compounds (PRCs) include plastic monomers, additives and non-intentionally added substances (NIAS). Plasticizers, one of the main classes of PRCs, are additives that are added to plastic materials to make them softer, more pliable and thus increase their flexibility, workability and distensibility [171]. They are often esters of polycarboxylic acids with linear or branched aliphatic alcohols with moderate chain lengths [171]. Plasticizers do not form chemical bonds with the polymer matrix, and may freely move through the matrix, spacing the polymers apart, thus significantly reducing their glass transition temperature to improve plasticization [172]. This may result in a possible migration of plasticizers into the food in contact with the plastic material. Leachables may then affect the organoleptic properties of the food or represent a food safety hazard for the consumers [173, 174]. PRCs include not only plasticizers but also compounds related to the packaging material such as surfactants, ink components and adhesives from labels, and also compounds from other sources such as environmental and food processing contaminants. Plasticizers and additives are regulated when incorporated into food contact materials. In Canada, the safety of food contact materials is controlled under Division 23 of the Food and Drugs Act and Regulations, which prohibits the sale of foods in packages that may impart any substance to the contents which might be harmful to the consumer of the food [175].

Regarding the levels of PRCs in honey in Canada, Cao *et al.* studied the presence of bis(ethylhexyl) adipate (DEHA) and 20 phthalates in honey as part of the Canadian Total Diet Study in 2015, including diisobutyl phthalate (DIBP), di-n-butyl phthalate (DBP), n-butyl benzyl phthalate (BBzP)

54

and di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP), and reported concentrations of up to 4.82 and 135 ng.g¹ for DEHA and DEHP, respectively [176]. Other studies with PRCs in honey in other countries reported bisphenols and phthalate esters in concentrations of up to 302 ng.g⁻¹ and 203 μ g.g⁻¹, respectively [13, 177-179].

To date, the different strategies reported for the analysis of PRCs in honey are based on a targeted analysis approach based on different types of extractions, cleanups and instrumental analyses (mostly based on GC or LC). For example, Lo Turco *et al.* used SPE, with Oasis Hydrophilic-Lipophilic-Balanced glass cartridges and with water and methanol as eluents, followed by GC-MS for the study of plasticizers and bisphenol A (BPA) in Italian honeys [13]. Česen *et al.* used a similar SPE based extraction followed by derivatization using N-(tertbutyldimethylsilyl)-N-methyltrifluoroacetamide with 1% tert-butyldimethylchlorosilane in ethyl acetate for 16 hours at 60°C so as to make the analytes more volatile, less reactive and thus to improve their chromatographic behaviour prior to GC-MS analysis for the study of bisphenols and related compounds in honey [1]. Koo *et al.* used a Solvent Terminated Dispersive Liquid-Liquid Micro Extraction method with acetonitrile as the disperser solvent and 1-hexanol as the extraction solvent, followed by high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to a diode array detector for the analysis of DBP and oleamide in stingless bee honey harvested from plastic cups [180]. To the best of our knowledge, no non-targeted methods for the analysis of PRCs in honey have been reported.

2.2.6.3.2 HMF

5-hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) is a compound usually found in low concentrations in fresh sugar containing foods such as milk, honey, maple syrup, fruit juice and bread. HMF is a heat-induced contaminant formed as a product of the Maillard reaction occurring in many food commodities, such as bread or baked goods [181]. In honey, this compound can be formed when honey is submitted to heat treatments, such as pasteurization, or a long storage time [96]. Because this compound is found in only low concentrations in fresh honey, and its concentration raises rapidly if honey is overheated, it is commonly used as a quality indicator in honey [100, 182]. In addition, HMF can be formed in food commodities even at low temperatures in acidic conditions, such as the case of honey [183].

HMF can cause a range of adverse effects including mutagenicity, carcinogenicity, genotoxicity and cytotoxicity [181, 184]. For this reason, its concentration in foods is regulated. According to the Codex Alimentarius, HMF should not exceed 40 μ g.g⁻¹ in honey with the exception of honeys from tropical areas, in which case the maximum is risen to 80 μ g.g⁻¹[76].

The International Honey Commission suggests three methods for the determination of HMF content in honey: the White and Winkler methods, both based on spectrophotometry, and a direct injection-HPLC-UV method [184]. Alternatively, some authors have developed LC-MS methods for the detection of HMF along with other contaminants. For example, Tomasini *et al.* developed a method for the targeted analysis of HMF and pesticides in honey based on extraction with QuEChERS using acetonitrile and anhydrous magnesium sulfate followed by analysis with atmospheric-pressure chemical ionization LC-MS/MS [185]. To date, no non-targeted methods have been reported for the analysis of HMF in honey.

2.3 CONCLUSIONS

In a world where the list of contaminants reported in food is continuously increasing, the classical targeted analysis design has become obsolete, the new trends being the detection and identification of currently unknown or unexpected contaminants through the use of foodomics and non-targeted analysis. While some non-targeted analysis methods have already been developed for the analysis of food contaminants, the need to further develop non-targeted methods to better characterize human exposure to chemicals and to identify potential risk compounds in food matrices has been detected. Further work is needed in order to optimize the different steps of the non-targeted workflow, especially in terms of data filtering, as well as to explore the wide range of data treatment possibilities and their applicability in the analysis of trace contaminants in food.

Among the infinite variety of food matrices that can be used as a model for the study of nontargeted approaches, honey offers the advantage of being able to contain an extended range of contaminants, both agricultural and environmental, at trace levels (in the order of µg.g⁻¹ to ng.g⁻¹). Being a food produced and consumed worldwide, the results from the analysis of organic contaminants in honey can provide answers not only from a food safety perspective but also for environmental monitoring. Non-targeted approaches, which have only been reported for organic contaminants in honey by a very few authors, open the door to an infinite number of new studies that were not possible before with the use of targeted analysis. These include the screening of new contaminants and study of their evolution through the re-examination of previously acquired data, the determination of the fate of trace contaminants during food processing or the comparison of samples based on their contaminant load, among others. In conclusion, nontargeted approaches in food, specially in honey, need to be further explored and developed, as they can hold the key to a new era in food safety risk assessment.

CONNECTING PARAGRAPH

Chapter 2 provided a summary of the use of non-targeted approaches for the analysis of trace organic contaminants, as well as an overview of the world of honey and its main contaminants. After identifying the multiple knowledge gaps in this area, Chapter 3 presents the development of a method for the targeted and non-targeted analysis of contaminants in honey, focusing on the first two steps of the non-targeted workflow: sample preparation and instrumental analysis. Chapter 3 has been accepted for publication in the Journal of Food and Drug Analysis: A. von Eyken, D. Furlong, S. Arooni, F. Butterworth, J. F. Roy, J. Zweigenbaum, S. Bayen; *Direct injection high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to data independent acquisition mass spectrometry for the screening of antibiotics in honey.*

CHAPTER 3: DIRECT INJECTION HIGH-PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY COUPLED TO DATA INDEPENDENT ACQUISITION MASS SPECTROMETRY FOR THE SCREENING OF ANTIBIOTICS IN HONEY

3.1 Abstract

The targeted analysis of veterinary drug residues in honey traditionally involves a series of extraction and purification steps prior to quantification with high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to high resolution or tandem mass spectrometry. These steps, designed to separate the target analytes from interferences, are generally time-consuming and costly. In addition, traditional cleanup steps are likely to eliminate other compounds whose analysis could prove decisive in current or future assessment of the honey sample. Alternatively, direct injection without complex sample preparation steps has been introduced for the fast analysis of trace compounds in environmental and food matrices. The aim of this study was to develop a rapid method for the targeted analysis of 7 key veterinary drug residues in honey based on direct injection high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to quadrupole time-of-flight, while simultaneously recording data-independent MS/MS (e.g. All lons MS/MS data) for future reexamination of the data for other purposes. The new method allowed for the detection of the target residues at levels approximately 20 to 100 times lower than current regulatory limits, for a total analysis time of about 45 min. The recoveries (103-119%), the linearity ($R \ge 0.996$) and the repeatability (RSD \leq 7%) were satisfactory. The method was then applied to 35 honey samples from the Canadian market. Residues of tylosin A, tylosin B, sulfamethazine and sulfadimethoxine were detected in 6, 9, 6 and 23% of the samples respectively, at levels below the regulatory limits in Canada. The possibility of adding a hydrolysis step to study sulfonamides in honey was tested, which provided good results for this family of compounds but led to degradation of some of the other analytes. Finally, the non-targeted identification of several compounds was demonstrated as a proof of concept of future re-examination of All Ions MS/MS data. This paper illustrates the capacity of this novel method to combine targeted and non-targeted screening of chemical residues in honey.

3.2 INTRODUCTION

The health and the well-being of honey bees is critical for both the natural environment and human food production systems. Indeed, 35% of the global food production is dependent on pollinators [1]. For some crops, up to 90% of the pollination is provided by honey bees [2]. In beekeeping, bees are exposed to three major diseases, namely the American foulbrood, the European foulbrood and nosemosis. In case of such threats, bee hives can be protected using antibiotics. Compounds such as tetracyclines, streptomycin, sulfonamides, tylosin, erythromycin, lincomycin, chloramphenicol, nitrofurans, nitroimidazoles, fluoroquinolones and fumagillin have been reported for bee protection [3]. In Canada, Maximum Residue Limits (MRLs) have been defined for the residues of oxytetracycline, tylosin and fumagillin in honey [4]. Health Canada has also defined and recommended some safe Working Residue Levels (WRLs) for a number of veterinary drugs approved for use in other species that may be detected in domestic or imported honey [5]. **Table 3.1** describes the current MRLs and recommended WRLs for veterinary drug residues in honey in Canada.

The targeted analysis of veterinary drug residues in honey traditionally involves an extraction step prior to quantification with liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry (LC-MS) or tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS). For example, Thompson *et al.* developed a method for the determination of lincomycin and tylosin in honey, based on solid-phase extraction (SPE) and liquid chromatography-atmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometry [6]. In their work, honey samples, previously liquefied in a water bath at 60°C to remove wax and bulk debris, were dissolved with a Na₂CO₃/NaHCO₃ buffer. The resulting samples were loaded onto a C18 SPE cartridge. Using a sequence of washing steps (methanol/water 5:95 and then 30:70 (v/v) respectively), antibiotic residues were separated from the bulk of the sample matrix, notably sugars. A similar approach was adopted by Lopez *et al.* for the multiclass determination of antibiotic residues in honey, using SPE extraction and LC-MS/MS [7]. Recently, Orso *et al.* studied different extraction and cleanup methods for the determination of multiclass pesticides and

antibiotics in honey samples, and the optimal conditions were determined to be homogenization with McIlvaine buffer followed by extraction with acetonitrile and cleanup with Florisil[®] using dispersive solid phase extraction, prior to LC-MS/MS analysis [8].

Compound	Regulated concentration (µg.g ⁻¹)
Oxytetracycline	0.3 (MRL)
Tylosin (as tylosin A+B)	0.2 (MRL)
Fumagillin	0.025 (MRL)
Chlortetracycline	0.03 (WRL)
Erythromycin	0.03 (WRL)
Lincomycin	0.03 (WRL)
Streptomycin	0.0375 (WRL)
Sulfonamide drugs*	0.03 (WRL)
Tetracycline	0.075 (WRL)
Chloramphenicol	No MRL/WRL (Banned substance)
5-Nitrofuran compounds	No MRL/WRL (Banned substance)

Table 3.1. MRLs and recommended WRLs for veterinary drug residues in honey in Canada [4, 5]

*Only refers to the sulfonamide drugs listed in the "Table of Approved Administrative Maximum Residue Limits and Maximum Residue Limits" posted on Health Canada's website, which includes sulfacetamide, sulfabenzamide, sulfachloropyridazine, sulfadiazine, sulfadimethoxine, sulfadoxine, sulfaethoxypyridazine, sulfaguanidine, sulfamerazine, sulfamethazine, sulfanilamide, sulfanitran, sulfapyridine, sulfaquinoxaline and sulfathiazole.

The above purification steps, designed to separate the target analytes from interferences, are generally time-consuming and costly. In addition, traditional cleanup steps are likely to eliminate other compounds whose analysis could prove decisive in current or future assessment of the honey sample (e.g. presence of other contaminants, chemical tracers, metabolites, etc.). Alternatively, direct injection without complex sample preparation steps has been introduced for

the fast analysis of trace compounds in environmental and food matrices. For example, Bayen et al. reported a direct injection approach for the study of veterinary antibiotics in surface freshwater and seawater using liquid chromatography – electrospray ionization mass spectrometry (LC-ESI-MS) [9]. According to the authors, the recoveries obtained for the spiked compounds had an average of $95 \pm 14\%$ and $96 \pm 28\%$ for freshwater and seawater, respectively; linearity and limits of detection were acceptable for ecological risk assessment applications. Direct injection of seawater, which contains high concentrations of salts that could damage the instrument, was made possible by a post-column switch on the system that diverted the saltcontaining solutions flushed out of the column to the waste. Similarly, Ciofi et al. recently investigated the applicability of direct injection of waste, surface, ground and drinking water samples into a LC-MS/MS system for the determination of perfluoro-alkyl acids [10]. Their method, based on the direct injection of the centrifuged water sample without any other treatment, was reported to have better sensitivity and repeatability than those achieved with other extraction methods, such as on-line SPE-LC-MS/MS. In the field of food analysis, Bayen et al. applied direct injection LC-ESI-MS/MS for the analysis of pharmaceuticals and endocrinedisrupting chemicals in mussels and clams [11]. This "cleanup-free" approach, which relied on a simple solvent extraction with acetonitrile/methanol (50:50), was made possible using isotopically labeled surrogates to correct for matrix effects. As in the case of seawater analysis, a post-column switch on the LC-MS/MS system was used to remove potential interferences. Olmo-García et al. developed a method for metabolic profiling of phenolic compounds in olive oil using direct injection LC-ESI-MS [12]. The sample preparation was reduced to the dilution of olive oil in acetone, and the method was successfully validated and applied to the quantification of 21 phenolic compounds without any other step. In the context of honey analysis, direct injection LC-MS was successfully applied for the screening of various syrup adulterants and the presence of 10% sugar syrup in honey could be detected in less than 30 min [13]. "Dilute and shoot" approaches for honey have also been reported for the targeted determination of pesticides, veterinary drugs and other trace contaminants in honey prior to liquid chromatography coupled with time-of-flight MS, Orbitrap MS, and triple quadrupole MS [14-16].

The list of contaminants and toxins reported in food such as honey is continuously increasing, including new agrochemicals, emerging environmental pollutants and food contact material residues [17-19]. In this context, it appears essential to develop tools for the detection of currently unknown or unexpected contaminants. The need to further develop non-targeted methods has been highlighted by chemical risk assessment community to better characterize human exposure to chemicals [20], and to identify potential risk compounds in food matrices [21]. Among others, liquid chromatography coupled with high resolution mass spectrometry (HRMS) has emerged as a promising tool for the non-targeted analysis of food [21, 22]. HRMS systems may be operated in full-scan mode or when using data-independent acquisitions for example, to obtain structural information about virtually all ionized compounds. In All Ions MS/MS, ions are fragmented in the collision cell without the selection of any specific precursor ion (data independent acquisition). Thus, unlike data-dependent acquisition modes, All Ions MS/MS provides fragmentation patterns for all the precursors. Perez-Ortega et al. applied All Ions MS/MS to the screening of over 625 multiclass organic food contaminants using highperformance liquid chromatography/quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry (HPLC-Q-TOF-MS), and found that this acquisition mode was more appropriate for the large-scale screening than the classic product ion scans because it provided excellent fragmentation information for confirmatory purposes for a theoretically unlimited number of compounds [23]. When comparing the performance of HRMS and All Ions MS/MS, the latter was found to preserve fullscan acquisition flexibility and to have the benefits of acquiring all the information all the time without the time window boundaries of targeted MS/MS mode and without the potential loss of sensitivity of non-targeted MS/MS. Therefore, All Ions MS/MS mode could be seen as a combination of the mass resolution capabilities of HRMS and the identification capabilities of MS/MS spectra obtained without compromising the detection of trace compounds in complex matrices. As direct injection allows for a minimal modification of the sample, its coupling with high resolution mass spectrometry is expected to provide a broad screening of samples' composition. To date, direct injection in combination with HRMS in the All Ions MS/MS mode for the screening of food contaminants has not been reported.

The aim of this study was to develop (i) a rapid method for the targeted analysis of seven veterinary drug residues in honey based on direct injection HPLC-Q-TOF-MS, while (ii) simultaneously recording non-targeted information (fast high-resolution MS scans combined with All Ions MS/MS) for future re-examination of the data (e.g. for exposure assessment). Seven target compounds were selected to explore the performances of the approach for different families of veterinary drugs related to beekeeping (i.e. macrolides, lincosamides, nitrofurans and sulfonamides) [3]. They were all reported to be of concern due to their toxicity, probability of antibiotic resistance, frequency of dosing or evidence of detectable residues [24]. It should be noted that sulfonamides are known to bind to sugars in honey, and acid hydrolysis is commonly required in order to liberate them and to study the total amount in honey (free+bound) [25]. Therefore, the presented approach was tested with and without an acid hydrolysis step to study sulfonamides in honey samples. The data acquired with the method developed in the present study could be used in the future to re-examine for the presence of currently unknown contaminants, or to identify some shift in the quality of honey over time. The novelty of this study is the use of direct injection combined with HRMS in the All Ions MS/MS mode for the targeted and non-targeted screening of food contaminants.

3.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.3.1 Chemicals and reagents

Analytical standards (tylosin A (CAS Number 1404-69-0), lincomycin (CAS Number 859-18-7), furazolidone (CAS Number 67-45-8), sulfamethoxazole (CAS Number 723-46-6), sulfadimethoxine (CAS Number 122-11-2) and sulfamethazine (CAS Number 57-68-1)) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO, USA). Tylosin B (CAS Number 11032-98-7) was purchased from Toku-E (Bellingham, WA, USA). Labelled internal standards, D3-diphenhydramine (CAS Number 170082-18-5) and D3-6-acetylmorphine (CAS Number 152477-90-2), were purchased from Cerilliant (Round Rock, TX, USA). All standards were of analytical

grade. HPLC grade solvents (water, methanol, acetonitrile, acetone and 2-propanol), as well as LC/MS grade formic acid were all purchased at Fisher Chemical (Pittsburgh, PA, USA). Hydrochloric acid (37%) and D-(+)-glucose (\geq 99.5%) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich.

3.3.2 Honey Samples

Twenty-six honey samples (H1-H26) were purchased from different stores and farmers' markets in the Montreal and Calgary regions (Canada) in May 2016. Details from the samples are presented in **Table S3.1**. They were all unpasteurized and of various prices and types (i.e. nonorganic, organic farming, different colors and different floral origins). Nine additional selected honey samples (H27-H35) were obtained from the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) in December 2016. These nine samples had been earlier analyzed by the CFIA Calgary Laboratory using class-specific multi-residue methods developed and validated in-house, and were used to test the performance of the present new method. All samples were transferred from their original container to 40 mL amber glass vials and kept in the freezer at -18°C until analysis.

3.3.3 Sample Preparation

Method A: Sample preparation without acid hydrolysis

Sample preparation was adapted from Du *et al.* [13]. Approximately 0.2 g of honey was weighed in a glass conic tube and 2 mL of a mixture of acetonitrile and water (1:1) was added. Samples were vortexed for about 2 min, or until the honey was completely dissolved, and then filtered through a 0.22 μ m PTFE filter from Chrom4 (Thüringen, Germany). Before injection into the HPLC, the extract was further diluted with water to a final concentration corresponding to 1% of honey, and 50 μ L of a 0.4 μ g.mL⁻¹ mixture of the two internal standards was added. These internal standards were not used for quantification in this study but were spiked to provide a reference for sensitivity and retention time, necessary for the future non-targeted data treatment.

Method B: Sample preparation with acid hydrolysis

Approximately 0.2 g of honey was weighed in a glass conic tube and 1 mL of HCl 2M was added. Samples were vortexed for about 5 min, and then they were allowed to sit at room temperature for 1 h. Samples were then filtered, diluted and spiked with internal standards as above in Method A.

3.3.4 Method validation

In a preliminary study, three honey samples without any detectable amounts of the target antibiotics were selected as matrix blanks (H7, H18 and H26). They were from different floral and geographical origins, as well as different colours and farming methods, representing the variability of matrices within the study. To establish the absolute recoveries and the linearity of both Methods A and B, these samples were spiked with 50 µL of standard of the target antibiotic analytes in methanol at 7 levels in the 0.004 to 2 µg.g⁻¹ range before sample dilution. For Method B, samples were allowed to sit overnight at room temperature after spiking in order for the sulfonamides to react with sugars [26]. To study the matrix effect, the native antibiotic standards were spiked directly on the 1% honey sample ready for LC-QTOF analysis, at 7 levels in the 0.04 to 20 ng.mL⁻¹ range in the injected sample, corresponding to 0.004 to 2 µg.g⁻¹ in honey. Procedural blanks (n=10) were analyzed and used to derive the limits of detection (3 σ). For repeatability studies, 5 replicates of three spiked honey samples were analyzed.

To further investigate the effect of acid hydrolysis on sugar-sulfonamide conjugates, additional honey samples were spiked with the 3 sulfonamides ($0.2 \ \mu g.g^{-1}$) and left to sit overnight for the sulfonamides to bind with sugars [27]. Samples were then prepared using both Method A and Method B (n=3 each). Signals corresponding to glucose-sulfonamide conjugates were identified in the chromatograms through the comparison with three standard mixtures rich in glucose-sulfonamide conjugates. These mixtures were then prepared by mechanochemical mixing of an equimolar mixture of glucose and individual sulfonamide in a Retsch Mixer Mill (MM 400

67

Newtown, PA, US) at room temperature using two stainless steel balls and a frequency of 30Hz for 30 minutes. The reaction mixture for each sulfonamide was then suspended in water and filtered, and the residue was analyzed after dilution in water/methanol 95:5.

3.3.5 Instrument analysis

Samples were analyzed using a 1290 series LC system from Agilent Technologies (Santa Clara, CA, USA) equipped with an InfinityLab Poroshell 120 Phenyl Hexyl (3.0 × 100 mm, 2.7 µm) column fitted with an InfinityLab Poroshell 120 EC-C18 (3.0 \times 5 mm, 2.7 μ m) guard column, both from Agilent Technologies. The mobile phase consisted in a mixture of water with 0.1% formic acid (solvent A) and methanol with 0.1% formic acid (solvent B), at a flow rate of 0.2 mL/min. The mobile phase gradient profile was as follows: 1 min 5% B, from 1 to 15 min gradient to 100% B, from 15 to 20 min 100% B, from 20 to 20.10 min gradient to 5% B and from 20.10 to 25 min 5% B. The injection volume was 20 µL and the column temperature was set to 20°C. The LC system was coupled to a 6545 series Q-TOF from Agilent Technologies (Santa Clara, CA, USA) equipped with a Dual AJS ESI ion source operating in positive ionization mode. Drying gas temperature was 325°C with a flow of 5 L/min, sheath gas temperature was 275°C with a flow of 12 L/min, the pressure on the nebulizer was 20 psi, the capillary voltage was 4000 V, the fragmentor voltage was 175 V, the skimmer voltage was 65 V and the nozzle voltage was 2000 V. All Ions MS/MS data was collected as MS scans between m/z 100 and 1700 at a scan rate of 3 spectra/s for four different collision energies (0, 10, 20 and 40 V). A diode-array detector (DAD; scan range: 190 to 640 nm with a 2 nm step and a slit of 4 nm) coupled to the HPLC-Q-TOF-MS system was also used for the study of the diversion of elution to waste. Samples were kept at 4°C in the multisampler compartment.

3.3.6 Data treatment

Instrument response linearity was calculated for each compound as the relative standard deviation (RSD) of the response factors (RF) of the seven calibration curve standards (ranging

0.08 to 40 ng.mL⁻¹). Antibiotic concentrations were calculated using the Agilent Mass Hunter Workstation Software – Quantitative Analysis B.07.01, for three different m/z extraction window values (\pm 5, \pm 10 and \pm 20 ppm). Extraction window values were selected to represent the range of values used by other authors in similar targeted and non-targeted studies [28-30]. Quantification was done based on external calibration, and peaks with a signal-to-noise ratio below 10 were considered below the limit of quantification. The following mass-to-charge ratios were used for quantification: 916.5270 for tylosin A, 772.4483 for tylosin B, 407.2216 for lincomycin, 226.0464 for furazolidone, 254.0599 for sulfamethoxazole, 279.0916 for sulfamethazine and 311.0814 for sulfadimethoxine. Matrix effect, recovery, instrument linearity, method linearity, repeatability, instrument detection limit (IDL), method detection limit (MDL) and limit of quantification (LOQ) were calculated for each compound for each of the three m/zextraction window values. Matrix effect (ME) and recovery (RE) were calculated according to the equations proposed by Matuszewski by comparing the response of each compound in samples spiked before dilution (RE), after dilution (ME) and in solvent [31]. The overall method linearity was assessed from the Pearson coefficient of the linear correlation between the experimental and theoretical spiked concentrations. Repeatability was assessed from the RSD obtained for five replicates of three spiked honey samples. IDL was calculated as the concentration leading to a signal-to-noise ratio (S/N) of 3, derived from the S/N of the lowest standard of the calibration curve. MDL was calculated as 30 of the signals of 10 procedural blanks around the retention time of each compound. LOQ was calculated as 3.3 times the MDL.

Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) tests were performed using SigmaPlot v13.0 (Systat Software Inc) to compare the performances of the method (matrix effect, recovery, repeatability, method linearity and MDL) obtained for the different m/z extraction window values.

After confirmation of the linearity of the method with three matrix matched curves, antibiotics were quantified in all the 35 honey samples based on the standard addition method with one single level of spiking corresponding to a concentration of 0.2 μ g.g⁻¹ in honey. This standard

addition, which was within the range of linearity, was done to the already diluted extract to compensate for the matrix effect of each honey sample [32].

For the non-targeted applicability of the method, the honey samples were screened for the 7 veterinary drugs and other compounds using Agilent Mass Hunter Workstation Software – Qualitative Analysis B.07.00. The chromatogram was explored using the algorithm Find By Formula, using All Ions MS/MS and a customized database of honey-related compounds created with Personal Compound Database and Library software (PCDL) for LC/TOF. For the library screening, match tolerance was set to \pm 5 ppm and expansion values for chromatogram extraction at \pm 10 ppm.

3.4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.4.1 Diversion of elution to waste

Introducing a high amount of sugars, the main components of honey, into the ion source could increase needs for cleaning and maintenance. To circumvent this issue, a post-column switch was used to divert the fraction containing the sugars directly to waste. This diversion of elution to waste to avoid the introduction of high amounts of matrix-related highly-polar compounds into the ionization source was successfully applied by other authors during the analysis of contaminants in seawater and seafood using direct injection [9, 11]. **Figure S3.1** shows the total wavelength chromatogram obtained for a honey sample spiked with the mixture of the seven veterinary drug residues. The first peak at around 2.5 min corresponded to the sugars, which are expected to elute early in reversed-phase chromatography. From a targeted point of view, the first compound of interest (lincomycin, Log $K_{OW} = 0.86$ [33]) did not elute until 9 min, so the first 0.6 mL (3 min) eluting out of the column were directly sent to waste after which the post-column switch position changed to the ion source. From a non-targeted point of view, since most contaminants are expected to be less polar than the first-eluting matrix-related salts and sugars,

it was decided to compromise the possible loss of a minority of molecules of interest for the lifetime of the ion source and the throughput capabilities of the method.

3.4.2 Method performance (Method A – sample preparation without acid hydrolysis) and *m/z* extraction window selection

Instrument linearity, IDL, matrix effects, MDL, LOQ, recoveries, method linearity and repeatability are presented in **Table 3.2** for each of the seven analytes and each m/z extraction window. RSD values of the RF of the calibration curve standards were used to assess instrument linearity. RSDs were generally below 30% with the only exception of tylosin A at ± 5 ppm, which presents an RSD of 44%. In general, as the m/z extraction window decreased, so did the signal intensities. This may result in a decreased precision of the RF, especially for the lowest concentrations, and poorer instrument linearity. IDLs were in the range of 0.002 and 0.017 ng.mL⁻¹ for the three m/z extraction windows tested.

Matrix effects obtained for a \pm 5 ppm *m/z* extraction window were significantly different than those at \pm 10 and \pm 20 ppm (ANOVA, P=0.014). According to the equation used, an absence of matrix effect corresponds to a value of 100%. Values below 100% correspond to matrix suppression, while values above 100% correspond to matrix enhancement. Generally, matrix effects are considered to be mild when the values are between 80 and 120%, medium between 50 and 80% or 120 and 150%, and strong for values below 50% or above 150% [34]. In this study, even though the results obtained for a \pm 5 ppm *m/z* extraction window were statistically different than those at \pm 10 and \pm 20 ppm, most of the matrix effect values were mild and only two cases of medium matrix effects were noted, for furazolidone at \pm 5 ppm (ME=63%) and sulfamethazine at \pm 20 ppm (ME=123%). Matrix effects in this study were overall lower than those reported by Orso *et al.* for veterinary drugs in honey using a traditional extraction approach with SPE. In their study, strong matrix suppression was reported for tylosin A (ME=23.4%) and strong matrix enhancement was observed for sulfamethoxazole and sulfadimethoxine (ME=181.0% and ME=183.8% respectively) [8]. In the present study, signal suppression was noted for tylosin A, 71 lincomycin, furazolidone and sulfamethoxazole at all *m/z* extraction window values. However, Orso *et al.* reported signal suppression for tylosin A only, while mild to strong signal enhancements were recorded for lincomycin, furazolidone, sulfamethoxazole, sulfamethazine and sulfadimethoxine [8]. On the other hand, Lopez *et al.* reported signal suppression for lincomycin in honey using SPE extraction [7]. In the present study, matrix effects varied among honey samples, as illustrated by the standard deviation on the ME values. This suggests that matrix effects are strongly dependent on the characteristics of individual honey samples. The application of an average matrix effect may therefore inaccurately correct for the matrix effects, and we would recommend the assessment of the matrix effects for each honey sample.

Parameter	Extraction	Tylosin A	Tylosin B	Lincomycin	Furazolidone	Sulfamethoxazole	Sulfamethazine	Sulfadimethoxine
	window	<i>m/z</i> 916.5270	m/z 772.4483	<i>m/z</i> 407.2216	<i>m/z</i> 226.0464	m/z 254.0599	<i>m/z</i> 279.0916	<i>m/z</i> 311.0814
		RT ^b 14.64 min	RT 13.91 min	RT 9.17 min	RT 11.69 min	RT 11.57 min	RT 10.73 min	RT 12.96 min
Instrument	± 5 ppm	44	17	9	24	13	25	15
linearity	± 10 ppm	8	12	9	25	12	10	13
(RSD % of RF)	± 20 ppm	6	10	9	26	14	9	14
IDL	± 5 ppm	0.007	0.009	0.002	0.003	0.012	0.002	0.002
(ng.mL ⁻¹)	± 10 ppm	0.012	0.007	0.001	0.003	0.010	0.002	0.002
	± 20 ppm	0.011	0.009	0.002	0.003	0.017	0.002	0.002
Matrix effect	± 5 ppm	97 ± 37	108 ± 14	82 ± 10	63 ± 26	86 ± 17	97 ± 21	84 ± 23
(%) ^a	± 10 ppm	98 ± 8	111 ± 9	82 ± 10	98 ± 31	88 ± 17	115 ± 23	102 ± 17
	± 20 ppm	98 ± 8	111 ± 10	85 ± 12	92 ± 24	94 ± 18	123 ± 42	102 ± 21
MDL	± 5 ppm	0.0025	0.0015	0.0008	0.0016	0.0022	0.0009	0.0005
(µg.g⁻¹ honey)	± 10 ppm	0.0023	0.0015	0.0003	0.0014	0.0018	0.0007	0.0005
	± 20 ppm	0.0017	0.0017	0.0008	0.0020	0.0023	0.0009	0.0008

Table 3.2. Method performance for the seven targeted veterinary drug residues for m/z extraction windows of \pm 5, \pm 10 and \pm 20 ppm.

LOQ	± 5 ppm	0.0084	0.0048	0.0027	0.0054	0.0072	0.0029	0.0016
(µg.g⁻¹ honey)	± 10 ppm	0.0076	0.0050	0.0011	0.0047	0.0060	0.0025	0.0018
	± 20 ppm	0.0055	0.0056	0.0026	0.0067	0.0077	0.0030	0.0025
Recovery (%) ^a	± 5 ppm	107 ± 39	112 ± 21	117 ± 17	126 ± 36	110 ± 30	111 ± 33	102 ± 47
	± 10 ppm	109 ± 10	115 ± 12	119 ± 13	103 ± 16	115 ± 23	118 ± 21	108 ± 12
	± 20 ppm	112 ± 13	115 ± 12	120 ± 10	114 ± 24	113 ± 18	123 ± 44	113 ± 20
Method	± 5 ppm	0.9736	0.9983	0.9995	0.9993	0.9987	0.9990	0.9975
linearity (R)	± 10 ppm	0.9980	0.9988	0.9996	0.9963	0.9987	0.9990	0.9987
	± 20 ppm	0.9979	0.9984	0.9996	0.9960	0.9986	0.9990	0.9987
Repeatability	± 5 ppm	37	5	6	24	6	11	20
(RSD %)	± 10 ppm	4	4	5	5	6	7	7
	± 20 ppm	4	4	5	5	5	7	7

^a Matrix effects and recovery values are presented as mean of all concentration levels ± standard deviation (n= 21). ^b RT = Retention Time
MDLs were not statistically different using ± 5 , ± 10 or ± 20 ppm of *m/z* extraction window (ANOVA, P=0.166). With values in the range of 0.0003 to 0.0025 µg.g⁻¹ in honey, these MDLs correspond to the detection of 0.6 to 5 pg of antibiotic injected. These MDLs are in the same range as those reported by other authors for organic contaminants using the direct injection approach in other matrices [10]. These MDLs are also in the same range as those reported for veterinary drugs and pesticides in honey using conventional extraction approaches [8, 35]. Most importantly, our MDLs are around 20 to 100 times lower than their respective regulatory limits in Canada, the MRLs or WRLs for these substances in honey (**Table 3.1**). No MRLs have been set up for these antibiotics in honey in other countries such as Australia, the European Union or the United States [36-38]. LOQ were in the range of 0.0011 to 0.0084 µg.g⁻¹ in honey, which is around 25 times lower than the regulatory limits.

All the recoveries were within the 80-120% acceptable range, with the only exception of furazolidone at \pm 5 ppm and sulfamethazine at \pm 20 ppm with values of 126 and 123%, respectively. These values were in the same order as those reported by other authors for pesticides and veterinary drugs in honey, where the recoveries generally ranged 80-120% with a few exceptions above or below this range [8, 15]. There was no statistical difference (ANOVA, P=0.591) amongst the recoveries obtained for different *m/z* extraction windows. However, since all the recoveries for the \pm 10 ppm *m/z* extraction window were systematically <120%, this value was selected for the rest of this study.

Regarding method linearity, results showed no significant difference for any of the compounds at all three m/z extraction window values (ANOVA, P=0.462). Pearson coefficients were between 0.9960 and 0.9996 with the only exception of tylosin A, which presented a slightly lower R value of 0.9736 at ± 5 ppm. These high Pearson coefficients were similar or higher than those reported for honey or for other matrices using the direct injection approach [8, 12]. For this reason, the method is considered linear. With regards to repeatability, there was a clear difference between the results at \pm 5 ppm and at \pm 10 and \pm 20 ppm, and RSD values of up to 37% for tylosin A were recorded at \pm 5 ppm. Repeatability for \pm 10 and \pm 20 ppm were all below 10%. This difference was confirmed by the statistical tests (ANOVA, P=0.014). As commented before with the instrument linearity, this can be due to the fact that the signals are generally smaller at \pm 5 ppm in comparison with \pm 10 and \pm 20 ppm, and this may affect repeatability. At \pm 10 and \pm 20 ppm, the RSD values obtained in this study were in the same order or lower than those reported by other authors [7, 12].

In conclusion, a m/z extraction window of ± 10 ppm was selected for the treatment of the honey sample data as satisfactory performances were obtained at that value. This value has also been used by other authors doing similar studies on organic contaminants and metabolites in food with HPLC-HRMS [23, 39].

Figure 3.1. shows the overlapped extracted ion chromatograms of the 7 analytes spiked in one of the validation samples at a concentration of $0.2 \,\mu g.g^{-1}$, corresponding to the MRL of tylosin in honey, extracted using a *m/z* extraction window of \pm 10 ppm. Chromatographic peaks for all 7 compounds can be clearly identified with minimal background interferences with the present method. Altogether, satisfactory performances were obtained for 7 key veterinary compounds with the present method, with the added benefits of (i) much shorter analysis times compared to current methods, and (ii) recording non-targeted information for future re-assessment of the data. In addition, this direct injection approach would satisfy some of the requirements of green analytical chemistry, since it is a direct analytical technique that avoids sample treatment, it has minimal sample size and reduced reagent consumption in comparison with the traditional methods of honey analysis, derivatization is avoided, and it is a multi-analyte method [40].



Figure 3.1. Overlapped extracted ion chromatograms for the 7 antibiotics in sample H7 spiked at a concentration corresponding to 0.2 μ g.g⁻¹ in honey (Sample preparation Method A). Order of elution: lincomycin, sulfamethazine, sulfamethoxazole, furazolidone, sulfadimethoxine, tylosin B and tylosin A.

3.4.3 Application to honey samples

The above optimized method was applied to 35 honey samples collected from the Canadian market. Most of the results were below the MDL, and only tylosin A, tylosin B, sulfamethazine and sulfadimethoxine were detected in some samples. The concentrations of these four antibiotics in the samples they were detected are shown in **Table 3.3**. As mentioned earlier, in absence of hydrolysis, these concentrations correspond to the free species of the compounds in honey. The highest values were obtained for tylosin B, with concentrations up to 0.0703 μ g.g⁻¹. None of the samples contained residues of tylosin (A+B) above the MRL of 0.2 μ g.g⁻¹ set in Canada. Similarly, the levels of free sulfamethazine and sulfadimethoxine were below their respective recommended WRL in Canada (0.03 μ g.g⁻¹).

Sample	Tylosin A	Tylosin B	Sulfamethazine ^c	Sulfadimethoxine ^c
1	ND^{a}	0.0021	ND	ND
6	ND	ND	ND	0.0045
7	ND	ND	ND	0.0039
8	ND	ND	ND	0.0042
11	ND	ND	ND	0.0017
14	ND	ND	<0.0023 ^b	0.0035
15	ND	ND	ND	0.0074
18	ND	ND	ND	0.0022
29	ND	ND	ND	<0.0017 ^b
30	ND	ND	<0.0023 ^b	ND
32	<0.0076 ^b	0.0221	ND	ND
35	0.0176	0.0703	ND	ND

Table 3.3. Concentration (μ g.g⁻¹) of tylosin A, tylosin B, sulfamethazine and sulfadimethoxine in the honey samples they were detected, at a *m*/*z* extraction window of ± 10 ppm.

^a ND = non-detected. ^b Compounds detected at concentrations below the LOQ.

^c Concentration of sulfamethazine and sulfadimethoxine refers to the free form of these compounds in honey.

In their most recent National Chemical Residue Monitoring Program (NCRMP, 2013-2014 report), the CFIA reported the occurrence of tylosin A in 10.05% of the domestic honey samples and in 6.10% of the imported ones. The frequency of detection for tylosin B was 19.74 and 14.71% for domestic and imported honey, respectively [41]. In this study, 6% of the samples were positive for tylosin A and 9% for tylosin B, so the rates of detection of these compounds are similar to those found by the CFIA. No sulfonamide antibiotics were reported by the CFIA in their 2013-2014 report, but sulfadimethoxine and sulfamethoxazole had been detected in 4.35 and 3.26% of the imported honey, respectively, in the 2012-2013 NCRMP CFIA Report [42]. In the present

study, free sulfadimethoxine was detected in 23% of the honeys, so the present rate of detection of this compound was higher than that reported by the CFIA in 2012-2013.

Tylosin A is the main component of the commercial tylosin formulation applied to the honeybees [43]. The ratio of mass concentrations of tylosin A to tylosin B in the present study was measured to be 0.16 and 0.25 for samples 32 and 35 respectively. These values are lower than the overall average reported by Thompson *et al.* of 1.2 ± 0.2 in honey in Canada [44]. Tylosin A degrades into tylosin B in honey, suggesting that the ratio of their concentrations can decrease over time [43, 45]. Bohm *et al.* studied tylosin A and tylosin B in honey following the application of tylosin A tartrate on honeybees, and their ratio decreased from 4.31 after 3 days of application to 0.73 after 52 days [46]. As a consequence, the World Health Organization Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA) listed tylosin B as a major end product of tylosin A in honey, and recommended to take into account both tylosin A and B when considering food safety [47].

3.4.4 Comparison with a standard method

The nine samples provided by CFIA had been previously tested for their content of tylosin A using the official CFIA method ACC-066. These results were used as a blind comparison to test the performance of the present new method. As shown in **Table 3.4**, the results of this study matched the positive and negative results reported by the CFIA. Moreover, the concentrations of tylosin A measured with the present method were comparable to those obtained with the official methods for the two positive samples. In conclusion, this method is expected to perform well for the monitoring of veterinary drugs in honey, with low chances of misclassification of samples (false negatives or false positives).

Sampla	Reference method	Present method
Sample	(CFIA ACC-066)	(MDL=0.0023 µg.g ⁻¹)
27	ND	ND ^a
28	ND	ND
29	ND	ND
30	ND	ND
31	ND	ND
32	0.0060	<0.0076 ^b
33	ND	ND
34	ND	ND
35	0.0136	0.0176

Table 3.4. Concentration of tylosin A in the CFIA honey samples according to the reference method and in the present method, expressed as $\mu g.g^{-1}$.

^a ND = non-detected. ^b Detected at a concentration below the LOQ.

3.4.5 Performances of the method including an acid hydrolysis step (Method B)

The addition of an acid hydrolysis step (Method B) was tested to assess the total content of sulfadimethoxine, sulfamethazine and sulfamethoxazole in honey. Method performances are presented in **Table S3.2**. The direct injection method following an acid hydrolysis gave overall satisfactory results for the three sulfonamides. Matrix effects were however greater for sulfadimethoxine and sulfamethoxazole, and precision was slightly poorer (19-23%) for sulfonamides with respect to the initial direct injection method. It is important to highlight that tylosin A and furazolidone were detected in honey samples treated by acid hydrolysis. Low recoveries for tylosin A were expected for Method B, since tylosin A has been reported to degrade under acidic conditions [48].

In order to confirm the effect of acid hydrolysis on sugar-sulfonamide conjugates, additional spiked honey samples (H7, H18 and HX26) were equilibrated overnight and prepared using both Method A and Method B. Figure 3.2 A-C show the peaks of sulfamethoxazole, sulfamethazine and sulfadimethoxine spiked in sample H18 and extracted with both methods. In all three samples, the amount of sulfonamides detected following acid hydrolysis (Method B) was greater than without hydrolysis (Method A), confirming the release of conjugated sulfonamides under acidic conditions. In parallel, the mass spectra and the retention time of the glucose-sulfonamide conjugates were determined in the HPLC-QTOF-MS chromatograms obtained for the three sulfonamide-glucose standard mixtures (Figure S3.2). This information was then used to interpret the chromatograms obtained for the three spiked honey samples equilibrated overnight and extracted with and without acid hydrolysis. As observed in Figure 3.2 D-F, the glucose-sulfonamide conjugates were detected in honey samples injected in the HPLC-QTOF-MS without hydrolysis, but not after acid hydrolysis. The attribution of this signal to a glucosesulfonamide conjugate was confirmed by comparison of the retention time (Figure S3.2) and the All lons MS/MS spectra of the synthesized conjugate. Indeed, the $[M+Na]^+$ ion (m/z 438.0947 for glucose-sulfamethoxazole conjugate, m/z 463.1263 for glucose-sulfamethazine conjugate and m/z 495.1162 for glucose-sulfadimethoxine conjugate) and one characteristic fragment (m/z254.0594 for glucose-sulfamethoxazole conjugate, m/z 186.0330 for glucose-sulfamethazine conjugate and m/z 156.0764 for glucose-sulfadimethoxine conjugate) were observed for each conjugate in the honey samples and in the standard mixture with similar relative abundances. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first time these glucose-sulfonamide conjugates have been reported in honey, and this was made possible through the coupling of direct injection and HRMS and the interpretation of All Ions MS/MS data. The detection of these conjugates in food samples has very promising applications, as it opens the doors to including sulfonamides in multi-residue and non-targeted methods without compromising the stability of other analytes (e.g. tylosin A) with an extra acid hydrolysis step. Further studies are required to fully validate the quantification of these conjugates.



Figure 3.2. Extracted ion chromatograms of sulfamethazine (A), sulfamethoxazole (B), sulfadimethoxine (C), glucose-sulfamethazine conjugate (D), glucose-sulfamethoxazole conjugate (E) and glucose-sulfadimethoxine (F) in sample H18 spiked with all 7 target veterinary drugs at a level corresponding to 0.2 μ g.g⁻¹ in honey, which was extracted with hydrolysis (blue dotted line) and without hydrolysis (green line). The extracted ions in A-C and D-F were [M+H]⁺ and [M+Na]⁺, respectively.

3.4.6 Application of the method for the non-targeted identification of contaminants in honey

The ultimate application of this method is to provide non-targeted information for future reexamination of the data for other purposes (e.g. in the context of exposure assessment).

To first illustrate the capacity of this approach in identifying unknown compounds in honey based on All Ions MS/MS, the data obtained for one of the matrix blanks spiked with the seven target analytes at a concentration of 2 ng.g⁻¹ were treated using Agilent Mass Hunter Workstation Software – Qualitative Analysis B.07.00. The chromatogram was explored using the algorithm Find By Formula, using All Ions MS/MS data and a customized database of honey-related compounds created with Personal Compound Database and Library software (PCDL) for LC/TOF. This algorithm was applied by other authors for identification of suspects using HPLC-QTOF-MS [49]. All 7 analytes were successfully identified in this sample with total scores above 70%, confirming the non-targeted capability of the approach. The total score reflects the probability that a feature being correctly identified as a specific compound, with a score of 100% representing a perfect fit [22]. As an example, Figure 3.3 shows the All lons MS/MS spectra of tylosin B in sample H35 and in the standard. The characteristic [M+H]⁺ ion of tylosin B can be observed in the honey sample at 0, 10 and 20 V with an *m*/*z* of 772.4459, 772.4454 and 772.4456 respectively (exact mass: 772.4483). Its main fragment [C₈H₁₆NO₃]⁺, commonly reported by others [50], can be observed at a CE of 20 and 40 V with an m/z of 174.1123 and 174.1122 respectively (exact mass: 174.1130). Thus, comparison of the characteristic fragments of this compound between sample and standard to confirm its identification was possible using All Ions MS/MS mode.

To further demonstrate the non-targeted applicability of the method beyond the veterinary drugs of interest, the 35 honey samples were screened for other compounds related to beekeeping using the same Find By Formula Algorithm and different databases of honey-related compounds created with PCDL LC/TOF. Nine out of the 35 honey samples were found to contain hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF), a heat-induced contaminant commonly found in honey samples

that had been submitted to heat treatments or a long storage time [51]. Once the exact mass of this compound was identified as HMF by the Find By Formula Algorithm with a score above 70%, the confirmation of its identity was carried out in the same way as for tylosin B by comparing the All Ions MS/MS spectra with a standard. The [M+H]⁺ ion of HMF (exact mass: 127.0395) and one of its characteristic fragments (exact mass: 109.0289) were observed with similar relative intensity in the honey samples and in the standard, thus confirming the identity of this compound.

In conclusion, the non-targeted identification of the 7 veterinary drugs in honey as well as another compound beyond the list of spiked compounds was possible using All Ions MS/MS mode, showing the promising non-targeted applications of this method. Further studies are required to explore and optimize the characteristics of the non-targeted identification workflow using such type of data acquisition.



Figure 3.3. All Ions MS/MS spectra of tylosin B for different collision energies (CE). A: in honey sample H35. B: in an analytical standard (20 ng.mL⁻¹ in methanol/water).

3.5 CONCLUSIONS

A fast screening and quantification method was successfully developed and validated for the targeted analysis of 7 veterinary drug residues in honey, using direct injection HPLC-QTOF-MS. This method allows for the detection of the selected veterinary drug residues at levels approximately 20 to 100 times lower than the actual regulatory limits, with acceptable recoveries, linearity and repeatability. The total analysis time is only 45 min per sample (sample preparation + analysis in ESI+ mode). Negative ionization will be added in the future to allow for the analysis of other residues (e.g. chloramphenicol). The method was successfully applied to 35 honey samples from the Canadian market. Tylosin A, tylosin B, sulfamethazine and sulfadimethoxine were detected in some samples at levels below the regulatory limits for honey in Canada. All lons MS/MS data was recorded at four different voltages, allowing for the confirmation of the identity of the target analyte. The continuous recording of accurate mass and All lons MS/MS data could also allow for non-targeted screenings of other compounds (e.g. pesticides), and this approach will be studied in future work.

3.6 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We wish to acknowledge financial support from the Fonds de recherche du Québec – Nature et Technologies (FRQNT) research grant to S. Bayen.

3.7 **REFERENCES**

[1] A.M. Klein, B.E. Vaissiere, J.H. Cane, I. Steffan-Dewenter, S.A. Cunningham, C. Kremen, T. Tscharntke, Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops, Proc. R. Soc. B-Biol.
 Sci., 274 (2007) 303-313.

[2] I. Steffan-Dewenter, S.G. Potts, L. Packer, Pollinator diversity and crop pollination services are at risk, Trends Ecol. Evol., 20 (2005) 651-652.

[3] W. Reybroeck, E. Daeseleire, H.F. De Brabander, L. Herman, Antimicrobials in beekeeping, Vet. Microbiol., 158 (2012) 1-11.

[4] Health Canada, List of Maximum Residue Limits (MRLs) for Veterinary Drugs in Foods, in, 2017.
[5] Health Canada, Working Residue Levels (WRL) For Antimicrobial Residues in Honey, in, 2005.
[6] T.S. Thompson, D.K. Noot, J. Calvert, S.F. Pernal, Determination of lincomycin and tylosin residues in honey using solid-phase extraction and liquid chromatography-atmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometry, J. Chromatogr. A, 1020 (2003) 241-250.

[7] M.I. Lopez, J.S. Pettis, I.B. Smith, P.S. Chu, Multiclass determination and confirmation of antibiotic residues in honey using LC-MS/MS, J. Agric. Food Chem., 56 (2008) 1553-1559.

[8] D. Orso, L. Floriano, L.C. Ribeiro, N.M.G. Bandeira, O.D. Prestes, R. Zanella, Simultaneous determination of multiclass pesticides and antibiotics in honey samples based on ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry, Food Anal. Meth., 9 (2016) 1638-1653.

[9] S. Bayen, X.Z. Yi, E. Segovia, Z. Zhou, B.C. Kelly, Analysis of selected antibiotics in surface freshwater and seawater using direct injection in liquid chromatography electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry, J. Chromatogr. A, 1338 (2014) 38-43.

[10] L. Ciofi, L. Renai, D. Rossini, C. Ancillotti, A. Falai, D. Fibbi, M.C. Bruzzoniti, J.J. Santana-Rodriguez, S. Orlandini, M. Del Bubba, Applicability of the direct injection liquid chromatographic tandem mass spectrometric analytical approach to the sub-ng L-1 determination of perfluoroalkyl acids in waste, surface, ground and drinking water samples, Talanta, 176 (2018) 412-421.

[11] S. Bayen, E.S. Estrada, G. Juhel, B.C. Kelly, Direct injection of tissue extracts in liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry for the determination of pharmaceuticals and other contaminants of emerging concern in mollusks, Anal. Bioanal. Chem., 407 (2015) 5553-5558.

[12] L. Olmo-García, A. Bajoub, R.P. Monasterio, A. Fernandez-Gutierrez, A. Carrasco-Pancorbo, Metabolic profiling approach to determine phenolic compounds of virgin olive oil by direct injection and liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry, Food Chem., 231 (2017) 374-385. [13] B. Du, L.M. Wu, X.F. Xue, L.Z. Chen, Y. Li, J. Zhao, W. Cao, Rapid screening of multiclass syrup adulterants in honey by ultrahigh-performance liquid chromatography/quadrupole time of flight mass spectrometry, J. Agric. Food Chem., 63 (2015) 6614-6623.

[14] H.G.J. Mol, P. Plaza-Bolanos, P. Zomer, T.C. de Rijk, A.A.M. Stolker, P.P.J. Mulder, Toward a Generic Extraction Method for Simultaneous Determination of Pesticides, Mycotoxins, Plant Toxins, and Veterinary Drugs in Feed and Food Matrixes, Anal. Chem., 80 (2008) 9450-9459.

[15] M.L. Gomez-Perez, P. Plaza-Bolanos, R. Romero-Gonzalez, J.L. Martinez-Vidal, A. Garrido-Frenich, Comprehensive qualitative and quantitative determination of pesticides and veterinary drugs in honey using liquid chromatography-Orbitrap high resolution mass spectrometry, J. Chromatogr. A, 1248 (2012) 130-138.

[16] I. Kivrak, S. Kivrak, M. Harmandar, Development of a rapid method for the determination of antibiotic residues in honey using UPLC-ESI-MS/MS, Food Sci. Technol., 36 (2016) 90-96.

[17] M. Cesen, D. Lambropoulou, M. Laimou-Geraniou, T. Kosjek, U. Blaznik, D. Heath, E. Heath, Determination of bisphenols and related compounds in honey and their migration from selected food contact materials, J. Agric. Food Chem., 64 (2016) 8866-8875.

[18] N. Cicero, C. Naccari, G. Cammilleri, G. Giangrosso, A. Cicero, T. Gervasi, A. Tropea, A. Albergamo, V. Ferrantelli, Monitoring of neonicotinoid pesticides in beekeeping, Nat. Prod. Res., 31 (2017) 1258-1262.

[19] M. Martinello, A. Borin, R. Stella, D. Bovo, G. Biancotto, A. Gallina, F. Mutinelli, Development and validation of a QuEChERS method coupled to liquid chromatography and high resolution mass spectrometry to determine pyrrolizidine and tropane alkaloids in honey, Food Chem., 234 (2017) 295-302.

[20] M.R. Gwinn, D.A. Axelrad, T. Bahadori, D. Bussard, W.E. Cascio, K. Deener, D. Dix, R.S. Thomas, R.J. Kavlock, T.A. Burke, Chemical Risk Assessment: Traditional vs Public Health Perspectives, Am. J. Public Health, 107 (2017) 1032-1039.

[21] Y.Q. Fu, C.X. Zhao, X. Lu, G.W. Xu, Nontargeted screening of chemical contaminants and illegal additives in food based on liquid chromatography-high resolution mass spectrometry, Trac-Trends in Analytical Chemistry, 96 (2017) 89-98.

88

[22] A.M. Knolhoff, J.A. Zweigenbaum, T.R. Croley, Nontargeted screening of food matrices: development of a chemometric software strategy to identify unknowns in liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry data, Anal. Chem., 88 (2016) 3617-3623.

[23] P. Perez-Ortega, F.J. Lara-Ortega, J.F. Garcia-Reyes, B. Gilbert-Lopez, M. Trojanowicz, A. Molina-Diaz, A feasibility study of UHPLC-HRMS accurate-mass screening methods for multiclass testing of organic contaminants in food, Talanta, 160 (2016) 704-712.

[24] E.D. van Asselt, M. van der Spiegel, M.Y. Noordam, M.G. Pikkemaat, H.J. van der Fels-Klerx, Risk ranking of chemical hazards in food-A case study on antibiotics in the Netherlands, Food Res. Int., 54 (2013) 1636-1642.

[25] R. Sheridan, B. Policastro, S. Thomas, D. Rice, Analysis and occurrence of 14 sulfonamide antibacterials and chloramphenicol in honey by solid-phase extraction followed by LC/MS/MS analysis, J. Agric. Food Chem., 56 (2008) 3509-3516.

[26] G.F. Pang, Y.Z. Cao, J.J. Zhang, G.Q. Jia, C.L. Fan, X.M. Li, Y.M. Liu, Z.Y. Li, Y.Q. Sin, Simultaneous determination of 16 sulfonamides in honey by liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry, Journal of Aoac International, 88 (2005) 1304-1311.

[27] Y.H. Wang, L. Li, C.H. Chen, S.R. Cheng, M.S. Lee, P.P. Yu, G.P. Chang-Chien, Investigation of Breaking Efficiency of N-Glycosidic Bond Between Sulfonamide and Honey, Chem. Res. Chin. Univ., 28 (2012) 195-199.

[28] A. Ranasinghe, R. Ramanathan, M. Jemal, C.J. D'Arienzo, W.G. Humphreys, T.V. Olah, Integrated quantitative and qualitative workflow for in vivo bioanalytical support in drug discovery using hybrid Q-TOF-MS, Bioanalysis, 4 (2012) 511-528.

[29] Y.Q. Xia, J. Lau, T. Olah, M. Jemal, Targeted quantitative bioanalysis in plasma using liquid chromatography/high-resolution accurate mass spectrometry: an evaluation of global selectivity as a function of mass resolving power and extraction window, with comparison of centroid and profile modes, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom., 25 (2011) 2863-2878.

[30] T.R. Croley, K.D. White, J.H. Callahan, S.M. Musser, The chromatographic role in high resolution mass spectrometry for non-targeted analysis, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectr., 23 (2012) 1569-1578.

[31] B.K. Matuszewski, M.L. Constanzer, C.M. Chavez-Eng, Strategies for the assessment of matrix effect in quantitative bioanalytical methods based on HPLC-MS/MS, Anal. Chem., 75 (2003) 3019-3030.

[32] EU Reference Laboratories for Residues of Pesticides, Workflow to perform quantification by standard addition procedure, (Last updated July 2017).

[33] E. Grushka, N. Grinberg, Advances in Chromatography, CRC Press, 2016.

[34] B. Kmellar, P. Fodor, L. Pareja, C. Ferrer, M.A. Martinez-Uroz, A. Valverde, A.R. Fernandez-Alba, Validation and uncertainty study of a comprehensive list of 160 pesticide residues in multiclass vegetables by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry, J. Chromatogr. A, 1215 (2008) 37-50.

[35] K.M. Kasiotis, C. Anagnostopoulos, P. Anastasiadou, K. Machera, Pesticide residues in honeybees, honey and bee pollen by LC-MS/MS screening: Reported death incidents in honeybees, Sci. Total Environ., 485 (2014) 633-642.

[36] Australian Pesticides and Veterinary Medicines Authority, Agricultural and Veterinary Chemicals Code Instrument No. 4 (*MRL Standard*), (2012).

[37] Commission Regulation (EU) No 37/2010 of 22 December 2009 on pharmacologically active substances and their classification regarding maximum residue limits in foodstuffs of animal origin, Official Journal of the European Union, (2010) 1-72.

[38] U. S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA), Tolerances for residues of new animal drugs in food, Code of Federal Regulations, Title 21 (1975).

[39] I. Mahmud, S. Sternberg, M. Williams, T.J. Garrett, Comparison of global metabolite extraction strategies for soybeans using UHPLC-HRMS, Anal. Bioanal. Chem., 409 (2017) 6173-6180.

[40] A. Galuszka, Z. Migaszewski, J. Namiesnik, The 12 principles of green analytical chemistry and the SIGNIFICANCE mnemonic of green analytical practices, Trac-Trends in Analytical Chemistry, 50 (2013) 78-84.

[41] Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), National Chemical Residue Monitoring Program. 2013-2014 Report, (2013-2014).

90

[42] Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), National Chemical Residue Monitoring Program. 2012-2013 Report, (2012-2013).

[43] J. Kochansky, Degradation of tylosin residues in honey, J. Apic. Res., 43 (2004) 65-68.

[44] T.S. Thompson, S.F. Pernal, D.K. Noot, A.P. Melathopoulos, J.P. van den Heever, Degradation of incurred tylosin to desmycosin - Implications for residue analysis of honey, Analytica Chimica Acta, 586 (2007) 304-311.

[45] A.M. Alippi, G.N. Albo, D. Leniz, I. Rivera, M.L. Zanelli, A.E. Roca, Comparative study of tylosin, erythromycin and oxytetracycline to control American foulbrood of honey bees, J. Apic. Res., 38 (1999) 149-158.

[46] D.A. Bohm, C.S. Stachel, R. Hackenberg, P. Gowik, Preparation and characterisation of inhouse reference material of tylosin in honey and results of a proficiency test, Analytica Chimica Acta, 700 (2011) 58-62.

[47] Joint FAO/ WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA), Evaluation of certain veterinary drug residues in food. Seventieth report of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives, WHO Technical Report Series 954, (2008).

[48] S.M. Mitchell, J.L. Ullman, A.L. Teel, R.J. Watts, Hydrolysis of amphenicol and macrolide antibiotics: Chloramphenicol, florfenicol, spiramycin, and tylosin, Chemosphere, 134 (2015) 504-511.

[49] R.R. Gerona, J.M. Schwartz, J. Pan, M.M. Friesen, T. Lin, T.J. Woodruff, Suspect screening of maternal serum to identify new environmental chemical biomonitoring targets using liquid chromatography-quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry, J. Expo. Sci. Environ. Epidemiol., 28 (2018) 101-108.

[50] J. Wang, D. Leung, Analyses of macrolide antibiotic residues in eggs, raw milk, and honey using both ultra-performance liquid chromatography/quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry and high-performance liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom., 21 (2007) 3213-3222.

[51] F. Tornuk, S. Karaman, I. Ozturk, O.S. Toker, B. Tastemur, O. Sagdic, M. Dogan, A. Kayacier, Quality characterization of artisanal and retail Turkish blossom honeys: Determination of physicochemical, microbiological, bioactive properties and aroma profile, Ind. Crop. Prod., 46 (2013) 124-131.



3.8 SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Figure S3.1. Total wavelength chromatogram of a honey sample spiked with the seven veterinary drug residues using HPLC-DAD (scan range: 190 to 640 nm). The first large peak (RT~2.5 min.) corresponds to a potential interference which was diverted to waste.



Figure S3.2. Extracted ion chromatograms, corresponding to the [M+Na]⁺ of the three glucose-sulfonamide conjugates in water/methanol (95:5).

Sample	Colour ^a	Type of	Botanical origin	Geographical origin	
		farming			
H1	Amber	Non-organic	Wildflowers	USA	
H2	White	Non-organic	Clover	Canada	
H3	White	Non-organic	Acacia	France	
H4	White	Non-organic	Clover	Canada	
H5	Golden	Non-organic	Meadow and		
			wildflowers (vetch,	Canada	
			sweet clover, clover,	Callaua	
			milkweed)		
H6	Dark	Non-organic	Unknown	Canada	
H7	Golden	Organic	Unknown	Canada	
H8	Golden	Non-organic	Clover	Canada	
H9	Golden	Non-organic	Forest honey	Canada	
H10	Golden	Organic	Summer flowers		
			(white clover,		
			melilot, raspberry	Canada	
			bush, alfalfa, linden,		
			Wildflowers)		
H11	White	Non-organic	Unknown	Canada	
H12	White	Non-organic	Wildflowers	Canada	
H13	White	Non-organic	Clover	Canada	
H14	White	Organic	Wildflowers	Canada	
H15	Golden	Non-organic		Bulgaria, Guatemala,	
			Wildflowers	Mexico, Spain,	
				Thailand and Ukraine	

Table S3.1. List of 26 commercial honey samples and detailed information as obtained from theirlabels.

H16	Golden	Non-organic	Orange blossom	Spain
H17	Golden	Non-organic	Unknown	Canada
H18	Dark	Non-organic	Buckwheat	Canada
H19	White	Non-organic	Meadow flowers	Canada
			(spring flowers)	Callaua
H20	White	Non-organic	Unknown	Canada
H21	Amber	Non-organic	Wildflowers (fall	Canada
			flowers)	Callaua
H22	Amber	Non-organic	Wildflowers	Canada
H23	White	Non-organic	Clover	Canada
H24	White	Non-organic	Clover	Canada
H25	White	Non-organic	Clover, alfalfa, and	
			Wildflowers (summer	Canada
			flowers)	
H26	White	Non-organic	Clover	Canada

^a In the cases where the colour of the honey was not specified in the label, this was determined by visual comparison with other samples of similar colour whose colour was specified by the manufacturer in the label.

Parameter	Parameter Extraction		Tylosin B	Lincomycin	Furazolidone	Sulfamethoxazole	Sulfamethazine	Sulfadimethoxine
	window	<i>m/z</i> 916.5270	m/z 772.4483	<i>m/z</i> 407.2216	<i>m/z</i> 226.0464	m/z 254.0599	<i>m/z</i> 279.0916	<i>m/z</i> 311.0814
		RT ^b 14.64 min	RT 13.91 min	RT 9.17 min	RT 11.75 min	RT 10.60 min	RT 10.76 min	RT 12.96 min
Matrix effect	Hydrolysis	ND ^d	255 ± 30	94 ± 24	ND	168 ± 53	100 ± 28	147 ± 32
(%) ^a	No-hydrolysis	98 ± 8	111 ± 9	82 ± 10	98 ± 31	88 ± 17	115 ± 23	102 ± 17
MDL	Hydrolysis	0.0005	0.0508	0.0282	0.0004	0.0047	0.0002	0.0023
(µg.g⁻¹ honey)	No-hydrolysis	0.0023	0.0015	0.0003	0.0014	0.0018	0.0007	0.0005
LOQ	Hydrolysis	0.0017	0.1677	0.0931	0.0013	0.0155	0.0006	0.0076
(µg.g⁻¹ honey)	No-hydrolysis	0.0076	0.0050	0.0011	0.0047	0.0060	0.0025	0.0018
Recovery (%) ^{a,c}	Hydrolysis	ND	83 ± 7	127 ± 41	ND	127 ± 35	137 ± 10	117 ± 23.
	No-hydrolysis	109 ± 10	115 ± 12	119 ± 13	103 ± 16	115 ± 23	118 ± 21	108 ± 12
Method	Hydrolysis	ND	0.9985	0.9948	ND	0.9971	0.9979	0.9926
linearity (R)	No-hydrolysis	0.9980	0.9988	0.9996	0.9963	0.9987	0.9990	0.9987
Repeatability	Hydrolysis	ND	20	22	ND	19	21	23

Table S3.2. Comparison of the method performances for the seven targeted veterinary drug residues with and without an acid

hydrolysis step (m/z extraction window of ± 10 ppm).

(RSD %)	No-hydrolysis	4	4	5	5	6	7	7		
	^a Matrix effects and recovery values are presented as mean of all concentration levels ± standard deviation (n= 21). ^b RT = Retention									
	Time. ^c For sulfamethoxazole, sulfamethazine and sulfadimethoxine, recovery of the non-hydrolysis method represents that of the									
	compounds in their free form. ^d ND = All or most of the validation samples were below the limit of detection, so the parameter could									
	not be calculated.									

CONNECTING PARAGRAPH

The method developed in Chapter 3 showed promising results in non-targeted approaches for the analysis of trace organic contaminants in honey. After developing the two first steps of the analysis workflow (i.e. sample preparation and instrumental analysis), Chapter 4 focuses on the third step: data pre-treatment. Chapter 4 has been accepted for publication in the Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry: A. von Eyken, S. Bayen; *Optimization of the data treatment steps of a non-targeted LC-MS based workflow for the identification of trace chemical residues in honey*.

CHAPTER 4: OPTIMIZATION OF THE DATA TREATMENT STEPS OF A NON-TARGETED LC-MS BASED WORKFLOW FOR THE IDENTIFICATION OF TRACE CHEMICAL RESIDUES

IN HONEY

4.1 Abstract

Non-targeted screening (e.g. suspected-target) is emerging as an attractive tool to investigate the occurrence of contaminants in food. The sample preparation and instrument analysis steps are known to influence the identification of analytes with non-targeted workflows, especially for complex matrices. However, for methods based on mass spectrometry, the impact of the postanalysis data treatment (e.g. feature extraction) on the capacity to correctly identify a contaminant at trace level is currently not well understood. The aim of the study was to investigate the influence of seven post-analysis data treatment parameters on the non-targeted identification of trace contaminants in honey using high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to hybrid quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry (HPLC-QTOF-MS). Seven compounds reported as veterinary drugs for honey bees were applied as model compounds. Among the parameters studied, the expansion window for chromatogram extraction and the average scans included in the spectra influenced significantly the identification process results. The optimized data treatment was applied to the non-targeted screening of veterinary drugs, pesticides and other contaminants in 55 honey samples as a proof-of-concept. Among the 43 compounds included in a library of honey-related compounds that was used for screening, 8 compounds were tentatively identified in at least one honey sample. The tentative identity of two of these compounds, tylosin A and hydroxymethylfurfural, was further confirmed with analytical standards.

4.2 INTRODUCTION

There has been an increasing demand for analytical techniques that can detect and identify unexpected or unknown contaminants in food matrices without any prior knowledge on their occurrence. As a result, non-targeted strategies, as opposed to the traditional targeted analysis in which methods are designed based on the availability of analytical standards, need to be developed. The interest for novel non-targeted tools is not limited to food analysis but is also emerging in numerous fields such as environmental analysis or forensics [1-3].

There are generally four components in a non-targeted workflow: sample preparation, instrument analysis, post-analysis data treatment and data interpretation. The non-targeted analysis of trace contaminants in food, where the low concentration of the analytes poses an added challenge, can be achieved using state-of-the-art instruments, e.g. high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to hybrid quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry (HPLC-QTOF-MS) [4, 5]. This approach results in relatively large datasets and requires advanced data treatment in order to extract and identify the relatively small signals of the contaminants [6]. The non-targeted identification of compounds based on liquid or gas chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry (LC/GC-MS) data is a multistep process. First, the whole chromatogram needs to be examined in order to create a compound list of all peaks that represent real molecules [7]. During this process, detected ions are assigned a monoisotopic peak with a corresponding m/zvalue, and an isotopic distribution analysis is performed to identify isotopic clusters that might be characteristic of certain elemental compositions. Next, the presence of adducts that may be associated with the eluting compounds is assessed based on a list of potential adducts specified beforehand [8]. At this point, if the mass accuracy is sufficient and there is a minimal isotopic distribution error, the correct molecular formula can be generated for the compounds of interest [9, 10]. Finally, if a compound database is available, mass spectral similarities between an experimental mass spectrum and each mass spectrum in a reference library are assessed [11]. Often, several compounds from a specific database can be associated with a single molecular formula. In that case, acquisition methods using data-dependent or data-independent MS/MS can provide some information (exact mass, isotopic patterns) for both the parent ions and their fragments that can be used to further confirm the correct identification of the target compounds [12].

The correct detection and identification of contaminants in food is critical to ensure the safety of the consumers. Contaminated food samples wrongly assigned as a "non-detect" result (false negative) could lead to an unacceptable exposure of the consumers to potential toxicants. On the other hand, food products wrongly identified as contaminated (false positive) could potentially result into unnecessary food recalls and economic losses. Since the unbiased identification of chemical residues in food products is a matter of concern for public health, regulations such as the 2002/657/EC European Commission Decision have established a system of identification points (IPs) to confirm the identification of organic residues and contaminants using mass spectrometric techniques [13]. The main advantage of this system is to provide a standardized approach to confirm the identity of chemical contaminants [14]. So far, most non-targeted studies have focused on improving the accuracy of compound identification, but little attention has been paid to reducing the false discovery rate [15].

Analytical steps such as sample preparation or instrument analysis are known to influence the list of molecular features obtained in a non-targeted metabolomics [16]. In the case of complex matrices, such as food samples, matrix effects are also known to affect the automatic identification of compounds such as pesticides [12]. More specifically, interferences from the matrix (e.g. signal suppression, co-elution with isobaric compounds) can induce a loss of mass accuracy and lead to erroneous identification of unknowns [7]. This underlines the need for a thorough study and optimization of the data treatment steps to ensure the correct identification of compounds in food matrices. Some researchers have reported the influence of the "exact mass tolerance" parameter used to compare the measured m/z (experimental) with that in the database (theoretical) on the non-targeted identification of contaminants in food matrices (i.e. fruits and vegetables) [7, 17, 18]. In metabolomics, the need for identifying the parameters that have the main impact on number and quality of reported metabolites has been recognized for a while [19]. Recently, Tian *et al.* demonstrated the influence of post-acquisition data processing for the non-targeted screening of trace leachable residues from reusable plastic bottles [20]. However, to the best of our knowledge, there has been no systematic assessment of the

influence of any other parameters of post-analysis data treatment other than the exact mass tolerance on the identification of trace contaminants in food.

Among the infinite variety of food matrices that can be used as a model for the study of the influence of non-targeted identification parameters, honey offers the advantage of being able to contain an extended range of contaminants, both agricultural and environmental, at trace levels (in the order of mg kg⁻¹ to µg kg⁻¹) [21-23]. Honey bees fly up to 4 km in all directions from their hive and thus have access to an area of 50 km², which allow them to be exposed to a wide variety of contaminants in a large area [24]. In addition, a method for the determination of seven veterinary drugs in honey based on a simple dilute-and-shoot procedure followed by direct injection into HPLC-QTOF-MS/MS was recently developed [25]. Although this was initially a targeted analysis method, the use of a data-independent MS/MS acquisition such as the All lons mode showed promising applications in non-targeted analysis of contaminants in honey.

The aim of the study was to investigate the influence of the post-analysis data treatment parameters on the non-targeted identification of trace contaminants (suspected-target) in honey, using seven veterinary drugs as model compounds. More specifically, an assessment was made to study the impact of the following: match mass tolerance, the mass extraction window, the isotope abundance score, the peak filter absolute height, the average of spectra, the exclusion of TOF spectra and the post-processing peak filters. To date, there has no comprehensive study of the impact of these parameters in the non-targeted identification of contaminants in honey. Optimized data treatment conditions were then applied to the nontargeted screening of veterinary drugs, pesticides and other contaminants in honey collected in Canada.

4.3 EXPERIMENTAL

4.3.1 Chemicals and reagents

Analytical standards (tylosin A (\geq 94.2%), lincomycin (\geq 95.0%), furazolidone (\geq 99%), sulfamethoxazole (\geq 99%), sulfadimethoxine (\geq 98.5%), sulfamethazine (\geq 99%) and 5-hydroxymethyl-2-furaldehyde (\geq 99%)) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO, USA). Tylosin B (\geq 99%) was purchased from Toku-E (Bellingham, WA, USA). Deuterated internal standards, D₃-diphenylhydramine (\geq 99.4%) and D₃-6-acetylmorphine (\geq 99.5%), were purchased from Cerilliant (Round Rock, TX, USA). HPLC grade solvents (water, methanol, acetonitrile, acetone and 2-propanol), as well as LC/MS grade formic acid were all obtained from Fisher Chemical (Pittsburgh, PA, USA).

4.3.2 Honey Samples

Fifty-five honey samples were purchased from different stores and farmers' markets in the Montreal and Calgary regions (Canada) in May 2016 and May 2017. They were all labelled as "unpasteurized" and were of various prices and quality (i.e. different colours and different floral and geographical origins, some labelled as organic as defined in Canada) [26]. Subsamples of each honey were transferred from their original container to 40 mL amber glass vials and kept in the freezer at -18°C until analysis. In an earlier study [25], these samples were analyzed and fifteen of them showed no detectable residues of any of the 7 tested antimicrobials, so they were considered as blank matrices for the present study.

4.3.3 Sample Preparation

The sample preparation follows a method described in an earlier paper [25]. In Short, approximately 0.2 g of honey was weighed in a glass conic tube and 2 mL of acetonitrile:water mixture (1:1) were added. Samples were vortexed until the honey was completely dissolved, and

then filtered through a 0.22 μ m PTFE filter from Chrom4 (Thüringen, Germany). Before injection into the HPLC system, the extract was further diluted with water to a final concentration corresponding to 1% of honey (w/v), and 50 μ L of a 0.4 μ g mL⁻¹ mixture of the two deuterated internal standards were added. These internal standards were not added for quantification purposes, but serve as a reference for retention time and sensitivity [27].

For the optimization of the identification parameters, the fifteen matrix blanks were spiked before dilution with 50 μ L of a mixture of the seven antimicrobials at a concentration corresponding to 0.2 μ g g⁻¹ of honey. This concentration corresponds to the maximum regulatory limit (MRL) for tylosin A + B in honey in Canada [28].

4.3.4 Instrument analysis

Samples were analyzed using a 1290 series LC system from Agilent Technologies (Santa Clara, CA, USA) equipped with an InfinityLab Poroshell 120 Phenyl Hexyl (3.0 x 100 mm, 2.7 µm) column fitted with an InfinityLab Poroshell 120 EC-C18 (3.0 x 5 mm, 2.7 µm) guard column, both from Agilent Technologies. This column, which has improved selectivity for aromatic compounds, was used in a previous study and was found to successfully separate the seven veterinary drugs used in the present study [25, 29]. The mobile phase composition was prepared as reported in the literature on non-targeted analysis using reverse-phase liquid chromatography. In that case, the mobile phase commonly consists of a mixture of water and methanol or acetonitrile, often with the addition of a small quantity of mobile phase modifiers (e.g. ammonium formate, ammonium acetate, formic acid or acetic acid) to improve the separation and detection of compounds [30, 31]. This mobile phase is generally used starting with a low proportion of organic phase (i.e. 5-10%), held in isocratic mode for a few minutes. A gradient is then generally applied until 100% of organic phase. Finally, the mobile phase composition went back to the initial conditions to reequilibrate the system for a few minutes [31]. In the present study, the mobile phase consisted of water (solvent A) and methanol (solvent B), both with 0.1% formic acid, at a flow rate of 0.2 mL min⁻¹. The mobile phase gradient profile was as follows: 1 min 5% B, from 1 to 15 min gradient 105

to 100% B, from 15 to 20 min 100 % B, from 20 to 20.10 min gradient to 5% B and from 20.10 to 25 min 5% B. The injection volume was 20 μ L and the column temperature was set to 20°C.

The LC system was coupled to a 6545 series Q-TOF from Agilent Technologies equipped with a Dual AJS ESI ion source operating in positive ionization mode. Drying gas temperature was 325°C with a flow of 5 L min⁻¹, sheath gas temperature was 275°C with a flow of 12 L.min⁻¹, the pressure on the nebulizer was 20 psi, the capillary voltage was 4000 V, the fragmentor voltage was 175 V, the skimmer voltage was 65 V and the nozzle voltage was 2000 V. All Ions MS/MS data was collected (scans between *m/z* 70 and 1700 at a scan rate of 3 spectra/s for four different collision energies: 0, 10, 20 and 40 V). This scan speed corresponded to about 14 spectra per peak for each collision energy. This data-independent MS/MS acquisition mode has been reported to be more appropriate for large-scale screening than the classic product ion scans because it provided excellent fragmentation information for confirmatory purposes for an unlimited number of compounds [32]. The first 3 min of elution were diverted to waste. Samples were kept at 4°C in the multisampler compartment.

4.3.5 Data treatment

The datasets were processed with MassHunter Profinder B.08.00 software (Agilent Technologies), using "Batch Targeted Feature Extraction". This algorithm extracts features from the acquired data, combining the "Find Compounds by Formula" algorithm with a database containing molecular formulas, mass, and/or retention time information [33]. Batch Targeted Feature Extraction was run under different conditions to determine which parameter(s) influence the rates of detection and identification of veterinary drugs present in honey at trace level. The parameters were selected based on what has been reported by others, and other additional parameters representative of the different steps of the feature extraction algorithm were also added [7, 8, 18, 34, 35]. The 7 parameters tested included: match tolerance mass, expansion values for chromatogram extraction, isotope abundance score, peak filter absolute height, spectra to include average scans, exclude TOF spectra if above, and post-processing filter absolute 106

height. A detailed explanation of the selected parameters and the values tested for each of them is presented in the Supplementary Information. For each experiment, all parameters were fixed at an initial value and only one of them was altered at a time. Compound identification in the non-targeted mode was completed using a reduced library dataset that contained only the 7 antimicrobials, which was created from previously existing libraries using the software Mass Hunter PCDL Manager for Metabolomics B.07.00 from Agilent Technologies. The library for the first part of this study was reduced to 7 compounds with the purpose of speeding up the experiment, but the size of the library does not influence the identification results from the *Batch Targeted Feature Extraction* algorithm. Retention time was not considered when searching in the database, as it is specific to the HPLC conditions used to acquire the data. The positive ions and adducts considered were H⁺, Na⁺ and K⁺. Finally, only compounds with a minimum total score of 70% were considered, which is what is commonly reported for this type of analysis [7, 11].

4.3.6 Experimental design

According to the literature, veterinary drug residues may be detected at a low frequency in actual honey samples. In 2013-2014, the Canadian Food Inspection Agency carried out tests for veterinary drug residues on 280 samples of domestic honey and 108 samples of imported honey in Canada, and the percentage of samples with detected residues was 26.07% and 12.04% for domestic and imported honeys, respectively [36]. As a result, we studied the influence of the number of samples above the LOD in a batch, on the correct non-targeted identification of trace compounds. Different groups of datasets were produced using different ratios of matrix blanks, spiked and unspiked samples, to mimic a range of contaminant frequencies of the veterinary drug residues in honey samples (**Table 4.1**). Each batch of data files contained 15 honey sample extracts and 5 procedural blanks, so a total of 20 data files per batch were used. Group A, B and C corresponded to 75%, 25% and 5% of the samples in the batch containing detectable amounts of veterinary drug residues, respectively. The spiked samples in the 3 batches of group B and C

were different, and were selected to represent a range of colour, floral origin, packaging and organic/non-organic farming matrices.

Two-way analyses of variance (ANOVA) were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 23 (NY, USA) to determine whether the different parameters tested produced statistically significant differences.

Table 4.1. Composition of the groups of samples used to optimize the data pre-treatment parameters.

Group	Batch	Spiked	Matrix	Procedural	Samples	Samples	Expected	Expected
		samples	blanks	blanks	per batch	per group	positives	negatives
A	A	15	0	5	20	20	15	5
В	B1	5	10	5	20	60	15	45
	B2	5	10	5	20			
	B3	5	10	5	20			
С	C1	1	14	5	20	60	3	57
	C2	1	14	5	20			
	C3	1	14	5	20			

4.3.7 Application of the optimized data pre-treatment to the non-targeted analysis of actual honey samples

As a proof-of-concept, the optimized data treatment was used to screen 55 honey samples from the Canadian market for veterinary drugs, pesticides and other contaminants. Since no commercial library dataset was found containing only compounds related to honey, a subset 108 from METLIN Metabolome Database was created based on 42 chemicals reported in the production of honey or previously detected in honey. Hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) was not part of the METLIN Metabolome Database, so it was manually added using the experimental exact mass and spectral data with LC-MS recorded from an analytical standard. Details on the compounds included in the library are provided as Supplementary Information (**Table S4.1**). Five procedural blanks were run together with the honey samples and were included in the data treatment. In this study, only compounds whose signal was greater than the average + 3 σ of the blank signals were considered.

4.3.8 Confirmation of the non-targeted identification of compounds in honey samples

According to the level system proposed by Schymanski *et al.* [37], the level of confidence of the identification for the compounds obtained using the *Batch Targeted Feature Extraction* algorithm is 4, since it is based on the exact mass and the isotopic signature. In order to increase the identification confidence level of these compounds, MS/MS data should be compared with that of a compound database to provide a probable structure. Ultimately, the structure should be confirmed with a reference standard to achieve level 1 of confidence, which represents the highest level. In the present study, the identity of the compounds identified by the *Batch Targeted Feature Extraction* was further confirmed using the parent ion and most abundant daughter ion found with the All Ions MS/MS data with those reported in the database or in the literature. For each compound, both the presence of these ions in the MS/MS spectra as well as their intensity ratio were studied.

When the MS/MS spectra of the sample matched those reported elsewhere, a final confirmation was performed with analytical standards to achieve a confidence level of 1. This identification was done following the IPs system established by the 2002/657/EC European Commission Decision [13]. For the confirmation of the substances listed in group B of Annex I of Directive 96/23/EC, which include veterinary drugs and other contaminants (i.e. organochlorine compounds including PCBs, organophosphorus compounds, chemical elements, mycotoxins, 109

dyes and others), a minimum of 3 IPs is required [38]. In addition to having 3 IPs, the 2002/657/EC European Commission Decision establishes that a minimum of one ion ratio should be measured, that all measured ion ratios need to meet maximum permitted tolerances for relative ion intensities, and that a maximum of three separate techniques can be combined to achieve the minimum number of IPs [13]. For LC or GC with mass-spectrometric detection, IPs are assigned depending on the type of ion measured (i.e. parent or fragment ions) and the resolving power of the mass analyzer. However, some difficulties appear when trying to classify mass analyzers as low- or high-resolution because modern low-resolution mass analyzers can now reach resolutions comparable to the traditional HRMS instruments [39]. Alternatively, Hernández et al. proposed a criterion for assignment of IPs based on mass measurement accuracy instead of resolution, which was used in the present study [40]. For the calculation of the IPs, two ions were selected for each compound: MS1 (parent ion) and MS2 (most abundant fragment). The abundance of each ion was read at the collision energy (0, 10, 20 or 40 V) that produced the highest peak. In addition to the IPs, the retention time difference between the compound in honey and the analytical standard was calculated, and only differences below 0.3 min were considered a match [17].

4.4 **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

4.4.1 Optimization of the identification workflow

The aim of this study was to describe and optimize the influence of the post-analysis data treatment parameters on the non-targeted identification of trace contaminants in honey using seven veterinary drugs as model compounds. The number of erroneous identifications (i.e. false positives and false negatives) for each parameter for test groups A, B and C are presented in **Table 4.2**, **Table 4.3** and **Table 4.4**, respectively.
The maximum mass error between the measured ion (experimental) and the database (theoretical) to consider a match did not influence the correct identification of compounds (ANOVA, p=0.084). In general, an increase in mass tolerance makes the search in the compound database less restrictive, and this could lead to an increase in the number of false positives. For this reason, when screening for pesticide residues in food, Mezcua et al. recommended the use of a mass tolerance of \pm 10 mDa for screening purposes, and to lower the tolerance to \pm 1 mDa and/or 5 ppm when confirming the identity of compounds [18]. Similar mass tolerances have been reported for the non-targeted analysis of trace contaminants using a library database. Indeed, a mass tolerance of \pm 5 ppm was reported in environmental monitoring studies, including the screening of environmental contaminants in honey bees and pollen, and the occurrence of xenobiotics in blood of sea turtles [11, 41]. Herrera-Lopez et al. reported a mass tolerance of ± 2.5 and \pm 5 ppm for MS and MS/MS data, respectively, for the screening of organic contaminants in water samples and Sjerps et al. used a mass tolerance of ± 5 ppm [12, 34]. Regarding food matrices, Malato et al. performed a screening for pesticides in fruits and vegetables with three mass tolerances (0.6 mDa, 1 mDa and 5 ppm) and determined that the best option according to their results was to use a mass tolerance \leq 5 ppm when confirming the identity [7]. Malato *et al.* discussed the difference between the use of relative (ppm) or absolute (mDa) mass tolerance values and concluded that a relative mass tolerance value should be applied in order to avoid dependence on the search criteria with each compound mass (especially when dealing with a wide range of compounds) [7]. Another factor to consider when determining which mass match tolerance to use is the mass accuracy of the instrument. Using a match mass tolerance value far lower than the error of the acquired mass could result in an increase of false negatives, as the measured mass would not match those reported in the library. The average mass accuracies obtained in the present study were -1.8 ± 0.3 , -1.8 ± 0.3 , -1.4 ± 0.4 , -2.4 ± 0.5 , -1.9 ± 0.5 , -2.2 ± 0.5 0.3, and -2.5 ± 0.6 ppm for the [M+H]⁺ fragments of tylosin A, tylosin B, lincomycin, furazolidone, sulfadimethoxine, sulfamethazine, and sulfamethoxazole, respectively. Therefore, a match mass tolerance of \pm 5 ppm was selected as it led to acceptable results in this study, in line with what has been reported by others.

Next, the influence of the expansion value for chromatogram extraction was tested. The rate of erroneous identifications of the compounds increased significantly with the expansion value (ANOVA, p<0.001). Indeed, up to 11 identifications were incorrect when the expansion window was increased to ± 500 ppm (Table 4.2, Table 4.3 and Table 4.4). An increase of false positives was expected when increasing the extraction window, because this criterion would become less restrictive and more features may be matched with a specific formula. However, this was not observed in the present study. Instead, the number of false negatives increased, notably for tylosin B and sulfadimethoxine when applying an expansion value of ± 500 ppm. To further explore this, the signal-to-noise ratio (S/N) was assessed for each compound in their respective chromatograms extracted using \pm 10 and \pm 500 ppm (Figure 4.1). S/N significantly decreased with an increasing mass extraction window for tylosin A, lincomycin, furazolidone, sulfamethoxazole, sulfamethazine, and sulfadimethoxine (ANOVA, p<0.001 in all cases). Dasenaki et al. have demonstrated that unsatisfactory fragmentation or insufficient sensitivity of fragment ions can hinder the identification of veterinary residues in fish and milk using HPLC-QTOF-MS [42]. Using the present method, S/N were systematically above 10 for the 7 trace contaminants (spike level 0.2 µg.g⁻¹; see Figure 4.1) and molecular features corresponding to the compounds were detected. The chemical noise or the presence of interferences could be at the origin of the false identifications, for example for tylosin B and sulfadimethoxine. There was no significant difference in the number of erroneous identifications between \pm 10 and \pm 50 ppm (ANOVA, p=0.844), so \pm 10 ppm was selected as expansion value for chromatogram extraction. This value has been reported by other authors [35, 41].



Figure 4.1. Comparison of the mean S/N obtained from chromatograms extracted with a mass extraction window of \pm 10 and \pm 500 ppm (m/z for each compound are described in **Table 4.2**). * Indicates significant difference between S/N at \pm 10 and \pm 500 ppm.

The next parameter, the isotope abundance score, had no significant impact on the identification of trace contaminants in honey (ANOVA, p=0.334), as the same rate of correct identification was obtained for 60% and 100% of isotope abundance score (**Table 4.2**, **Table 4.3** and **Table 4.4**). This parameter is rarely reported in similar studies. Sjerps *et al.* used an isotopic pattern similarity of above 90% for the analysis of different organic contaminants in water, but no information on its optimization had been reported [34]. Instead, the literature generally focusses on the total score, which is a combination of mass match score, isotope abundance score, isotope spacing score and retention time score. In this study, only the identifications with a total score \geq 70% were considered, as suggested by other authors in similar studies [7, 11]. Alternatively, Knolhoff *et al.* used an overall quality score of \geq 50% for the non-targeted analysis of organic compounds in orange juice and milk [8]. However, lowering the total score makes the identification less

restrictive, and this could potentially lead to an increase of the rate of erroneous identifications. Since altering the isotope abundance score did not affect the identification, the default value of 60% given by the software was chosen for the final method.

Three absolute height filters were tested and there was no statistical difference among the false identification rates (ANOVA, p=0.556). An increase in false negatives could be expected when increasing the absolute height filter, especially for trace contaminants as their peaks may be relatively small. However, increasing this threshold from 100 to 1000 counts did not affect the rate of correct identification of the veterinary drug residues in the present study (**Table 4.2**, **Table 4.3** and **Table 4.4**). This study was performed at a residue concentration of 0.2 mg kg⁻¹, and this resulted in peaks whose height was in the order of 10^5 to 10^6 counts, explaining the lack of impact of the absolute height filter. This threshold could however become of great importance when screening for compounds in concentrations in the low μ g kg⁻¹ to ng kg⁻¹ range. Knolhoff *et al.* used a minimum ion peak height of 500 counts for the non-targeted analysis of organic compounds in orange juice and milk, while Mezcua *et al.* and Malato *et al.* used a peak filter of 100 for the analysis of pesticides in fruits and vegetables [7, 8, 18]. In the present study an intermediate value of 200 counts was finally selected.

Regarding the two parameters affecting the spectra to be included in the identification (*spectra to include average scans* and *exclude TOF spectra if above*), the different average of scans produced significantly different results, while the possible exclusion of the TOF spectra did not affect them (ANOVA, spectra to include average scans p<0.001, exclude TOF spectra p=0.556). When examining closely the multiple comparisons between pairs of values, it was observed that taking the spectra at the apex of the peak or at above 30% of the peak height lead to the exact same results (ANOVA, p=1.00), which correspond to the lowest rate of erroneous identifications (**Table 4.2, Table 4.3** and **Table 4.4**). For the rest of the study, spectra at the apex of the peaks were used in order to avoid possible interferences from coeluting compounds on trace contaminants. Consequently, the option of excluding part of the TOF spectra was deselected.

Finally, the different post-processing peak filters were tested and did not significantly affect the correct identification of the veterinary drug residues (ANOVA, p=0.556). As in the case of peak filters, selecting a high value for the post processing peak filters could lead to the omission of relevant peaks, and thus increase the rate of false negatives for trace contaminants. The range of post processing peak filters used by other authors in similar studies is in the same order of those tested in the present study, going from a compound filter of only 400 counts for the analysis of pesticides in fruits and vegetables by Malato *et al.*, to up to 5000 counts for the analysis of organic compounds in orange juice and milk by Knolhoff *et al* [7, 8]. In some studies, this parameter has been expressed as a relative abundance instead of an absolute height. Indeed, Mezcua *et al.* used a compound filter of 0.01% of the most abundant peak [18]. However, the use of a relative abundance filter for the identification of trace contaminants, especially in a dilute-and-shoot approach such as the one used in the present study where the final extract is a very complex matrix, could lead to a significant elimination of peaks corresponding to trace-level compounds. An intermediate value of 1000 counts was selected in the present study.

The number of spiked samples in the sample batch was found to influence the rate of correct identification of the seven veterinary drugs for all tested parameters (ANOVA, match mass tolerance p<0.001, expansion values for chromatogram extraction p<0.001, isotope abundance score p<0.001, peak filter absolute height p<0.001, spectra to include average scans p<0.001, exclude TOF spectra p<0.001, post processing filters p<0.001). As shown in **Table 4.5**, the lowest amount of erroneous identifications (0.5% of false negatives and no false positives) was obtained for group C, which corresponded to a frequency of true positives of 5% (1 spiked sample per batch of 20 samples). In their two most recent National Chemical Residue Monitoring Program (NCRMP, 2013-2014 and 2012-2013 reports), the CFIA reported the occurrence of tylosin A, tylosin B, sulfadimethoxine and sulfamethoxazole at rates of detection of 6.10-10.05%, 14.71-19.74%, 4.35% and 3.26%, respectively [36, 43]. Thus, the frequency of true positives of group C would correspond to the frequency of detection of these compounds in a real-case scenario. Therefore, based on these results, the optimized identification workflow developed in the

present study should be applied to the screening of veterinary drugs in honey in order to expect the lowest rate of erroneous results.

		Tylosin A		Tylosin B		Lincomycin		Furazolidone	Sulf	adimethoxin	е	Sulfamethazin	е	Sulfametho	kazole
		<i>m/z</i> 916	.5270	m/z 772.4	483	<i>m/z</i> 407.221	6	<i>m/z</i> 226.0464	m/z	311.0814		<i>m/z</i> 279.0916		m/z 254.059)9
		+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-
Match mass tolerance	± 1 ppm	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	± 10 ppmª	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
	± 50 ppm	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
Expansion values for	± 10 ppmª	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
chromatogram	± 50 ppm	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0
extraction	± 500 ppm	0	1	0	4	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	4
Isotope abundance	60%ª	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
score	100%	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
Peak filter absolute	100 counts	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
high	200 counts ^a	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
	1000 counts	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
Spectra to include	> 1% of peak height	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
average scans	> 10% of peak height ^a	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
														117	

Table 4.2. Number of false positives (+) and false negatives (-) for each compound in samples from group A.

	> 30% of peak height	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	At apex of peak	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Exclude TOF spectra	> 20% saturation ^a	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
	> 40% saturation	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
	Unselected	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
Post-processing filter	≥ 200 counts ^a	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
absolute height	≥ 1000 counts	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
	≥ 2500 counts	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0

^aInitial conditions of the test.

		Tylosin A		Tylosin A Tylosin B		Lincomycin		Furazolidone	Sulf	adimethoxin	е	Sulfamethazine	е	Sulfametho	cazole
		<i>m/z</i> 916	.5270	m/z 772.4	4483	m/z 407.221	6	<i>m/z</i> 226.0464	m/z	311.0814		<i>m/z</i> 279.0916		<i>m/z</i> 254.059	9
		+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-
Match mass	± 1 ppm	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
tolerance	± 10 ppm ^a	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	± 50 ppm	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
Expansion values	± 10 ppmª	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
for chromatogram	± 50 ppm	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0
extraction	± 500 ppm	0	1	0	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4
Isotope abundance	60%ª	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
score	100%	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
Peak filter absolute	100 counts	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
high	200 counts ^a	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	1000 counts	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
Spectra to include	> 1% of peak height	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
average scans	> 10% of peak height ^a	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
														119	

Table 4.3. Number of false positives (+) and false negatives (-) with scores above 70% for each compound in samples from group B.

	> 30% of peak height	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	At apex of peak	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Exclude TOF	> 20% saturation ^a	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
spectra	> 40% saturation	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
	Unselected	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
Post-processing	≥ 200 counts ^a	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
filter absolute	≥ 1000 counts	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
height	≥ 2500 counts	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0

^aInitial conditions of the test.

		Tylosin A		Tylosin B		Lincomycin	F	urazolidone	Sulf	adimethoxine	Su	ulfamethazine	;	Sulfamethoxazole		
		<i>m/z</i> 916	.5270	m/z 772.4	1483	<i>m/z</i> 407.2216	n	n/z 226.0464	m/z	2 311.0814	m,	/z 279.0916		m/z 254.0599)	
		+	-	+	-	+	-	+	-	+ ·		+	-	+	-	
Match mass	± 1 ppm	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0)	0	0	0	0	
tolerance	± 10 ppmª	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0)	0	0	0	0	
	± 50 ppm	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 ()	0	0	0	0	
Expansion values	± 10 ppm ^a	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 ()	0	0	0	0	
for chromatogram	± 50 ppm	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	L	0	0	0	0	
extraction	± 500 ppm	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 ()	0	0	0	1	
Isotope abundance	60%ª	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 ()	0	0	0	0	
score	100%	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 ()	0	0	0	0	
Peak filter absolute	100 counts	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 ()	0	0	0	0	
high	200 counts ^a	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0)	0	0	0	0	
	1000 counts	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 ()	0	0	0	0	
Spectra to include	> 1% of peak height	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 ()	0	0	0	0	
average scans	> 10% of peak height ^a	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 ()	0	0	0	0	
														101		

Table 4.4. Number of false positives (+) and false negatives (-) with scores above 70% for each compound in samples from group C.

	> 30% of peak height	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	At apex of peak	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Exclude TOF	> 20% saturation ^a	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
spectra	> 40% saturation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Unselected	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Post-processing	≥ 200 counts ^a	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
filter absolute	≥ 1000 counts	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
height	≥ 2500 counts	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

^aInitial conditions of the test.

Test	Comulas	Total	% of all	% of all				
group	Samples	identifications	identifications being	identifications being				
Broup	bei Bionb	achtheations	false positives	false negatives				
А	20	140	0	32.1				
В	60	420	0	6.9				
С	60	420	0	0.5				

Table 4.5. Summary of the rate (%) of false positives and false negatives compared to the total number of identifications for all the compounds and all the samples for each test group.

4.4.2 Screening of veterinary drugs and other contaminants in actual honey samples

Forty-three compounds were included in the library of honey-related compounds to screen 55 honey samples collected in Canada. Eight compounds were tentatively identified in at least one sample with a score above 70% and with an intensity above the mean + 3σ of the blank signals (**Table 4.6**). All lons MS/MS data were compared to MS/MS fragmentation information from the literature or from database to investigate the identity of these 8 compounds. Among the compounds with spectral information in the database (i. e. carvone, metolcarb, thiacloprid and tylosin A), only tylosin A presented MS/MS spectra similar to those in the library. With regards to the remaining four compounds (i.e. HMF, nitenpyram, piperonyl butoxide and rolitetracycline), only HMF was found to match the spectra reported in the literature [44-47].

Table 4.6. List of compounds from the library of honey-related products identified by the nontargeted workflow in at least one honey sample collected in Canada. Information is provided for each compound on the number of samples in which the compound was detected, the average score for each compound and whether the compounds had similar MS/MS to those reported in the literature or in the database.

Compound	Samples	Score	Similar MS/MS
Carvone	3	99	No
HMF	21	100	Yes
Metolcarb	41	99.9	No
Nitenpyram	1	82.4	No
Piperonyl butoxide	9	94.1	No
Rolitetracycline	2	96.3	No
Thiacloprid	1	76	No
Tylosin A	1	92.2	Yes

The identity of tylosin A and HMF was further confirmed using analytical standards according to the IPs system established by the 2002/657/EC European Commission Decision [13]. Details on the identification of both compounds are presented in **Table 4.7**. For tylosin A, a total of 4 IPs was earned from MS1 and MS2 and the error of the measured MS2/MS1 was 1%, confirming the identity of this compound with the maximum level of confidence. Regarding HMF, a total of 4 IPs was earned from MS1 and MS2 and the error of the measure MS2/MS1 was 10 ± 8%, confirming the identity of this compound with the maximum level of confidence. Additionally, in both cases the difference in retention time between the compound in honey and the analytical standard was below 0.3 min. Visual comparisons of the retention time and MS/MS spectra between the honey samples and standards for tylosin A and HMF are presented in **Figures 4.2** and **4.3**.

	Tylosin A (n=1)	HMF (n=21)
	MS1 (0 V): <i>m/z</i> 916.5270	MS1 (0 V): <i>m/z</i> 127.0395
	MS2 (40 V): <i>m/z</i> 772.4483	MS2 (10 V): <i>m/z</i> 109.0289
Mass error of MS1	< 2 mDa	< 2 mDa
IPs earned for MS1	2	2
Mass error of MS2	< 2 mDa	< 2 mDa
IPs earned for MS2	2	2
Total IPs earned	4	4
MS2/MS1 sample	0.411	1.099 ± 0.122
MS2/MS1 standard	0.406	1.015
Error in the measured ratio	1%	10 ± 8%
Maximum permitted tolerance	± 25%	± 20%
CONFIRMED?	YES	YES

 Table 4.7. Identification of tylosin A and HMF following the IPs system established by the

 2002/657/EC European Commission Decision.

Tylosin A and HMF are both commonly detected in honey. Tylosin A is a macrolide antibiotic approved for example by the US Food and Drug Administration for emergency use in the control of American foulbrood (AFB) of honey bees, the most virulent disease known to affect these animals [48]. The CFIA, in their 2013-2014 National Chemical Residue Monitoring Program report, detected tylosin in up to 10.05% of the tested domestic honeys and 6.10% of honeys imported to Canada [36]. HMF is a heat-induced contaminant formed as a product of the Maillard reaction occurring in many food commodities, such as bread or baked goods [49]. In honey, this compound can be formed when honey is submitted to heat treatments, such as pasteurization, or a long storage time [50]. For this reason, HMF is commonly used as a quality indicator in honey [51]. In addition, HMF can be formed in food commodities even at low temperatures in acidic conditions, such as the case of honey [52].



Figure 4.2. Extracted chromatograms and MS spectra (collision energy=40 V) of tylosin A obtained through All-Ions MS/MS in a 20 ng mL-1 standard solution in methanol (A) and in the honey sample where it was identified (B).



Figure 4.3. Extracted chromatograms and MS spectra (collision energy=0 V) of HMF obtained through All-Ions MS/MS in a 10 μ g mL-1 standard solution in water (A) and in one of the honey samples where it was identified (B).

4.5 CONCLUSIONS

The impact of the match mass tolerance, the mass extraction window, the isotope abundance score, the peak filter absolute height, the average of spectra included, the exclusion of TOF spectra and the post-processing peak filters on the correct identification of seven veterinary drug residues (model trace residues) in honey was assessed. Among these 7 parameters, the expansion window for chromatogram extraction and the average scans included in the spectra influenced significantly the identification results. Based on the present comprehensive study of the influence of each parameter and a review of values reported in the literature, the following optimized conditions were selected: match mass tolerance of ± 5 ppm, an expansion value for chromatogram extraction of ± 10 ppm, an isotope abundance score of 60%, a peak filter absolute height of 200 counts, the spectra being recorded only at the apex of the peak and a post processing peak filter absolute height of 1000 counts.

This optimized method was used to screen 55 honey samples from the Canadian market using a library of 43 honey-related compounds, including veterinary drugs, pesticides and other contaminants. Eight compounds were tentatively identified in at least one sample with a score above 70% and with an intensity significantly above the blanks. Among these compounds, tylosin A and hydroxymethylfurfural were further identified using analytical standards. The results of this study show that post-acquisition data treatment parameters can affect the identification of trace contaminants in food such as honey. Since the presence of chemical residues in food products is a matter of concern for public health, a systematic assessment of post-acquisition data treatment parameters applying non-targeted workflows to the identification of trace contaminants in food matrices.

4.6 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We wish to acknowledge the technical support received from Jerry Zweigenbaum and Jean-François Roy from Agilent Technologies, and the financial support from the Fonds de recherche du Québec – Nature et Technologies (FRQNT) research grant (FRQ-NT NC-198270) and the Canada Foundation for Innovation / John R. Evans Leaders Fund grant (Project #35318) of S. Bayen.

4.7 **REFERENCES**

M. Krauss, H. Singer, J. Hollender, LC-high resolution MS in environmental analysis: from target screening to the identification of unknowns, Anal. Bioanal. Chem., 397 (2010) 943-951.
 C.B. Mollerup, P.W. Dalsgaard, M. Mardal, K. Linnet, Targeted and non-targeted drug screening in whole blood by UHPLC-TOF-MS with data-independent acquisition, Drug Test. Anal., 9 (2017) 1052-1061.

[3] J.F. Garcia-Reyes, M.D. Hernando, A. Molina-Diaz, A.R. Fernandez-Alba, Comprehensive screening of target, non-target and unknown pesticides in food by LC-TOF-MS, Trac-Trend. Anal. Chem., 26 (2007) 828-841.

[4] R. Diaz, M. Ibanez, J.V. Sancho, F. Hernandez, Target and non-target screening strategies for organic contaminants, residues and illicit substances in food, environmental and human biological samples by UHPLC-QTOF-MS, Anal. Methods, 4 (2012) 196-209.

[5] C. Baduel, J.F. Mueller, H.H. Tsai, M.J.G. Ramos, Development of sample extraction and cleanup strategies for target and non-target analysis of environmental contaminants in biological matrices, J. Chromatogr. A, 1426 (2015) 33-47.

[6] B. Khakimov, G. Gurdeniz, S.B. Engelsen, Trends in the application of chemometrics to foodomics studies, Acta Aliment., 44 (2015) 4-31.

[7] O. Malato, A. Lozano, M. Mezcua, A. Aguera, A.R. Fernandez-Alba, Benefits and pitfalls of the application of screening methods for the analysis of pesticide residues in fruits and vegetables, J. Chromatogr. A, 1218 (2011) 7615-7626.

[8] A.M. Knolhoff, J.A. Zweigenbaum, T.R. Croley, Nontargeted screening of food matrices: development of a chemometric software strategy to identify unknowns in liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry data, Anal. Chem., 88 (2016) 3617-3623.

[9] A.M. Knolhoff, J.H. Callahan, T.R. Croley, Mass Accuracy and Isotopic Abundance Measurements for HR-MS Instrumentation: Capabilities for Non-Targeted Analyses, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectr., 25 (2014) 1285-1294.

[10] T. Kind, O. Fiehn, Seven Golden Rules for heuristic filtering of molecular formulas obtained by accurate mass spectrometry, BMC Bioinformatics, 8 (2007) 20.

[11] E. Hakme, A. Lozano, M.M. Gomez-Ramos, M.D. Hernando, A.R. Fernandez-Alba, Non-target evaluation of contaminants in honey bees and pollen samples by gas chromatography time-of-flight mass spectrometry, Chemosphere, 184 (2017) 1310-1319.

[12] S. Herrera-Lopez, M.D. Hernando, E. Garcia-Calvo, A.R. Fernandez-Alba, M.M. Ulaszewska, Simultaneous screening of targeted and non-targeted contaminants using an LC-QTOF-MS system and automated MS/MS library searching, J. Mass Spectr., 49 (2014) 878-893.

[13] Commission Regulation of 12 August 2002 implementing Council Directive 96/23/EC concerning the performance of analytical methods and the interpretation of results (2002/657/EC), Official Journal of the European Union, (2002) 8-36.

[14] A.A.M. Stolker, R.W. Stephany, L.A. van Ginkel, Identification of residues by LC-MS. The application of new EU guidelines, Analusis, 28 (2000) 947-951.

[15] S. Kim, X. Zhang, Discovery of false identification using similarity difference in GC-MS-based metabolomics, J. Chemometr., 29 (2015) 80-86.

[16] H.C. Bi, K.W. Krausz, S.K. Manna, F. Li, C.H. Johnson, F.J. Gonzalez, Optimization of harvesting, extraction, and analytical protocols for UPLC-ESI-MS-based metabolomic analysis of adherent mammalian cancer cells, Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 405 (2013) 5279-5289.

[17] M. Mezcua, O. Malato, M.A. Martinez-Uroz, A. Lozano, A. Aguera, A.R. Fernandez-Alba, Evaluation of Relevant Time-of-Flight-MS Parameters Used in HPLC/MS Full-Scan Screening Methods for Pesticide Residues, J. AOAC Int., 94 (2011) 1674-1684.

[18] M. Mezcua, O. Malato, J.F. Garcia-Reyes, A. Molina-Diaz, A.R. Fernandez-Alba, Accurate-Mass Databases for Comprehensive Screening of Pesticide Residues in Food by Fast Liquid Chromatography Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry, Anal. Chem., 81 (2009) 913-929.

[19] T. Cajka, O. Fiehn, Toward Merging Untargeted and Targeted Methods in Mass Spectrometry-Based Metabolomics and Lipidomics, Anal. Chem., 88 (2016) 524-545.

[20] L. Tian, L. Lin, S. Bayen, Optimization of the post-acquisition data processing for the nontargeted screening of trace leachable residues from reusable plastic bottles by high performance liquid chromatography coupled to hybrid quadrupole time of flight mass spectrometry, Talanta, 193 (2019) 70-76.

[21] D. Orso, L. Floriano, L.C. Ribeiro, N.M.G. Bandeira, O.D. Prestes, R. Zanella, Simultaneous determination of multiclass pesticides and antibiotics in honey samples based on ultra-high performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry, Food Anal. Meth., 9 (2016) 1638-1653.

[22] J. Al-Alam, Z. Fajloun, A. Chbani, M. Millet, A multiresidue method for the analysis of 90 pesticides, 16 PAHs, and 22 PCBs in honey using QuEChERS-SPME, Anal. Bioanal. Chem., 409 (2017) 5157-5169.

[23] V. Lo Turco, G. Di Bella, A.G. Potorti, A. Tropea, E.K. Casale, M.R. Fede, G. Dugo, Determination of plasticisers and BPA in Sicilian and Calabrian nectar honeys by selected ion monitoring GC/MS, Food Addit. Contam. Part A-Chem., 33 (2016) 1693-1699.

[24] F.M. Malhat, M.N. Haggag, N.M. Loutfy, M.A.M. Osman, M.T. Ahmed, Residues of organochlorine and synthetic pyrethroid pesticides in honey, an indicator of ambient environment, a pilot study, Chemosphere, 120 (2015) 457-461.

[25] A. von Eyken, D. Furlong, S. Arooni, F. Butterworth, J.F. Roy, J. Zweigenbaum, S. Bayen, Direct injection high performance liquid chromatography coupled to data independent acquisition mass

spectrometry for the screening of antibiotics in honey, Submitted to Journal of Food and Drug Analysis, (2018).

[26] Canadian General Standards Board, Organic production systems. General principles and management standards., National Standard of Canada, (2015).

[27] T. Sangster, H. Major, R. Plumb, A.J. Wilson, I.D. Wilson, A pragmatic and readily implemented quality control strategy for HPLC-MS and GC-MS-based metabonomic analysis, Analyst, 131 (2006) 1075-1078.

[28] Health Canada, List of Maximum Residue Limits (MRLs) for Veterinary Drugs in Foods, in, 2017.

[29] R. Fu, Selectivity comparison of Agilent Poroshell 120 phases in the separaton of butter antioxidants, Agilent Technologies Application Note, (2013).

[30] J.T. Zhou, Y.X. Yin, Strategies for large-scale targeted metabolomics quantification by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry, Analyst, 141 (2016) 6362-6373.

[31] T.R. Croley, K.D. White, J.H. Callahan, S.M. Musser, The chromatographic role in high resolution mass spectrometry for non-targeted analysis, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectr., 23 (2012) 1569-1578.

[32] P. Perez-Ortega, F.J. Lara-Ortega, B. Gilbert-Lopez, D. Moreno-Gonzalez, J.F. Garcia-Reyes, A. Molina-Diaz, Screening of Over 600 Pesticides, Veterinary Drugs, Food-Packaging Contaminants, Mycotoxins, and Other Chemicals in Food by Ultra-High Performance Liquid Chromatography Quadrupole Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry (UHPLC-QTOFMS), Food Anal. Method, 10 (2017) 1216-1244.

[33] Agilent Technologies, MassHunter Profinder Software B.08.00 User Manual, in, 2016.

[34] R.M.A. Sjerps, D. Vughs, J.A. van Leerdam, T.L. ter Laak, A.P. van Wezel, Data-driven prioritization of chemicals for various water types using suspect screening LC-HRMS, Water Res., 93 (2016) 254-264.

[35] L. Rajski, M.D. Gomez-Ramos, A.R. Fernandez-Alba, Simultaneous combination of MS2 workflows for pesticide multiresidue analysis with LC-QOrbitrap, Anal. Methods, 9 (2017) 2256-2264.

[36] Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), National Chemical Residue Monitoring Program. 2013-2014 Report, (2013-2014).

[37] E.L. Schymanski, J. Jeon, R. Gulde, K. Fenner, M. Ruff, H.P. Singer, J. Hollender, Identifying Small Molecules via High Resolution Mass Spectrometry: Communicating Confidence, Environmental Science & Technology, 48 (2014) 2097-2098.

[38] Council Directive 96/23/EC of 29 April 1996 on measures to monitor certain substances and residues thereof in live animals and animal products and repealing Directives 85/358/EEC and 86/469/EEC and Decisions 89/187/EEC and 91/664/EEC, Official Journal of the European Union,, (1996) 10-32.

[39] I. Ferrer, E.M. Thurman, Liquid chromatography/time-of-flight/mass spectrometry (LC/TOF/MS) for the analysis of emerging contaminants, Trac-Trend. Anal. Chem., 22 (2003) 750-756.

[40] F. Hernandez, M. Ibanez, J.V. Sancho, O.J. Pozo, Comparison of different mass spectrometric techniques combined with liquid chromatography for confirmation of pesticides in environmental water based on the use of identification points, Anal. Chem., 76 (2004) 4349-4357.
[41] A.L. Heffernan, M.M. Gomez-Ramos, C. Gaus, S. Vijayasarathy, I. Bell, C. Hof, J.F. Mueller, M.J. Gomez-Ramos, Non-targeted, high resolution mass spectrometry strategy for simultaneous monitoring of xenobiotics and endogenous compounds in green sea turtles on the Great Barrier Reef, Sci. Total Environ., 599 (2017) 1251-1262.

[42] M.E. Dasenaki, A.A. Bletsou, G.A. Koulis, N.S. Thomaidis, Qualitative Multiresidue Screening Method for 143 Veterinary Drugs and Pharmaceuticals in Milk and Fish Tissue Using Liquid Chromatography Quadrupole-Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry, J. Agric. Food Chem., 63 (2015) 4493-4508.

[43] Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), National Chemical Residue Monitoring Program. 2012-2013 Report, (2012-2013).

[44] D. Tomasini, M.R.F. Sampaio, S.S. Caldas, J.G. Buffon, F.A. Duarte, E.G. Primel, Simultaneous determination of pesticides and 5-hydroxymethylfurfural in honey by the modified QuEChERS

method and liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry, Talanta, 99 (2012) 380-386.

[45] D. Lucas, Optimizing sample preparation for LC/MS/MS of pesticide residues in herbal teas, Agilent Technologies Application Note, (2013).

[46] A. Gajda, A. Posyniak, Liquid chromatography - tandem mass spectrometry method for the determination of ten tetracycline residues in muscle samples, Bull. Vet. Inst. Pulawy, 59 (2015) 345-352.

[47] H. Horai, M. Arita, S. Kanaya, Y. Nihei, T. Ikeda, K. Suwa, Y. Ojima, K. Tanaka, S. Tanaka, K. Aoshima, Y. Oda, Y. Kakazu, M. Kusano, T. Tohge, F. Matsuda, Y. Sawada, M.Y. Hirai, H. Nakanishi, K. Ikeda, N. Akimoto, T. Maoka, H. Takahashi, T. Ara, N. Sakurai, H. Suzuki, D. Shibata, S. Neumann, T. Iida, K. Tanaka, K. Funatsu, F. Matsuura, T. Soga, R. Taguchi, K. Saito, T. Nishioka, MassBank: a public repository for sharing mass spectral data for life sciences, J. Mass Spectr., 45 (2010) 703-714.

[48] W. Reybroeck, E. Daeseleire, H.F. De Brabander, L. Herman, Antimicrobials in beekeeping, Vet. Microbiol., 158 (2012) 1-11.

[49] E. Capuano, V. Fogliano, Acrylamide and 5-hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF): A review on metabolism, toxicity, occurrence in food and mitigation strategies, LWT-Food Sci. Technol., 44 (2011) 793-810.

[50] F. Tornuk, S. Karaman, I. Ozturk, O.S. Toker, B. Tastemur, O. Sagdic, M. Dogan, A. Kayacier, Quality characterization of artisanal and retail Turkish blossom honeys: Determination of physicochemical, microbiological, bioactive properties and aroma profile, Ind. Crop. Prod., 46 (2013) 124-131.

[51] P.M. da Silva, C. Gauche, L.V. Gonzaga, A.C.O. Costa, R. Fett, Honey: Chemical composition, stability and authenticity, Food Chem., 196 (2016) 309-323.

[52] H.S. Lee, S. Nagy, Relative reactivities of sugars in the formation of 5-hydroxymethyl furfural in sugar-catalyst model systems, J. Food Process. Pres., 14 (1990) 171-178.

4.8 SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

List of parameters

- Match tolerance mass: this parameter represents the maximum mass error between the measured m/z and the m/z of the putative match in the database. It is based on an abundance weighted average of the mass errors for each of the ions recorded [1]. The initial value was set to ±10 ppm, and two additional tolerances of ±1 and ±50 ppm were tested.
- Expansion values for chromatogram extraction: this parameter corresponds to the m/z extraction window used during the feature extraction. The initial extraction window was set to ± 50 ppm (symmetric), therefore in the same order of what has been reported by other authors [2]. In a previous study using a targeted approach with the same compounds in honey, an extraction window of ± 10 ppm was found to yield the best results, so this extraction window was also tested in the present study [3]. An extreme extraction window of ± 500 ppm was also evaluated in order to assess the impact of this parameter when using an extreme case.
- Isotope abundance score: this parameter represents the weight given to the isotope abundance score on the total score calculation. The total score reflects the probability that a feature being correctly identified as a specific compound, being a score of 100% a perfect fit [4]. It is calculated as the average of four components: the mass match score, the isotope abundance score, the isotope spacing score and the retention time score [1]. Because isotopic pattern matching generally plays an important role on the identification of compounds, the effect of the isotope abundance score was evaluated in the present study [5]. To do so, a value of 60% was initially selected by default by the software, and a value of 100% was also tested.
- *Peak filter absolute height*: this parameter limits the number of peaks extracted based on their absolute height. The specification of a minimum height will reduce the likelihood of

small peaks or noise being detected and incorrectly assigned to a compound. This filter is typically set to 200 counts just as a threshold for the background or chemical noise [6]. Thus, the initial value was set to 200 counts, and two additional filters were tested: 100 and 1000 counts.

- Spectra to include average scans: this parameter defines which spectra are extracted for each peak in the chromatogram. It can either be the average of all spectra acquired within a specified percentage of the total height of the peak, or only the single spectrum recorded at the apex of the peak. When the latter option is selected, then the parameters corresponding to the TOF spectra are not available. At the beginning of the experiment, this parameter was set by default to extract the average of scans above 10% of the peak height. Subsequently, the extractions at above 1 and 30% of the peak height as well as the extraction of spectrum at the apex of the peak were tested.
- Exclude TOF spectra if above: during the extraction of spectra for each peak, this
 parameter excludes from the calculation of the average those peaks whose intensity is
 above a given percentage of the saturation of the detector. High ion counts, causing
 saturation of the detector, can result in a higher mass measurement error [7]. An option
 is offered in the MassHunter software to exclude TOF spectra above a given percentage
 of the saturation of the detector in order to minimize these effects [4]. This value was
 initially set by default at "20% of saturation", and a value of "40% of saturation" was also
 tested. The omission of this option, which would result in no exclusion of any TOF spectra
 and, thus, the inclusion of all TOF spectra for the identification, was also tested.
- Post-processing filter absolute height: as part of the filters that can be used in processing the compound groups, this filter sets the requirement of a minimum absolute peak height to include the compound as found. The initial value was set to ≥ 200 counts, and two additional values of ≥ 1000 and ≥ 2500 counts were tested.

Table S4.1. List of compounds included in the library along with their description and relationwith honey.

Compound	Description
Acetamiprid	Neonicotinoid insecticide [8]. Found in Austrian honeys at concentrations
	between < 0.6 and 15.2 μg kg-1 [8].
Amitraz	Pesticide used in Canada for the control of parasitic varroa mites for honey
	bees [9]. Found in Canada in 21.32% of domestic honeys and 43.24% of
	imported honeys, at concentrations between 0.00200 and 0.06280 μg g-1 [9].
Ampicillin	Veterinary drug used for the control of American foulbrood (AFB) [10]. Found
	in Canada in 1 imported honey in 2013 at a concentration of 0.00010 μg g-1
	[11].
Bacitracin	Veterinary drug used for the control of AFB [12].
Bifenthrin	Pyrethroid insecticide found in wax, pollen and bee bodies in North American
	hives [13]. In honey, it was found in Canada in 2013 at a concentration of
	0.00200 μg g-1 [11].
Carbendazim	Fungicide extensively used to control various leaf and fruit pests [14]. Found in
	Canada in less than 5% of domestic and imported honeys at concentrations
	between 0.01220 and 0.01290 μg g-1 [9]
Carvone	Natural component of essential oils used to treat AFB [15].
Chloramphenicol	Veterinary drug used in the past for the control of AFB [16]. Banned in Canada
	for use in any food producing animal [17]. Found in honey samples in Ukraine
	at concentrations between 0.2 and 2.2 μg kg-1 [18].
Chlortetracycline	Broad-spectrum veterinary drug used in honey bees [19].
4-epi-chlortetracycline	Broad-spectrum veterinary drug used in honey bees [19].
Ciprofloxacin	Veterinary drug used as a prophylaxis for bee diseases [19]. Found in Canada
	in 7 imported honeys in 2014 at concentrations between 0.00267 and 0.00110
	μg g-1 [9].

Clothianidin	Neonicotinoid insecticide found in Egypt in pollen and bees at concentrations
	of 4.53 and 0.06-10.38 ng g-1, respectively [20].
Coumaphos	Acaricide used to control varroatosis ascospherosis in hives [21]. Found in
	Canada in less than 5% of domestic and imported honeys in 2014 at
	concentrations between 0.00430 and 0.01500 μg g-1 [9].
Cyprodinil	Fungicide found in Canada in 3 domestic honeys in 2013 at concentrations
	between 0.00230 and 0.00920 μg g-1 [11]
Diethyltoluamide (DEET)	Widely used insect repellent found in honeybee wax combs in Belgium [22].
Dimetridazole	Used to prevent and control Nosema apis in honey bees [23]. Banned in Canada
	for use in any food producing animal [17]. It has been reported that it can
	migrate from the wax to the honey [24].
Erythromycin A	Veterinary drug used for the treatment of AFB [12]. Found in honey in China at
	a concentration of up to 14.9 ng g-1 [25].
Fludioxonil	Pesticide found in Canada in 3 domestic honeys in 2013 at concentrations
	between 0.00280 and 0.01480 μg g-1 [11].
Fumagillin	Veterinary drug used to prevent and control nosemosis [19]. Found in Canada
	in 24.37% of domestic honeys and 1.22% of imported honeys in 2014 at
	concentrations between 0.00110 and 34.00000 μg g-1 [9].
Furazolidone	Veterinary drug used to treat several bacterial diseases in bees [26].
Hydroxymethylfurfural	Heat-induced contaminant formed as a product of the Maillard Reaction
(HMF)	occurring in many food commodities, such as bread or baked goods [27]. Used
	as indicator of quality of honey [28].
Imidacloprid	Neonicotinoid insecticide [8]. Found in honey in France at concentrations
	between <0.3 and 21.8 μg kg-1 [29]
Iprodione	Pesticide found in Canada in 6.95% of domestic honeys in 2014 at
	concentrations between 0.00630 and 0.05500 μg g-1 [9].
Lincomycin	Veterinary drug used to control AFB [19].

Metolcarb	Insecticide that has been extensively used to control rice leafhoppers, plant
	hoppers and fruit flies in agricultural production [30]. It has not been reported
	in honey, but in other food matrices such as fruits and vegetables [31].
Metronidazole	Used to prevent and control Nosema apis in honey bees [23]. Banned in Canada
	for use in any food producing animal [17]. Found in honeys in China at
	concentrations between <0.64 and 66.95 μg kg-1 [32].
Nitenpyram	Neonicotinoid insecticide found to be <5 μ g kg-1 in 41 Austrian honey samples
	[8].
Norfloxacin	Veterinary drug used as a prophylaxis for bee diseases [19].
Oxytetracycline	Veterinary drug used for the control of AFB and European foulbrood (EFB) [33,
	34]. Found in Canada in 13.55% of domestic honeys in 2014 at concentrations
	between 0.00050 and 0.02930 μg g-1 [9].
trans/cis-Permethrin	Pesticide found in Canada in less than 5% of domestic honeys in 2014 at
	concentrations of 0.00420 and 0.00540 μg g-1 for cis- and trans-permethrin,
	respectively [9].
Piperonyl butoxide	Pesticide found in Canada in less than 5% of imported honeys in 2014 at
	concentrations between 0.00330 and 0.02900 μg g-1 [9].
Propoxur	Pesticide found in Canada in 1 domestic honey in 2013 at a concentration of
	0.00900 μg g-1 [11].
Rolitetracycline	Veterinary drug used for the control of AFB and European foulbrood (EFB) [33,
	34].
Ronidazole	Used to prevent and control Nosema apis in honey bees [23]. Banned in Canada
	for use in any food producing animal [17]. It has been reported that it can
	migrate from the wax to the honey [24].
Streptomycin	Veterinary drug used to protect bees against a variety of brood diseases [19].
Sulfadimethoxine	Veterinary drug used for the control of different bacterial and protozoal
	diseases in bees [19]. Found in Canada in 4.35% of imported honeys in 2013 at
	concentrations between 0.01280 and 0.19200 μg g-1 [11]

Sulfamethazine	Veterinary drug used for the control of different bacterial and protozoal
	diseases in bees [19]. Found in Canada in 1 imported honey in 2013 at a
	concentration of 0.44800 μg g-1 [11]
Sulfamethoxazole	Veterinary drug used for the control of different bacterial and protozoal
	diseases in bees [19]. Found in Canada in 1 imported honey sample in 2014 at
	a concentration of 0.66500 μg g-1 [9].
Thiacloprid	Neonicotinoid insecticide found in Austrian honeys at concentrations between
	<0.6 and 27.4 µg kg-1 [8].
Thiamethoxam	Neonicotinoid insecticide found in Austrian honeys at concentrations <2 μg kg-
	1 [8].
Tinidazole	Used to prevent and control Nosema apis in honey bees [23]. Banned in Canada
	for use in any food producing animal [17].
Tylosin A	Veterinary drug used for the control of AFB [35]. Found in Canada in 10.05% of
	domestic honeys and 6.10% of imported honeys in 2014 at concentrations
	between 0.00106 and 0.18000 μg g-1 [9].
Tylosin B	Main degradation compound of tylosin A [36]. Found in Canada in 19.74% of
	domestic honeys and 14.71% of imported honeys in 2014 at concentrations

4.9 SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REFERENCES

[1] Agilent Technologies, MassHunter Profinder Software B.08.00 User Manual, in, 2016.

[2] R. Tautenhahn, C. Bottcher, S. Neumann, Highly sensitive feature detection for high resolution LC/MS, BMC Bioinformatics, 9 (2008) 16.

[3] A. von Eyken, D. Furlong, S. Arooni, F. Butterworth, J.F. Roy, J. Zweigenbaum, S. Bayen, Direct injection high performance liquid chromatography coupled to data independent acquisition mass

spectrometry for the screening of antibiotics in honey, Submitted to Journal of Food and Drug Analysis, (2018).

[4] A.M. Knolhoff, J.A. Zweigenbaum, T.R. Croley, Nontargeted screening of food matrices: development of a chemometric software strategy to identify unknowns in liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry data, Anal. Chem., 88 (2016) 3617-3623.

[5] R.M.A. Sjerps, D. Vughs, J.A. van Leerdam, T.L. ter Laak, A.P. van Wezel, Data-driven prioritization of chemicals for various water types using suspect screening LC-HRMS, Water Res., 93 (2016) 254-264.

[6] M. Mezcua, O. Malato, J.F. Garcia-Reyes, A. Molina-Diaz, A.R. Fernandez-Alba, Accurate-Mass Databases for Comprehensive Screening of Pesticide Residues in Food by Fast Liquid Chromatography Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry, Anal. Chem., 81 (2009) 913-929.

[7] T. Bristow, J. Constantine, M. Harrison, F. Cavoit, Performance optimisation of a newgeneration orthogonal-acceleration quadrupole-time-of-flight mass spectrometer, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom., 22 (2008) 1213-1222.

[8] G. Tanner, C. Czerwenka, LC-MS/MS Analysis of Neonicotinoid Insecticides in Honey: Methodology and Residue Findings in Austrian Honeys, J. Agric. Food Chem., 59 (2011) 12271-12277.

[9] Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), National Chemical Residue Monitoring Program. 2013-2014 Report, (2013-2014).

[10] A. Okayama, T. Sakogawa, C. Nakajima, T. Hayama, Biological properties and antibiotic susceptibility of Bacillus larvae originated from American foulbrood of honeybee in Japan, J. Vet. Med. Sci., 58 (1996) 439-441.

[11] Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), National Chemical Residue Monitoring Program.2012-2013 Report, (2012-2013).

[12] M. Machova, Variations de la sensibilité aux antibiotiques souches de *Bacillus larvae*, Bulletin Apiculture, 13 (1970) 5-11.

[13] L.H. Liao, W.Y. Wu, M.R. Berenbaum, Impacts of Dietary Phytochemicals in the Presence and Absence of Pesticides on Longevity of Honey Bees (Apis mellifera), Insects, 8 (2017) 13.

[14] H. Irth, G.J. Dejong, R.W. Frei, U.A.T. Brinkman, Determination of dithiocarbamates in residues by liquid-chromatography with selective precolumn or reaction-detection systems, International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry, 39 (1990) 129-139.

[15] M.C. Pellegrini, R.M. Alonso-Salces, M.L. Umpierrez, C. Rossini, S.R. Fuselli, Chemical Composition, Antimicrobial Activity, and Mode of Action of Essential Oils against Paenibacillus larvae, Etiological Agent of American Foulbrood on Apis mellifera, Chem. Biodivers., 14 (2017) 18.

[16] D. Ortelli, P. Edder, C. Corvi, Analysis of chloramphenicol residues in honey by liquid chromatography - Tandem mass spectrometry, Chromatographia, 59 (2004) 61-64.

[17] Food and drug regulations, in: C.R.C. (Ed.) c. 870, 2018.

[18] D. Yanovych, B. Berendsen, Z. Zasadna, M. Rydchuk, T. Czymai, A study of the origin of chloramphenicol isomers in honey, Drug Testing and Analysis, 10 (2018) 416-422.

[19] W. Reybroeck, E. Daeseleire, H.F. De Brabander, L. Herman, Antimicrobials in beekeeping, Vet. Microbiol., 158 (2012) 1-11.

[20] G. Codling, Y. Al Naggar, J.P. Giesy, A.J. Robertson, Neonicotinoid insecticides in pollen, honey and adult bees in colonies of the European honey bee (Apis mellifera L.) in Egypt, Ecotoxicology, 27 (2018) 122-131.

[21] W. Zheng, J.A. Park, A.M. Abd El-Aty, S.K. Kim, S.H. Cho, J.M. Choi, H. Yi, S.M. Cho, A. Ramadan, J.H. Jeong, J.H. Shim, H.C. Shin, Development and validation of modified QuEChERS method coupled with LC-MS/MS for simultaneous determination of cymiazole, fipronil, coumaphos, fluvalinate, amitraz, and its metabolite in various types of honey and royal jelly, Journal of Chromatography B-Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences, 1072 (2018) 60-69.

[22] J. Ravoet, W. Reybroeck, D.C. de Graaf, Pesticides for Apicultural and/or Agricultural Application Found in Belgian Honey Bee Wax Combs, Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol., 94 (2015) 543-548.

[23] J.H. Zhou, J.Z. Shen, X.F. Xue, J. Zhao, Y. Li, J.Z. Zhang, S.X. Zhang, Simultaneous determination of nitroimidazole residues in honey samples by high-performance liquid chromatography with ultraviolet detection, Journal of Aoac International, 90 (2007) 872-878.

[24] K. Mitrowska, M. Antczak, Transfer of nitroimidazoles from contaminated beeswax to honey,
 Food Additives and Contaminants Part a-Chemistry Analysis Control Exposure & Risk Assessment,
 34 (2017) 573-581.

[25] L.W. Zhao, W.R. Cao, X.F. Xue, M. Wang, L.M. Wu, L.S. Yu, Occurrence of erythromycin and its degradation products residues in honey. Validation of an analytical method, J. Sep. Sci., 40 (2017) 1353-1360.

[26] S.P. Khong, E. Gremaud, J. Richoz, T. Delatour, P.A. Guy, R.H. Stadler, P. Mottier, Analysis of matrix-bound nitrofuran residues in worldwide-originated honeys by isotope dilution high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry, J. Agric. Food Chem., 52 (2004) 5309-5315.

[27] E. Capuano, V. Fogliano, Acrylamide and 5-hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF): A review on metabolism, toxicity, occurrence in food and mitigation strategies, LWT-Food Sci. Technol., 44 (2011) 793-810.

[28] P.M. da Silva, C. Gauche, L.V. Gonzaga, A.C.O. Costa, R. Fett, Honey: Chemical composition, stability and authenticity, Food Chem., 196 (2016) 309-323.

[29] M.P. Chauzat, A.C. Martel, N. Cougoule, P. Porta, J. Lachaize, S. Zeggane, M. Aubert, P. Carpentier, J.P. Faucon, An assessment of honeybee colony matrices, *Apis mellifera* (Hymenoptera: Apidae) to monitor pesticide presence in continental France, Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, 30 (2011) 103-111.

[30] Y.K. Yang, Y.Y. Cao, X.M. Wang, G.Z. Fang, S. Wang, Prussian blue mediated amplification combined with signal enhancement of ordered mesoporous carbon for ultrasensitive and specific quantification of metolcarb by a three-dimensional molecularly imprinted electrochemical sensor, Biosens. Bioelectron., 64 (2015) 247-254.

[31] B. Kmellar, P. Fodor, L. Pareja, C. Ferrer, M.A. Martinez-Uroz, A. Valverde, A.R. Fernandez-Alba, Validation and uncertainty study of a comprehensive list of 160 pesticide residues in multi-

class vegetables by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry, J. Chromatogr. A, 1215 (2008) 37-50.

[32] H.Y. Lei, J.B. Guo, Z. Lv, X.H. Zhu, X.F. Xue, L.M. Wu, W. Cao, Simultaneous Determination of Nitroimidazoles and Quinolones in Honey by Modified QuEChERS and LC-MS/MS Analysis, Int. J. Anal. Chem., (2018) 12.

[33] M. Spivak, Preventative antibiotic treatments for honey bee colonies, American Bee Journal, 140 (2000) 867-868.

[34] H.M. Thompson, R.J. Waite, S. Wilkins, M.A. Brown, T. Bigwood, M. Shaw, C. Ridgway, M. Sharman, Effects of European foulbrood treatment regime on oxytetracycline levels in honey extracted from treated honeybee (Apis mellifera) colonies and toxicity to brood, Food Additives and Contaminants, 22 (2005) 573-578.

[35] Joint FAO/ WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA), Evaluation of certain veterinary drug residues in food. Seventieth report of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives, WHO Technical Report Series 954, (2008).

[36] J. Kochansky, Degradation of tylosin residues in honey, J. Apic. Res., 43 (2004) 65-68.

CONNECTING PARAGRAPH

A method for the non-targeted analysis of trace organic contaminants in honey was developed and validated in Chapters 3 and 4. This included the main three steps of the analysis workflow: sample preparation, instrumental analysis and data filtering. Chapter 5 continues the nontargeted workflow development with the discussion of different data treatment approaches for the non-targeted study of plastic-related contaminants in honey and comparison of honey samples sold in glass and plastic jars. This chapter will be submitted for publication in the Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry: A. von Eyken, S. Ramachandran, S. Bayen; *Suspected-target screening for the assessment of plastic-related chemicals in honey*.

CHAPTER 5: SUSPECTED-TARGET SCREENING FOR THE ASSESSMENT OF PLASTIC-

RELATED CHEMICALS IN HONEY
5.1 Abstract

Plastic-related compounds (PRCs) are commonly reported in a variety of foods as a result of the interaction between the food and the packaging material. PRCs include plastic monomers, additives and non-intentionally added substances (NIAS). These contaminants may affect the organoleptic properties of the food or represent a food safety hazard for the consumers. For this reason, the incorporation of such compounds into food contact materials is regulated in many countries. In the case of honey, a few studies have reported trace amounts of these compounds. However, a non-targeted approach capable of screening for PRCs in honey without being limited by the availability of standards has not been reported to date. The aim of this study was to apply a previously developed non-targeted method to screen PRCs in honey and investigate the differences among honey products sold in glass and plastic jars. A total of 662 putative compounds were detected and the identification of two of these compounds, namely 2ethyhexyladipate (DEHA) and tris (2-butoxyethyl) phosphate (TBOEP), was further confirmed with standards as proof-of-concept for the approach. Their concentrations and estimated daily intakes were calculated, resulting in a total of 0.001 and 0.006 µg.kg⁻¹bw.day⁻¹ for DEHA and TBOEP, respectively. This led to the conclusion that the levels of these two compounds in the honey samples from the present study were below the tolerable daily intake. With regards to the comparison of the chemical burden in honey samples sold in either glass or plastic jars, various data treatment approaches were used which resulted in different lists of relevant contaminants. As expected based on the low frequency of detection of the 662 PRCs found in honey, unique entity analysis with 100% detection and volcano plot with p<0.05 found none and 2 compounds, respectively. When applying a data treatment approach based on the differential frequency of detection, however, the number of relevant compounds increased to 13 in glass and 40 in plastic, among which 6 were unique to honey samples sold in plastic jars and 3 were unique to honey samples sold in glass jars. The different results obtained with the various data treatment approaches suggest that the relatively low frequency of contaminants in food needs to be accounted for when selecting the appropriate data treatment tool to compare groups of samples.

5.2 INTRODUCTION

Honey is a natural food containing mostly sugars but also other constituents such as enzymes, organic acids, amino acids, vitamins and minerals [1]. It is a natural sweetener that has a distinctive colour, aroma and flavour depending on the flowers, geographical regions, climate and honeybee species involved in the production [2, 3]. Honey, as any other food products, can be contaminated with a range of chemicals. Veterinary drugs have been detected in honey as residues of their use to protect the queen, workers, drones or the larvae from fungi, bacteria or viruses [4]. Acaricides, fungicides and insecticides are another class of residues commonly detected in honey for they are applied to control and protect the beehives from diseases such as verroatosis and ascospheriosis [5-7]. Indirect contamination of honey by pesticides can also happen because of extensive use and distribution of pesticides in the environment [8, 9].

Among the many classes of contaminants that have been tested in honey, plastic-related compounds (PRCs) are amidst the least reported so far. PRCs include plastic monomers, additives and non-intentionally added substances (NIAS). Plasticizers are additives that are added to plastic materials to make them softer, more pliable and thus increase their flexibility, workability and distensibility [10]. They are often esters of polycarboxylic acids with linear or branched aliphatic alcohols with moderate chain lengths [10]. Plasticizers do not form chemical bonds with the polymer matrix, and may freely move through the matrix, spacing the polymers apart, thus significantly reducing their glass transition temperature to improve plasticization [11]. This may result in a possible migration of plasticizers into the food in contact with the plastic material. Leachables may then affect the organoleptic properties of the food or represent a food safety hazard for the consumers [12, 13]. Other types of PRCs include compounds related to the packaging material such as surfactants, ink components and adhesives from labels, and also compounds from other sources such as environmental and food processing contaminants.

Plasticizers and additives are regulated in particular when incorporated into food contact materials. In the European Union (EU) for example, food contact materials are regulated by the EU Commission Directive 1935/2004, 2023/2006/EC and 10/2011/UE (modified by EU Regulation 1282/2011) [14, 15]. This directive requires that the manufacturers of all food contact materials provide assurance that the product does not transfer its constituents in quantities that endanger human health [15]. In Canada, the safety of food contact materials is controlled under Division 23 of the Food and Drugs Act and Regulations, which prohibits the sale of foods in packages that may impart any substance to the contents which might be harmful to the consumer of the food [16]. In addition, the Phthalates Regulation under the Canada Consumer Product Safety Act establishes that the concentrations of six majorly used phthalates, which constitute one of the main families of plasticizers, in child care articles and toys that can be placed in the mouth of a child under four years of age have to be below 0.1% by weight [17].

PRCs are commonly reported in a variety of foods (including tea, vegetable oils and fruit jellies, among others), as a result of the interaction between the food and the packaging material [18-21]. In the case of honey, Silva *et al.* studied the migration of diphenyl butadiene, an optical brightener, in various food matrices and found it to be negligible for honey [22]. However, a few other studies have reported trace amounts of various PRCs in honey. A summary of the literature on the occurrence of PRCs in commercial honey samples is presented in **Table 5.1**. Bisphenol A (BPA) and bisphenol F (BPF) were studied in honey (n=107) by Inoue *et al.*, and BPA was detected in a few samples at concentrations up to 33.3 ng.g⁻¹, while BPF was not detected [23]. Zhou *et al.* studied 22 phthalate esters in honey (n=10) and found the rates of positive results for dimethyl phthalate (DMP), diethyl phthalate (DEP), diisopropyl phthalate (DIPP), diisobutyl phthalate (DEP), dicyclohexyl phthalate (DCHP) and di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP) to be 50, 20, 60, 70, 80, 60 and 90%, respectively [24]. Concentrations of these contaminants in honey ranged from non-detected (ND) to 483.1 ng.g⁻¹ [24]. Lo Turco *et al.* analyzed 26 plasticizers and BPA in Sicilian and Calabrian honey (n=39) and DEHP was the most abundant plasticizer found with a concentration of up to 202.7 ± 153.1 µg.kg⁻¹, followed by DBP

with a concentration of 40.3 ± 9.3 µg.kg⁻¹ [25]. Česen *et al.* studied bisphenols and related compounds in honey (n=36) and found BPA, bisphenol AF (BPAF), bisphenol E (BPE), BPF, bisphenol S (BPS), and bisphenol Z (BPZ) in amounts up to 107, 53.5, 12.8, 31.6, 302, and 28.4 ng.g⁻¹, respectively [26]. Cao *et al.* studied the presence of 2-ethyhexyladipate (DEHA) and 20 phthalates in honey as part of the Canadian Total Diet Study in 2015, including DIBP, DBP, n-butyl benzyl phthalate (BBzP), DEHA and DEHP, and reported concentrations of up to 4.82 and 135 ng.g¹ for DEHA and DEHP, respectively. [27].

PRC	Level (ng.g ⁻¹)	Type of jar	Frequency of	Geographical	Suspected origin of	Ref.
			detection	origin of the	PRC	
				honey		
BPA	ND – 33.3	Glass (n = 51)	15 % (n = 51)	Various	Manufacture or	[23]
	ND – 11.4	Plastic (n = 56)	16 % (n = 56)	countries	transport of honey	
DMP	ND – 41.5	Not specified	50 % (n = 10)	Not specified	Not discussed	[24]
DEP	ND – 25.2		20 % (n = 10)			
DIPP	ND – 82.4		60 % (n = 10)			
DIBP	ND – 79.7		70 % (n = 10)			
DBP	ND – 58.4		80 % (n = 10)			
DCHP	ND – 45.8		60 % (n = 10)			
DEHP	ND-483.1		90 % (n = 10)			
DMP	ND – 41.5	Collected	59 % (n = 39)	Italy	Honey production,	[25]
DEP	ND – 25.2	directly from	26 % (n = 39)		environmental	
DIBP	ND – 68.2	beekeeper,	61 % (n = 39)		pollution,	
DBP	ND – 58.4	stored in glass	100 % (n = 39)		agricultural	
DEHP	ND – 483.1		100 % (n = 39)		practices	

Table 5.1. Summary of studies reporting the presence of PRCs in commercial honey samples.

BPA	ND – 97.7	Glass (n = 10)	75 % (n = 36)	Various	Packaging and	[26]
	ND – 107	Plastic (n = 26)		countries	other additional	
BPAF	ND – 47.2	Glass (n = 10)	64 % (n = 36)		sources of	
	ND – 53.5	Plastic (n = 26)			contamination	
BPE	ND – 12.8	Glass (n = 10)	17 % (n = 36)			
	ND – 8.18	Plastic (n = 26)				
BPF	ND	Glass (n = 10)	17 % (n = 36)			
	ND – 31.6	Plastic (n = 26)				
BPS	ND	Glass (n = 10)	3 % (n = 36)			
	ND – 302	Plastic (n = 26)				
BPZ	ND	Glass (n = 10)	14 % (n = 36)			
	ND – 28.4	Plastic (n = 26)				
DIBP	< 16.5	Not specified	Not specified	Not specified	Not discussed	[27]
DBP	< 68.2					
BBzP	< 3.49					
DEHA	4.82					
DEHP	135					

To date, the different strategies reported for the analysis of PRCs are based on a targeted analysis approach based on different types of extractions, cleanups and instrumental analyses (mostly based on gas or liquid chromatography). For example, Lo Turco *et al.* used solid-phase extraction (SPE), using Oasis Hydrophilic-Lipophilic-Balanced glass cartridges and with water and methanol as eluents, followed by gas chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry (GC-MS) [25]. Česen *et al.* used a similar SPE based extraction followed by derivatization using N-(tertbutyldimethylsilyl)-N-methyltrifluoroacetamide with 1% tert-butyldimethylchlorosilane in

ethyl acetate for 16 hours at 60°C to make the analytes more volatile, less reactive and thus to improve their chromatographic behaviour prior to GC-MS analysis [26]. Koo *et al.* used a solvent terminated dispersive liquid-liquid microextraction method with acetonitrile as the disperser solvent and 1-hexanol as the extraction solvent, followed by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) coupled to a diode array detector [28].

Despite providing satisfactory results in the aforementioned studies, targeted methods are limited by the availability of analytical standards [29]. As an alternative, non-targeted analysis approaches are currently being developed to identify and semi-quantify a broader range of chemical compounds, particularly in the absence of standards [30, 31]. A non-targeted method for the analysis of contaminants in honey based on direct injection and high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to quadrupole time-of-flight tandem mass spectrometry (HPLC-QTOF-MS/MS) using data-independent MS/MS acquisition was recently developed [32]. This method was successfully applied for the analysis of free-form veterinary drugs, pesticides and other trace organic contaminants in honey, showing promising results for its potential application to the non-targeted analysis of other contaminants such as PRCs in honey [33].

The aim of the study was to apply the above method to screen PRCs in honey and investigate the differences among honey products sold in glass and plastic jars. More specifically, the goals were to (i) apply a non-targeted workflow to detect and identify PRCs in 104 honey samples collected in Canada, (ii) compare the chemical burden in honey samples sold in either glass or plastic jars, and (iii) use this example to provide recommendation on the application of a non-targeted workflow to the study of trace chemicals in food matrices.

5.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

5.3.1 Chemicals and reagents

Labelled internal standards, D₃-diphenylhydramine (\geq 99.4%) and D₃-6-acetylmorphine (\geq 99.5%), were purchased from Cerilliant (Round Rock, TX, USA). 1-Ethinyl-1-cyclohexanol (\geq 99%), Nvinylcaprolactam (98%), 2-amino-5-methylbenzoic acid (99%) and tris (2-butoxyethyl) phosphate (TBOEP) (95%) standards were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Darmstadt, Germany). DEHA (98%) standard was purchased from Toronto Research Chemicals (Toronto, Canada). HPLC grade solvents (water, methanol, acetonitrile, acetone and 2-propanol) and LC/MS grade formic acid were purchased from Fisher Scientific (Pittsburgh, PA, USA).

5.3.2 Honey Samples

One hundred and four honey samples were obtained from different stores and farmers' markets in the Montreal and Calgary regions (Canada) between May 2016 and May 2018. They were all labelled as unpasteurized and were of various prices and quality (i.e. different types of farming, different colours and different floral and geographical origins). Out of the 104 samples, 31 were sold in a plastic jar and 73 were sold in a glass jar. More information on each sample can be found in the **Table S5.1**. Samples were transferred from their original container to 40 mL amber glass vials and kept in the freezer at -18°C until analysis.

5.3.3 Sample Preparation

Samples were prepared according to a method developed previously [32]. In short, approximately 0.2 g of honey were weighed in a glass conic tube and 2 mL of a mixture of acetonitrile and water 1:1 was added. Samples were vortexed for about 2 min, or until the honey was completely dissolved, and then filtered through a 0.22 μ m PTFE filter from Chrom4 (Thüringen, Germany). The objective of the present study was to screen for free chemicals in

honey, so no hydrolysis was performed prior to the injection into the HPLC system [34]. The extract was further diluted with water to a final concentration corresponding to 1% of honey (w/v), and 50 μL of a 0.4 μg.mL⁻¹ mixture of the two deuterated internal standards was added. These internal standards were added to have a reference for retention time, sensitivity and mass accuracy. Five procedural blanks were prepared following the same method. Additionally, five Quality Control (QC) samples were prepared by mixing equal volumes of all the extracted samples. In the absence of targeted compounds that could be monitored using standards, such QC samples are used in non-targeted analysis as indicators of the quality of the analysis and to detect any possible instrumental artifacts. Post analysis, the results of the QC samples can be examined visually, generally through an unsupervised method such as Principal Component Analysis (PCA), to give an indication of the reproducibility of the analysis [35].

5.3.4 Instrument analysis

Samples were analyzed using a 1290 series LC system from Agilent Technologies (Santa Clara, CA, USA) equipped with an InfinityLab Poroshell 120 Phenyl Hexyl ($3.0 \times 100 \text{ mm}$, $2.7 \mu \text{m}$) column fitted with an InfinityLab Poroshell 120 Ec-C18 ($3.0 \times 5 \text{ mm}$, $2.7 \mu \text{m}$) guard column, both from Agilent Technologies. The mobile phase consisted in water (solvent A) and methanol (solvent B), both with 0.1% formic acid, at a flow rate of 0.2 mL/min. The mobile phase gradient profile was as follows: 1 min 5% B, from 1 to 15 min gradient to 100% B, from 15 to 20 min 100 % B, from 20 to 20.10 min gradient to 5% B and from 20.10 to 25 min 5% B. The injection volume was 20 μ L and the column temperature was set to 20°C.

The LC system was coupled to a 6545 series Q-TOF from Agilent Technologies, equipped with a Dual AJS ESI ion source operating in positive ionization mode. Drying gas temperature was 325°C with a flow of 5 L.min⁻¹, sheath gas temperature was 275°C with a flow of 12 L.min⁻¹, the pressure on the nebulizer was 20 psi, the capillary voltage was 4000 V, the fragmentor voltage was 175 V, the skimmer voltage was 65 V and the nozzle voltage was 2000 V. All Ions MS/MS data was collected as MS scans between *m/z* 70 and 1700 at a scan rate of 3 spectra/s for four different 154

collision energies (0, 10, 20 and 40 V). This scan speed corresponded to about 14 spectra per peak for each collision energy. The first 3 min of elution were diverted to waste. Samples were kept at 4°C in the multisampler compartment. Samples were analyzed randomly to ensure there was no trend in the results created by an instrumental drift.

In a later stage of this work, MS/MS spectra of two compounds were acquired using the same method using *Targeted MS/MS* mode (instead of All Ions MS/MS mode) to confirm the structure of the suspect compounds in honey. The targeted masses were m/z 125.0950 at 12.45 ± 0.15 min and m/z 140.1070 at 4.05 ± 0.15 min. The spectra were recorded at three collision energies (10, 20 and 40 V).

5.3.5 Data treatment

5.3.5.1 Feature extraction

The extraction of the molecular features and the alignment of the datasets were performed using the software MassHunter Profinder B.08.00 from Agilent Technologies. The molecular feature extraction parameters have been optimized in a previous study [33]. Peak filter height was set at 200 counts, expansion window for chromatogram extraction was \pm 10 ppm, retention time tolerance was 0.30 min and the post-processing peak filter height was 1000 counts. Since the present study focuses on trace contaminants, it is important to set the threshold for the filtration by abundance to a low value to make sure they are properly detected. The isotope model selected was common organic molecules, and the ion and adducts considered were H⁺, Na⁺ and K⁺.

5.3.5.2 Suspect screening

After peak alignment, multivariate analyses were performed using the software Mass Profiler Professional B.14.8 from Agilent Technologies. In this software, all data was normalized with 75.0

percentile shift. First, a PCA based on data for all samples was performed to investigate the overall performances of the workflow. The grouping of the QC samples in the PCA plot was used as an indication of the good reproducibility of the analysis, and thus its quality [35]. Then, compounds detected in honey samples were screened against the library Agilent Extractable & Leachable LC/QTOF PCDL. Based on a non-targeted identification method developed previously, the mass tolerance for the library match was set to \pm 5 ppm and the minimum total score for the identification to be considered was 70% [33]. The total score reflects the probability that a feature is a real compound, a score of 100% being a perfect fit [36]. It is calculated as the average of four components: a mass match score, an isotope abundance score, an isotope spacing score and a retention time score [37]. Retention time was not considered when searching in the database, as it is specific to the HPLC conditions used to acquire the data. The positive ions and adducts considered were H⁺, Na⁺ and K⁺. In addition, a requirement that there must be at least 2 ions present for any compound was applied. Among the tentatively identified compounds, only those whose peak area was above the "*limit of detection*" (i.e. mean + 3 σ of the peak area of the procedural blanks) were considered for further data treatment.

5.3.5.3 Verification of the putative identities with standards

Confirmation of the identity of compounds with standards was performed following the EU identification points (IPs) system established in the 2002/657/EC European Commission Decision [38]. This system was developed to confirm the identification of organic residues and contaminants in live animals and animal products. For the confirmation of substances listed in group B of Annex I of Directive 96/23/EC, which include veterinary drugs, environmental contaminants, and other substances, a minimum of 3 IPs is required [39]. In addition to having 3 IPs, the 2002/657/EC European Commission Decision establishes that a minimum of one ion ratio should be measured, and that all measured ion ratios need to meet maximum permitted tolerances for relative ion intensities presented in **Table 5.2** [38]. In the present study, the assignment of IPs was performed following the criterion proposed by Hernández *et al.* based on

the measurement of the mass accuracy of each ion [40]. A total of 2 IPs per ion was attributed when mass error was below 2 mDa, 1.5 IPs per ion for mass errors between 2 and 10 mDa, and 1 IP per ion for mass errors greater than 10 mDa. After achieving a minimum of 3 IPs, the identity of each compound was only confirmed when the difference between the ratio of parent/fragment in the standard solutions and in samples was compliant with the limits presented in **Table 5.2**. For the calculation of the IPs and the ratio parent/fragment, two ions were selected for each compound using the acquired All Ions MS/MS data: MS1 (parent ion) and MS2 (most abundant fragment). The peak height of each ion was assessed with Agilent Mass Hunter Workstation Software – Qualitative Analysis B.07.00, taken at the collision energy (either 0, 10, 20 or 40 V) that produced the highest signal. In addition, the retention time of the compound in the standard solution and in the honey sample had to match within a tolerance of ± 0.15 min.

Maximum permitted tolerance
±20%
±25%
±30%
±50%

Table 5.2. Maximum permitted tolerances for relative ion intensities according to 2002/657/ECEuropean Commission Decision [38].

5.3.5.4 Estimation of the dietary exposure to the identified compounds from honey

Two confirmed suspects (DEHA and TBOEP) were quantified based on 5-point calibration curves in the range of 0.01 to 1 ng.mL ⁻¹ for DEHA and 0.1 to 10 ng.mL ⁻¹ for TBOEP (external calibration). Concentrations were calculated using the Agilent Mass Hunter Workstation Software – Quantitative Analysis B.07.01. A mass extraction window of ± 10 ppm was applied based on a previous report [32]. Final concentrations in honey included a correction based on matrix effects 157 for each honey sample, which was calculated based on a single-point standard addition of 1 and 5 ng.mL⁻¹ for DEHA and TBOEP, respectively. Method limit of detection (MDL) was calculated as 3σ of the equivalent signals of 10 procedural blanks. Peaks with a signal-to-noise ratio below 10 were also considered below the limit of quantification. Finally, estimated daily intakes of DEHA and TBOEP from honey were calculated from the concentrations of the compounds multiplied by the average daily consumption of honey in Canada (2.5 g.day⁻¹) and divided by a body weight of 70 kg [41].

5.3.5.5 Discrimination of honey samples through PCA

PCA was performed using the software Mass Profiler Professional to investigate the possible correlation between the presence of the PRCs found in the honey samples and the material of the honey jars. PCA was first used to find trends in the honey samples based on the material of the jar (plastic or glass), and then any possible trends according to both the material and the sampling year were also explored. The loadings of the principal components were investigated to determine the main compounds responsible for the trends observed in the PCAs.

5.3.5.6 Comparison of the PRC profiles among the honey samples commercially sold in plastic or glass jars

A unique entity analysis was performed with MS Excel using the peak areas for the 662 PRCs obtained from Mass Profiler Professional. Samples were divided into two groups based on the material of their jars (glass or plastic) and a unique entity analysis was applied to search for compounds present in 100% of the samples of one group and absent in 100% of the samples of the other group.

Volcano plots were created using the software Mass Profiler Professional to compare honey samples in glass and plastic jars based on the peak area for each of the 662 features identified as

PRCs. To do so, a moderated Student t-test was performed, followed by a Benjamini-Hochberg test. The p-value threshold was set at 0.05.

Pearson's Chi-squared test was applied using the statistical software JMP (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) in order to compare the frequency of detection of each of the 662 PRCs in the honey samples from plastic and glass jars. The p-value threshold was set at 0.05.

5.3.5.7 Structure elucidation of selected compounds

The Agilent MassHunter Molecular Structure Correlator B.07.00 software was used to create a list of potential candidate structures from the MS/MS spectra of some selected compounds whose MS/MS information was not available in the compound library, or whose identification was not conclusive (i.e. compounds G1 and P1). In order to do so, since this software only recognizes MS/MS spectra obtained through targeted or auto MS/MS (but not All-Ions MS/MS data), targeted MS/MS spectra were acquired for each of the compounds. The search for MS/MS spectra was done using the ChemSpider and Metlin libraries.

5.4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

5.4.1 QA/QC

Quality assurance and quality control (QA/QC) in a non-targeted workflow in the absence of standards for the target analytes is critical [35]. Several validation steps were used prior to the data treatment. First, the performance of the method in terms of precision of the measured retention time (RT), sensitivity and exact mass measurement was assessed from the results of the two labelled internal standards (IS). The precision of the retention time was calculated with the relative standard deviation (RSD) of the retention time of the IS across all the 114 analyzed samples (104 honey samples, 5 procedural blanks and 5 QCs). The results showed high precision, with an RSD of 0.2 % for D_3 -diphenylhydramine (RT = 13.483 min) and 1.0% for D_3 -6-

acetylmorphine (RT = 9.515 min). Next, any changes on the sensitivity of the instrument were monitored by calculating the RSD of the signal intensity for both IS across all the 114 analyzed samples. The results, with an RSD of 8.3% for D₃-diphenylhydramine and 8.5% for D₃-6acetylmorphine, showed an acceptable repeatability of the instrument. Then, the accuracy of the exact mass measurement of the instrument was evaluated throughout the run by calculating the mass error of the mass measured for each IS across all samples. The average mass errors obtained were acceptable, with an error of 10 ± 2 ppm for D₃-diphenylhydramine ([M+H]⁺ m/z 259.1914) and 8 ± 1 ppm for D₃-6-acetylmorphine ([M+H]⁺ m/z 331.1762). After seeing the results for the precision and accuracy of different parameters obtained for the two IS, the overall performance of the instrument during the run was considered acceptable.

Finally, to ensure the quality of the data and verify that there was no instrumental artifact during the analysis, a PCA was performed with all the samples. The objective of this PCA was to verify the position of the QC samples, as they are used in non-targeted studies to monitor the quality of the run. As shown in **Figure 5.1**, QC samples were grouped together in the PCA plot, indicating that the analysis was reproducible and there were no time related trends [35]. Therefore, the recorded samples could be used for the next steps of the data treatment.



Figure 5.1. PCA plot of all samples (PC1-PC3), including the 104 honey samples (yellow), 5 procedural blanks (red) and 5 QCs (black). PC1, PC2 and PC3 explained 5.21, 4.54 and 3.47% of the variation of the data, respectively.

5.4.2 Data reduction and screening of plastic-related compounds

In total, 104,051 molecular features were obtained from the data (ESI+) for the 104 honey samples. After confirmation of the quality of the acquired data, the molecular features were screened against a commercial compound database of PRCs. In total, 763 were tentatively identified in the Agilent Extractable & Leachable LC/QTOF PCDL database based on their exact mass measurements and isotopic signature, which would correspond to a level of confidence of 4 according to the level system proposed by Schymanski *et al.* [42]. Out of the 763 compounds, the signal for 101 of them in real samples were found to be below the average + 3σ of the blanks, so the list of compounds tentatively identified in honey with a confidence level of 4 and a concentration significantly higher than that of the blank was reduced to 662 (**Figure 5.2-A**).

In the system proposed by Schymanski *et al.*, a confidence level of 4 corresponds only to the assignation of a molecular formula based on spectral information (e.g. adduct, isotope, and/or fragment information) [42]. An identification at level 4 is, thus, only tentative. In order to increase

the identification confidence level of these compounds, MS/MS data should be compared with that of a compound database to provide a probable structure and, ultimately, the structure should be confirmed with a reference standard to achieve level 1 of confidence [42]. All Ions MS/MS data is currently not recognized by the used software as such, and so automatic screening using All Ions MS/MS data is not possible. However, this data can be screened manually to identify characteristic ion fragments and increase the confidence level to 2. Since the manual identification of 662 compounds in 104 honey samples would be extremely time-consuming, it was decided to further confirm the identity of only some selected compounds of interest.

Figure 5.2-B depicts the frequency of the above 662 compounds tentatively identified as PRCs among honey samples. Most of these compounds were detected at a low frequency. Indeed, 63% of the compounds were detected in only 10% of the samples or less. As shown in **Table 5.1**, there is a wide range of reported frequencies for the detection of PRCs in honeys, ranging from 3% for BPS in Lo Turco *et al.* to 100% for DBP and DEHP in Česen *et al.* [25, 26]. Other food contaminants such as veterinary drugs and pesticides are also often detected at a low frequency in honey in market studies [43].

The number of compounds per honey sample ranged from 38 to 143 in the present study (out of the above 662 tentatively identified as PRCs) and is presented in **Figure 5.2-C**. The average number of compounds in honey samples sold in glass or plastic jars was very similar (88 ± 21 compounds in glass jars and 90 ± 28 compounds in plastic jars). This finding further supports the need for non-targeted methods of analysis with a multi-contaminant capability for honey. The 5 most abundant chemicals (in terms of average peak area across all 104 samples) tentatively identified regardless of frequency of occurrence were N-lauryldiethanolamine, tetraethyleneglycol dimethacrylate, 5-hydroxyquinoline, palmitamide, and bis (3,3-dimethyl-dibenzylidene sorbitol), with a total score of 99.41, 85.39, 99.76, 89.56, and 98.81%, respectively.



Figure 5.2. A: Graphical representation of the data filtering steps from the initial pool of all entities in all samples to the reduced group of tentatively identified PRCs. B: Frequency plot of the 662 PRCs tentatively identified in all 104 honey samples. C: Number of detected PRCs in each of the 104 honey samples.

Two compounds, C1 and C2, were selected to illustrate two different frequencies of detection of PRCs in the honey samples from the present study: C1 to represent high frequency (74% detection) and C2 for low frequency (7% detection). The confirmation of the identity of these 2 compounds is presented in detail in the supplementary information. Briefly, C1 was initially identified with a confidence level of 4 as DEHA ($C_{22}H_{42}O_4$, m/z 370.3083, total score of 74.09%), and C2 was initially identified with a confidence level of 4 as TBOEP ($C_{18}H_{39}O_7P$, m/z 398.2433, total score of 95.26%). The chromatograms of the 2 compounds were acquired from analytical standards to validate their identity after finding similarities between the recorded All Ions MS/MS spectra for these compounds in the honey matrices and the literature. Since the retention time difference between the standards and the honey samples was within ± 0.15 min, the identity of DEHA and TBOEP was further assessed according to the IPs system established in the 2002/657/EC European Commission Decision [38]. The results of this identification are presented in **Table 5.3**. Using two ions, the parent ion (MS1) and one fragment (MS2), 4 IPs were achieved for both DEHA and TBOEP, with an error in the measured MS2/MS1 ratio below the maximum tolerance limits in all cases. Therefore, C1 and C2 were successfully identified as DEHA and TBOEP, respectively, with a confidence level of 1, which is the highest level in the identification system proposed by Schymanski et al. [42]. The chromatographic peaks of both compounds in standard solution and in one honey sample, as well as their MS/MS spectra used for identification, are presented in Figure S5.1 and Figure S5.2 as an example.

Table 5.3. Calculation of IPs and parent/fragment ion ratio for the confirmation of DEHA and TBOEP based on the All Ions MS/MS data acquired for the standards and the honey samples in which these compounds were detected.

	DEHA (n= 77)	TBOEP (n= 9)	
	MS1 (0 V): <i>m/z</i> 371.3156	MS1 (0 V): <i>m/z</i> 399.2506	
	MS2 (20 V): <i>m/z</i> 129.0546	MS2 (10 V): <i>m/z</i> 299.1618	
Mass error of MS1	< 2 mDa	< 2 mDa	
IPs earned for MS1	2	2	
Mass error of MS2	< 2 mDa	< 2 mDa	
IPs earned for MS2	2	2	
Total IPs earned	4	4	
MS2/MS1 sample	0.575 ± 0.033	0.369 ± 0.012	
MS2/MS1 standard	0.634	0.434	
Error in the measured	9 ± 5%	15 ± 3%	
MS2/MS1			
Maximum permitted	± 20%	± 25%	
tolerance			
CONFIRMED?	YES	YES	

DEHA is a common plasticizer applied in food contact materials which has been reported in polyvinyl chloride (PVC) food wrapping film and in polyethylene terephthalate (PET) bottles [44, 45]. Wrapping food in PVC films has been suggested as the source of high levels of DEHA in different types of food in Canada [27]. TBOEP is used in a variety of applications as a plasticizer, lubricant and flame retardant, among others [46]. In conclusion, the occurrence of the above 2 contaminants in honey could be related to their use in food packaging materials. However, the packaging material is probably not the only possible source of these compounds in honey. Other food products such as coffee and tea have been found to be contaminated with PRCs during their

production steps as result of being in contact with plastic parts of the production machinery [18, 47]. In the case of honey, contamination with PRCs during processing could happen through contact with plastic components of the equipment for honey production, such as the honey extractors [25]. Moreover, some of these contaminants such as DEHP could also come from agricultural practices (e.g. using plastic mulch film) and/or environmental contamination that would contaminate the nectar used to produce the honey [27]. Because DEHA and TBOEP may have multiple sources other than the food packaging materials, their distribution among honey samples cannot be explained unequivocally based on the material of the jar.

5.4.3 Implications for food safety

DEHA and TBOEP are of increasing concern to humans and have been identified as priority chemicals for assessment of risk under the Government of Canada's Chemicals Management Plan due to the finding of adverse effects from toxicology studied in animals [27]. DEHA and TBOEP obtained in this study were quantified through external calibration with standards and considering matrix effect for each honey sample (**Table 5.4**). Both compounds were successfully determined, with an MDL of 1.19 and 16.99 µg.kg⁻¹ for DEHA and TBOEP, respectively. The maximum concentrations of DEHA measured in the present study were in the same order of what had been previously reported in the literature. Cao *et al.* studied DEHA as part of the Canadian Total Diet Study in 2015, and found a concentration in honey of 4.82 µg.kg⁻¹ for DEHA [27]. Regarding TBOEP, He *et al.* reported to have found this compound in 48% of samples (n=87) in a market study in Australia including cereals, fruits, vegetables, milk, meat, fish, seafood, eggs and beverages, with a concentration of 0.36 ng.g⁻¹ wet weight in the 95th percentile [48]. Ding *et al.* performed a similar market study in China and found TBOEP in 100% of the samples (n=37), with a concentration between 0.08-1.2 ng.g⁻¹ fresh weight [49]. To the best of our knowledge TBOEP has never been reported in honey before.

An estimated maximum daily intake was calculated from the highest levels of DEHA and TBOEP in honey collected in the Canadian market to characterize the risks of adverse health effects for 166 a general adult consumer (**Table 5.4**). Using this extreme scenario, the daily intakes of DEHA and TBOEP corresponded to less than 1% of their respective Tolerable Daily Intake (TDI) or Reference Dose (RfD), indicating no health concern.

Table 5.4. Highest concentration (μg.kg⁻¹) and associated daily intake (μg.kg⁻¹ bw.day⁻¹) of DEHA and TBOEP from honey compared their respective TDI or RfD values. A body weight of 70 kg was used for the calculation of the daily intake.

Compound	Sample	Concentration	Calculated daily intake from	TDI or RfD
		(µg.kg ⁻¹)	honey (µg.kg ⁻¹ bw.day ⁻¹)	(µg.kg⁻¹ bw.day⁻¹)
DEHA	H81	17.1	0.001	300 [50]
TBOEP	H73	164.7	0.006	1.5 [51]

5.4.4 Discrimination of honey samples through PCA based on the distribution of PRCs

Principal Component Analysis was applied to the 662 compounds tentatively identified as PRCs in the honey samples (**Figure 5.3**). This was done in order to obtain a first overview of the trends observed in the honey samples based on the presence of the tentatively identified PRCs. The 3 first principal components explained 16.43% of the variance of the data (PC1, PC2 and PC3 accounted for 7.42, 4.84 and 4.17% of the variance, respectively). The low percentage of the variance of the data explained by the first three principal components underlines the high variability of chemical composition among the honey samples in this study. Although most of the variability was not captured with these 3 principal components, there was a trend observed in the PCA as the honey samples seemed to be forming different groups. First, the type of jar (glass or plastic) was highlighted in the PCA but the material of the jar was not the major factor influencing the grouping of samples (**Figure 5.3-A** and **B**). The year of sampling was also highlighted, and samples showed some grouping based on this parameter (**Figure 5.3-C** and **D**), indicating that the sampling year or the storage time prior to analysis influenced the chemical signature of the honey samples.

In order to identify the compounds responsible for the clear variability observed in the data in PC1 and PC3 (Figure 5.3-D) the loading plot of PC1 and PC3 was examined (Figure 55.3). In this plot, among the compounds with an important loading in PC1, natural compounds such as coumarin and limonene were tentatively identified. These compounds are listed in the library Agilent Extractable & Leachable LC/QTOF PCDL because they are used in the plastic industry as additives or solvents [52, 53]. However, their presence in honey may not necessarily reflect their possible use in plastics. In fact, both coumarin and limonene occur naturally in honey from different floral origin, such as honey from mahaleb cherry tree, Polish sweet yellow clover honey and citrus honey [54-56]. In addition, limonene is found in essential oils used as biopesticides and for the treatment of American Foulbrood in honey bees, so its presence in honey could also be due to agricultural and beekeeping practices [57, 58]. It is important to note that natural compounds, such as limonene, may also degrade during the storage of the samples. A 17% degradation of limonene was measured, for example, in citrus-oil emulsions after only 15 days of storage at 25°C [59]. Such a compound, occurring naturally in honey and having multiple possible anthropogenic origins, possibly degrading during storage, is likely responsible for the variability observed in the PCA plots (Figure 5.3-C and D) and segregation of samples based on the sampling year.

5.4.5 Comparison of the PRC profiles among the honey samples commercially sold in plastic or glass jars

One of the challenges of the non-targeted multivariate analysis is to apply the right data treatment to answer a specific question. A common situation when applying this approach to complex matrices, such as food, is to obtain a large list of compounds distributed among the samples with high variability [60, 61]. In this case, the key to obtaining meaningful results is to frame a concrete question and to then perform the necessary data treatment to answer it. **Table 5.5** summarizes the different approaches investigated in the present study to compare the PRC profiles among honey samples sold in plastic and in glass jars. As observed in **Table 5.5**, a slight

variation in the question may lead to somehow different results. This underlines the complexity of the non-targeted approach in the field of trace contaminants in food, and the importance of formulating the right question before starting to design and apply any data treatment. Individual results for each of the approaches are described in detail in the following sections.



Figure 5.3. PCA plots of the PCRs in different types of honey samples: PCA with material of the jar (A: PC1 vs. PC2, B: PC1 vs. PC3), and PCA with material of the jar and sampling year (C: PC1 vs. PC2, D: PC1 vs. PC3). Legend for all: green = plastic, blue = glass. Legend for C and D: \blacktriangle = 2016, + = 2017, • = 2018.

Table 5.5. Comparison of different data treatment approaches for the comparison of PRC profilesamong the honey samples commercially sold in plastic or glass jars.

Question	Data Treatment	Number of	Section
		compounds	
Are there any compounds found in all	Unique entity analysis	0	5.4.5.4
samples sold in plastic jars and in none	(100% detection vs.		
of the samples sold in glass jars? (or	0% detection)		
vice versa)			
Are there any compounds whose	Volcano plot p>0.05	2 (P1 and G1)	5.4.5.2
overall signal is significantly higher in			
all the honey samples sold in plastic or			
glass jars?			
Are there any compounds more	Frequency of	40 in plastic and	5.4.5.3
frequently detected in honey samples	detection	13 in glass	
sold in plastic or glass jars?			
Are there any compounds found only in	Unique entity analysis	6 in plastic and 3	5.4.5.3
honey samples sold in plastic or glass	(any % detection vs.	in glass	
jars? (Regardless of the frequency of	0% detection)		
detection in that type of jar)			

5.4.5.1 Unique Entity Analysis

First, a unique entity analysis was performed to investigate whether some compounds were exclusive to honey sold in one specific type of jar. This type of analysis usually searches for compounds that are present in 100% of the samples of one group and absent in 100% of the samples of the other group [62]. The results showed that none of the 662 PRCs was unique in one of the two groups (plastic and glass jars). Considering the diversity of jar materials and origin of the honey samples, it was somehow expected that the jars in this study would come from different producers using different ingredients in their formulations. This explains probably why there is no PRC common to all the honeys in plastic or glass jars.

5.4.5.2 Volcano plot of statistical significance versus fold change

The volcano plot is a widely used statistical tool in metabolomics to detect compounds whose intensities are significantly different among two groups of samples [63, 64]. In the present study, a volcano plot was produced for all the 662 compounds based on the fold change (glass vs. plastic) and *p*-value (**Figure 5.4**). Since no compound was found unique to one type of jar (section 5.4.5.1), the goal of this plot was to investigate whether some compounds were characteristic of one type of jar (glass or plastic) while not being exclusive to it. The results of the fold change analysis performed as part of the volcano plot analysis (**Figure 5.4**), showed that 285 out of the 662 detected PRCs were higher in honey samples sold in plastic jars (down-regulated, left hand-side of the volcano plot). However, when looking at the compounds with statistically significant differences, only one single compound was significantly higher (*p*<0.05) in honeys sold in glass jars (G1, top right corner of the volcano plot). In other words, very few compounds differentiated the two groups according to the volcano plot (using p < 0.05). As with the unique entity analysis, this result can be explained from

the diversity of honey samples tested and the low frequency of contamination of honey (Figure **5.2-B**).

Some attempts were made to further investigate the identity of compounds P1 and G1. A detailed explanation of the identification process is presented in the supplementary information. In summary, the identity of P1 and G1 remain unknown since no structure in any of the consulted libraries matched the recorded spectra for these compounds in honey. Further identification of these compounds could be attempted in future studies using other libraries or trying to correlate some of the observed peaks in the MS/MS spectra with common fragments and functional groups.



Figure 5.4. Volcano plot of the comparison between honey sold in glass and plastic jars. Compounds with a positive value in the X-axis (blue) have an average concentration across all glass samples which is higher than that of the plastic samples, and compounds with a negative value in the X-axis (green) have an average concentration across all plastic samples which is higher than that of the glass samples. Selected compounds (red) were those whose identity was further studied.

5.4.5.3 Frequency of detection in each group

Since the signals for 660 out of the 662 PRCs were not statistically different for honey samples sold in either plastic or glass jars, a different approach based on the frequency of detection was taken. A Pearson's Chi-squared test was performed for the 662 PRCs based on their rates of detection in the honey samples sold in either glass and plastic jars. In total, 40 PRCs were detected more frequently in honey samples from plastic jars and 13 PRCs were detected more frequently in honey samples from glass jars (p<0.05 in both cases). Therefore, more PRCs with statistically higher frequency of detection were found in honey samples in plastic jars than in glass jars. The tentative identification of these 53 compounds based only on their exact mass and MS spectra (level 4 of confidence) is presented in **Table S5.2** and **Table S5.3**. DEHA, one of the compounds identified in section 5.4.2, was statistically detected more frequently in honey samples in plastic than in glass jars (68% detection in glass jars and 87% in plastic jars, Pearson's Chi-squared test p=0.0478). At least 15 out of the 27 samples from plastic jars in which DEHA was detected were made of PET (**Table S5.1**). DEHA is commonly used as a plasticizer for PET, which could explain its high frequency of detection among the honey samples sold in plastic jars [44].

Although section 5.4.5.1. showed that there were no unique entities in either of the groups (i.e. entities found in 100% of the samples sold in plastic jars and none of the samples sold in glass jars or vice versa), the results of the Pearson's Chi-squared test (**Table S5.2** and **Table S5.3**) showed that some compounds were only found in samples of one type of jar. Indeed, 6 compounds were only found in samples from plastic jars and 3 compounds were found only in samples from glass jars. These compounds, however, had frequencies of detection in the range of 6 to 19%, which is the reason why the unique entity analysis (section 5.4.5.1) did not categorize them as being unique to one group. Nonetheless, the fact that these compounds were only detected in samples from glass or plastic jars could make them characteristic of that type of jar, and their presence in a honey sample could be used as an indicative marker of the material of the jar the sample was sold in. Oleamide, for example, was tentatively identified in 3 of the honey

samples from plastic jars and in none of the samples from glass jars. All 3 jars were made with LDPE, for which oleamide is used as an additive, so the detection of this compound could potentially be correlated with the material of the jar [65]. However, as mentioned before, there are other possible sources of contamination with PRCs.

5.4.5.4 Discussion on suspect screening of contaminants in food samples

Tools such as unique entities analysis or volcano plot are commonly applied to identify differential metabolites in controlled exposure experiments [66]. The comparison of food samples based on their contaminant load is however more complex, mostly because of the relatively low frequency of these residues in food. As observed in **Figure 5.3**, PCA using even a reduced list of features based on a library of compounds does not provide a straightforward comparison of samples, especially since some of the compounds driving the PCA may have multiple origins (e.g. both natural and anthropogenic). As illustrated in **Table 5.5**, questions about the contamination of honey samples with PRCs may be formulated in different ways, resulting in an overall different list of contaminants. Unique entity analysis with 100% detection and volcano plot with p < 0.05 found 0 and 2 compounds, respectively, while in the third approach based on the differential frequency of detection the number of relevant compounds increased to 13 in glass and 40 in plastic. Among the compounds found with this last approach, 6 were unique to honey samples sold in plastic jars and 3 were unique to honey samples sold in glass jars.

Unique entity analysis, despite being used in other studies to find compounds characteristic to one group of samples, relies on these compounds having a high rate of detection [62]. In a controlled exposure experiment this can easily be achieved, since all the samples from the exposed group will have received the same treatment. The distribution of contaminants among actual food products from the market is however quite complex. In this case, applying this type of analysis can lead to finding no unique entities, even when some compounds are detected only in one group. A unique entity analysis without any frequency restrictions, focusing only on the absence of compounds in one group regardless of the frequency in the other group, is recommended in this situation.

Volcano plots with Student t-test are also widely used to compare two groups, e.g. in metabolomics. This type of analysis identifies significant differences among the average signal/concentration for each compound in each group. In the present study, however, the distribution of the majority of compounds among the samples in each group was not normal, but instead the few detected signals for each compound represented outliers within the group. Achieving statistical difference in this situation would be very difficult. For this reason, only one compound was detected as being significantly higher in each group of samples. Therefore, an approach considering the frequency of detection in each group instead of the concentration of contaminant would provide more information on the compounds being characteristic to one group of samples.

5.5 CONCLUSIONS

A non-targeted workflow was applied to the screening of PRCs in 104 honey samples from the Canadian market, and a total of 662 compounds were detected using a library of leachable and extractable compounds. The identity of two of these compounds, namely DEHA and TBOEP, was further confirmed with standards. Their concentrations were assessed in the honey samples, and the estimated daily intake of these compounds is expected to be far below the tolerable daily intake.

With regards to the comparison of the chemical burden in honey samples sold in either glass or plastic jars, various data treatment approaches were used which resulted in different lists of relevant contaminants. Because of the low frequency of detection of the 662 PRCs found in honey in the present study, unique entity analysis with 100% detection and volcano plot with p < 0.05 found none and 2 compounds, respectively. When applying the third approach based on the differential frequency of detection, however, the number of relevant compounds increased to 176

13 in glass and 40 in plastic. In conclusion, the relatively low frequency of contaminants in food needs to be accounted for when selecting the appropriate data treatment tool to compare groups of samples.

Among the compounds found with the last approach, 6 were unique to honey samples sold in plastic jars and 3 were unique to honey samples sold in glass jars. Controlled migration studies should be performed in order to determine to which extent the material of the jar plays a role in the presence of these compounds in honey.

5.6 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We wish to acknowledge the financial support received from the Fonds de recherche du Québec – Nature et Technologies (FRQNT) research grant (FRQ-NT NC-198270) and the Canada Foundation for Innovation / John R. Evans Leaders Fund grant (Project #35318) of S. Bayen. TBOEP and DEHA standards were purchased under the grant Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals – Towards Responsible Replacement (PI: Prof. B. Hales).

5.7 **REFERENCES**

[1] A.S. Alqarni, A.A. Owayss, A.A. Mahmoud, M.A. Hannan, Mineral content and physical properties of local and imported honeys in Saudi Arabia, Journal of Saudi Chemical Society, 18 (2014) 618-625.

[2] O. Escuredo, I. Dobre, M. Fernández-González, M.C. Seijo, Contribution of botanical origin and sugar composition of honeys on the crystallization phenomenon, Food Chem., 149 (2014) 84-90.
[3] F. Tornuk, S. Karaman, I. Ozturk, O.S. Toker, B. Tastemur, O. Sagdic, M. Dogan, A. Kayacier, Quality characterization of artisanal and retail Turkish blossom honeys: Determination of physicochemical, microbiological, bioactive properties and aroma profile, Industrial Crops and Products, 46 (2013) 124-131.

[4] Z. Wang, Y. Li, Q. Chang, J. Kang, G.-F. Pang, A detection and confirmation strategy for screening of veterinary drugs in honey by liquid chromatography coupled quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry, Anal. Methods, 10 (2018) 59-68.

[5] S. Panseri, A. Catalano, A. Giorgi, F. Arioli, A. Procopio, D. Britti, L. Chiesa, Occurrence of pesticide residues in Italian honey from different areas in relation to its potential contamination sources, Food Control, 38 (2014) 150-156.

[6] N. Al-Waili, K. Salom, A. Al-Ghamdi, M.J. Ansari, Antibiotic, pesticide, and microbial contaminants of honey: human health hazards, The scientific world Journal, 2012 (2012).

[7] G. Amendola, P. Pelosi, R. Dommarco, Solid-phase extraction for multi-residue analysis of pesticides in honey, Journal of Environmental Science and Health Part B, 46 (2010) 24-34.

[8] B. Albero, C. Sánchez-Brunete, J.L. Tadeo, Analysis of Pesticides in Honey by Solid-Phase Extraction and Gas Chromatography– Mass Spectrometry, J. Agric. Food Chem., 52 (2004) 5828-5835.

[9] C. Blasco, M. Fernández, A. Pena, C. Lino, M.I. Silveira, G. Font, Y. Picó, Assessment of pesticide residues in honey samples from Portugal and Spain, J. Agric. Food Chem., 51 (2003) 8132-8138.

[10] A.D. Godwin, Plasticizers, in: Applied Plastics Engineering Handbook (Second Edition), Elsevier, 2017, pp. 533-553.

[11] R. Navarro, M.P. Perrino, M.G. Tardajos, H. Reinecke, Phthalate Plasticizers Covalently Bound to PVC: Plasticization with Suppressed Migration, Macromolecules, 43 (2010) 2377-2381.

[12] E. Fasano, F. Bono-Blay, T. Cirillo, P. Montuori, S. Lacorte, Migration of phthalates, alkylphenols, bisphenol A and di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate from food packaging, Food Control, 27 (2012) 132-138.

[13] M. Wagner, J. Oehlmann, Endocrine disruptors in bottled mineral water: total estrogenic burden and migration from plastic bottles, Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 16 (2009) 278-286.

[14] EC, EU Commission Directive 1935/2004, 2023/2006/EC, (2006).

[15] EC, EU Commission Directive 10/2011/UE (2011).

[16] Food Packaging Regulations, in, Health Canada, Government of Canada, 2018.

[17] Canada Consumer Product Safety Act. Phthalates Regulations (SOR/2016.188), in: Government of Canada (Ed.).

[18] V. Lo Turco, G. Di Bella, A.G. Potorti, M.R. Fede, G. Dugo, Determination of plasticizer residues in tea by solid phase extraction-gas chromatography-mass spectrometry, Eur. Food Res. Technol., 240 (2015) 451-458.

[19] X.L. Bi, X.J. Pan, S.J. Yuan, Q.Q. Wang, Plasticizer Contamination in Edible Vegetable Oil in a U.S. Retail Market, J. Agric. Food Chem., 61 (2013) 9502-9509.

[20] G.M. Dugo, V. Fotia, V. Lo Turco, R. Maisano, A.G. Potorti, A. Salvo, G. Di Bella, Phthalate, adipate and sebacate residues by HRGC-MS in olive oils from Sicily and Molise (Italy), Food Control, 22 (2011) 982-988.

[21] Y.W. Ma, Y. Hashi, F. Ji, J.M. Lin, Determination of phthalates in fruit jellies by dispersive SPE coupled with HPLC-MS, J. Sep. Sci., 33 (2010) 251-257.

[22] A.S. Silva, J. Cruz Freire, R. Sendón, R. Franz, P. Paseiro Losada, Migration and diffusion of diphenylbutadiene from packages into foods, J. Agric. Food Chem., 57 (2009) 10225-10230.

[23] K. Inoue, S. Murayama, K. Takeba, Y. Yoshimura, H. Nakazawa, Contamination of xenoestrogens bisphenol A and F in honey: safety assessment and analytical method of these compounds in honey, Journal of Food Composition and analysis, 16 (2003) 497-506.

[24] J.H. Zhou, Y.T. Qi, H.M. Wu, Q.Y. Diao, F.F. Tian, Y. Li, Simultaneous determination of trace migration of phthalate esters in honey and royal jelly by GC-MS, J. Sep. Sci., 37 (2014) 650-657.

[25] V. Lo Turco, G. Di Bella, A.G. Potorti, A. Tropea, E.K. Casale, M.R. Fede, G. Dugo, Determination of plasticisers and BPA in Sicilian and Calabrian nectar honeys by selected ion monitoring GC/MS, Food Addit. Contam. Part A-Chem., 33 (2016) 1693-1699.

[26] M. Cesen, D. Lambropoulou, M. Laimou-Geraniou, T. Kosjek, U. Blaznik, D. Heath, E. Heath, Determination of bisphenols and related compounds in honey and their migration from selected food contact materials, J. Agric. Food Chem., 64 (2016) 8866-8875.

[27] X.L. Cao, W.D. Zhao, R. Dabeka, Di-(2-ethylhexyl) adipate and 20 phthalates in composite food samples from the 2013 Canadian Total Diet Study, Food Additives and Contaminants Part a-Chemistry Analysis Control Exposure & Risk Assessment, 32 (2015) 1893-1901.

[28] Y.P. Koo, N. Yahaya, W.A.W. Omar, Analysis of Dibutyl Phthalate and Oleamide in Stingless Bee Honey Harvested from Plastic Cups, Sains Malaysiana, 46 (2017) 449-455.

[29] J.F. Garcia-Reyes, M.D. Hernando, A. Molina-Diaz, A.R. Fernandez-Alba, Comprehensive screening of target, non-target and unknown pesticides in food by LC-TOF-MS, Trac-Trend. Anal. Chem., 26 (2007) 828-841.

[30] R. Diaz, M. Ibanez, J.V. Sancho, F. Hernandez, Target and non-target screening strategies for organic contaminants, residues and illicit substances in food, environmental and human biological samples by UHPLC-QTOF-MS, Anal. Methods, 4 (2012) 196-209.

[31] E.N. Pieke, K. Granby, X. Trier, J. Smedsgaard, A framework to estimate concentrations of potentially unknown substances by semi-quantification in liquid chromatography electrospray ionization mass spectrometry, Analytica Chimica Acta, 975 (2017) 30-41.

[32] A. von Eyken, D. Furlong, S. Arooni, F. Butterworth, J.F. Roy, J. Zweigenbaum, S. Bayen, Direct injection high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to data independent acquisition mass spectrometry for the screening of antibiotics in honey, J. Food Drug Anal., (Accepted for publication) (2018).

[33] A. von Eyken, S. Bayen, Optimization of the data treatment steps of a non-targeted LC-MS based workflow for the identification of trace residues in honey, Submitted to Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry, (2018).

[34] J. Wang, D. Leung, The challenges of developing a generic extraction procedure to analyze multi-class veterinary drug residues in milk and honey using ultra-high pressure liquid chromatography quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry, Drug Testing and Analysis, 4 (2012) 103-111.

[35] T. Sangster, H. Major, R. Plumb, A.J. Wilson, I.D. Wilson, A pragmatic and readily implemented quality control strategy for HPLC-MS and GC-MS-based metabonomic analysis, Analyst, 131 (2006) 1075-1078.

[36] A.M. Knolhoff, J.A. Zweigenbaum, T.R. Croley, Nontargeted screening of food matrices: development of a chemometric software strategy to identify unknowns in liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry data, Anal. Chem., 88 (2016) 3617-3623.

[37] Agilent Technologies, MassHunter Profinder Software B.08.00 User Manual, in, 2016.

[38] Commission Regulation of 12 August 2002 implementing Council Directive 96/23/EC concerning the performance of analytical methods and the interpretation of results (2002/657/EC), Official Journal of the European Union, (2002) 8-36.

[39] Council Directive 96/23/EC of 29 April 1996 on measures to monitor certain substances and residues thereof in live animals and animal products and repealing Directives 85/358/EEC and 86/469/EEC and Decisions 89/187/EEC and 91/664/EEC, Official Journal of the European Union, (1996) 10-32.

[40] F. Hernandez, M. Ibanez, J.V. Sancho, O.J. Pozo, Comparison of different mass spectrometric techniques combined with liquid chromatography for confirmation of pesticides in environmental water based on the use of identification points, Anal. Chem., 76 (2004) 4349-4357.
[41] Horticulture and Cross Sectoral Division Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Statistical overview of the Canadian honey and bee industry and the economic contribution of honey bee pollination 2016, in, 2017.

[42] E.L. Schymanski, J. Jeon, R. Gulde, K. Fenner, M. Ruff, H.P. Singer, J. Hollender, Identifying Small Molecules via High Resolution Mass Spectrometry: Communicating Confidence, Environmental Science & Technology, 48 (2014) 2097-2098.

[43] Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), National Chemical Residue Monitoring Program. 2013-2014 Report, (2013-2014).

[44] Y. Yamini, M. Ghambarian, M.R. Khalili-Zanjani, M. Faraji, S. Shariati, Comparison of solidification of floating drop and homogenous liquid-liquid microextractions for the extraction of two plasticizers from the water kept in PET-bottles, J. Sep. Sci., 32 (2009) 3201-3208.

[45] X.L. Cao, W. Zhao, R. Churchill, C. Hilts, Occurrence of Di-(2-Ethylhexyl) Adipate and Phthalate Plasticizers in Samples of Meat, Fish, and Cheese and Their Packaging Films, Journal of Food Protection, 77 (2014) 610-620.

[46] J.A. Andresen, A. Grundmann, K. Bester, Organophosphorus flame retardants and plasticisers in surface waters, Sci. Total Environ., 332 (2004) 155-166.

[47] G. Di Bella, A.G. Potorti, V. Lo Turco, M. Saitta, G. Dugo, Plasticizer residues by HRGC-MS in espresso coffees from capsules, pods and moka pots, Food Control, 41 (2014) 185-192.

[48] C. He, X. Wang, S. Tang, P.K. Thai, Z. Li, C. Baduel, J.F. Mueller, Concentrations of organophosphate esters and their specific metabolites in food in southeast Queensland, Australia: is dietary exposure an important pathway of organophosphate esters and their metabolites?, Environ. Sci. Technol. Just Accepted Manuscript, (2018).

[49] J.J. Ding, T.Q. Deng, M.M. Xu, S. Wang, F.X. Yang, Residuals of organophosphate esters in foodstuffs and implication for human exposure, Environmental Pollution, 233 (2018) 986-991.

[50] European Food Safety Authority (EFSA), Opinion of the Scientific Panel on Food Additives, Flavourings, Processing Aids and Materials in Contact with Food (AFC) on a request from the Commission on the application of a Total Reduction Factor of 5 for di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate used as plasticiser in flexible PVC food packaging films (Question No EFSA-Q-2003-071), The EFSA Journal, 217 (2005).

[51] N. van den Eede, A.C. Dirtu, H. Neels, A. Covaci, Analytical developments and preliminary assessment of human exposure to organophosphate flame retardants from indoor dust, Environ. Int., 37 (2011) 454-461.

[52] B.G. Lake, Coumarin metabolism, toxicity and carcinogenicity: Relevance for human risk assessment, Food Chem. Toxicol., 37 (1999) 423-453.

[53] A.J.D. Silvestre, A. Gandini, Terpenes: Major Sources, Properties and Applications, Elsevier Science Bv, Amsterdam, 2008.

[54] I. Jerkovic, Z. Marijanovic, M.M. Staver, Screening of Natural Organic Volatiles from Prunus mahaleb L. Honey: Coumarin and Vomifoliol as Nonspecific Biomarkers, Molecules, 16 (2011) 2507-2518.

[55] I. Jasicka-Misiak, E. Makowicz, N. Stanek, Polish Yellow Sweet Clover (Melilotus officinalis L.) Honey, Chromatographic Fingerprints, and Chemical Markers, Molecules, 22 (2017) 14.

[56] I.K. Karabagias, A.V. Badeka, S. Kontakos, S. Karabournioti, M.G. Kontominas, Botanical discrimination of Greek unifloral honeys with physico-chemical and chemometric analyses, Food Chem., 165 (2014) 181-190.
[57] P. Singh, A.K. Pandey, Prospective of Essential Oils of the Genus Mentha as Biopesticides: A Review, Front. Plant Sci., 9 (2018) 14.

[58] M.C. Pellegrini, R.M. Alonso-Salces, M.L. Umpierrez, C. Rossini, S.R. Fuselli, Chemical Composition, Antimicrobial Activity, and Mode of Action of Essential Oils against Paenibacillus larvae, Etiological Agent of American Foulbrood on Apis mellifera, Chem. Biodivers., 14 (2017) 18.

[59] Y. Yang, C.Y. Zhao, G.F. Tian, C. Lu, S.J. Zhao, Y.M. Bao, D.J. McClements, H. Xiao, J.K. Zheng, Effects of Preheating and Storage Temperatures on Aroma Profile and Physical Properties of Citrus-Oil Emulsions, J. Agric. Food Chem., 65 (2017) 7781-7789.

[60] J. Cotton, F. Leroux, S. Broudin, M. Marie, B. Corman, J.C. Tabet, C. Ducruix, C. Junot, High-Resolution Mass Spectrometry Associated with Data Mining Tools for the Detection of Pollutants and Chemical Characterization of Honey Samples, J. Agric. Food Chem., 62 (2014) 11335-11345.

[61] N.P. Kalogiouri, R. Aalizadeh, N.S. Thomaidis, Application of an advanced and wide scope non-target screening workflow with LC-ESI-QTOF-MS and chemometrics for the classification of the Greek olive oil varieties, Food Chem., 256 (2018) 53-61.

[62] S.S. Lateef, U. Simha, A. Tei, Differential analysis in screening assays for extractable and leachable compounds., Agilent Technologies Application Note, (2018).

[63] N. Kumar, M.A. Hoque, M. Sugimoto, Robust volcano plot: identification of differential metabolites in the presence of outliers, BMC Bioinformatics, 19 (2018) 11.

[64] D. Mung, L. Li, Applying quantitative metabolomics based on chemical isotope labeling LC-MS for detecting potential milk adulterant in human milk, Analytica Chimica Acta, 1001 (2018) 78-85.

[65] A. Garrido-Lopez, V. Esquiu, M.T. Tena, Determination of oleamide and erucamide in polyethylene films by pressurised fluid extraction and gas chromatography, Journal of Chromatography A, 1124 (2006) 51-56.

[66] Z.J. Ban, J.W. Yan, Y.J. Wang, J.L. Zhang, Q.P. Yuan, L. Li, Effects of postharvest application of chitosan-based layer-by-layer assemblies on regulation of ribosomal and defense proteins in strawberry fruit (Fragaria x ananassa), Sci. Hortic., 240 (2018) 293-302.

183

5.8 SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Detailed identification of compounds

<u>C1</u>

C1 was initially identified with a confidence level of 4 as DEHA (C₂₂H₄₂O₄, m/z 370.3083, total score of 74.09%). MS/MS information for this compound was available in the Agilent Extractable & Leachable LC/QTOF PCDL, so a manual comparison between this and the spectra obtained from the honey samples using the All Ions MS/MS mode was possible. According to the library, the three main peaks in the MS/MS spectrum for positive ionization mode at a collision energy of 10 V were *m/z* 129.0546 (base peak), *m/z* 111.0441 (24% of the base peak) and *m/z* 147.0652 (23% of the base peak). All three peaks were observed in the honey samples, although due to the potential differences between the acquisition methods used in the present study and in the creation of the library the observed relative abundances of *m/z* 111.0441 and *m/z* 147.0652 were different than in the library. The chromatogram of a standard of DEHA was acquired in order to clarify this identification. After seeing that the difference in retention time between the standard and the honey samples was within ± 0.15 min, it was proceeded to identify DEHA following the IPs system established in the 2002/657/EC European Commission Decision [1]. The results of this identification are presented in Table 5.3. Using two ions, the parent ion (MS1) and one fragment (MS2), 4 IPs were achieved with an error in the measured MS2/MS1 ratio below the maximum tolerance limits (Tablele 5.2). Therefore, C1 was successfully identified as DEHA with a confidence level of 1, which is the highest level in the identification system proposed by Schymanski et al. [2].

<u>C2</u>

C2 was initially identified with a confidence level of 4 as TBOEP (C18H39O7P, *m/z* 398.2433, total score of 95.26%). MS/MS information for this compound was available in the Agilent Extractable

& Leachable LC/QTOF PCDL, so a manual comparison between this and the spectra obtained from the honey samples with All-Ions mode was possible. According to the library, the three main peaks in the MS/MS spectrum for positive ionization mode at a collision energy of 10 V were m/z 399.2506 (base peak), m/z 299.1618 (92.28% of the base peak) and m/z 199.0730 (56.75% of the base peak). All three peaks were observed in the honey samples, although the relative abundances of m/z 299.1618 and m/z 199.0730 were different than in the library (35.45% and 17.81%, respectively). The chromatogram of a standard of TBOEP was acquired in order to clarify this identification. After seeing that the difference in retention time between the standard and the honey samples was within ± 0.15 min, it was proceeded to identify TBOEP following the same IPs system as with DEHA. The results of this identification are presented in **Table 5.3**. Using two ions, the parent ion (MS1) and one fragment (MS2), 4 IPs were achieved with an error in the measured MS2/MS1 ratio below the maximum tolerance limits. Therefore, C2 was successfully identified as TBOEP with a confidence level of 1.

<u>G1</u>

The initial identification of G1 with the extractable and leachable library yielded three possible candidates with equal score: methyl-N-hydroxybenzimidate, 2-amino-5-methylbenzoic acid and acetaminophen (C8H9NO2, m/z 151.0633, total score of 99.16%). The compound database used for the identification of the PRCs had MS/MS information for only acetaminophen, so a manual comparison between the spectra in the library and those obtained with All-lons mode from the honey samples was possible for this compound. According to the library, the main peaks in the MS/MS spectrum of acetaminophen using positive ionization mode at a collision energy of 20 V are m/z 110.0600 (base peak), m/z 93.0335 (30% of the base peak) and m/z 152.0706 (6% of the base peak). However, in the honey samples only the peak with m/z 152.0706 was observed. Missing the main peaks of the MS/MS for this compound would seem to indicate that the detected compound was not acetaminophen. To further clarify this identification, as well as to try to obtain more information on the identity of the other two candidates, the MS/MS spectra

of these three compounds was acquired using a targeted MS/MS method. The recorded MS/MS spectra of this compound in honey were processed with the software Molecular Structure Correlator to see whether the structure of any of these 3 candidates would correlate with the MS/MS data. The results showed that the only candidate whose structure would be possible with the MS/MS data from the honey samples was 2-amino-5-methylbenzoic acid. Therefore, the chromatogram of a standard of this compound was acquired in order to verify the identification. Unfortunately, the retention time difference between the standard and the compound found in honey was over 7 min, so the initial identification of G1 was also erroneous. Since the only structure proposed by the Molecular Structure Correlator was proved to be erroneous, the identity of G1 remains unknown.

<u>P1</u>

Compound P1 was initially identified with a confidence level of 4 as ethinylcyclohexanol (C₈H₁₂O, m/z 124.0888, total score of 76.73%). Since the library used for the identification had no MS/MS information for this compound, the recorded MS/MS spectra were processed with the Molecular Structure Correlator software to see if any of the proposed structures would match that of ethinylcyclohexanol. Unfortunately, no structures were found in any of the searched libraries that would match the MS/MS spectra recorded for this compound. The misidentification of this compound was finally confirmed by comparison with an ethinylcyclohexanol standard, which presented a difference in retention time of over 1.5 min. The identity of P1 remains unknown since no structures in any of the consulted libraries matched the recorded spectra for this compound in honey.



Figure S5.1. Chromatographic peak and MS/MS spectra of DEHA in standard solution (A) and in one of the honey samples in which it was detected (B)

187



Figure S5.2. Chromatographic peak and MS/MS spectra of TBOEP in standard solution (A) and in one of the honey samples in which it was detected (B)

188



Figure S5.3. Loading plot of PC1 and PC3 of the PCA presented in Figure 5.3.

Sample	Type of	Sampling	Colour ^a	Type of Botanical origin		Geographical
	container	year		farming		origin
H1	Glass	2016	Amber	Non-organic	Wildflowers	USA
H2	Glass	2016	White	Non-organic	Clover	Canada
H3	Glass	2016	White	Non-organic	Acacia	France
H4	Glass	2016	White	Non-organic	Clover	Canada
H5	Glass	2016	Golden	Non-organic	Meadow and	Canada
					wildflowers (vetch,	
					sweet clover, clover,	
					milkweed)	
H6	Glass	2016	Dark	Non-organic	Unknown	Canada
H7	Glass	2016	Golden	Organic	Unknown	Canada
H8	Glass	2016	Golden	Non-organic	Clover	Canada
H9	Glass	2016	Golden	Non-organic	Forest honey	Canada
H10	Glass	2016	Golden	Organic	Summer flowers	Canada
					(white clover,	
					melilot, raspberry	
					bush, alfalfa, linden,	
					Wildflowers)	
H11	Glass	2016	White	Non-organic	Unknown	Canada
H12	Glass	2016	White	Non-organic	Wildflowers	Canada
H13	Glass	2016	White	Non-organic	Clover	Canada
H14	Glass	2016	White	Organic	Wildflowers	Canada
H15	Glass	2017	Golden	Non-organic	Wildflowers	Bulgaria,
						Guatemala,

Table S5.1. List of honey	v samples and detailed	l information as obtain	ed from their labels.
	y sumples and actaned		

Mexico, Spain,

Thailand and

H16	Glass	2017	Golden	Non-organic	Orange blossom	Spain
H17	Glass	2017	Golden	Non-organic	Unknown	Canada
H18	Glass	2017	Dark	Non-organic	Buckwheat	Canada
H19	Glass	2017	White	Non-organic	Meadow flowers	Canada
					(spring flowers)	
H20	Glass	2017	White	Non-organic	Unknown	Canada
H21	Glass	2017	Amber	Non-organic	Wildflowers (fall	Canada
					flowers)	
H22	Glass	2017	Amber	Non-organic	Wildflowers	Canada
H23	Glass	2017	White	Non-organic	Clover	Canada
H24	Glass	2017	White	Non-organic	Clover	Canada
H25	Glass	2017	White	Non-organic	Clover, alfalfa, and	Canada
					Wildflowers (summer	
					flowers)	
H26	Glass	2017	White	Non-organic	Clover	Canada
H27	Glass	2017	Golden	Non-organic	Goldenrod	Canada
H28	Glass	2017	Golden	Organic	Acacia	Brazil
H29	Glass	2017	Golden	Non-organic	Unknown	Canada
H30	Glass	2017	Golden	Non-organic	Wildflowers	Canada
H31	Glass	2017	White	Non-organic	Blueberry	Canada
H32	Glass	2017	White	Non-organic	Wildflowers	Canada
H33	Glass	2017	Golden	Non-organic	Lavender	Portugal
H34	Glass	2017	Amber	Non-organic	Unknown	India
H35	Glass	2017	White	Non-organic	Acacia	Poland
H36	Glass	2017	Golden	Non-organic	Clover Canac	
H37	Glass	2017	Amber	Non-organic	Fall flowers	Canada

H38	Glass	2017	White	Non-organic	Unknown	Canada
H39	Glass	2018	Amber	Non-organic	Wildflowers	Canada
H40	Glass	2018	Amber	Non-organic	Unknown	Greece
H41	Glass	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Wildflowers	Canada
H42	Glass	2018	Dark	Non-organic	Buckwheat	Canada
H43	Glass	2018	White	Non-organic	Buckwheat	Canada
H44	Glass	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Wildflowers	Canada
H45	Glass	2018	Dark	Non-organic	Buckwheat	Canada
H46	Glass	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Apple blossom	Canada
H47	Glass	2018	White	Non-organic	Clover	Canada
H48	Glass	2018	White	Non-organic	Clover	Canada
H49	Glass	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Sunflower	Canada
H50	Glass	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Clover	Canada
H51	Glass	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Goldenrod honey	Canada
H52	Glass	2018	White	Non-organic	Clover	Canada
H53	Glass	2018	Amber	Non-organic	Blueberry	Canada
H54	Glass	2018	Amber	Non-organic	Wildflowers	Canada
H55	Glass	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Multiflora	Canada
H56	Glass	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Multiflora	Canada
H57	Glass	2018	Amber	Non-organic	Eucalyptus	Spain
H58	Glass	2018	Amber	Non-organic	Eucalyptus	Italy
H59	Glass	2018	White	Organic	Acacia	Italy
H60	Glass	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Summer flowers	Canada
H61	Glass	2018	Dark	Organic	Buckwheat,	Canada
					goldenrod, aster,	
					milkweed	
H62	Glass	2018	White	Non-organic	Raw summer honey	Canada
H63	Glass	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Wildflowers	Canada

H64	Glass	2018	Dark	Non-organic	Buckwheat	Canada
H65	Glass	2018	Amber	Non-organic	Spring flowers	Canada
H66	Glass	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Camelina	Canada
H67	Glass	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Tree of heaven	Italy
H68	Glass	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Coriander	Italy
H69	Glass	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Tree of heaven	Italy
H70	Glass	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Apple	Italy
H71	Glass	2018	Amber	Non-organic	Forest honey	Italy
H72	Glass	2018	White	Non-organic	Unknown	Canada
H73	Glass	2018	White	Non-organic	Unknown	Canada
H74	Plastic	2016	Golden	Non-organic	Clover	Canada
	(PET ^b)					
H75	Plastic	2016	Amber	Non-organic	Unknown	Australia
	(PET)					
H76	Plastic	2016	Golden	Organic	Unknown	Brazil
	(Unknown)					
H77	Plastic	2016	Amber	Organic	Wildflowers	Brazil
	(Unknown)					
H78	Plastic	2016	White	Non-organic	Acacia	Hungary
	(Unknown)					
H79	Plastic	2016	Amber	Organic	Unknown	Australia and
	(PET)					Brazil
H80	Plastic	2016	Golden	Non-organic	Unknown	Canada
	(PET)					
H81	Plastic	2016	Dark	Organic	Beechwood	New Zealand
	(Unknown)					
H82	Plastic	2016	White	Non-organic	Clover	Canada
	(Unknown)					

H83	Plastic	2016	Amber	Organic	Unknown	Brazil
	(PET)					
H84	Plastic	2016	White	Non-organic	Clover	Canada
	(LDPE ^c)					
H85	Plastic	2016	Dark	Non-organic	Manuka	Australia and
	(PET)					New Zealand
H86	Plastic	2017	Amber	Organic	Unknown	Brazil
	(PET)					
H87	Plastic	2017	White	Non-organic	Unknown	Canada
	(PET)					
H88	Plastic	2017	Amber	Non-organic	Eucalyptus	Brazil
	(PET)					
H89	Plastic	2017	Amber	Non-organic	Unknown	India
	(Unknown)					
H90	Plastic	2017	Golden	Non-organic	Unknown	Hungary
	(PET)					
H91	Plastic	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Unknown	Canada
	(Unknown)					
H92	Plastic	2018	Dark	Non-organic	Buckwheat	Canada
	(LDPE)					
H93	Plastic	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Wildflowers	Canada
	(LDPE)					
H94	Plastic	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Clover	Canada
	(LDPE)					
H95	Plastic	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Blueberry	Canada
	(LDPE)					
H96	Plastic	2018	Amber	Non-organic	Unknown	Canada
	(PET)					

H97	Plastic	2018	Amber	Non-organic	Blueberry	Canada
	(PET)					
H98	Plastic	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Clover	Canada
	(PET)					
H99	Plastic	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Unknown	Canada
	(PET)					
H100	Plastic	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Clover	Canada
	(PET)					
H101	Plastic	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Blueberry	Canada
	(PET)					
H102	Plastic	2018	Golden	Non-organic	Orange	Australia and
	(PET)					Brazil
H103	Plastic	2018	Amber	Organic	Unknown	Brazil, Canada
	(PET)					and Mexico
H104	Plastic	2018	Dark	Non-organic	Buckwheat	Canada
	(PET)					

^a In the cases where the colour of the honey was not specified in the label, this was determined by visual comparison with other samples of similar colour whose colour was specified by the manufacturer in the label.

^b PET = Polyethylene terephthalate

^c LDPE = Low-density polyethylene

Exact	Retention	Proposed	Proposed compound name	Score	% Detection	% Detection	p-value
mass (Da)	time (min)	formula		(%)	in plastic	in glass	
85.0889	4.344	C5H11N	Piperidine	85.97	6	0	0.0286
115.0634	4.253	C5H9NO2	N-Methylolmethacrylamide	85.77	13	1	0.0119
122.0366	5.438	C7H6O2	Benzoic acid	76.99	23	7	0.0216
122.0371	9.061	C7H6O2	Benzoic acid	81.48	23	7	0.0216
122.0727	11.36	C8H10O	2,4-Xylenol	85.51	61	29	0.0018
122.0732	13.289	C8H10O	2-Ethylphenol	76.02	13	3	0.0420
124.0877	12.453	C8H12O	Ethinylcyclohexanol	76.73	39	7	< 0.0001
126.0321	6.044	C6H6O3	Pyrogallol	84.86	42	21	0.0245
132.0938	16.927	C10H12	Dicyclopentadiene	82.55	10	0	0.0070
136.0888	14.952	C9H12O	α - α -Dimethylbenzenemethanol	98.94	42	18	0.0093
138.1045	15.233	C9H14O	3,5,5-Trimethylcyclohexenone	93.83	39	18	0.0225
139.0997	4.051	C8H13NO	Vinylcaprolactam	86.74	32	7	0.0007
146.0366	8.761	C9H6O2	Coumarin	79.48	16	1	0.0031
148.0531	7.222	C9H8O2	Cinnamic acid	84.11	94	68	0.0062
150.1039	12.713	C4H14O	4-tert-Butylphenol (PTBP)	85.26	55	25	0.0029

Table S5.2. List of 40 features with higher frequency in honey samples sold in plastic jars along with their proposed formula, compound name and total score after screening with the Agilent Extractable & Leachable LC/QTOF PCDL database.

150.1044	13.347	C4H14O	4-tert-Butylphenol (PTBP)	75.17	29	10	0.0119
151.0627	5.022	C8H9NO2	Acetaminophen	97.97	42	22	0.0373
162.1029	11.374	C11H14O	4'-Isopropylacetophenone	71.50	39	16	0.0137
162.1267	12.682	C8H18O3	Butyl carbitol	80.21	55	29	0.0116
162.1401	13.765	C12H18	1,3-Diisopropylbenzene	80.95	10	1	0.0439
164.0828	14.982	C10H12O2	2-tert-Butyl-1,4-benzoquinone	70.47	39	16	0.0137
166.0990	12.306	C10H14O2	tert-Butylhydroquinone (TBHQ)	77.50	16	3	0.0127
168.0421	5.369	C8H8O4	Dehydroacetic acid	86.05	23	8	0.0428
176.1191	10.986	N.I. ^a	N.I.	N.I.	13	1	0.0119
180.0797	13.059	C10H12O3	Isopropyl 4-hydroxybenzoate	81.59	10	1	0.0439
180.1149	11.260	C11H16O2	3-tert-Butyl-4-hydroxyanisole	84.78	45	16	0.0020
			(BHA)				
182.0729	13.916	C13H10O	Benzophenone	75.24	10	0	0.0070
208.0165	5.928	C6H12N2S3	Tetramethylthiuram monosulfide	93.38	19	5	0.0281
208.0168	6.086	C6H12N2S3	Tetramethylthiuram monosulfide	78.21	32	12	0.0161
208.1462	14.310	C13H20O2	Isobornyl acrylate	92.95	10	0	0.0070
218.1157	6.904	C10H18O5	2-Hydroxysebacic acid	78.5	10	0	0.0070
230.1521	16.290	C12H22O4	Diisopropyl adipate	98.12	39	19	0.0354
235.1552	9.515	N.I.	N.I.	N.I.	52	27	0.0176

236.1029	14.972	C13H16O4	Monopentyl phthalate	82.26	52	29	0.0260
281.2712	7.699	C18H35NO	Oleamide	81.97	10	0	0.0070
299.9496	4.812	C4HF9O3S	Perfluorobutanesulfonic acid	80.03	26	10	0.0313
			(PFBS)				
370.3086	18.966	C22H42O4	DEHA ^b	74.09	87	68	0.0478
390.2784	18.969	C24H38O4	Di(2-ethylhexyl) terephthalate	94.86	13	3	0.0420
			(DHT)				
414.2071	17.252	N.I.	N.I.	N.I.	13	3	0.042
446.3401	20.374	N.I.	N.I.	N.I.	29	11	0.0226

^a N.I. = Not Identified (no formula proposed by the software with a score above 70%).

^b The identity of this compound was confirmed with a standard with a confidence level of 1.

Table S5.3. List of 13 features with a higher frequency in honey samples sold in glass jars along with their proposed formula, compound name and total score after screening with the Agilent Extractable & Leachable LC/QTOF PCDL database.

Exact	Retention	Proposed	Proposed compound name	Score	%	%	p-value
mass (Da)	time (min)	formula		(%)	Detection	Detection	
					in plastic	in glass	
108.0223	3.679	C6H4O2	Benzoquinone	77.64	3	18	0.0463
120.0933	11.895	C9H12	Cumene	77.96	6	25	0.0312
137.0846	3.414	C8H11NO	p-Phenetidine	86.05	6	32	0.0062
151.0634	4.939	C8H9NO2	Acetaminophen	99.16	3	49	< 0.0001
162.1053	12.556	C11H14O	4'-Isopropylacetophenone	76.02	61	81	0.0354
164.0835	9.295	C10H12O2	2-tert-Butyl-1,4-benzoquinone	86.93	29	55	0.0161
166.0265	15.368	C8H6O4	1,3-Benzenedicarboxylic acid	96.18	29	56	0.0113
166.0631	7.017	C9H10O3	Ethylparaben	78.10	0	12	0.0408
186.1162	9.973	C12H14N2	N-1-Naphthylehtylenediamine (NEDA)	98.45	0	15	0.0223
208.1483	8.774	C13H20O2	Isobornyl acrylate	71.81	0	19	0.0088
228.0790	17.006	C14H12O3	Oxybenzone	95.36	10	29	0.0346
256.0733	16.279	C15H12O4	Monobenzyl phthalate	99.30	74	93	0.0075
530.4704	21.764	C35H62O3	Irganox 1076	84.12	10	29	0.0346

5.9 SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REFERENCES

[1] Commission Regulation of 12 August 2002 implementing Council Directive 96/23/EC concerning the performance of analytical methods and the interpretation of results (2002/657/EC), Official Journal of the European Union, (2002) 8-36.

[2] E.L. Schymanski, J. Jeon, R. Gulde, K. Fenner, M. Ruff, H.P. Singer, J. Hollender, Identifying Small Molecules via High Resolution Mass Spectrometry: Communicating Confidence, Environ. Sci. Technol., 48 (2014) 2097-2098.

CONNECTING PARAGRAPH

The main steps of the non-targeted workflow for the analysis of trace organic contaminants in honey were studied in detail and optimized in Chapters 3 to 5. Having completed this, Chapter 6 uses the method developed in the previous chapters for the study of the thermal degradation of tylosin A, a veterinary drug, in honey, as well as the determination of its potentially unknown degradation products. Additionally, the possibility of a semi-quantification of tylosin B using its parent compound, tylosin A, is assessed, which closes the non-targeted workflow development. Chapter 6 will be submitted for publication in Food Research International: A. von Eyken, S. Bayen; *Non-targeted study of the thermal degradation of tylosin in honey and water*.

CHAPTER 6: NON-TARGETED STUDY OF THE THERMAL DEGRADATION OF TYLOSIN IN

HONEY AND WATER

6.1 Abstract

Tylosin A, a macrolide antibiotic used in beekeeping, is known to undergo thermal degradation in aqueous solution and in honey. Its degradation kinetics in these matrices after different treatments have been described before, leading to the formation of tylosin B as the only known degradation product in honey. However, the degradation studies in honey were performed following a targeted analysis approach (i.e. monitoring only the evolution of tylosin A and tylosin B concentrations using standards), which did not allow the identification of any unknown degradation products. The aim of the study was to characterize the behaviour of tylosin A in honey after heating and during storage, and to identify its degradation products using a nontargeted approach. In addition, the possibility of a semi-quantification of tylosin B using tylosin A was assessed as a case study for the semi-quantification of degradation products using the parent compounds. The results showed significant degradation of tylosin A in aqueous solution (~96%) as well as in spiked and incurred honey (~50% and ~29%, respectively) after heating at 100°C during 90 min. However, at a lower heating temperature of 70°C, degradation was only observed in water (~31%). When stored at room temperature (27°C) for one year, tylosin A degraded significantly (~47%) in an incurred honey sample. Tylosin B, the only reported degradation product of tylosin A in honey so far, increased significantly in aqueous solution under all treatments, but it only increased in spiked honey after heating at 100°C. Two new degradation products, namely OMT and lactenocin, were tentatively identified in water and spiked honey after heating at 100°C. The results of the present study reinforce the conclusion that relying only on the water model or spiked food matrix is not sufficient to understand the thermal degradation of antibiotics in food matrices. Finally, a semi-quantification of tylosin B with a relative error of 20% in an incurred honey sample was possible using the response factor of tylosin A, its parent compound. The results of this study prove that a semi-quantification using the parent compound to quantify its degradation compound can provide satisfactory results, but this will be analytedependent.

6.2 INTRODUCTION

Tylosin is a macrolide antibiotic produced by fermentation from a strain of the soil microorganism *Streptomyces fradiae* [1]. As shown in **Figure 6.1**, tylosin consists of one major component, tylosin A, and three minor components: desmycosin (tylosin B), macrocin (tylosin C) and relomycin (tylosin D). While most of the microbiological activity resides with tylosin A, tylosin B, C and D have approximately 83%, 75% and 35% of the activity of tylosin A, respectively [2]. In honey bees, tylosin is used for the control of American foulbrood, a highly contagious disease caused by the sporeforming bacterium *Paenibacillus larvae*, which is the most virulent brood disease known in bees [3]. Tylosin A is the major component in the tylosin commercial products applied to the honeybees [4].

Regarding the potential toxicity to humans, tylosin has been found to be relatively non-toxic in mammal models, leading to an acceptable daily intake of 0-30 µg.kg⁻¹ bw [5]. However, the World Health Organization Advisory Group on Integrated Surveillance of Antimicrobial Resistance classified tylosin as a critically important antibiotic for human medicine, as it is the veterinary analog to some human medicines that are part of a limited available therapy to treat several diseases, and also because some of the pathogens that are treated with tylosin may be transmitted to humans from non-human sources [6]. This underlines the need to fully characterize the occurrence and the stability of tylosin A all along the food supply chain.

Residues of tylosin A and B are commonly reported in honey samples. The Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), in their 2013-2014 National Chemical Residue Monitoring Program report, detected tylosin A in up to 10.05% of the tested domestic honeys and 6.10% of honeys imported to Canada [7]. In the same report, tylosin B was detected in 19.74% of domestic honeys and was the most prevalent residue in imported honeys (14.71% detection). It should be however highlighted that the concentration of tylosin reported by the CFIA rarely exceeded the maximum residue limit (MRL) for these substances in honey, which is 0.2 mg.kg⁻¹ for the sum of tylosin A and B [8].



Figure 6.1. Chemical structures of tylosin components.

Some information on the physicochemical and biological degradation of tylosin A has been reported in the literature. Mitchell *et al.* studied the degradation of tylosin A in aqueous solutions and reported half-lives for the hydrolysis of tylosin A at 60°C of 1.1 days at pH 4, and 3.5 days at pH 9 [9]. Based on tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS) data, the presumed degradation pathways of tylosin A under these conditions were proposed, leading to 3 degradation products other than tylosin B (see **Table S6.1**) [9]. In animal models, ingested tylosin is metabolized primarily in the liver into four major metabolites and several minor metabolites, the major metabolic pathway being the reduction of tylosin A to tylosin D [10]. In addition, tylosin A has 205

been found to be the only macrolide antibiotic able to absorb sunlight and undergo photochemical degradation, resulting in the formation of the photoisomer γ/δ -*cis*-tylosin [11]. **Table S6.1** summarizes the molecular formula, the exact mass and the structure of tylosin A and all its related compounds described in the literature to date, including the degradation products and biosynthesis precursors.

There are also some reports on the degradation of tylosin A in honey. These studies were performed following a targeted analysis approach, i.e. they monitor only the evolution of tylosin A and tylosin B concentrations using analytical standards. For example, Kochansky *et al.* studied the stability of tylosin A and B in honey during storage in the dark at 34°C, approximating hive conditions, and found that tylosin A had a half-life time of 130 days under these conditions [12]. The concentration of tylosin B increased over the same period of time, indicating that tylosin B is stable in honey for up to 9 months. In a similar study conducted at higher temperatures, tylosin A in honey was found to degrade into tylosin B following a first-order kinetic model, with half-lives of 9 days at 50°C, 9 h at 80°C, and 48 min at 110°C [13]. In honey stored at 80°C and 110°C, tylosin B was found to decay into unknown products [13]. To-date, no comprehensive non-targeted study of the behaviour of tylosin A in honey has been reported.

When performing degradation studies with a non-targeted approach, the two main steps of the data treatment that need to be optimized are the identification and quantification of new substances. Although progresses have been made on the identification of non-targeted substances in food matrices, to date providing quantitative information in the absence of a pure analytical standard remains a challenge as the response factor (RF) is unknown [14, 15]. Three approaches have been proposed to address this issue and provide a semi-quantification of the concentration of the analytes: *in silico* ionization prediction [16, 17], semi-quantification based on chemical similarity [18-20] and semi-quantification based on similar chromatographic behaviour [21].

In the case of degradation products of known contaminants, some authors suggested a semiquantification of the degradation products using the response factor of the parent compound. This method has been applied to estimate the levels of the degradation products of chlortetracycline and demeclocycline in agricultural soils and drainage waters [22]. Although this approach seems to lead to some reasonable estimates of the concentrations, to date no validation of this approach has been reported.

The aim of the study was to characterize the behaviour of tylosin A in honey after heating and during storage, and to identify its degradation products using a non-targeted approach. In addition, the semi-quantification of tylosin B using tylosin A was assessed as a case study for the semi-quantification of degradation products using the parent compounds in non-targeted analysis.

6.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

6.3.1 Chemicals and reagents

An analytical standard of tylosin A was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO, USA). Tylosin B was purchased from Toku-E (Bellingham, WA, USA). HPLC grade solvents (water, methanol and acetonitrile), as well as LC/MS grade formic acid were all purchased at Fisher Scientific (Pittsburgh, PA, USA). Stock standards of tylosin A and B were prepared in methanol. LC/MS grade acetic acid and sodium hydroxide (99.99% purity) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO, USA).

6.3.2 Honey Samples

Four honey samples (H1-H4) were obtained from different stores in Canada in May 2016. All 4 samples were preliminary tested for tylosin A and B, and the results confirmed their absence in samples H1, H2 and H3, while sample H4 had detectable amounts of both tylosin A and B [23].

For this reason, samples H1-H3 were selected as matrix blanks for the validation of the semiquantification approach, and sample H4 was used for the degradation studies. In addition, H1 was also used as a matrix blank for the degradation studies. The pH of samples H1 and H4 was measured following the method described by the International Honey Commission [24], which gave a value of 4.05 and 4.36 for samples H1 and H4, respectively. All samples were transferred from their original container to 40 mL amber glass vials and kept at -18°C until analysis.

6.3.3 Sample Preparation

6.3.3.1 Thermal degradation in water (70 and 100°C)

A summary of all the degradation experiments realized in the present study in aqueous solution and honey samples is presented in Figure 6.2. Separate working solutions of tylosin A (25.2 nmol. L^{-1}) and tylosin B (25.9 nmol. L^{-1}), which would correspond to the concentration after extraction of a honey sample 10 times above the MRL [8], were made up from the stock standard using HPLC grade water. pH was adjusted to 3.60 with acetic acid and sodium hydroxide to mimic the usually acidic pH of honey [25]. Aliquots (1 mL, n=5) were transferred into 2 mL amber glass vials and were heated in a water bath. Two temperatures (70 and 100°C) were selected as they simulate the use of honey as a sweetener in hot beverages and in baked goods. The selected heating time for this and the other heating experiments in the present study was 90 min, since according to the literature at least some degradation should be observed for both temperatures in both water and honey after this time [9, 13, 26]. Some of the reported studies on the degradation of tylosin extended the heating time to up to several hours [13]. However, when thinking of the degradation of tylosin in food matrices during heating in a real-life scenario, such long cooking times would rarely happen. For this reason, 90 min were selected as a compromise between achieving some degradation and being somehow representative of a real cooking situation.

After 90 minutes, samples were cooled down rapidly in cold water, and were kept at -18°C prior to LC-MS analysis. Five replicates of the same solutions were prepared as above but were not heated. Ten procedural blanks (5 heated and 5 non-heated) were prepared as above without any tylosin. Additionally, 5 Quality Control (QC) samples were prepared by mixing equal volumes of all the extracted samples. Such QC samples are used in non-targeted analysis as indicators of the quality of the analysis and to detect any possible instrumental artifacts such as any drifts in mass accuracy or retention time (RT). Post analysis, the results of the QC samples can be examined visually, generally through an unsupervised method such as Principal Component Analysis (PCA), to give an indication of the reproducibility of the analysis [27].

6.3.3.2 Thermal degradation in honey (70 and 100°C)

For this experiment, 0.2 g of honey sample (H1 and H4) were dissolved in 3.6 mL of water to obtain a 5.6% (w/v) solution of honey. This ratio corresponds approximately to the concentration of honey when used as sweetener in hot beverages (about 2 teaspoons per cup). Another solution was prepared as above using honey sample H1 spiked with a mixture of tylosin A and B standards (442.6 and 526.6 nmol.kg⁻¹ in honey, respectively). Aliquots (1 mL, n=5) of each of these solutions ("H1", "spiked H1" and "H4") were transferred into 2 mL amber glass vials and were heated in a water bath (70 and 100°C). After 90 min, samples were cooled down rapidly in cold water. The sample preparation from here was adapted from a previous study [23]. Briefly, 1 mL of acetonitrile was added to obtain a water/acetonitrile (1:1 v/v) solution. Prior to injection into the HPLC system, extracts were further diluted with water to a final concentration corresponding to 1% of honey (w/v). Five replicates of each honey sample (H1, spiked H1 and H4) were prepared following the same procedure but without heating, along with 5 heated and 5 non-heated procedural blanks. Sample H1 was used as a matrix blank for both spiked H1 and H4 because it was not possible to acquire sample H4 non-incurred (which would constitute a true matrix blank). Five QCs were also prepared as explained in section 6.3.3.1.

6.3.3.3 Degradation in honey during storage

For the storage experiment, 1 mL of honey samples H1 and H4 were transferred into 2 mL amber glass vials (n=5 for each honey) and stored in an oven maintained at $27 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C for one year. After this time, approximately 0.2 g of honey was weighed in a glass conic tube and 2 mL of a mixture of acetonitrile and water 1:1 was added. Samples were vortexed for about 2 min, or until the honey was completely dissolved, and then filtered through a 0.22 µm PTFE filter from Chrom4 (Thüringen, Germany). Prior to the injection into the HPLC system, the extract was further diluted with water to a final concentration corresponding to 1% of honey (w/v). Sample H1 was used as a matrix blank for sample H4. Five QCs were also prepared as explained in section 6.3.3.1.



Figure 6.2. Summary of the degradation experiments conducted in water and in honey.

6.3.3.4 Semi-quantification of tylosin B

Honey samples H1-H3 spiked with tylosin A and B were used as a case study for the semiquantification approach. Approximately 0.2 g of honey was weighed in a glass conic tube and 2 mL of a mixture of acetonitrile and water 1:1 was added. Samples were vortexed for about 2 min, or until the honey was completely dissolved, and then filtered through a 0.22 μ m PTFE filter from Chrom4 (Thüringen, Germany). Prior to the injection into the HPLC system, the extract was further diluted with water to a final concentration corresponding to 1% of honey (w/v). Aliquots (1 mL) of each of these diluted extracts were spiked with 50 μ L of a mixture of tylosin A and B at 7 different levels corresponding to 0.007-3.4 μ g.g⁻¹ honey, in order to evaluate the semiquantification approach at different concentrations.

6.3.4 Instrument analysis

Samples were analyzed following a previously developed method [23]. A 1290 series LC system from Agilent Technologies (Santa Clara, CA, USA) equipped with an InfinityLab Poroshell 120 Phenyl Hexyl (3.0 x 100 mm, 2.7 μm) column fitted with an InfinityLab Poroshell 120 Ec-C18 (3.0 x 5 mm, 2.7 µm) guard column, both from Agilent Technologies. The mobile phase consisted in water (solvent A) and methanol (solvent B), both with 0.1% formic acid, at a flow rate of 0.2 mL.min⁻¹. The mobile phase gradient profile was as follows: 1 min 5% B, from 1 to 15 min gradient to 100% B, from 15 to 20 min 100 % B, from 20 to 20.10 min gradient to 5% B and from 20.10 to 25 min 5% B. The injection volume was 20 μ L and the column temperature was set to 20°C. The LC system was coupled to a 6545 series Q-TOF from Agilent Technologies (Santa Clara, CA, USA) equipped with a Dual AJS ESI ion source operating in positive ionization mode. Drying gas temperature was 325°C with a flow of 5 L.min⁻¹, sheath gas temperature was 275°C with a flow of 12 L.min⁻¹, the pressure on the nebulizer was 20 psi, the capillary voltage was 4000 V, the fragmentor voltage was 175 V, the skimmer voltage was 65 V and the nozzle voltage was 2000 V. All lons MS/MS data was collected as MS scans between m/z 100 and 1700 at a scan rate of 3 spectra.s⁻¹ for four different collision energies (0, 10, 20 and 40 V). As validated in a previous 211

study, the first 3 min of elution were diverted to waste to prevent the entry of sugars and matrixrelated polar compounds into the detector [23]. Samples were kept at 4°C in the multisampler compartment.

6.3.5 Data treatment

6.3.5.1 Targeted quantification of tylosin A and B

Antibiotic concentrations were calculated using Mass Hunter Workstation Software – Quantitative Analysis B.07.01 (Agilent Technologies). In the degradation studies, tylosin A and B were quantified based on external calibration (n=7, ranging 0.08 to 44 nmol.L⁻¹) following a method developed in a previous study [23]. Peaks with a signal-to-noise ratio below 10 were considered below the limit of quantification. An extraction window of ± 10 ppm was used, and matrix effect of each sample was taken into account when calculating antibiotic concentrations based on a previous study [23]. The statistical significance of the changes of concentration for both tylosin A and tylosin B were determined in each experiment through performing a Student t-test with p < 0.05.

6.3.5.2 Non-targeted identification of degradation products of tylosin A

LC-MS data were processed with the *Molecular Feature Extraction* algorithm of MassHunter Profinder B.08.00 (Agilent Technologies) to perform the peak alignment in the chromatograms and the extraction of molecular features. The software parameters were selected as follows based on an earlier optimization study [15]: a peak filter of 200 counts, a RT tolerance of 0.00% + 0.30 min, a mass tolerance of 10 ppm + 2.00 mDa, and a post-processing filter of 1000 counts. Adducts with H⁺, Na⁺ and K⁺ were considered. Molecular feature extraction was limited to compounds present in at least 80% of the samples in at least one group of samples. This threshold corresponded to the presence of up to one outlier in each group. After peak alignment, the comparison of the compounds among the various samples was performed using the software Mass Profiler Professional B.14.8 (Agilent Technologies). In this software, all data was normalized with 75.0 percentile shift. First, a PCA of all samples was performed to investigate the grouping of the QC samples. Their grouping in a PCA plot reflects the quality of the LC-MS analysis [27]. Then, volcano plots were created to compare the various groups of samples in each experiment, and to identify molecular features related to the degradation of tylosin A. The statistical analysis of the volcano plot consisted in a moderated Student t-test, followed by a Benjamini-Hochberg test (p-value threshold set at 0.05). For each experiment, the treated (i.e. heating or storage) spiked or incurred samples were compared with the same samples before treatment as well as with the treated blanks. Once relevant features had been identified with the algorithms Find by Molecular Feature, molecular formulas were assigned to each compound using the Generate Formulas algorithm (Agilent Mass Hunter Workstation Software – Qualitative Analysis B.07.00). Only formulas with a total score above 70% were considered, which is what is commonly done for this type of non-targeted analysis [15, 28]. Total scores reflect the probability that a feature has been correctly identified, a score of 100% being a perfect fit [29]. Finally, Agilent MassHunter Molecular Structure Correlator B.07.00 was used to create a list of potential candidate structures for each of the compounds for which a formula with a total score above 70% had been assigned. In order to do so, since this software only recognizes MS/MS spectra obtained through targeted or auto MS/MS (but not All-Ions MS/MS data), targeted MS/MS spectra were acquired for each of the compounds. The search for structures with similar MS/MS spectra was done using the ChemSpider library [30]. The criteria used to choose the degradation product candidates among the proposed structures was similarity with tylosin A structure, considering the central tylactone as the minimum requirement for similarity.

6.3.5.3 Semi-quantification of tylosin B

Tylosin B was first quantified in three selected honey samples using external calibration based on the response of its $[M+H]^+$ ion fragment m/z 772.4483 [31] and the use of pure analytical standard (absolute quantification). The semi-quantification of tylosin B was then performed in the same samples using the response factor of tylosin A measured from 6 matrix matched calibration standards. In this case, the signal obtained for various characteristic ion fragments of tylosin A and B were used for this purpose. Since data were acquired in the All lons MS/MS mode for four different collision energies, many combinations of major ion fragments/collision energies can be potentially used for semi-quantification. In each test the collision energy at which both tylosin A and B fragments were recorded was the same. For each of these combinations, a relative error on the quantification was calculated as shown in **Equation 1**, where C_{SQ} is the concentration obtained through semi-quantification and C_{AQ} is the concentration obtained through absolute quantification:

Relative error (%) =
$$\left(\frac{c_{SQ}}{c_{AQ}} - 1\right) \times 100$$
 Equation 1

To further assess the suitability of the approach, the semi-quantification method with the lowest relative error was then applied to sample H4. This final semi-quantification approach was also applied to estimate the concentration of the potential degradation products identified during the study of the thermal degradation of tylosin in honey.

6.4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

6.4.1 QA/QC

First, the linearity of the calibration curves used for the quantification of tylosin A and B during the different experiments was calculated as the relative standard deviation (RSD) of the RFs. In all the experiments, the response of the instrument was linear, with RSD below 10%.

Next, the performances of the method were assessed in terms of RT, reproducibility and mass accuracy. RT reproducibility was calculated for tylosin A (RT: 14.41 min) and B (RT: 13.69 min) as the RSD of the RT across all the samples in each experiment in which they were detected. RTs for these two compounds were very reproducible, with RSD values systematically below 0.2% in each experiment. Then, the mass accuracy was evaluated throughout the different experimental runs by calculating the mass error of the exact mass measured for tylosin A and B across all the samples in each experiment in which they were detected. The mass accuracy obtained was acceptable, with mass errors in the different experiments between 1.5 ± 0.3 and 4.4 ± 0.9 ppm for tylosin B (m/z 772.4483) and between 1.7 ± 0.1 and 4.1 ± 1.6 ppm for tylosin A (m/z 916.5270).

QC samples were also run in each batch to assess the overall variability of the LC-MS analysis. PCA plots were produced for each experiment in which a statistically significant degradation of tylosin A had been observed. As shown in **Figure S6.1**, QC samples were grouped together in all the PCA plots, indicating that the LC-MS based analysis was reproducible [27].

6.4.2 Thermal degradation of tylosin A in water

The concentration of tylosin A in water decreased significantly from its initial value (25.2 nmol.L⁻¹) after 90 min of heating (**Table 6.1**), reaching concentrations of 17.4 ± 2.3 and 1.1 ± 0.1 nmol.L⁻¹ at 70 and 100°C, respectively (**Figure 6.3-A**). This represented a mean degradation percentage of ~31 and ~96% at 70 and 100°C, respectively. These results are in line with other hydrolysis

studies of tylosin at high temperatures [9, 26]. The concentration of tylosin B increased significantly from its initial value as an impurity of the tylosin A standard (0.4 nmol.L⁻¹) after heating the aqueous solutions containing tylosin A (**Table 6.1**). The concentrations of tylosin B after heating were of 5.8 ± 0.6 and 15.2 ± 1.4 nmol.L⁻¹ at 70 and 100°C, respectively (**Figure 6.3-B**). Tylosin B has been reported in the literature as the main (known) degradation product of tylosin A in water [26]. The mass balance reported by Paesen *et al.* was close to 100% when the percentages of decrease of tylosin A and increase of tylosin B at pH 4.0 and 70°C were combined [26]. However, in the present study, done at a slightly more acidic pH of 3.60, tylosin A showed a decrease of 7.8 ± 2.3 and 24.1 ± 0.1 nmol.L⁻¹ at 70 and 100°C, respectively, while the increase of tylosin B was lower (5.4 ± 0.6 and 14.8 ± 1.4 nmol.L⁻¹ at 70 and 100°C, respectively), indicating the potential formation of other degradation products.



Figure 6.3. A: Concentration of tylosin A in aqueous solutions (pH 3.60, heating time of 90 min). B: Concentration of tylosin B in aqueous solutions spiked with tylosin A. Significant (p< 0.05) changes are indicated with *.

Volcano plots were created to compare the different pairs of groups of samples and their outcomes are summarized in **Table 6.2**. An example of the volcano plot corresponding to the comparison of aqueous solution of tylosin A unheated vs. heated at 100°C is presented in **Figure S6.2**. Twelve molecular features increased significantly (*p*<0.05) and with S/N>3 in heated spiked aqueous solutions. The *Find by Molecular Feature* and *Generate Formulas* algorithms were used to assign molecular formulas to these potential degradation products. Tylosin B was confirmed as one of the molecular features increasing after heating and, among the 11 other compounds, 6 were assigned a molecular formula with a total score above 70% using (**Table 6.3**). Co-eluting compounds, a limitation of this clean up-free method which could impact mass accuracy and formula assignment, could be a cause for the lack of assigned formula in the remaining 5 compounds. Targeted MS/MS spectra were acquired for the 6 compounds with molecular formula, and Agilent MassHunter Molecular Structure Correlator was used to propose possible structures. Two compounds, CPD19 and CPD28, were assigned a putative compound whose structure is related to tylosin A, and were tentatively identified as 5-O-mycaminosyltylonolide (OMT) and lactenocin respectively (**Figure 6.4**).

Experiment	Sample	Temperature	Tylosin A	Tylosin B
Heating	Water	70°C	DEGRADATION	INCREASE
	with		(p = 6.47 x 10 ⁻⁴)	(p = 4.13 x 10 ⁻⁵)
	tylosin A	100°C	DEGRADATION	INCREASE
			(p = 1.11 x 10 ⁻⁷)	(p = 1.90 x 10 ⁻⁵)
	Water	70°C	n.a. ^a	NO CHANGE
	with			(p = 4.90 x 10 ⁻¹)
	tylosin B	100°C	n.a.	NO CHANGE
				(p = 2.45 x 10 ⁻¹)
	Sample	70°C	NO CHANGE	NO CHANGE
	H4		(p = 9.65 x 10 ⁻¹)	(p = 3.13 x 10 ⁻¹)
		100°C	DEGRADATION	NO CHANGE
			(p = 3.22 x 10 ⁻²)	(p = 4.62 x 10 ⁻¹)
	Sample	70°C	NO CHANGE	NO CHANGE
	H1 spiked		(p = 1.70 x 10 ⁻¹)	(p = 1.05 x 10 ⁻¹)
		100°C	DEGRADATION	INCREASE
			(p = 5.65 x 10 ⁻⁶)	(p = 3.39 x 10 ⁻⁴)
Storage	Sample	27°C	DEGRADATION	NO CHANGE
	H4		(p = 6.78 x 10 ⁻⁶)	(p = 9.93 x 10 ⁻¹)

Table 6.1. Summary of the Student t-test results for tylosin A and B in all the experiments.

^a n.a. = Not applicable
Table 6.2. Summary of compounds whose level is increasing significantly for each of the thermaldegradation experiments

Experiment	Number of significantly increasing compounds		
	with S/N > 3		
Water spiked with tylosin A heated at 100°C	12		
Spiked H1 heated at 100°C	10		
H4 heated at 100°C	9		
H4 stored at 27°C	12		



Figure 6.4. Structures of the two tentatively identified compounds related to tylosin A.

Table 6.3. Neutral mass, RT and suggested formula for tylosin A and its potential degradation products observed in the four degradation experiments. Legend for the symbols: *****: not detected, \uparrow : increasing significantly (p < 0.05) after treatment, = : detected but not changing significantly (p < 0.05) after treatment, \downarrow : decreased significantly (p < 0.05) in treated samples.

Name	Neutral	RT (min)	Suggested formula ^a	Heating	Heating	Heating	Storage
	mass (Da)			water with tylosin A	Spiked H1	H4	H4
				100°C	100°C	100°C	27°C
Tylosin A	915.5192	14.41	C ₄₆ H ₇₇ NO ₁₇	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Tylosin B	771.4402	13.69	$C_{39}H_{65}NO_{14}$	\uparrow	\uparrow	=	=
CPD1	215.9952	4.67	C ₁₃ N ₂ O ₂ (71%)	×	×	\uparrow	×
CPD2	262.0003	4.67	C ₁₄ H ₂ N ₂ O ₄ (77%)	×	×	\uparrow	×
CPD3	212.0665	6.64	C ₅ H ₁₂ N ₂ O ₇ (77%)	×	\uparrow	×	×
CPD4	191.0951	8.01	C ₁₁ H ₁₃ NO ₂ (98%)	×	=	\uparrow	=
CPD5	188.0467	8.29	C ₁₁ H ₈ O ₃ (96%)	×	×	×	\uparrow
CPD6	504.8450	8.59	No formula found	\uparrow	×	×	×
CPD7	440.1363	8.82	C ₂₄ H ₂₆ NO ₃ S ₂ (71%)	×	\uparrow	×	×
CPD8	112.0517	9.08	C₄H ₆ N₃O (73%)	×	×	=	\uparrow

CPD9	230.0690	9.14	C ₁₂ H ₁₀ N ₂ O ₃ (82%)	×	×	\uparrow	×
CPD10	283.0833	9.34	C ₁₄ H ₁₁ N ₄ O ₃ (81%)	×	=	\uparrow	\uparrow
CPD11	292.0552	9.44	C ₉ H ₁₂ N ₂ O ₉ (87%)	×	=	\uparrow	\uparrow
CPD12	124.0879	9.58	C ₆ H ₁₀ N ₃ (84%)	×	×	×	\uparrow
CPD13	394.8610	9.88	C ₁₉ H ₂₀ Cl ₂ N ₂ O ₃ (86%)	×	=	=	\uparrow
CPD14	394.8610	10.13	C ₁₉ H ₂₀ Cl ₂ N ₂ O ₃ (87%)	×	=	=	\uparrow
CPD15	168.0692	10.76	$C_{11}H_8N_2$ (96%)	×	\uparrow	\uparrow	\uparrow
CPD16	214.0749	10.89	C ₁₂ H ₁₀ N ₂ O ₂ (85%)	×	=	\uparrow	\uparrow
CPD17	472.1266	11.79	C ₂₃ H ₂₂ NO ₁₀ (85%)	×	\uparrow	×	×
CPD18	629.3754	12.02	C ₃₂ H ₅₅ NO ₁₁ (95%)	\uparrow	\uparrow	=	=
CPD19	597.3501	12.03	C ₃₁ H ₅₁ NO ₁₀ (81%)	\uparrow	\uparrow	=	=
CPD20	224.1399	12.47	C ₁₃ H ₂₀ O ₃ (87%)	×	\uparrow	×	×
CPD21	789.4476	13.04	No formula found	\uparrow	×	×	×
CPD22	771.4447	13.43	No formula found	\uparrow	×	×	×

CPD23	774.4569	13.65	C ₃₅ H ₇₀ N ₂ O ₁₄ S (79%)	\uparrow	\uparrow	=	\uparrow
CPD24	556.1003	13.74	No formula found	×	×	=	\uparrow
CPD25	771.4388	13.96	C ₃₉ H ₆₅ NO ₁₄ (96%)	\uparrow	\uparrow	\uparrow	=
CPD26	817.4756	14.10	No formula found	\uparrow	×	×	×
CPD27	805.4792	14.21	C ₄₀ H ₇₁ NO ₁₅ (71%)	\uparrow	×	×	×
CPD28	757.4586	14.46	C ₃₈ H ₆₃ NO ₁₄ (85%)	\uparrow	×	×	×
CPD29	771.4388	15.48	No formula found	\uparrow	×	×	×
CPD30	302.2058	18.26	No formula found	×	=	=	\uparrow

^a Total score of the suggested formula calculated by the software Mass Profiler Professional B.14.8 is presented between parenthesis

OMT and lactenocin are two intermediates in the biosynthesis of tylosin A that have been found in the fermentation media during tylosin A production [26, 32]. Since tylosin B, the main known degradation product of tylosin A, is also an intermediate in the biosynthesis of tylosin A, the present results suggest that tylosin A could degrade into OMT and lactenocin [32]. To the best of our knowledge, these two compounds have not been reported as degradation products of tylosin A in the literature.

Tylosin A is known to contain other tylosin species, such as tylosin C, in its commercial formulations [2, 4]. In the present study, a peak with the same exact mass of tylosin C was observed in the unheated standard solutions (901.5035 Da, RT: 14.32 min). This peak decreased significantly (p< 0.05) after heating at 100°C. Based on its structure, lactenocin (**Figure 6.4**) could come from the degradation of tylosin A but also from traces of tylosin C present in the aqueous solution. This hypothesis, however, could not be confirmed in the present study due to the absence of standards. The identity of OMT and lactenocin, and the exact degradation pathway taking place in each case should be confirmed in further studies based on the availability of analytical standards.

The two main concerns of the presence of unknown or unexpected antibiotics in food are their potential toxic effects on the consumer and their residual antimicrobial activity, which could contribute to the development of antimicrobial resistance [33, 34]. The only data on the possible antimicrobial activity of OMT and lactenocin was reported in 1995 by Zuzulova *et al.*, who studied the antimicrobial activity of tylosin A and five other 16-membered macrolides against *Ureaplasma urealyticum*, and found that both OMT and lactenocin showed antimicrobial activity [35]. According to this study, the aldehyde group in these compounds would be the main responsible for their antimicrobial activity [35]. Were the identity of the two compounds found in the present study to be confirmed with their standards, the results from Zuzulova *et al.* would suggest that some antimicrobial activity could be retained after the degradation of tylosin A. To the best of our knowledge, no data was found regarding the toxicity of OMT and lactenocin.

6.4.3 Thermal degradation of tylosin B in water

The possible thermal degradation of tylosin B was also studied (experimental conditions as in section 6.4.2) to fully interpret the thermal degradation results of tylosin A in water. No significant degradation of tylosin B was observed after heating a diluted solution of the compound at 70 and 100°C for 90 min (**Table 6.1**). This result was expected, since tylosin B appears to be a stable degradation product of tylosin A and its degradation has only been observed at longer heating times or higher temperatures (i.e. above 10 h in honey at 80°C, above 1.5 h in honey at 110°C) [13, 26].

6.4.4 Degradation of tylosin A in honey at high temperatures

Based on the literature, tylosin A degrades in honey both at high temperatures (50, 80 and 110°C), and at temperatures resembling hive conditions (34°C) [12, 13]. In the present study, the thermal degradation of tylosin A in honey was studied in two different situations common to food products: heating and storage.

The degradation of tylosin A in honey after heating was studied using one incurred sample (H4) and one matrix blank (H1) spiked with a mixture of tylosin A and tylosin B. Tylosin A concentrations did not change when heated at 70°C but decreased significantly in the all treatments at 100°C (**Table 6.1**). Indeed, in spiked H1 samples (n=5) treated at 100°C for 90 min., the mean concentration of tylosin A decreased from 442.6 to 223.0 ± 28.4 nmol.kg⁻¹ (~50% decrease) (**Figure 6.5-A**), while the mean concentration of tylosin B increased significantly (p < 0.05) from 526.6 to 782.3 ± 72.2 nmol.kg⁻¹ (**Figure 6.5-B**). In other words, the amount of tylosin A degraded (219.6 ± 28.4 nmol.kg⁻¹) was proportionally equal to the amount of tylosin B produced (255.7 ± 72.2 nmol.kg⁻¹) in spiked honey. Under the same conditions, the mean concentration of tylosin A in incurred H4 samples decreased from 24.6 ± 1.6 to 17.4 ± 5.2 nmol.kg⁻¹ (~29% decrease), while the concentration of tylosin B did not significantly change (**Table 6.1**). This

observation suggests that degradation products other than tylosin B were formed in incurred honey heated at 100°C.

Following a data treatment workflow similar to the one reported in section 3.2, volcano plots were created to identify the potential degradation products of tylosin A (**Figures S6.3 and S6.4**). Ten compounds were found to significantly increase (p < 0.05) with a S/N > 3 in spiked sample H1 heated at 100°C (**Table 6.2**). In the case of the incurred honey sample (H4), 9 compounds were found to increase significantly in sample H4 heated at 100°C (**Table 6.2**). The identity of both groups of compounds was further studied using the *Find by Molecular Feature* and *Generate Formulas* algorithms, as in section 3.2. **Table 6.3** summarizes the information obtained for the 10 compounds found in spiked H1 and the 9 compounds found in H4. Targeted MS/MS spectra were acquired for those compounds that were assigned a formula with a total score above 70% and Agilent MassHunter Molecular Structure Correlator was used to propose possible structures. However, none of the suggested chemical structures could be directly related to tylosin A, except for OMT (CPD19).

Although the same heating conditions were applied to all the samples, different suites of degradation products of tylosin A were obtained in water, spiked honey and incurred honey. These findings are in line with the study by Tian *et al.*, which identified different suites of degradation products of chloramphenicol in model solutions, spiked mussel tissues and incurred mussel tissues [36]. Similarly, Franje *et al.* studied the thermal degradation of three amphenicols in different matrices (chicken muscle, soybean sauce and water) and that the degradation kinetics and degradation products were different for all these matrices [37]. The present results reinforce the conclusion that relying only on the water model or spiked food matrix is not sufficient to understand the fate, and notably the thermal degradation of antibiotics in food.

6.4.5 Degradation of tylosin A in honey during storage

A storage experiment was performed for an incurred sample (H4) using sample H1 as a matrix blank. Tylosin A concentration was found to decrease significantly (p < 0.05) from 24.6 ± 1.6 to 13.0 ± 2.2 nmol.kg⁻¹ (i.e. ~47% degradation) after one year of storage at room temperature (**Table 6.1, Figure 6.5-A**). Tylosin B levels did not change significantly (p > 0.05) (**Table 6.1, Figure 6.5-B**), suggesting a degradation of tylosin A into other compounds. Alternatively, this result could be the simultaneous degradation of tylosin A into tylosin B and of the tylosin B already present at the beginning of the storage experiment into other products. In the present study tylosin B did not degrade significantly in water (Section 6.4.3). However, Kochansky *et al.* reported the simultaneous degradation of tylosin A and B in honey stored at 34°C after 250 days [13], which supports the idea of a hypothetical degradation of tylosin B in honey during storage at 27°C in the present study. Further studies with honey samples containing only tylosin B are needed in order to verify this hypothesis.

The comparison of initial and stored samples, following the same data treatment workflow as used in sections 6.4.2 and 6.4.4 (**Figure S6.5**), led to 12 compounds increasing significantly in sample H4 stored for one year (**Table 6.2**). No new structures potentially related to tylosin A were suggested for any of these compounds.



Figure 6.5. A: Concentrations of tylosin A in H4 and spiked H1 after heating (90 min) and storage (1 year). B: Concentrations of tylosin B in H4 and spiked H1 after heating and storage. Statistical significance (p< 0.05) is indicated with *.

6.4.6 Semi-quantification of tylosin B and other degradation products

The feasibility of the semi-quantification of tylosin B using its parent compound, tylosin A, was assessed using three honey samples spiked with both compounds. The results (**Table 6.4**) show that in many cases the concentration obtained with semi-quantification (C_{SQ}) was very different from the one obtained using an absolute quantification (C_{AQ}). Indeed, relative errors above 100% were obtained in many cases. However, in the tests where both ions were the parent ions (test 1) at low collision energy, or when they both were the smallest and most stable fragment (test

6) at high collision energy, the relative errors decreased dramatically, reaching levels of accuracy comparable to those of conventional targeted quantification [23]. Despite being similar molecules, the fragmentation patterns of tylosin A and B and the relative stabilities of their fragments could be different. This would explain, for example, why using the same ion m/z 772.4483 for both tylosin A and B (test 3) gave such high errors at all the tested collision energies.

The results of the semi-quantification using both parent ions (**Table 6.4**, test 1) at 0 V were equivalent to those at 10 V, and also to those obtained with the smallest fragments (**Table 6.4**, test 6) at 40 V. However, it was decided to select the ions from the first test at 0 V for the semi-quantification of the incurred honey samples because, being the only successful case that does not need MS/MS, it would have higher applicability in further studies.

Test #	lon of tylosin B used	Ion of tylosin A used to	Relative	Relative error (%)			
	to semi-quantify	calculate the RF for the	0.1/	10.V	20 V	40 V	
	tylosin B	semi-quantification	0 0	10 V			
1	<i>m/z</i> 772.4483	<i>m/z</i> 916.5270	18 ± 4	11 ± 3	45 ± 9	89 ± 2	
2	<i>m/z</i> 174.1130	<i>m/z</i> 916.5270	98 ± 1	81 ± 27	15 ± 2	> 100	
3	<i>m/z</i> 772.4483	m/z 772.4483	> 100	> 100	> 100	> 100	
4	<i>m/z</i> 174.1130	m/z 772.4483	> 100	> 100	> 100	> 100	
5	m/z 772.4483	<i>m/z</i> 174.1130	> 100	> 100	> 100	99 ± 0	
6	<i>m/z</i> 174.1130	<i>m/z</i> 174.1130	> 100	88 ± 40	> 100	17 ± 2	

Table 6.4. Mean absolute values of relative error (%) for the semi-quantification of tylosin B foreach test at different collision energies.

The concentration of tylosin B in the incurred sample H4 was calculated using this semiquantification approach in order to see its results in a real case scenario. The estimated concentration of tylosin B in this sample, obtained with the semi-quantification method, was 96.9 ng.g⁻¹. The actual concentration derived from the RF of tylosin B standard was 80.9 ng.g⁻¹, which 228 lead to a relative error of 20% for the semi-quantification in this sample. The total sum of tylosin A and B in this sample obtained through semi-quantification of tylosin B was 119.5 ng.g⁻¹, while the actual concentration calculated using both standards was 103.4 ng.g⁻¹. If this semi-quantification approach were to be applied for regulatory screening purposes, this sample would have been correctly classified as compliant because its estimated concentration calculated through semi-quantification would still be below the MRL of 200 ng.g⁻¹ of total tylosin (A+B) [8]. This sample, however, presented levels of tylosin A and B that, being representative of what is commonly found in market studies [7], were much lower than the regulatory limit. Further studies need to be conducted to assess the impact that using a semi-quantification approach for tylosin B would have in the classification of samples with concentrations around the regulatory limit. The range of concentrations in which this semi-quantification would have an acceptable uncertainty would need to be defined in order to consider the application of semi-quantification for regulatory purposes.

Finally, this semi-quantification approach was used to estimate the concentration of the two compounds suspected to be degradation products of tylosin A (OMT and lactenocin). The concentration of OMT in aqueous solutions heated at 100°C was estimated to be 1.3 ± 0.1 nmol.L⁻¹, while in spiked H1 heated at 100°C it was estimated to be 24.6 ± 2.7 nmol.kg⁻¹. Lactenocin was only detected in the water experiment, with an estimated concentration of 0.12 ± 0.01 nmol.L⁻¹ in spiked water heated at 100°C. **Figure 6.6** shows the peaks of OMT and lactenocin in the four different degradation experiments performed in the present study.

The contribution of OMT and lactenocin to the total mass balance of tylosin A and its degradation products is presented in **Table 6.5**. In the water experiment, the total increase of tylosin B, OMT and lactenocin after heating at 100°C was still lower than the decrease of tylosin A. Two main conclusions could be derived from this result: (i) either tylosin A degraded into more unknown products that were not quantified in the present study or (ii) the error induced by the semi-quantification of these products was greater than the error of the semi-quantification of tylosin

B (20%), and their actual concentration is higher. On the other hand, in the case of spiked honey H1 heated at 100°C the addition of OMT could complete the mass balance of tylosin A, potentially resulting in its only degradation product besides tylosin B. The calculation of these mass balances is, however, only an estimation. Further studies with OMT and lactenocin standards are needed in order to obtain their absolute quantification and thus evaluate their semi-quantification and contribution to mass balance in the present study.

Table 6.5. Mass balances of tylosin A, tylosin B, OMT and lactenocin for the experiments where OMT and/or lactenocin increased significantly (p< 0.05).

Compound	Heated water with tylosin A 100°C	Heated Spiked H1 100°C
	(nmol.L ⁻¹)	(nmol.kg ⁻¹)
Tylosin A	-24.1 ± 0.1	-219.6 ± 28.4
Tylosin B	14.8 ± 1.4	255.7 ± 72.2
OMT	1.3 ± 0.1	24.6 ± 2.7
Lactenocin	0.12 ± 0.01	Not detected



Figure 6.6. Peaks of OMT and lactenocin in each degradation experiment. Legend: green = spiked/incurred treated sample, blue = spiked/incurred non-treated sample, red = treated blank.

6.5 CONCLUSIONS

The degradation of the veterinary drug tylosin A in water and honey after different thermal treatments was studied. Tylosin A degraded significantly in aqueous solution as well as in spiked and incurred honey after heating at 100°C during 90 min. However, at a lower heating temperature of 70°C, degradation was only observed in water. When stored at room temperature (27°C) for one year, tylosin A degraded significantly in an incurred honey sample. Tylosin B, the only reported degradation product of tylosin A so far, increased significantly in aqueous solution under all treatments, but it only increased in spiked honey after heating at 100°C. Overall, these results confirm what had been previously reported by other authors.

The novelty of the present study is the characterization of the behaviour of tylosin A using a nontargeted approach, which led to the identification of two tentative new degradation products, namely OMT and lactenocin. Both compounds increased significantly in aqueous solution after heating at 100°C, and OMT also increased significantly in spiked honey heated at 100°C. The rates of degradation of tylosin A as well as the potential degradation products detected in each of the studied matrices (i.e. water, spiked honey and incurred honey) under the same heating conditions were different. This supports the conclusion that relying only on the water model or spiked food matrix is not sufficient to understand the thermal degradation of antibiotics in food matrices. However, only one incurred honey sample was available at the time of this study, so further experiments including more incurred samples are needed in order to confirm the differences between using a model based on spiked honey or a real incurred sample.

To the best of our knowledge, lactenocin and OMT have not been reported as degradation products of tylosin A. The identity of these compounds and the exact degradation pathway taking place in each case should be confirmed in future studies based on the availability of analytical standards. In addition, while the potential antimicrobial activity of OMT and lactenocin has been reported, no information regarding their toxicity is available. Therefore, further studies are required in order to characterize the hazards and assess the potential risks associated with the presence of these compounds in food.

Regarding the semi-quantification approach, the results of this study prove that a semiquantification using the parent compound to quantify its degradation compound can have satisfactory results, and thus it could be a good strategy for the semi-quantification of degradation compounds in non-targeted analysis. However, the applicability of this semiquantification approach for regulatory purposes still needs to be explored, as further studies are needed to define the range of concentration with acceptable uncertainty.

6.6 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the Calgary Laboratory of CFIA for providing the incurred honey sample (H4), and Agilent Technologies for their technical support. We wish to acknowledge financial support from the Fonds de recherche du Québec – Nature et Technologies (FRQ-NT NC-198270) and the Canada Foundation for Innovation / John R. Evans Leaders Fund grant (Project #35318) of S. Bayen.

6.7 References

[1] J.M. McGuire, J. Westhead, W.S. Boniece, W.M. Stark, R.N. Wolfe, C.E. Higgens, M.M. Hoehn,
Tylosin A, a new antibiotic. 1. Microbiological studies, Antibiotics and Chemotherapy, 11 (1961)
320-&.

[2] J.S. Teeter, R.D. Meyerhoff, Aerobic degradation of tylosin in cattle, chicken, and swine excreta, Environ. Res., 93 (2003) 45-51.

[3] E. Genersch, American Foulbrood in honeybees and its causative agent, Paenibacillus larvae,J. Invertebr. Pathol., 103 (2010) S10-S19.

[4] J. Kochansky, Degradation of tylosin residues in honey, Journal of Apicultural Research, 43 (2004) 65-68.

[5] Joint FAO/ WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA), Toxicological evaluation of certain veterinary drug residues in food. Prepared by the seventieth meeting of the JECFA., WHO Food Additives Series 61. WHO, Geneva, Switzerland, (2009).

[6] World Health Organization (WHO), Critically Important Antimicrobials for Human Medicine.WHO Advisory Group on Integrated Surveillance of Antimicrobial Resistance (AGISAR), (2011).

[7] Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), National Chemical Residue Monitoring Program. 2013-2014 Report, (2013-2014).

[8] Health Canada, List of Maximum Residue Limits (MRLs) for Veterinary Drugs in Foods, in, 2017.
[9] S.M. Mitchell, J.L. Ullman, A.L. Teel, R.J. Watts, Hydrolysis of amphenicol and macrolide antibiotics: Chloramphenicol, florfenicol, spiramycin, and tylosin, Chemosphere, 134 (2015) 504-511.

[10] Joint FAO/ WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA), Evaluation of certain veterinary drug residues in food. Seventieth report of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives, WHO Technical Report Series 954, (2008).

[11] J.J. Werner, M. Chintapalli, R.A. Lundeen, K.H. Wammer, W.A. Arnold, K. McNeill, Environmental photochemistry of tylosin: Efficient, reversible photoisomerization to a less-active isomer, followed by photolysis, J. Agric. Food Chem., 55 (2007) 7062-7068.

[12] J. Kochansky, Degradation of tylosin residues in honey, J. Apic. Res., 43 (2004) 65-68.

[13] J. Kochansky, Stability of tylosin in honey at elevated temperatures, Journal of Apicultural Research, 45 (2006) 32-36.

[14] L. Tian, L. Lin, S. Bayen, Optimization of the post-acquisition data processing for the nontargeted screening of trace leachable residues from reusable plastic bottles by high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to hybrid quadrupole time of flight mass spectrometry, Talanta, 193 (2019) 70-76.

[15] A. von Eyken, S. Bayen, Optimization of the data treatment steps of a non-targeted LC-MS based workflow for the identification of trace residues in honey, Submitted to Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry, (2018).

[16] K.R. Chalcraft, R. Lee, C. Mills, P. Britz-McKibbin, Virtual Quantification of Metabolites by Capillary Electrophoresis-Electrospray Ionization-Mass Spectrometry: Predicting Ionization Efficiency Without Chemical Standards, Anal. Chem., 81 (2009) 2506-2515.

[17] L. Wu, Y.Z. Wu, H.Y. Shen, P. Gong, L.J. Cao, G.J. Wang, H.P. Hao, Quantitative structure-ion intensity relationship strategy to the prediction of absolute levels without authentic standards, Analytica Chimica Acta, 794 (2013) 67-75.

[18] L. Wang, Z.P. Yao, P. Li, S.B. Chen, P.K. So, Z.Q. Shi, B. Hu, L.F. Liu, G.Z. Xin, Global detection and semi-quantification of Fritillaria alkaloids in Fritillariae Ussuriensis Bulbus by a non-targeted multiple reaction monitoring approach, J. Sep. Sci., 39 (2016) 287-295.

[19] Q.W. Bu, D.H. Wang, X. Liu, Z.J. Wang, A high throughout semi-quantification method for screening organic contaminants in river sediments, J. Environ. Manage., 143 (2014) 135-139.

[20] N.P. Kalogiouri, R. Aalizadeh, N.S. Thomaidis, Investigating the organic and conventional production type of olive oil with target and suspect screening by LC-QTOF-MS, a novel semi-quantification method using chemical similarity and advanced chemometrics, Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 409 (2017) 5413-5426.

[21] E.N. Pieke, K. Granby, X. Trier, J. Smedsgaard, A framework to estimate concentrations of potentially unknown substances by semi-quantification in liquid chromatography electrospray ionization mass spectrometry, Analytica Chimica Acta, 975 (2017) 30-41.

[22] M. Solliec, A. Roy-Lachapelle, M.O. Gasser, C. Cote, M. Genereux, S. Sauve, Fractionation and analysis of veterinary antibiotics and their related degradation products in agricultural soils and drainage waters following swine manure amendment, Sci. Total Environ., 543 (2016) 524-535.

[23] A. von Eyken, D. Furlong, S. Arooni, F. Butterworth, J.F. Roy, J. Zweigenbaum, S. Bayen, Direct injection high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to data independent acquisition mass spectrometry for the screening of antibiotics in honey, J. Food Drug Anal., (Accepted for publication) (2018).

[24] International Honey Commission, Harmonised methods of the International Honey Commission, 2009.

[25] P.M. da Silva, C. Gauche, L.V. Gonzaga, A.C.O. Costa, R. Fett, Honey: Chemical composition, stability and authenticity, Food Chem., 196 (2016) 309-323.

[26] J. Paesen, W. Cypers, K. Pauwels, E. Roets, J. Hoogmartens, Study of the stability of tylosin A in aqueous solutions, Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis, 13 (1995) 1153-1159.

[27] T. Sangster, H. Major, R. Plumb, A.J. Wilson, I.D. Wilson, A pragmatic and readily implemented quality control strategy for HPLC-MS and GC-MS-based metabonomic analysis, Analyst, 131 (2006) 1075-1078.

[28] E. Hakme, A. Lozano, M.M. Gomez-Ramos, M.D. Hernando, A.R. Fernandez-Alba, Non-target evaluation of contaminants in honey bees and pollen samples by gas chromatography time-of-flight mass spectrometry, Chemosphere, 184 (2017) 1310-1319.

[29] A.M. Knolhoff, J.A. Zweigenbaum, T.R. Croley, Nontargeted screening of food matrices: development of a chemometric software strategy to identify unknowns in liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry data, Anal. Chem., 88 (2016) 3617-3623.

[30] Royal Society of Chemistry, ChemSpider, in, 2015.

[31] J. Wang, D. Leung, Analyses of macrolide antibiotic residues in eggs, raw milk, and honey using both ultra-performance liquid chromatography/quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry and high-performance liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry, Rapid Commun. Mass Spectrom., 21 (2007) 3213-3222.

[32] E. Kim, M.C. Song, M.S. Kim, J.Y. Beom, E.Y. Lee, D.M. Kim, S.J. Nam, Y.J. Yoon, Characterization of the Two Methylation Steps Involved in the Biosynthesis of Mycinose in Tylosin, J. Nat. Prod., 79 (2016) 2014-2021.

[33] A.M. Hammerum, O.E. Heuer, C.H. Lester, Y. Agerso, A.M. Seyfarth, H.D. Emborg, N. Frimodt-Moller, D.L. Monnet, Comment on: withdrawal of growth-promoting antibiotics in Europe and its effects in relation to human health, International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents, 30 (2007) 466-468.

[34] A. Fabrega, J. Sanchez-Cespedes, S. Soto, J. Vila, Quinolone resistance in the food chain, International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents, 31 (2008) 307-315. [35] M. Zuzulova, D. Kleinova, B. Proksa, J. Fuska, *In vitro* activity of tylosin and its derivatives against *Ureaplasma urealyticum*, Arzneimittelforschung-Drug Res., 45-2 (1995) 1222-1224.

[36] L. Tian, S. Bayen, Thermal degradation of chloramphenicol in model solutions, spiked tissues and incurred samples, Food Chem., 248 (2018) 230-237.

[37] C.A. Franje, S.-K. Chang, C.-L. Shyu, J.L. Davis, Y.-W. Lee, R.-J. Lee, C.-C. Chang, C.-C. Chou, Differential heat stability of amphenicols characterized by structural degradation, mass spectrometry and antimicrobial activity, Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis, 53 (2010) 869-877.

6.8 SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Table S6.1. Name, molecular formula, exact mass and structure of tylosin A and all its related products (degradation products and/or biosynthesis precursors) described to-date.

Name	Formula	Exact	Structure	Ref.
		mass (Da)		
Tylosin A	C ₄₆ H ₇₇ NO ₁₇	915.5192	$H_{3}C$ H	[1]

Tylosin B (desmycocin) C₃₉



Tylosin C (macrocin)

C₄₅H₇₅NO₁₇

901.5035



[1]

[1]











H₃C^CH₃





Figure S6.1. PCA plots of all samples in each experiment, including the water or honey samples containing tylosin, the procedural or matrix blanks and the QC samples. A: Degradation of tylosin A in water (legend: green = procedural blanks, blue = spiked water, red = QCs). B: Degradation of tylosin A in honey during storage (legend: green = sample H1, blue = sample H4, red = QCs). C: Degradation of tylosin A in honey after heating (legend: green = sample H1, blue = sample H4 and H1 spiked, red = QCs).



Figure S6.2. Volcano plot of the comparison between water spiked with tylosin A unheated and heated at 100°C. Legend: red = compounds significantly decreasing after heating (p<0.005), blue = compounds significantly increasing after heating (p<0.05), grey = compounds without a significant change after heating (p>0.05), green = compounds changing significantly (p<0.05) and identified in **Table 6.3**.



Figure S6.3. Volcano plot of the comparison between spiked H1 unheated and heated at 100° C. Legend: red = compounds significantly decreasing after heating (p<0.005), blue = compounds significantly increasing after heating (p<0.05), grey = compounds without a significant change after heating (p>0.05), green = compounds changing significantly (p<0.05) and identified in **Table 6.3**.



Figure S6.4. Volcano plot of the comparison between H4 unheated and heated at 100°C. Legend: red = compounds significantly decreasing after heating (p<0.005), blue = compounds significantly increasing after heating (p<0.05), grey = compounds without a significant change after heating (p>0.05), green = compounds changing significantly (p<0.05) and identified in **Table 6.3**.



Figure S6.5. Volcano plot of the comparison between H4 initially and stored at 27°C. Legend: red = compounds significantly decreasing after storage (p<0.005), blue = compounds significantly increasing after storage (p<0.05), grey = compounds without a significant change after storage (p>0.05), green = compounds changing significantly (p<0.05) and identified in **Table 6.3**.

6.9 SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION REFERENCES

[1] J. Paesen, W. Cypers, K. Pauwels, E. Roets, J. Hoogmartens, Study of the stability of tylosin A in aqueous solutions, Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis, 13 (1995) 1153-1159.

[2] D.F. Hu, B. Fulton, K. Henderson, J. Coats, Identification of tylosin photoreaction products and comparison of ELISA and HPLC methods for their detection in water, Environ. Sci. Technol., 42 (2008) 2982-2987.

[3] A.C. Kolz, T.B. Moorman, S.K. Ong, K.D. Scoggin, E.A. Douglass, Degradation and metabolite production of tylosin in anaerobic and aerobic swine-manure lagoons, Water Environment Research, 77 (2005) 49-56.

[4] S.M. Mitchell, J.L. Ullman, A.L. Teel, R.J. Watts, Hydrolysis of amphenicol and macrolide antibiotics: Chloramphenicol, florfenicol, spiramycin, and tylosin, Chemosphere, 134 (2015) 504-511.

[5] H.A. Kirst, G.M. Wild, R.H. Baltz, E.T. Seno, R.L. Hamill, J.W. Paschal, D.E. Dorman, Elucidation of structure of novel macrolide antibiotics produced by mutant strains of *Streptomyces fradiae*, J. Antibiot., 36 (1983) 376-382.

CHAPTER 7: GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

7.1 CONCLUSIONS

In this work, a non-targeted method was developed for the analysis of multiple trace organic contaminants in honey. Each step of the non-targeted workflow was studied and optimized to allow for the screening of different contaminant families in this complex matrix.

First, a fast screening and quantification method was successfully developed and validated for the targeted analysis of 7 veterinary drug residues in honey, using direct injection HPLC-QTOF-MS. Even though the sample preparation consisted of a dilute-and-shoot approach with no cleanup, the selected veterinary drug residues were detected at levels approximately 20 to 100 times lower than the actual regulatory limits, with acceptable recoveries, linearity and repeatability. Furthermore, thanks to the use of direct injection, the total analysis time was only 45 min per sample, including sample preparation and instrumental runtime. A data-independent All-lons MS/MS mode was used to continuously record MS and MS/MS data at four different collision energies, allowing for the confirmation of the identity of the target analytes. This first study demonstrated the non-targeted potential of this method.

Next, the data pre-treatment steps for the non-targeted identification of trace organic contaminants in honey were studied using the same 7 veterinary drugs as case study. The impact of the match mass tolerance, the mass extraction window, the isotope abundance score, the peak filter absolute height, the average of spectra included, the exclusion of TOF spectra and the post-processing peak filters on the correct identification of the target compounds was assessed. The expansion window for chromatogram extraction and the average scans included in the spectra influenced the identification results significantly. The optimized identification workflow was used to screen 55 honey samples from the Canadian market using a library of 43 honey-related compounds, including veterinary drugs, pesticides and other contaminants, which led to the detection of tylosin A and HMF among these samples. These results showed that data pre-treatment parameters can affect the identification of trace contaminants in food. In other words,

an assessment of data pre-treatment parameters should be systematically conducted before applying non-targeted workflows to the identification of trace contaminants in food matrices.

Then, the optimized non-targeted workflow was applied to the screening of plastic-related compounds in 104 honey samples from the Canadian market. A total of 662 compounds were tentatively detected using a library of leachable and extractable compounds. The identity of two of these compounds, namely DEHA and TBOEP, was further confirmed with pure analytical standards, and their estimated daily intake was found to be far below the tolerable daily intake. The chemical burden in honey samples sold in either glass or plastic jars was compared using 3 data treatment approaches, each of which resulted in a different list of relevant contaminants. Among the compounds discovered based on the differential frequency of detection, 6 were unique to honey samples sold in plastic jars and 3 were unique to honey samples sold in glass jars. These results showed that some of the most commonly used data treatments in metabolomics need to be carefully selected when it comes to identifying trace contaminants in food. In particular, the relatively low frequency of contaminants in food needs to be accounted for when selecting the appropriate data treatment tool.

Finally, the degradation of the veterinary drug tylosin A in water, spiked honey and incurred honey after different thermal treatments was studied using the optimized non-targeted method. The results, in terms of rates of degradation of tylosin A and increase of tylosin B (the only degradation product reported so far) were in agreement with the literature. However, the non-targeted approach used for this study led to the tentative identification of two new degradation products, namely OMT and lactenocin. Although the thermal treatment applied was the same, the degradation products identified in water, spiked honey and incurred honey appeared to be different. These results further support that relying only on the water model or spiked food matrix is not sufficient to understand the thermal degradation of antibiotics in food matrices. The possibility of a semi-quantification of tylosin B using tylosin A, its parent compound, was also assessed. The present results proved that a semi-quantification using the parent compound to

quantify its degradation compound can be a suitable strategy for the semi-quantification of degradation compounds obtained through non-targeted analysis.

7.2 CONTRIBUTION TO KNOWLEDGE

The work presented in this thesis reported for the first time:

- The applicability of direct injection combined with HRMS in the All Ions MS/MS mode for the combined targeted and non-targeted screening of food contaminants in honey. Notably, this new method made possible the detection of glucose-sulfonamide conjugates, which had not been previously reported in honey. These results open the door to the analysis of sulfonamides in food without the need of an extra acid hydrolysis step.
- 2. The systematic assessment of the influence of 7 data pre-treatment parameters (i.e. the match mass tolerance, the mass extraction window, the isotope abundance score, the peak filter absolute height, the average of spectra included, the exclusion of TOF spectra and the post-processing peak filters) on the non-targeted identification of model compounds (veterinary drugs) in honey.
- A novel non-targeted analysis method capable of detecting plastic-related compounds in honey. This method allowed for the detection of the flame retardant TBOEP, which had not been previously reported in honey.
- 4. The non-targeted characterization of the thermal degradation of tylosin A in honey, which led to the identification of two new degradation compounds: OMT and lactenocin.
- 5. A case study supporting the applicability of the semi-quantification of degradation products based on the response factor of the parent compound (with LC-MS).
7.3 FUTURE RESEARCH RECOMMENDATIONS

After the completion of this thesis, some recommendations for future research have been identified. These include:

- Complementing the approach with negative ionization to allow for the analysis of additional trace organic contaminants that ionize better in negative mode in electrosprays (e.g. chloramphenicol).
- The quantitative analysis of glucose-sulfonamide conjugates in food using direct injection LC-MS.
- 3. The assessment of the influence of data pre-treatment parameters on the non-targeted identification of other families of compounds and other matrices.
- 4. Developing migration studies to determine to which extent the material of the jars plays a role in the presence of plastic-related compounds in honey.
- 5. The confirmation of the identity of OMT and lactenocin as the two detected new degradation products of tylosin A using pure analytical standards, and the determination of the degradation pathway that could produce them. The characterization of the hazards and the assessment of the potential risks associated with the presence of these compounds in food.
- 6. The determination of the range of concentrations in which the semi-quantification of tylosin B based on the response factor of tylosin A provides an acceptable uncertainty, to assess the applicability of this approach for regulatory purposes.

GENERAL REFERENCE LIST

NOTE: In accordance with the Guidelines for Thesis Preparation, each of the manuscript chapters (i.e. Chapters 3-6) contain their own reference list. Hence, the following reference list corresponds to the references included in the remaining chapters of the thesis (i.e. Chapters 1 and 2).

[1] M. Cesen, D. Lambropoulou, M. Laimou-Geraniou, T. Kosjek, U. Blaznik, D. Heath, E. Heath, Determination of bisphenols and related compounds in honey and their migration from selected food contact materials, J. Agric. Food Chem., 64 (2016) 8866-8875.

[2] N. Cicero, C. Naccari, G. Cammilleri, G. Giangrosso, A. Cicero, T. Gervasi, A. Tropea, A. Albergamo, V. Ferrantelli, Monitoring of neonicotinoid pesticides in beekeeping, Nat. Prod. Res., 31 (2017) 1258-1262.

[3] M. Martinello, A. Borin, R. Stella, D. Bovo, G. Biancotto, A. Gallina, F. Mutinelli, Development and validation of a QuEChERS method coupled to liquid chromatography and high resolution mass spectrometry to determine pyrrolizidine and tropane alkaloids in honey, Food Chem., 234 (2017) 295-302.

[4] Y.Q. Fu, C.X. Zhao, X. Lu, G.W. Xu, Nontargeted screening of chemical contaminants and illegal additives in food based on liquid chromatography-high resolution mass spectrometry, Trac-Trends in Analytical Chemistry, 96 (2017) 89-98.

[5] I.K. Karabagias, A.V. Badeka, S. Kontakos, S. Karabournioti, M.G. Kontominas, Botanical discrimination of Greek unifloral honeys with physico-chemical and chemometric analyses, Food Chem., 165 (2014) 181-190.

[6] N.P. Kalogiouri, R. Aalizadeh, N.S. Thomaidis, Investigating the organic and conventional production type of olive oil with target and suspect screening by LC-QTOF-MS, a novel semiquantification method using chemical similarity and advanced chemometrics, Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 409 (2017) 5413-5426.

[7] D. Mung, L. Li, Applying quantitative metabolomics based on chemical isotope labeling LC-MS for detecting potential milk adulterant in human milk, Analytica Chimica Acta, 1001 (2018) 78-85.

[8] M.E. Dasenaki, A.A. Bletsou, G.A. Koulis, N.S. Thomaidis, Qualitative Multiresidue Screening Method for 143 Veterinary Drugs and Pharmaceuticals in Milk and Fish Tissue Using Liquid Chromatography Quadrupole-Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry, J. Agric. Food Chem., 63 (2015) 4493-4508.

[9] L. Polgár, J.F. García-Reyes, P. Fodor, A. Gyepes, M. Dernovics, L. Abrankó, B. Gilbert-López, A. Molina-Díaz, Retrospective screening of relevant pesticide metabolites in food using liquid chromatography high resolution mass spectrometry and accurate-mass databases of parent molecules and diagnostic fragment ions, Journal of chromatography. A, 1249 (2012) 83-91.

[10] L. Tian, S. Bayen, Thermal degradation of chloramphenicol in model solutions, spiked tissues and incurred samples, Food Chem., 248 (2018) 230-237.

[11] M.R. Gwinn, D.A. Axelrad, T. Bahadori, D. Bussard, W.E. Cascio, K. Deener, D. Dix, R.S. Thomas, R.J. Kavlock, T.A. Burke, Chemical Risk Assessment: Traditional vs Public Health Perspectives, Am. J. Public Health, 107 (2017) 1032-1039.

[12] D. Orso, L. Floriano, L.C. Ribeiro, N.M.G. Bandeira, O.D. Prestes, R. Zanella, Simultaneous determination of multiclass pesticides and antibiotics in honey samples based on ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry, Food Anal. Meth., 9 (2016) 1638-1653.

[13] V. Lo Turco, G. Di Bella, A.G. Potorti, A. Tropea, E.K. Casale, M.R. Fede, G. Dugo, Determination of plasticisers and BPA in Sicilian and Calabrian nectar honeys by selected ion monitoring GC/MS, Food Addit. Contam. Part A-Chem., 33 (2016) 1693-1699.

[14] J. Al-Alam, Z. Fajloun, A. Chbani, M. Millet, A multiresidue method for the analysis of 90 pesticides, 16 PAHs, and 22 PCBs in honey using QuEChERS-SPME, Anal. Bioanal. Chem., 409 (2017) 5157-5169.

[15] J. Al-Alam, Z. Fajloun, A. Chbani, M. Millet, Determination of 16 PAHs and 22 PCBs in honey samples originated from different region of Lebanon and used as environmental biomonitors sentinel, Journal of environmental science and health. Part A, Toxic/hazardous substances & environmental engineering, (2018) 1-7.

[16] J. Cotton, F. Leroux, S. Broudin, M. Marie, B. Corman, J.C. Tabet, C. Ducruix, C. Junot, High-Resolution Mass Spectrometry Associated with Data Mining Tools for the Detection of Pollutants and Chemical Characterization of Honey Samples, J. Agric. Food Chem., 62 (2014) 11335-11345.

[17] M. Solliec, A. Roy-Lachapelle, M.O. Gasser, C. Cote, M. Genereux, S. Sauve, Fractionation and analysis of veterinary antibiotics and their related degradation products in agricultural soils and drainage waters following swine manure amendment, Sci. Total Environ., 543 (2016) 524-535.

[18] A. Cifuentes, Food analysis and Foodomics Foreword, Journal of Chromatography A, 1216 (2009) 7109-7109.

[19] C.X. Hu, G.W. Xu, Mass-spectrometry-based metabolomics analysis for foodomics, Trac-Trends in Analytical Chemistry, 52 (2013) 36-46.

[20] S.B. Engelsen, F. Savorani, M.A. Rasmussen, Chemometric exploration of quantitative NMR data, eMagRes, 2 (2013) 267-278.

[21] A. Spyros, P. Dais, P-31 NMR spectroscopy in food analysis, Progress in Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy, 54 (2009) 195-207.

[22] B. Khakimov, G. Gurdeniz, S.B. Engelsen, TRENDS IN THE APPLICATION OF CHEMOMETRICS TO FOODOMICS STUDIES, Acta Alimentaria, 44 (2015) 4-31.

[23] J.F. Garcia-Reyes, M.D. Hernando, A. Molina-Diaz, A.R. Fernandez-Alba, Comprehensive screening of target, non-target and unknown pesticides in food by LC-TOF-MS, Trac-Trend. Anal. Chem., 26 (2007) 828-841.

[24] M. Krauss, H. Singer, J. Hollender, LC-high resolution MS in environmental analysis: from target screening to the identification of unknowns, Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 397 (2010) 943-951.

[25] J. Hollender, E.L. Schymanski, H.P. Singer, P.L. Ferguson, Nontarget Screening with High Resolution Mass Spectrometry in the Environment: Ready to Go?, Environmental Science & Technology, 51 (2017) 11505-11512.

[26] M. Creydt, M. Fischer, Omics approaches for food authentication, Electrophoresis, 39 (2018)1569-1581.

[27] L. Olmo-García, A. Bajoub, R.P. Monasterio, A. Fernandez-Gutierrez, A. Carrasco-Pancorbo, Metabolic profiling approach to determine phenolic compounds of virgin olive oil by direct injection and liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry, Food Chem., 231 (2017) 374-385.

[28] M.C. Bruzzoniti, L. Checchini, R.M. De Carlo, S. Orlandini, L. Rivoira, M. Del Bubba, QuEChERS sample preparation for the determination of pesticides and other organic residues in environmental matrices: a critical review, Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, 406 (2014) 4089-4116.

[29] G. Theodoridis, H. Gika, P. Franceschi, L. Caputi, P. Arapitsas, M. Scholz, D. Masuero, R. Wehrens, U. Vrhovsek, F. Mattivi, LC-MS based global metabolite profiling of grapes: Solvent extraction protocol optimisation, 2011.

[30] C. Baduel, J.F. Mueller, H.H. Tsai, M.J.G. Ramos, Development of sample extraction and clean-up strategies for target and non-target analysis of environmental contaminants in biological matrices, J. Chromatogr. A, 1426 (2015) 33-47.

[31] M. Mezcua, O. Malato, J.F. Garcia-Reyes, A. Molina-Diaz, A.R. Fernandez-Alba, Accurate-Mass Databases for Comprehensive Screening of Pesticide Residues in Food by Fast Liquid Chromatography Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry, Anal. Chem., 81 (2009) 913-929.

[32] S. Bayen, E.S. Estrada, G. Juhel, B.C. Kelly, Direct injection of tissue extracts in liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectormetry for the determination of pharmaceuticals and other contaminants of emerging concern in mollusks, Anal. Bioanal. Chem., 407 (2015) 5553-5558.

[33] H.G.J. Mol, P. Plaza-Bolanos, P. Zomer, T.C. de Rijk, A.A.M. Stolker, P.P.J. Mulder, Toward a Generic Extraction Method for Simultaneous Determination of Pesticides, Mycotoxins, Plant Toxins, and Veterinary Drugs in Feed and Food Matrixes, Anal. Chem., 80 (2008) 9450-9459.

[34] M.L. Gomez-Perez, P. Plaza-Bolanos, R. Romero-Gonzalez, J.L. Martinez-Vidal, A. Garrido-Frenich, Comprehensive qualitative and quantitative determination of pesticides and veterinary drugs in honey using liquid chromatography-Orbitrap high resolution mass spectrometry, J. Chromatogr. A, 1248 (2012) 130-138. [35] I. Kivrak, S. Kivrak, M. Harmandar, Development of a rapid method for the determination of antibiotic residues in honey using UPLC-ESI-MS/MS, Food Sci. Technol., 36 (2016) 90-96.

[36] Y. Pico, D. Barcelo, The expanding role of LC-MS in analyzing metabolites and degradation products of food contaminants, Trac-Trends in Analytical Chemistry, 27 (2008) 821-835.

[37] M. Holcapek, R. Jirasko, M. Lisa, Recent developments in liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry and related techniques, Journal of Chromatography A, 1259 (2012) 3-15.

[38] M. Kellmann, H. Muenster, P. Zomer, H. Mol, Full Scan MS in Comprehensive Qualitative and Quantitative Residue Analysis in Food and Feed Matrices: How Much Resolving Power is Required?, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom., 20 (2009) 1464-1476.

[39] M.W.F. Nielen, M.C. van Engelen, R. Zuiderent, R. Ramaker, Screening and confirmation criteria for hormone residue analysis using liquid chromatography accurate mass time-of-flight, Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance and orbitrap mass spectrometry techniques, Analytica Chimica Acta, 586 (2007) 122-129.

[40] N.B. Cech, C.G. Enke, Relating electrospray ionization response to nonpolar character of small peptides, Anal. Chem., 72 (2000) 2717-2723.

[41] A.P. Null, A.I. Nepomuceno, D.C. Muddiman, Implications of hydrophobicity and free energy of solvation for characterization of nucleic acids by electrospray ionization mass spectrometry, Anal. Chem., 75 (2003) 1331-1339.

[42] J.V. Iribarne, B.A. Thomson, On the evaporation of small ions from charged droplets, The Journal of Chemical Physics, 64 (1976) 2287.

[43] A. Gajda, A. Posyniak, Liquid chromatography - tandem mass spectrometry method for the determination of ten tetracycline residues in muscle samples, Bull. Vet. Inst. Pulawy, 59 (2015) 345-352.

[44] C.B. Mollerup, P.W. Dalsgaard, M. Mardal, K. Linnet, Targeted and non-targeted drug screening in whole blood by UHPLC-TOF-MS with data-independent acquisition, Drug Test. Anal., 9 (2017) 1052-1061.

[45] Agilent Technologies, Agilent 6545 Q-TOF Specification. Data Sheet, in, 2015.

[46] M.D. Gomez-Ramos, A. Perez-Parada, J.F. Garcia-Reyes, A.R. Fernandez-Alba, A. Aguera, Use of an accurate-mass database for the systematic identification of transformation products of organic contaminants in wastewater effluents, Journal of Chromatography A, 1218 (2011) 8002-8012.

[47] R. Diaz, M. Ibanez, J.V. Sancho, F. Hernandez, Target and non-target screening strategies for organic contaminants, residues and illicit substances in food, environmental and human biological samples by UHPLC-QTOF-MS, Anal. Methods, 4 (2012) 196-209.

[48] S. Herrera-Lopez, M.D. Hernando, E. Garcia-Calvo, A.R. Fernandez-Alba, M.M. Ulaszewska, Simultaneous screening of targeted and non-targeted contaminants using an LC-QTOF-MS system and automated MS/MS library searching, Journal of Mass Spectrometry, 49 (2014) 878-893.

[49] H.Z. Senyuva, V. Gokmen, E.A. Sarikaya, Future perspectives in Orbitrap (TM)-high-resolution mass spectrometry in food analysis: a review, Food Additives and Contaminants Part a-Chemistry Analysis Control Exposure & Risk Assessment, 32 (2015) 1568-1606.

[50] W. Jia, X.G. Chu, Y. Ling, J.R. Huang, J. Chang, High-throughput screening of pesticide and veterinary drug residues in baby food by liquid chromatography coupled to quadrupole Orbitrap mass spectrometry, Journal of Chromatography A, 1347 (2014) 122-128.

[51] B. Khakimov, G. Gurdeniz, S.B. Engelsen, Trends in the application of chemometrics to foodomics studies, Acta Aliment., 44 (2015) 4-31.

[52] O. Malato, A. Lozano, M. Mezcua, A. Aguera, A.R. Fernandez-Alba, Benefits and pitfalls of the application of screening methods for the analysis of pesticide residues in fruits and vegetables, J. Chromatogr. A, 1218 (2011) 7615-7626.

[53] A.M. Knolhoff, J.A. Zweigenbaum, T.R. Croley, Nontargeted screening of food matrices: development of a chemometric software strategy to identify unknowns in liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry data, Anal. Chem., 88 (2016) 3617-3623.

[54] A.M. Knolhoff, J.H. Callahan, T.R. Croley, Mass Accuracy and Isotopic Abundance Measurements for HR-MS Instrumentation: Capabilities for Non-Targeted Analyses, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectr., 25 (2014) 1285-1294.

[55] T. Kind, O. Fiehn, Seven Golden Rules for heuristic filtering of molecular formulas obtained by accurate mass spectrometry, BMC Bioinformatics, 8 (2007) 20.

[56] Agilent Technologies, MassHunter Profinder Software B.08.00 User Manual, in, 2016.

[57] T. Cajka, O. Fiehn, Toward Merging Untargeted and Targeted Methods in Mass Spectrometry-Based Metabolomics and Lipidomics, Anal. Chem., 88 (2016) 524-545.

[58] E. Hakme, A. Lozano, M.M. Gomez-Ramos, M.D. Hernando, A.R. Fernandez-Alba, Non-target evaluation of contaminants in honey bees and pollen samples by gas chromatography time-of-flight mass spectrometry, Chemosphere, 184 (2017) 1310-1319.

[59] S. Herrera-Lopez, M.D. Hernando, E. Garcia-Calvo, A.R. Fernandez-Alba, M.M. Ulaszewska, Simultaneous screening of targeted and non-targeted contaminants using an LC-QTOF-MS system and automated MS/MS library searching, J. Mass Spectr., 49 (2014) 878-893.

[60] H. Horai, M. Arita, S. Kanaya, Y. Nihei, T. Ikeda, K. Suwa, Y. Ojima, K. Tanaka, S. Tanaka, K. Aoshima, Y. Oda, Y. Kakazu, M. Kusano, T. Tohge, F. Matsuda, Y. Sawada, M.Y. Hirai, H. Nakanishi, K. Ikeda, N. Akimoto, T. Maoka, H. Takahashi, T. Ara, N. Sakurai, H. Suzuki, D. Shibata, S. Neumann, T. Iida, K. Tanaka, K. Funatsu, F. Matsuura, T. Soga, R. Taguchi, K. Saito, T. Nishioka, MassBank: a public repository for sharing mass spectral data for life sciences, Journal of Mass Spectrometry, 45 (2010) 703-714.

[61] D.S. Wishart, Y.D. Feunang, A. Marcu, A.C. Guo, K. Liang, R. Vázquez-Fresno, T. Sajed, D. Johnson, C. Li, N. Karu, Z. Sayeeda, E. Lo, N. Assempour, M. Berjanskii, S. Singhal, D. Arndt, Y. Liang, H. Badran, J. Grant, A. Serra-Cayuela, Y. Liu, R. Mandal, V. Neveu, A. Pon, C. Knox, M. Wilson, C. Manach, A. Scalbert, HMDB 4.0: the human metabolome database for 2018, in: Nucleic Acids Res., 2018, pp. D608-D617.

[62] C.A. Smith, G. O'Maille, E.J. Want, C. Qin, S.A. Trauger, T.R. Brandon, D.E. Custodio, R. Abagyan, G. Siuzdak, METLIN: a metabolite mass spectral database, Therapeutic drug monitoring, 27 (2005) 747-751.

[63] R. Tautenhahn, K. Cho, W. Uritboonthai, Z.J. Zhu, G.J. Patti, G. Siuzdak, An accelerated workflow for untargeted metabolomics using the METLIN database, Nat. Biotechnol., 30 (2012) 826-828.

[64] S.S. Lateef, U. Simha, A. Tei, Differential analysis in screening assays for extractable and leachable compounds., Agilent Technologies Application Note, (2018).

[65] N. Kumar, M.A. Hoque, M. Sugimoto, Robust volcano plot: identification of differential metabolites in the presence of outliers, BMC Bioinformatics, 19 (2018) 11.

[66] L. Tian, L. Lin, S. Bayen, Optimization of the post-acquisition data processing for the nontargeted screening of trace leachable residues from reusable plastic bottles by high-performance liquid chromatography coupled to hybrid quadrupole time of flight mass spectrometry, Talanta, 193 (2019) 70-76.

[67] A. Von Eyken, S. Bayen, Optimization of the data treatment steps of a non-targeted LC-MS based workflow for the identification of trace residues in honey, Submitted to Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry, (2018).

[68] K.R. Chalcraft, R. Lee, C. Mills, P. Britz-McKibbin, Virtual Quantification of Metabolites by Capillary Electrophoresis-Electrospray Ionization-Mass Spectrometry: Predicting Ionization Efficiency Without Chemical Standards, Anal. Chem., 81 (2009) 2506-2515.

[69] L. Wu, Y.Z. Wu, H.Y. Shen, P. Gong, L.J. Cao, G.J. Wang, H.P. Hao, Quantitative structure-ion intensity relationship strategy to the prediction of absolute levels without authentic standards, Analytica Chimica Acta, 794 (2013) 67-75.

[70] L. Wang, Z.P. Yao, P. Li, S.B. Chen, P.K. So, Z.Q. Shi, B. Hu, L.F. Liu, G.Z. Xin, Global detection and semi-quantification of Fritillaria alkaloids in Fritillariae Ussuriensis Bulbus by a non-targeted multiple reaction monitoring approach, J. Sep. Sci., 39 (2016) 287-295.

[71] Q.W. Bu, D.H. Wang, X. Liu, Z.J. Wang, A high throughout semi-quantification method for screening organic contaminants in river sediments, J. Environ. Manage., 143 (2014) 135-139.

[72] E.N. Pieke, K. Granby, X. Trier, J. Smedsgaard, A framework to estimate concentrations of potentially unknown substances by semi-quantification in liquid chromatography electrospray ionization mass spectrometry, Analytica Chimica Acta, 975 (2017) 30-41.

[73] T. Henriksen, R.K. Juhler, B. Svensmark, N.B. Cech, The relative influences of acidity and polarity on responsiveness of small organic molecules to analysis with negative ion electrospray ionization mass spectrometry (ESI-MS), J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom., 16 (2005) 446-455.

[74] N.B. Cech, J.R. Krone, C.G. Enke, Predicting electrospray response from chromatographic retention time, Anal. Chem., 73 (2001) 208-213.

[75] M.H. Amad, N.B. Cech, G.S. Jackson, C.G. Enke, Importance of gas-phase proton affinities in determining the electrospray ionization response for analytes and solvents, Journal of Mass Spectrometry, 35 (2000) 784-789.

[76] Codex Standard for Honey. Codex Stan 12-1981, in: codex Alimentarius Commission (Ed.), 2001, pp. 1-8.

[77] J.M. Alvarez-Suarez, S. Tulipani, S. Romandini, E. Bertoli, M. Battino, Contribution of honey in nutrition and human health: a review, Mediterr. J. Nutr. Metab., 3 (2010) 15-23.

[78] W.L. Gojmerac, Bees, beekeeping, honey, and pollination, Avi Pub. Co., Westport, Conn., 1980.

[79] E. Crane, A book of honey, Oxford University Press, Oxford [England] ;, 1980.

[80] E. Crane, The world history of beekeeping and honey hunting, Routledge, New York, 1999.

[81] Horticulture and Cross Sectoral Division Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Statistical overview of the Canadian honey and bee industry and the economic contribution of honey bee pollination 2017, in, 2018.

[82] W.L. Gojmerac, All about bees, beekeeping, and honey, Drake Publishers, New York, 1977.

[83] E. Baglio, Chemistry and technology of honey production, in, Springer Nature, Cham, Switzerland, 2018.

[84] S. Bogdanov, P. Martin, Honey authenticity: a review, Mitt Lebensm Hyg, 93 (2002) 232-254S.

[85] Canadian General Standards Board, Organic production systems. General principles and management standards., National Standard of Canada, (2015).

[86] S.H. Khan, Recent advances in role of propolis as natural additive in poultry nutrition, J. Apic.Sci., 61 (2017) 167-183.

[87] S.L. Castro, Propolis: Biological and Pharmacological Activities. Therapeutic Uses of This Beeproduct, Annual Review of Biomedical Sciences, 3 (2006). [88] A.H. Banskota, Y. Tezuka, I.K. Adnyana, K. Midorikawa, K. Matsushige, D. Message, A.A.G. Huertas, S. Kadota, Cytotoxic, hepatoprotective and free radical scavenging effects of propolis from Brazil, Peru, the Netherlands and China, J. Ethnopharmacol., 72 (2000) 239-246.

[89] S. Silici, S. Kutluca, Chemical composition and antibacterial activity of propolis collected by three different races of honeybees in the same region, J. Ethnopharmacol., 99 (2005) 69-73.

[90] N. Vynograd, I. Vynograd, Z. Sosnowski, A comparative multi-centre study of the efficacy of propolis, acyclovir and placebo in the treatment of genital herpes (HSV), Phytomedicine, 7 (2000) 1-6.

[91] C. Pita-Calvo, M. Vazquez, Differences between honeydew and blossom honeys: A review, Trends Food Sci. Technol., 59 (2017) 79-87.

[92] O. Escuredo, M. Miguez, M. Fernandez-Gonzalez, M.C. Seijo, Nutritional value and antioxidant activity of honeys produced in a European Atlantic area, Food Chem., 138 (2013) 851-856.

[93] A.S. Alqarni, A.A. Owayss, A.A. Mahmoud, M.A. Hannan, Mineral content and physical properties of local and imported honeys in Saudi Arabia, J. Saudi Chem. Soc., 18 (2014) 618-625.
[94] M. Ciulu, S. Solinas, I. Floris, A. Panzanelli, M.I. Pilo, P.C. Piu, N. Spano, G. Sanna, RP-HPLC determination of water-soluble vitamins in honey, Talanta, 83 (2011) 924-929.

[95] M. Pontes, J.C. Marques, J.S. Camara, Screening of volatile composition from Portuguese multifloral honeys using headspace solid-phase microextraction-gas chromatographyquadrupole mass spectrometry, Talanta, 74 (2007) 91-103.

[96] F. Tornuk, S. Karaman, I. Ozturk, O.S. Toker, B. Tastemur, O. Sagdic, M. Dogan, A. Kayacier, Quality characterization of artisanal and retail Turkish blossom honeys: Determination of physicochemical, microbiological, bioactive properties and aroma profile, Ind. Crop. Prod., 46 (2013) 124-131.

[97] O. Escuredo, I. Dobre, M. Fernandez-Gonzalez, M.C. Seijo, Contribution of botanical origin and sugar composition of honeys on the crystallization phenomenon, Food Chem., 149 (2014) 84-90.

[98] E. de la Fuente, A.I. Ruiz-Matute, R.M. Valencia-Barrera, J. Sanz, I. Martínez Castro, Carbohydrate composition of Spanish unifloral honeys, Food Chem., 129 (2011) 1483-1489.

[99] S.R. Won, C.Y. Li, J.W. Kim, H.I. Rhee, Immunological characterization of honey major protein and its application, Food Chem., 113 (2009) 1334-1338.

[100] P.M. da Silva, C. Gauche, L.V. Gonzaga, A.C.O. Costa, R. Fett, Honey: Chemical composition, stability and authenticity, Food Chem., 196 (2016) 309-323.

[101] I. Mato, J.F. Huidobro, J. Simal-Lozano, M.T. Sancho, Rapid determination of nonaromatic organic acids in honey by capillary zone electrophoresis with direct ultraviolet detection, J. Agric.
 Food Chem., 54 (2006) 1541-1550.

[102] F. Bonte, A. Desmouliere, Honey: origin and composition, Actual. Pharm., 52 (2013) 18-21.
[103] N. Bilandzic, M. Dokic, M. Sedak, B.S. Kolanovic, I. Varenina, A. Koncurat, N. Rudan, Determination of trace elements in Croatian floral honey originating from different regions, Food Chem., 128 (2011) 1160-1164.

[104] M.I. Gil, F. Ferreres, A. Ortiz, E. Subra, F.A. Tomasbarberan, PLANT PHENOLIC METABOLITES AND FLORAL ORIGIN OF ROSEMARY HONEY, J. Agric. Food Chem., 43 (1995) 2833-2838.

[105] S. Bogdanov, K. Ruoff, L. Oddo, Physico-chemical methods for the characterisation of unifloral honeys: a review, Apidologie, 35 (Suppl. 1) (2004) S4-S17.

[106] L. Castro-Vazquez, M.C. Diaz-Maroto, M.S. Perez-Coello, Aroma composition and new chemical markers of Spanish citrus honeys, Food Chem., 103 (2007) 601-606.

[107] B.S. Radovic, M. Careri, A. Mangia, M. Musci, M. Gerboles, E. Anklam, Contribution of dynamic headspace GC-MS analysis of aroma compounds to authenticity testing of honey, Food Chem., 72 (2001) 511-520.

[108] Y. Yücel, P. Sultanog⁻lu, Characterization of honeys from Hatay Region by their physicochemical properties combined with chemometrics, Food Bioscience, 1 (2013) 16-25.

[109] S. Suárez-Luque, I.s. Mato, J.F. Huidobro, J.s. Simal-Lozano, M.T. Sancho, Rapid determination of minority organic acids in honey by high-performance liquid chromatography, Journal of Chromatography A, 955 (2002) 207-214.

[110] R.d.O.R. Ribeiro, E.T. Mársico, C.d.S. Carneiro, M.L.c.G. Monteiro, C.C. Júnior, E.F.O.d. Jesus, Detection of honey adulteration of high fructose corn syrup by Low Field Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (LF 1H NMR), Journal of Food Engineering, 135 (2014) 39-43.

[111] R.F.A. Moreira, C.A.B. De Maria, M. Pietroluongo, L.C. Trugo, Chemical changes in the nonvolatile fraction of Brazilian honeys during storage under tropical conditions, Food Chem., 104 (2007) 1236-1241.

[112] A. Gámbaro, G.n. Ares, A.N.A. Giménez, S. Pahor, Preference mapping of colour of Uruguayan honeys, Journal of Sensory Studies, 22 (2007) 507-519.

[113] M. Ahmed, N. Djebli, S. Aissat, B. Khiati, A. Meslem, S. Bacha, In vitro activity of natural honey alone and in combination with curcuma starch against Rhodotorula mucilaginosa in correlation with bioactive compounds and diastase activity, Asian Pacific journal of tropical biomedicine, 3 (2013) 816-821.

[114] L.P. Oddo, M.G. Piazza, P. Pulcini, Invertase activity in honey, Apidologie, 30 (1999) 57-65.
[115] S. Bogdanov, Nature and origin of the antibacterial substances in honey, Food Sci. Technol.Lebensm.-Wiss. Technol., 30 (1997) 748-753.

[116] P.J. Taormina, B.A. Niemira, L.R. Beuchat, Inhibitory activity of honey against foodborne pathogens as influenced by the presence of hydrogen peroxide and level of antioxidant power, Int. J. Food Microbiol., 69 (2001) 217-225.

[117] R.J. Weston, L.K. Brocklebank, Y.R. Lu, Identification and quantitative levels of antibacterial components of some New Zealand honeys, Food Chem., 70 (2000) 427-435.

[118] N. Gheldof, X.H. Wang, N.J. Engeseth, Identification and quantification of antioxidant components of honeys from various floral sources, J. Agric. Food Chem., 50 (2002) 5870-5877.

[119] N.S. Al-Waili, Effects of daily consumption of honey solution on hematological indices and blood levels of minerals and enzymes in normal individuals, Journal of medicinal food, 6 (2003) 135-140.

[120] G. Beretta, M. Orioli, R.M. Facino, Antioxidant and Radical Scavenging Activity of Honey in Endothelial Cell Cultures (EA.hy926), Planta Med, 73 (2007) 1182-1189. [121] I. Hamzaoglu, K. Saribeyoglu, H. Durak, T. Karahasanoglu, I. Bayrak, T. Altug, F. Sirin, M. Sariyar, Protective covering of surgical wounds with honey impedes tumor implantation, Archives of surgery (Chicago, III. : 1960), 135 (2000) 1414-1417.

[122] T. Swellam, N. Miyanaga, M. Onozawa, K. Hattori, K. Kawai, T. Shimazui, H. Akaza, Antineoplastic activity of honey in an experimental bladder cancer implantation model: In vivo and in vitro studies, International Journal of Urology, 10 (2003) 213-219.

[123] N.S. Al-Waili, N.S. Boni, Natural honey lowers plasma prostaglandin concentrations in normal individuals, Journal of medicinal food, 6 (2003) 129-133.

[124] Y. Bilsel, D. Bugra, S. Yamaner, T. Bulut, U. Cevikbas, U. Turkoglu, Could Honey Have a Place in Colitis Therapy? Effects of Honey, Prednisolone, and Disulfiram on Inflammation, Nitric Oxide, and Free Radical Formation, Digestive Surgery, 19 (2012) 306-312.

[125] A. Jeddar, A. Kharsany, U.G. Ramsaroop, A. Bhamjee, I.E. Haffejee, A. Moosa, The antibacterial action of honey. An in vitro study, South African medical journal = Suid-Afrikaanse tydskrif vir geneeskunde, 67 (1985) 257-258.

[126] I.E. Haffejee, A. Moosa, Honey in the treatment of infantile gastroenteritis, in: British Medical Journal (Clinical research ed.), 1985, pp. 1866.

[127] M.S. Osato, S.G. Reddy, D.Y. Graham, Osmotic effect of honey on growth and viability of Helicobacter pylori, Digestive diseases and sciences, 44 (1999) 462-464.

[128] M.L. Sanz, N. Polemis, V. Morales, N. Corzo, A. Drakoularakou, G.R. Gibson, R.A. Rastall, In vitro investigation into the potential prebiotic activity of honey oligosaccharides, J. Agric. Food Chem., 53 (2005) 2914-2921.

[129] N. Yaghoobi, N. Al-Waili, M. Ghayour-Mobarhan, S.M. Parizadeh, Z. Abasalti, Z. Yaghoobi, F. Yaghoobi, H. Esmaeili, S.M. Kazemi-Bajestani, R. Aghasizadeh, K.Y. Saloom, G.A. Ferns, Natural honey and cardiovascular risk factors; effects on blood glucose, cholesterol, triacylglycerole, CRP, and body weight compared with sucrose, TheScientificWorldJournal, 8 (2008) 463-469.

[130] N.S. Al-Waili, Natural honey lowers plasma glucose, C-reactive protein, homocysteine, and blood lipids in healthy, diabetic, and hyperlipidemic subjects: comparison with dextrose and sucrose, Journal of medicinal food, 7 (2004) 100-107.

[131] P.C. Molan, Potential of honey in the treatment of wounds and burns, American Journal of Clinical Dermatology, 2 (2001) 13-19.

[132] A.M. Klein, B.E. Vaissiere, J.H. Cane, I. Steffan-Dewenter, S.A. Cunningham, C. Kremen, T. Tscharntke, Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops, Proc. R. Soc. B-Biol.
 Sci., 274 (2007) 303-313.

[133] I. Steffan-Dewenter, S.G. Potts, L. Packer, Pollinator diversity and crop pollination services are at risk, Trends Ecol. Evol., 20 (2005) 651-652.

[134] W. Reybroeck, E. Daeseleire, H.F. De Brabander, L. Herman, Antimicrobials in beekeeping, Vet. Microbiol., 158 (2012) 1-11.

[135] W.T. Wilson, Resistance to American foulbrood in honey bees .11. Fate of *Bacillus larvae* spores ingested by adults, J. Invertebr. Pathol., 17 (1971) 247-&.

[136] L. Hasemann, How long can spores of American foulbrood live?, American Bee Journal, 101 (1961) 298-299.

[137] E. Genersch, American Foulbrood in honeybees and its causative agent, Paenibacillus larvae, J. Invertebr. Pathol., 103 (2010) S10-S19.

[138] E. Genersch, Honey bee pathology: current threats to honey bees and beekeeping, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol., 87 (2010) 87-97.

[139] M. Higes, R. Martin-Hernandez, C. Botias, E.G. Bailon, A.V. Gonzalez-Porto, L. Barrios, M.J. del Nozal, J.L. Bernal, J.J. Jimenez, P.G. Palencia, A. Meana, How natural infection by Nosema ceranae causes honeybee colony collapse, Environ. Microbiol., 10 (2008) 2659-2669.

[140] R. Martin-Hernandez, A. Meana, L. Prieto, A.M. Salvador, E. Garrido-Bailon, M. Higes, Outcome of colonization of Apis mellifera by Nosema ceranae, Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 73 (2007) 6331-6338.

[141] M. Higes, R. Martin, A. Meana, Nosema ceranae, a new microsporidian parasite in honeybees in Europe, J. Invertebr. Pathol., 92 (2006) 93-95.

[142] M. Higes, R. Martin-Hernandez, E. Garrido-Bailon, P. Garcia-Palencia, A. Meana, Detection of infective Nosema ceranae (Microsporidia) spores in corbicular pollen of forager honeybees, J. Invertebr. Pathol., 97 (2008) 76-78.

[143] D. Sammataro, J. Yoder, Honey bee colony health : challenges and sustainable solutions, in, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 2012.

[144] T.C. Webster, *Nosema apis* spore transmission among honey bees, American Bee Journal, 133 (1993) 869-870.

[145] P. Rosenkranz, P. Aumeier, B. Ziegelmann, Biology and control of Varroa destructor, J. Invertebr. Pathol., 103 (2010) 96-119.

[146] D. De Jong, P.H. De Jong, L.S. Gonçalves, Weight Loss and Other Damage to Developing Worker Honeybees from Infestation with Varroa Jacobsoni, Journal of Apicultural Research, 21 (1982) 165-167.

[147] M. Valenzuela Ruano, F. Martínez Fernández, A. Cobo Ochoa, Varroasis disturbs the orientation of bees. Its influence on parasitosis development, Vida Apícola, 48 (1991) 55-57.

[148] J.E. Eckert, Acarapis mites of the honey bee, *Apis mellifera* Linnaeus, J. Insect Pathol., 3 (1961) 409-425.

[149] Y.P. Chen, R. Siede, Honey Bee Viruses, ADVANCES IN VIRUS RESEARCH, 70 (2007) 33-80.

[150] D.L. Cox-Foster, S. Conlan, E.C. Holmes, G. Palacios, J.D. Evans, N.A. Moran, P.L. Quan, T.

Briese, M. Hornig, D.M. Geiser, V. Martinson, D. vanEngelsdorp, A.L. Kalkstein, A. Drysdale, J. Hui, J. Zhai, L. Cui, S.K. Hutchison, J.F. Simons, M. Egholm, J.S. Pettis, W.I. Lipkin, A metagenomic survey of microbes in honey bee colony collapse disorder, Science (New York, N.Y.), 318 (2007) 283-287.

[151] D. Sammataro, A. Avitabile, D.M. Caron, The beekeeper's handbook, 4th ed. ed., Comstock Pub. Associates, Division of Cornell University Press, Ithaca, 2011.

[152] Health Canada, Working Residue Levels (WRL) For Antimicrobial Residues in Honey, in, 2005.

[153] Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), National Chemical Residue Monitoring Program.2012-2013 Report, (2015).

[154] Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), National Chemical Residue Monitoring Program. 2013-2014 Report, (2016).

[155] T.S. Thompson, D.K. Noot, J. Calvert, S.F. Pernal, Determination of lincomycin and tylosin residues in honey using solid-phase extraction and liquid chromatography-atmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometry, J. Chromatogr. A, 1020 (2003) 241-250.

[156] M.I. Lopez, J.S. Pettis, I.B. Smith, P.S. Chu, Multiclass determination and confirmation of antibiotic residues in honey using LC-MS/MS, J. Agric. Food Chem., 56 (2008) 1553-1559.

[157] G. Celli, B. Maccagnani, Honey bees as bioindicators of environmental pollution, BULLETIN OF INSECTOLOGY, 56 (2003) 137-140.

[158] Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), National Chemical Residue Monitoring Program. 2014-2015 Report, (2018).

[159] C. Lu, K.M. Warchol, R.A. Callahan, Sub-lethal exposure to neonicotinoids impaired honey bees winterization before proceeding to colony collapse disorder, Bulletin of Insectology, 67 (2014) 125-130.

[160] N. Cicero, C. Naccari, G. Cammilleri, G. Giangrosso, A. Cicero, T. Gervasi, A. Tropea, A. Albergamo, V. Ferrantelli, Monitoring of neonicotinoid pesticides in beekeeping, Nat. Prod. Res., 31 (2017) 1258-1262.

[161] G. Codling, Y. Al Naggar, J.P. Giesy, A.J. Robertson, Neonicotinoid insecticides in pollen, honey and adult bees in colonies of the European honey bee (Apis mellifera L.) in Egypt, Ecotoxicology, 27 (2018) 122-131.

[162] P.R.S. Kodavanti, Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCBs), in: M.J. Aminoff, R.B. Daroff (Eds.) Encyclopedia of the Neurological Sciences (Second Edition), Academic Press, Oxford, 2014, pp. 917-921.

[163] M. Porta, E. Zumeta, Implementing the Stockholm Treaty on Persistent Organic Pollutants, Occupational and environmental medicine, 59 (2002) 651-652.

[164] M.a.d.I.A. González Sagrario, K.S.B. Miglioranza, J.E. Aizpún de Moreno, V.c.J. Moreno, A.H. Escalante, Polychlorinated biphenyls in different trophic levels from a shallow lake in Argentina, Chemosphere, 48 (2002) 1113-1122.

[165] T. Hu, J. Zhang, C. Ye, L. Zhang, X. Xing, Y. Zhang, Y. Wang, W. Sun, S. Qi, Q. Zhang, Status, source and health risk assessment of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in soil from the

water-level-fluctuation zone of the Three Gorges Reservoir, China, Journal of geochemical exploration, 172 (2017) 20-28.

[166] C.E. Bostrom, P. Gerde, A. Hanberg, B. Jernstrom, C. Johansson, T. Kyrklund, A. Rannug, M. Tornqvist, K. Victorin, R. Westerholm, Cancer risk assessment, indicators, and guidelines for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the ambient air, Environmental health perspectives, 110 Suppl 3 (2002) 451-488.

[167] I. Elorduy, S. Elcoroaristizabal, N. Durana, J.A. García, L. Alonso, Diurnal variation of particlebound PAHs in an urban area of Spain using TD-GC/MS: Influence of meteorological parameters and emission sources, Atmospheric Environment, 138 (2016) 87-98.

[168] J. Li, H. Dong, X. Xu, B. Han, X. Li, C. Zhu, C. Han, S. Liu, D. Yang, Q. Xu, D. Zhang, Prediction of the bioaccumulation of PAHs in surface sediments of Bohai Sea, China and quantitative assessment of the related toxicity and health risk to humans, Marine Pollution Bulletin, 104 (2016) 92-100.

[169] T.T. Dong, B.K. Lee, Characteristics, toxicity, and source apportionment of polycylic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in road dust of Ulsan, Korea, Chemosphere, 74 (2009) 1245-1253.
[170] M. Saitta, G. Di Bella, M.R. Fede, V. Lo Turco, A.G. Potortì, R. Rando, M.T. Russo, G. Dugo, Gas chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry multi-residual analysis of contaminants in Italian honey samples, Food Additives & Contaminants: Part A, 34 (2017) 800-808.

[171] A.D. Godwin, Plasticizers, in: Applied Plastics Engineering Handbook (Second Edition), Elsevier, 2017, pp. 533-553.

[172] R. Navarro, M.P. Perrino, M.G. Tardajos, H. Reinecke, Phthalate Plasticizers Covalently Bound to PVC: Plasticization with Suppressed Migration, Macromolecules, 43 (2010) 2377-2381.
[173] E. Fasano, F. Bono-Blay, T. Cirillo, P. Montuori, S. Lacorte, Migration of phthalates, alkylphenols, bisphenol A and di(2-ethylhexyl)adipate from food packaging, Food Control, 27 (2012) 132-138.

[174] M. Wagner, J. Oehlmann, Endocrine disruptors in bottled mineral water: total estrogenic burden and migration from plastic bottles, Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 16 (2009) 278-286.

[175] Food Packaging Regulations, in, Health Canada, Government of Canada, 2018.

[176] X.L. Cao, W.D. Zhao, R. Dabeka, Di-(2-ethylhexyl) adipate and 20 phthalates in composite food samples from the 2013 Canadian Total Diet Study, Food Additives and Contaminants Part a-Chemistry Analysis Control Exposure & Risk Assessment, 32 (2015) 1893-1901.

[177] K. Inoue, S. Murayama, K. Takeba, Y. Yoshimura, H. Nakazawa, Contamination of xenoestrogens bisphenol A and F in honey: safety assessment and analytical method of these compounds in honey, Journal of Food Composition and analysis, 16 (2003) 497-506.

[178] J.H. Zhou, Y.T. Qi, H.M. Wu, Q.Y. Diao, F.F. Tian, Y. Li, Simultaneous determination of trace migration of phthalate esters in honey and royal jelly by GC-MS, J. Sep. Sci., 37 (2014) 650-657.

[179] M. Cesen, D. Lambropoulou, M. Laimou-Geraniou, T. Kosjek, U. Blaznik, D. Heath, E. Heath, Determination of Bisphenols and Related Compounds in Honey and Their Migration from Selected Food Contact Materials, J. Agric. Food Chem., 64 (2016) 8866-8875.

[180] Y.P. Koo, N. Yahaya, W.A.W. Omar, Analysis of Dibutyl Phthalate and Oleamide in Stingless Bee Honey Harvested from Plastic Cups, Sains Malaysiana, 46 (2017) 449-455.

[181] E. Capuano, V. Fogliano, Acrylamide and 5-hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF): A review on metabolism, toxicity, occurrence in food and mitigation strategies, LWT-Food Sci. Technol., 44 (2011) 793-810.

[182] L. Basumallick, J. Rohrer, Determination of Hydroxymethylfurfural in Honey and Biomass, Thermo Fisher Scientific Application Note, (2016).

[183] H.S. Lee, S. Nagy, Relative reactivities of sugars in the formation of 5-hydroxymethyl furfural in sugar-catalyst model systems, J. Food Process. Pres., 14 (1990) 171-178.

[184] D. Martysiak-Zurowska, A. Borowicz, A Comparison of Spectrophotometric Winkler Method and HPLC Technique for Determination of 5-Hydroxymethylfurfural in Natural Honey, Chemia Analityczna, 54 (2009) 939-947.

[185] D. Tomasini, M.R.F. Sampaio, S.S. Caldas, J.G. Buffon, F.A. Duarte, E.G. Primel, Simultaneous determination of pesticides and 5-hydroxymethylfurfural in honey by the modified QuEChERS method and liquid chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry, Talanta, 99 (2012) 380-386.